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Background
The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) was es-
tablished in 1863 as a bureau of the Department of the Trea-
sury. The OCC is headed by the Comptroller, who is appointed
by the President, with the advice and consent of the Senate,
for a five-year term.

The OCC regulates national banks by its power to:

• Examine the banks;

• Approve or deny applications for new charters,
branches, capital, or other changes in corporate or
banking structure;

• Take supervisory actions against banks that do not con-
form to laws and regulations or that otherwise engage
in unsound banking practices, including removal of of-
ficers, negotiation of agreements to change existing
banking practices, and issuance of cease and desist
orders; and

• Issue rules and regulations concerning banking prac-
tices and governing bank lending and investment prac-
tices and corporate structure.

The OCC divides the United States into six geographical dis-
tricts, with each headed by a deputy comptroller.

The OCC is funded through assessments on the assets of na-
tional banks, and federal branches and agencies. Under the
International Banking Act of 1978, the OCC regulates federal
branches and agencies of foreign banks in the United States.

The Comptroller
The Comptroller John D. Hawke Jr. was sworn in as the 28th
Comptroller of the Currency on December 8, 1998. Prior to
his appointment Mr. Hawke served for 3½ years as Under

Secretary of the Treasury for Domestic Finance. He oversaw
development of policy and legislation on financial institutions,
debt management, and capital markets; served as chairman
of the Advanced Counterfeit Deterrence Steering Committee;
and was a member of the board of the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation. Before joining Treasury, he was a se-
nior partner at the Washington, D.C. law firm of Arnold & Por-
ter, which he joined as an associate in 1962. In 1975 he left to
serve as general counsel to the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System, returning in 1978. At Arnold & Por-
ter he headed the financial institutions practice. From 1987
to 1995 he was chairman of the firm.

Mr. Hawke has written extensively on the regulation of finan-
cial institutions, including Commentaries on Banking Regula-
tion, published in 1985. From 1970 to 1987 he taught courses
on federal regulation of banking at Georgetown University Law
Center. He has also taught courses on bank acquisitions and
serves as chairman of the Board of Advisors of the Morin Cen-
ter for Banking Law Studies. In 1987 Mr. Hawke served on a
committee of inquiry appointed by the Chicago Mercantile
Exchange to study the role of futures markets in the October
1987 stock market crash. He was a founding member of the
Shadow Financial Regulatory Committee, and served on it
until joining Treasury.

Mr. Hawke was graduated from Yale University in 1954 with
a B.A. in English. From 1955 to 1957 he served on active
duty with the U.S. Air Force. After graduating in 1960 from
Columbia University School of Law, where he was editor-in-
chief of the Columbia Law Review, Mr. Hawke clerked for
Judge E. Barrett Prettyman on the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia Circuit. From 1961 to 1962 he was
counsel to the Select Subcommittee on Education, U.S.
House of Representatives.

The Quarterly Journal is the journal of record for the most significant actions and policies of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. It is
published four times a year. The Quarterly Journal includes policy statements, decisions on banking structure, selected speeches and congres-
sional testimony, material released in the interpretive letters series, statistical data, and other information of interest to the administration of
national banks. Send suggestions or questions to Rebecca Miller, Senior Writer-Editor, Communications Division, Comptroller of the Currency,
Washington, DC 20219. Subscriptions are available for $100 a year by writing to Publications—QJ, Comptroller of the Currency, P.O. Box 70004,
Chicago, IL 60673–0004. The Quarterly Journal is on the Web at http://www.occ.treas.gov/qj/qj.htm.
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Condition and Performance of Commercial Banks

Summary

While profitability of the banking industry remains
high, maintaining that profitability has been challeng-
ing during a period of narrow net interest margins.
Small banks generally have fewer geographic mar-
kets and product opportunities and, thus, less flex-
ibility than larger banks in replacing lost net interest
income. As a result, although small banks remain
strong, they are reporting reduced profitability and
may show greater potential financial stress if the
economy slows.

Profitability of Large and
Small Banks

Earnings of the commercial banking industry remained
at a historically high level in the second quarter, re-
treating moderately from the record earnings in the
first quarter. Commercial banks reported net income
of $17.0 billion with a return on assets (ROA) of 1.25
percent in the second quarter, compared to earnings
of $18.0 billion and an ROA of 1.32 percent in the first
quarter.

Industry profitability has been roughly at a plateau for
four years near an ROA of 1.25 percent. Second quarter
ROA in 1998 and 1999 was 1.25 percent, compared to
1.27 percent and 1.24 percent in the second quarters of
1996 and 1997, respectively. The decline in profitability
from the first quarter to the second quarter 1999 oc-
curred in large part because of a decline in trading rev-
enue. Trading revenue declined from an abnormally high
level in the first quarter to a level more consistent with
the historical trend.

While the industry in the aggregate maintained a high
and steady level of profitability, small banks contin-
ued to experience decreasing profitability. Return on
assets for small banks (defined as banks with under
$100 million in assets) declined 15 basis points from
the second quarter 1998 to 1.08 percent in the sec-
ond quarter 1999, the largest decline and the lowest
ROA of any of the four asset categories shown in the
attached tables. Nearly one-half of all small banks
had a decline in earnings in the second quarter 1999,

compared to less than one-quarter of banks over $10
billion.

Small banks benefited significantly from the earlier phase
of the economic boom in the 1990s, as shown in Figure
1. Their decline in profitability is a relatively recent al-
though apparently protracted development. The second
quarter 1999 represents the fifth consecutive quarter in
which a four-quarter moving average of small bank ROA
has declined, the first time this measure has declined
for five consecutive quarters since 1986–1987.

The gap between the percentage of small banks that
are unprofitable and the percentage of larger banks
that are unprofitable has risen since the mid-1990s, as
shown in Figure 2. In the second quarter of 1999, the
percentage of small banks that were unprofitable was
approximately four times the percentage of all other
banks that were unprofitable, increasing to 9.6 percent
in the second quarter 1999 from 6.6 percent in the sec-
ond quarter 1998.

Much of the increase in the percentage of small banks
that are unprofitable is attributable to de novo banks as
shown in Figure 2. De novo banks are a larger percent-
age of small banks because of the resurgence in de
novo banks since 1995 and a decrease in the number of
established small banks as a result of mergers. The
average de novo bank is unprofitable until its third year
of operation.

Percent

Figure 1—Return on assets for small banks
(commercial banks under $100 million)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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Figure 2 also demonstrates, however, that even es-
tablished small banks are experiencing losses at twice
the rate of larger banks. In the second quarter 1999,
4.3 percent of small banks in operation over three years
were unprofitable, compared to 2.1 percent for all
banks over $100 million.

Differences in Small and
Larger Bank Earnings

Industry earnings have been remarkably stable over the
past several years. Higher noninterest income has off-
set a shrinking net interest margin and higher noninterest
expenses. As shown in Figure 3, the decline in net inter-
est income over the past two years of 18 basis points
has been offset by an increase in noninterest income of
40 basis points less a net increase in expenses of 16
basis points. The result has been steady second quar-
ter ROA of 1.24 percent, 1.25 percent, and 1.25 percent
in 1997, 1998, and 1999, respectively.

Small banks have had even greater compression of net
interest margin than have larger banks. Net interest mar-
gin for small banks did improve between the first and
second quarters of 1999 by 11 basis points, but over the
longer term small banks have had a steeper decline in
net interest margin than larger banks. As seen by com-
paring Figures 3 and 4, net interest margin in small banks
fell by 28 basis points in the two years between the sec-
ond quarter 1997 and second quarter 1999 compared to
an 18-basis-point decline for the total industry.

While facing a steeper decline in net interest margin
than larger banks, small banks have not had the advan-
tage for diversification and gains in noninterest income
as have larger banks. As shown in Figure 4, in contrast
to a 40 basis point increase in noninterest income
achieved by the industry in the aggregate over the past
two years, small banks had a two basis point decline in
noninterest income.

As one response to offset declining income, small banks
have controlled their expenses. Noninterest expense as
a percentage of average assets has been relatively un-
changed in small banks over the past three years, in
contrast to an increase of 23 basis points in noninterest
expense for the industry as a whole.

Changes in Net Interest Margin
Interest expense has been a source of earnings pres-
sure on small banks. Although remaining generally
stable over the past several years, interest expense for
small banks has been increasing relative to interest
expense for larger banks. As shown in Figure 5, the
gap between interest expense at small banks and in-
terest expense at larger banks shrank to 9 basis points
as of the second quarter 1999 from a gap of 58 basis
points as of the second quarter 1994.

Figure 3—Primary sources of earnings
(commercial banks)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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Figure 4—Primary sources of earnings
(commercial banks under $100 million)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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Figure 2—Unprofitable banks
(commercial banks)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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The smaller gap between interest expenses at small banks
and larger banks reflects growth of more expensive non-
core deposit liabilities on the balance sheets of small
banks. A recent FDIC study1 reports that increased com-
petition for deposits is prompting small banks to rely in-
creasingly on non-traditional sources of funding. These
include Federal Home Loan Bank advances, repurchase
agreements, and subordinated notes, which typically in-
volve higher interest costs than core deposits.

Small banks held liabilities other than core deposit li-
abilities equal to 15.3 percent of assets in the second
quarter 1999, following a gradual but steady increase
since 1993, as indicated in Figure 6.

Although non-core deposits represents a much smaller
percentage of liabilities in small banks than larger banks,
Figure 7 shows that non-core deposit liabilities have grown
at a relatively faster rate in small banks since 1993 as
compared to larger banks.

Interest income for small banks has been increasing
relative to interest income of larger banks. As shown in
Figure 8, the difference between interest income for banks
under and over $100 million has been widening steadily.
Interest income as a percentage of earning assets for
banks under $100 million was 22 basis points less than
banks over $100 million in the second quarter 1994. The
ratio of interest income to average earning assets has
steadily improved in comparison to the same ratio for
larger banks. By the second quarter 1999, yields at small
banks exceeded comparable yields for larger banks by
30 basis points.

Asset Quality and Loss Reserves

Some small banks may have accepted increased
credit risk in order to earn more interest income. This
is a concern raised by OCC and other regulators for
the last several years. Small banks currently have a
higher percentage of nonperforming assets and non-
current loans to assets than do larger banks. Noncur-
rent loans of banks with over $100 million in assets
have typically exceeded those in small banks. As
shown in Figure 9, this typical pattern reversed in 1996.

1 “Shifting Funding Trends Pose Challenges for Community Banks,”
Regional Outlook, Third Quarter (1999), Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Corporation.

Figure 5—Interest expense (commercial banks)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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Figure 8—Interest income (commercial banks)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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This occurred at approximately the same time that
the ratio of interest income to average earnings as-
sets in small banks began to exceed the same ratio
in larger banks as shown in Figure 8. The higher level
of noncurrent loans in small banks compared to larger
banks may indicate that small banks are paying a
risk premium for poorer quality assets.

Also of note, the ratio of loss reserves to noncurrent
loans has been declining for small banks. Although
the ratio is near historic highs, Figure 10 indicates
that this ratio has declined since 1994 for small banks.
Also during this period, the ratio of loss reserves to
noncurrent loans has diverged between small and
larger banks. In the second quarter 1999, small banks
had a loss reserves to noncurrent loans ratio of 134
percent, in comparison to a loss reserves to noncur-
rent loans ratio of 188 percent for banks with over
$100 million in assets. During this time period, small
banks had a higher percentage of noncurrent loans to
assets than larger banks.

Conclusion

The commercial banking industry continued to be highly
profitable in the first two quarters of 1999. The economic
expansion and large increases in trading revenue have
contributed to the industry’s financial success.

In contrast to larger institutions, small banks have had
declining profitability as measured by ROA, although
profitability of small banks is still high. Although both
small and larger banks have encountered declining net
interest margins, small banks have had more pressure
to find more expensive non-traditional liabilities. Addi-
tionally, small banks have not had as much capacity as
larger banks to find alternative sources of noninterest
income to offset lost net interest income.

Small banks have added to interest income, but with a
corresponding increase in indicators of increased credit
risk. Beginning in 1996, interest income as a percent-
age of assets in small banks began to exceed by an
increasing amount the same ratio for larger banks. At
about the same time, small banks also began to have
higher percentages of nonperforming assets and non-
current loans to assets than larger banks have.

Figure 9—Noncurrent loans
(commercial banks)

Source: Integrated Banking Information System
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Preliminary Preliminary
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999YTD 1997Q2 1998Q2

Number of institutions reporting..................... 2,858 2,726 2,597 2,456 2,409 2,546 2,409
Total employees (FTEs) .................................. 840,699 850,737 912,463 974,868 960,086 952,360 960,086

Selected income data ($)
Net income ....................................................... $28,583 $30,497 $35,782 $37,621 $21,589 $9,575 $11,025
Net interest income ......................................... 87,080 94,564 106,639 110,986 57,468 27,620 28,741
Provision for loan losses ................................ 6,335 9,598 13,065 15,242 7,734 3,555 3,657
Noninterest income ......................................... 51,080 56,100 65,429 81,347 45,166 19,083 22,634
Noninterest expense ....................................... 87,591 93,690 104,682 122,586 61,845 28,457 30,671
Net operating income ...................................... 28,540 30,095 34,993 35,562 21,234 9,288 10,891
Cash dividends declared ............................... 20,516 25,279 28,587 25,411 14,082 3,855 8,889
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ... 6,459 9,968 12,661 14,491 6,926 3,359 3,240

Selected condition data ($)
Total assets ...................................................... 2,401,017 2,528,057 2,893,910 3,183,327 3,193,021 2,978,610 3,193,021
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1,522,677 1,641,464 1,840,510 2,015,615 2,044,316 1,923,481 2,044,316
Reserve for losses .......................................... 31,142 31,992 34,865 36,810 37,263 36,343 37,263
Securities ......................................................... 390,549 380,615 452,118 516,084 546,637 473,600 546,637
Other real estate owned ................................. 3,396 2,761 2,112 1,833 1,674 1,982 1,674
Noncurrent loans and leases ......................... 17,595 17,223 17,878 19,516 19,707 17,770 19,707
Total deposits ................................................... 1,695,817 1,801,043 2,004,867 2,137,948 2,121,977 2,035,432 2,121,977
Domestic deposits .......................................... 1,406,312 1,525,565 1,685,316 1,785,859 1,755,783 1,708,310 1,755,783
Equity capital ................................................... 189,714 207,166 244,795 274,209 276,926 263,552 276,926
Off-balance-sheet derivatives ....................... 7,914,818 7,488,663 8,704,481 10,953,514 10,982,091 9,814,832 10,982,091

Performance ratios (annualized %)
Return on equity .............................................. 15.76 15.28 15.00 14.30 15.58 14.80 15.84
Return on assets ............................................. 1.24 1.25 1.29 1.24 1.36 1.29 1.39
Net interest income to assets ......................... 3.78 3.88 3.83 3.67 3.62 3.71 3.63
Loss provision to assets ................................ 0.27 0.39 0.47 0.50 0.49 0.48 0.46
Net operating income to assets ..................... 1.24 1.24 1.26 1.18 1.34 1.25 1.37
Noninterest income to assets ......................... 2.22 2.30 2.35 2.69 2.84 2.56 2.85
Noninterest expense to assets ...................... 3.80 3.85 3.76 4.05 3.89 3.82 3.87
Loss provision to loans and leases ............... 0.44 0.61 0.73 0.79 0.76 0.75 0.72
Net charge-offs to loans and leases ............. 0.45 0.63 0.71 0.75 0.68 0.71 0.64
Loss provision to net charge-offs ................. 98.09 96.29 103.19 105.12 111.69 105.85 112.88

Performance ratios (%)
Percent of institutions unprofitable ................ 3.32 4.77 4.89 5.90 5.85 5.42 5.98
Percent of institutions with earnings gains ... 66.83 67.83 67.96 61.89 55.87 59.78 56.87
Nonint. income to net operating revenue ...... 36.97 37.24 38.02 42.29 44.01 40.86 44.06
Nonint. expense to net operating revenue ... 63.40 62.18 60.84 63.74 60.26 60.93 59.70

Condition ratios (%)
Nonperforming assets to assets ................... 0.88 0.80 0.70 0.68 0.68 0.67 0.68
Noncurrent loans to loans .............................. 1.16 1.05 0.97 0.97 0.96 0.92 0.96
Loss reserve to noncurrent loans .................. 176.99 185.75 195.01 188.61 189.09 204.51 189.09
Loss reserve to loans ..................................... 2.05 1.95 1.89 1.83 1.82 1.89 1.82
Equity capital to assets .................................. 7.90 8.19 8.46 8.61 8.67 8.85 8.67
Leverage ratio ................................................. 7.31 7.40 7.42 7.43 7.56 7.49 7.56
Risk-based capital ratio ................................. 12.09 11.97 11.86 11.80 12.02 11.91 12.02
Net loans and leases to assets ...................... 62.12 63.66 62.39 62.16 62.86 63.36 62.86
Securities to assets ......................................... 16.27 15.06 15.62 16.21 17.12 15.90 17.12
Appreciation in securities (% of par) ............. 0.86 0.50 1.11 0.82 –1.42 0.99 –1.42
Residential mortgage assets to assets ......... 20.13 19.81 20.10 20.41 19.88 20.44 19.88
Total deposits to assets ................................. 70.63 71.24 69.28 67.16 66.46 68.33 66.46
Core deposits to assets ................................. 53.28 54.08 51.59 49.72 48.50 50.81 48.50
Volatile liabilities to assets ............................... 30.29 29.83 31.42 31.77 33.27 31.54 33.27

Key indicators, FDIC-insured national banks
Annual 1995–1998, year-to-date through June 30, 1999, second quarter 1998, and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)
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Loan performance, FDIC-insured national banks
Annual 1995–1998, year-to-date through June 30, 1999, second quarter 1998, and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Preliminary Preliminary
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999YTD 1998Q2 1999Q2

Percent of loans past due 30–89 days
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.26 1.39 1.32 1.27 1.12 1.12 1.12

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 1.38 1.45 1.39 1.33 1.05 1.14 1.05
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 1.44 1.63 1.65 1.50 1.13 1.36 1.13
Home equity loans ..................................... 1.19 1.04 0.93 0.97 0.76 0.78 0.76
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 1.15 1.28 1.33 0.94 0.51 0.80 0.51
Commercial RE loans ................................ 1.26 1.25 0.95 1.02 0.96 0.80 0.96
Construction RE loans ............................... 1.42 1.63 1.63 1.82 1.17 1.32 1.17

Commercial and industrial loans* ................ 0.77 0.89 0.76 0.81 0.87 0.72 0.87
Loans to individuals ...................................... 2.16 2.46 2.52 2.44 2.23 2.20 2.23

Credit cards ............................................... 2.35 2.70 2.75 2.52 2.42 2.42 2.42
Installment loans ........................................ 2.04 2.26 2.34 2.37 2.10 2.02 2.10

All other loans and leases ............................ 0.40 0.41 0.46 0.46 0.52 0.40 0.52

Percent of loans noncurrent
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.16 1.05 0.97 0.97 0.96 0.92 0.96

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 1.46 1.27 1.07 0.98 0.93 1.00 0.93
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 0.90 1.10 1.01 0.95 0.82 0.92 0.82
Home equity loans ..................................... 0.52 0.47 0.43 0.41 0.34 0.41 0.34
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 2.21 1.47 1.01 0.88 0.83 0.87 0.83
Commercial RE loans ................................ 2.18 1.71 1.27 1.01 1.05 1.16 1.05
Construction RE loans ............................... 3.17 1.31 1.00 0.80 0.83 1.00 0.83

Commercial and industrial loans* ................ 1.06 0.87 0.78 0.86 1.01 0.84 1.01
Loans to individuals ...................................... 1.18 1.34 1.49 1.59 1.40 1.36 1.40

Credit cards ............................................... 1.34 1.70 2.03 2.06 1.75 1.77 1.75
Installment loans ........................................ 1.06 1.04 1.04 1.19 1.16 1.04 1.16

All other loans and leases ............................ 0.32 0.25 0.27 0.31 0.47 0.28 0.47

Percent of loans charged-off, net
Total loans and leases ..................................... 0.45 0.63 0.71 0.75 0.68 0.71 0.64

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 0.13 0.09 0.06 0.05 0.07 0.03 0.08
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 0.10 0.08 0.08 0.07 0.10 0.06 0.11
Home equity loans ..................................... 0.23 0.24 0.18 0.16 0.19 0.15 0.18
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 0.20 0.09 0.01 0.07 0.01 0.09 0.02
Commercial RE loans ................................ 0.18 0.02 –0.01 –0.02 0.01 –0.08 0.01
Construction RE loans ............................... –0.01 0.16 –0.10 –0.01 0.04 –0.02 0.05

Commercial and industrial loans* ................ 0.10 0.22 0.27 0.38 0.50 0.32 0.55
Loans to individuals ...................................... 1.80 2.45 2.86 2.92 2.62 3.01 2.35

Credit cards ............................................... 3.40 4.25 4.95 5.02 4.57 5.50 4.21
Installment loans ........................................ 0.76 1.04 1.20 1.23 1.15 1.12 1.01

All other loans and leases ............................ –0.14 0.17 0.15 0.79 0.23 0.21 0.20

Loans outstanding ($)
Total loans and leases ..................................... $1,522,677 $1,641,464 $1,840,510 $2,015,615 $2,044,316 $1,923,481 $2,044,316

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 610,405 646,570 725,305 764,868 770,457 742,105 770,457
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 317,521 329,031 363,329 381,522 378,174 373,968 378,174
Home equity loans ..................................... 48,836 55,022 67,669 66,091 60,298 66,921 60,298
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 18,161 20,480 23,346 23,201 25,554 23,543 25,554
Commercial RE loans ................................ 157,638 170,350 190,067 200,469 205,312 190,758 205,312
Construction RE loans ............................... 34,736 38,848 47,410 56,260 62,609 51,950 62,609
Farmland loans ........................................... 8,734 9,046 10,178 10,930 11,324 10,573 11,324
RE loans from foreign offices .................... 24,779 23,794 23,306 26,396 27,186 24,392 27,186

Commercial and industrial loans ................. 405,630 425,148 508,589 583,930 609,979 552,164 609,979
Loans to individuals ...................................... 320,009 356,067 371,499 386,461 351,252 365,256 351,252

Credit cards ............................................... 131,228 161,104 168,258 176,458 143,216 159,451 143,216
Installment loans ........................................ 188,781 194,963 203,241 210,003 208,037 205,805 208,037

All other loans and leases ............................ 189,490 216,194 237,329 282,395 314,458 266,097 314,458
Less: Unearned income ............................... 2,857 2,515 2,212 2,039 1,831 2,141 1,831

*Includes “All other loans” for institutions under $1 billion in asset size.
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Less than $100M $100M to $1B $1B to $10B Greater than $10B
1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2

Number of institutions reporting............. 1,329 1,237 1,030 987 147 138 40 47
Total employees (FTEs) .......................... 33,485 31,599 113,243 108,034 160,337 134,435 645,295 686,018

Selected income data ($)
Net income ............................................... $210 $173 $898 $902 $1,722 $1,926 $6,745 $8,025
Net interest income ................................. 698 625 2,825 2,666 5,250 4,334 18,847 21,116
Provision for loan losses ........................ 37 34 193 194 1,112 756 2,213 2,673
Noninterest income ................................. 397 395 1,193 1,357 3,773 4,218 13,721 16,663
Noninterest expense ............................... 768 748 2,500 2,521 5,209 4,823 19,980 22,580
Net operating income .............................. 209 172 889 899 1,694 1,911 6,496 7,908
Cash dividends declared ....................... 143 101 452 735 1,128 1,053 2,133 7,001
Net charge-offs to

loan and lease reserve ...................... 27 22 175 140 1,170 670 1,986 2,408

Selected condition data ($)
Total assets .............................................. 65,899 61,469 270,334 259,935 482,331 405,504 2,160,046 2,466,113
Total loans and leases ............................. 38,157 35,386 164,081 159,305 313,151 255,958 1,408,091 1,593,666
Reserve for losses .................................. 514 478 2,412 2,312 7,988 6,076 25,429 28,396
Securities ................................................. 17,860 17,214 71,351 70,782 89,249 90,379 295,140 368,262
Other real estate owned ......................... 85 64 236 222 205 170 1,456 1,218
Noncurrent loans and leases ................. 413 382 1,376 1,332 3,124 2,268 12,858 15,725
Total deposits ........................................... 56,402 52,377 220,181 211,211 315,617 259,064 1,443,233 1,599,325
Domestic deposits .................................. 56,402 52,377 219,660 210,729 309,905 255,898 1,122,343 1,236,779
Equity capital ........................................... 7,123 6,640 26,273 24,224 49,106 42,069 181,050 203,992
Off-balance-sheet derivatives ............... 535 73 3,795 2,988 68,162 41,915 10,022,927 11,192,395

Performance ratios (annualized %)
Return on equity ...................................... 11.86 10.33 13.82 14.75 14.51 18.33 15.13 15.65
Return on assets ..................................... 1.29 1.13 1.34 1.40 1.45 1.92 1.24 1.31
Net interest income to assets ................. 4.27 4.10 4.20 4.14 4.42 4.31 3.48 3.45
Loss provision to assets ........................ 0.23 0.22 0.29 0.30 0.94 0.75 0.41 0.44
Net operating income to assets ............. 1.28 1.13 1.32 1.40 1.43 1.90 1.20 1.29
Noninterest income to assets ................. 2.43 2.59 1.77 2.11 3.17 4.20 2.53 2.72
Noninterest expense to assets .............. 4.70 4.91 3.72 3.92 4.38 4.80 3.69 3.69
Loss provision to loans and leases ....... 0.40 0.39 0.47 0.50 1.44 1.19 0.64 0.67
Net charge-offs to loans and leases ..... 0.29 0.25 0.43 0.36 1.51 1.05 0.57 0.61
Loss provision to net charge-offs ......... 136.18 153.59 110.33 138.93 95.05 112.83 111.40 111.01

Performance ratios (%)
Percent of institutions unprofitable ........ 7.60 9.86 2.72 2.03 6.12 1.45 0.00 0.00
Percent of institutions with earnings gains ... 53.88 49.39 65.53 63.12 67.35 73.91 80.00 72.34
Noninterest income to

net operating revenue ....................... 36.29 38.74 29.69 33.73 41.81 49.32 42.13 44.11
Noninterest expense to

net operating revenue ....................... 70.08 73.34 62.23 62.66 57.73 56.39 61.35 59.77

Condition ratios (%)
Nonperforming assets to assets ........... 0.76 0.72 0.60 0.60 0.69 0.61 0.67 0.70
Noncurrent loans to loans ...................... 1.08 1.08 0.84 0.84 1.00 0.89 0.91 0.99
Loss reserve to noncurrent loans .......... 124.59 125.34 175.36 173.52 255.70 267.88 197.76 180.59
Loss reserve to loans ............................. 1.35 1.35 1.47 1.45 2.55 2.37 1.81 1.78
Equity capital to assets .......................... 10.81 10.80 9.72 9.32 10.18 10.37 8.38 8.27
Leverage ratio ......................................... 10.58 10.75 9.21 9.11 8.67 9.04 6.91 7.07
Risk-based capital ratio .......................... 17.98 18.05 15.22 14.70 13.46 13.87 11.17 11.42
Net loans and leases to assets .............. 57.12 56.79 59.80 60.40 63.27 61.62 64.01 63.47
Securities to assets ................................. 27.10 28.00 26.39 27.23 18.50 22.29 13.66 14.93
Appreciation in securities (% of par) ..... 0.65 –0.99 0.85 –1.13 1.04 –1.22 1.03 –1.54
Residential mortgage assets to assets ... 21.97 21.70 25.83 25.70 22.34 26.14 19.30 18.19
Total deposits to assets ......................... 85.59 85.21 81.45 81.26 65.44 63.89 66.81 64.85
Core deposits to assets ......................... 74.31 73.62 70.39 69.80 56.55 55.34 46.36 44.51
Volatile liabilities to assets ....................... 12.77 13.33 16.65 17.23 26.77 26.66 35.04 36.54

Key indicators, FDIC-insured national banks by asset size
Second quarter 1998 and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)
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Loan performance, FDIC-insured national banks by asset size
Second quarter 1998 and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than $100M $100M to $1B $1B to $10B Greater than $10B
1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2

Percent of loans past due 30–89 days
Total loans and leases ............................. 1.42 1.32 1.23 1.18 1.61 1.33 0.99 1.07

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .... 1.21 1.11 0.99 0.91 1.09 0.91 1.17 1.10
1–4 family residential mortgages ..... 1.49 1.41 1.16 1.09 1.08 0.99 1.46 1.16
Home equity loans ............................. 0.86 0.82 0.89 0.65 0.91 0.85 0.74 0.76
Multifamily residential mortgages ..... 0.70 0.51 0.74 0.48 0.99 0.48 0.75 0.52
Commercial RE loans ........................ 0.94 0.75 0.76 0.76 1.02 0.85 0.74 1.05
Construction RE loans ....................... 1.28 1.18 1.14 0.83 1.64 0.97 1.27 1.28

Commercial and industrial loans* ........ 2.44 2.38 1.71 1.58 1.52 1.22 0.52 0.78
Loans to individuals .............................. 2.13 1.97 1.86 2.00 2.34 2.13 2.18 2.29

Credit cards ....................................... 3.90 2.19 2.75 3.63 2.41 2.46 2.41 2.33
Installment loans ................................ 2.03 1.96 1.66 1.60 2.22 1.72 2.03 2.25

All other loans and leases .................... 1.32 1.14 0.33 0.5

Percent of loans noncurrent
Total loans and leases ............................. 1.08 1.08 0.84 0.84 1.00 0.89 0.91 0.99

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .... 0.92 0.85 0.70 0.65 0.82 0.71 1.11 1.03
1–4 family residential mortgages ..... 0.80 0.74 0.65 0.64 0.67 0.70 1.04 0.88
Home equity loans ............................. 0.61 0.52 0.35 0.40 0.53 0.44 0.39 0.32
Multifamily residential mortgages ..... 0.29 0.38 0.52 0.47 0.75 0.44 1.00 1.02
Commercial RE loans ........................ 0.96 0.84 0.78 0.68 1.11 0.86 1.29 1.20
Construction RE loans ....................... 0.89 0.47 0.72 0.47 0.85 0.52 1.12 0.99

Commercial and industrial loans* ........ 2.61 2.82 1.48 1.50 0.82 0.75 0.78 0.99
Loans to individuals .............................. 0.77 0.72 0.77 0.91 1.41 1.32 1.42 1.48

Credit cards ....................................... 1.93 1.37 2.02 2.63 1.83 1.93 1.71 1.63
Installment loans ................................ 0.70 0.69 0.49 0.49 0.70 0.55 1.24 1.39

All other loans and leases .................... 0.52 0.64 0.25 0.4

Percent of loans charged-off, net
Total loans and leases ............................. 0.29 0.25 0.43 0.36 1.51 1.05 0.57 0.61

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .... 0.03 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.02 0.08
1–4 family residential mortgages ..... 0.04 0.03 0.05 0.06 0.08 0.13 0.06 0.11
Home equity loans ............................. 0.02 0.06 0.08 0.07 0.12 0.21 0.17 0.19
Multifamily residential mortgages ..... 0.09 0.02 0.32 0.07 –0.06 0.06 0.09 –0.01
Commercial RE loans ........................ 0.03 0.04 0.01 0.04 0.06 –0.01 –0.14 0.00
Construction RE loans ....................... 0.11 0.03 0.03 0.01 0.04 0.14 –0.06 0.03

Commercial and industrial loans* ........ 0.87 0.80 0.59 0.46 0.27 0.42 0.30 0.57
Loans to individuals .............................. 0.81 0.67 1.70 1.46 4.20 3.17 2.68 2.24

Credit cards ....................................... 6.68 2.17 5.67 5.41 6.17 4.96 4.98 3.86
Installment loans ................................ 0.46 0.59 0.57 0.52 0.99 0.80 1.26 1.13

All other loans and leases .................... 0.27 0.26 0.22 0.1

Loans outstanding ($)
Total loans and leases ............................. $38,157 $35,386 $164,081 $159,305 $313,151 $255,958 $1,408,091 $1,593,666

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ..... 21,206 19,957 97,818 95,632 125,426 118,352 497,655 536,516
1–4 family residential mortgages ..... 10,565 9,510 47,172 43,955 62,463 59,126 253,767 265,581
Home equity loans ............................. 486 427 4,523 3,922 10,271 8,056 51,641 47,893
Multifamily residential mortgages ..... 488 425 3,244 3,180 4,606 4,825 15,204 17,124
Commercial RE loans ........................ 5,908 5,748 31,705 32,752 35,886 33,989 117,259 132,822
Construction RE loans ....................... 1,418 1,510 7,432 7,854 10,349 10,858 32,752 42,388
Farmland loans ................................... 2,341 2,337 3,720 3,946 1,711 1,311 2,802 3,731
RE loans from foreign offices ............ 0 0 22 24 140 186 24,230 26,977

Commercial and industrial loans ......... 6,537 6,138 29,161 28,606 62,201 49,379 454,265 525,855
Loans to individuals .............................. 5,767 5,041 26,881 25,174 105,699 72,417 226,910 248,621

Credit cards ....................................... 321 239 4,951 4,939 66,215 40,399 87,965 97,638
Installment loans ................................ 5,446 4,802 21,930 20,234 39,484 32,018 138,945 150,982

All other loans and leases .................... 4,804 4,362 10,600 10,209 19,994 15,883 230,700 284,00
Less: Unearned income ....................... 156 111 378 316 168 73 1,440 1,330

* Includes “All other loans” for institutions $1 billion in asset size.
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All
Northeast Southeast Central Midwest Southwest West institutions

Number of institutions reporting..................... 267 324 496 477 599 246 2,409
Total employees (FTEs) .................................. 264,630 243,761 162,776 75,038 73,070 140,811 960,086

Selected income data ($)
Net income ....................................................... $2,955 $2,581 $1,597 $1,074 $685 $2,133 $11,025
Net interest income ......................................... 7,551 7,154 4,453 2,534 1,943 5,107 28,741
Provision for loan losses ................................ 1,489 877 386 401 103 401 3,657
Noninterest income ......................................... 8,318 4,803 2,846 1,922 889 3,856 22,634
Noninterest expense ....................................... 9,754 7,033 4,549 2,411 1,734 5,190 30,671
Net operating income ...................................... 2,910 2,544 1,583 1,068 676 2,111 10,891
Cash dividends declared ............................... 2,107 3,388 849 839 275 1,431 8,889
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ... 1,195 644 304 404 132 561 3,240

Selected condition data ($)
Total assets ...................................................... 854,905 843,081 525,755 243,731 205,852 519,697 3,193,021
Total loans and leases ..................................... 531,364 520,444 353,290 165,655 117,649 355,915 2,044,316
Reserve for losses .......................................... 11,524 7,816 5,263 2,962 1,566 8,132 37,263
Securities ......................................................... 144,758 169,247 88,834 39,667 55,055 49,076 546,637
Other real estate owned ................................. 551 443 186 77 127 291 1,674
Noncurrent loans and leases ......................... 7,282 4,393 3,047 1,354 1,191 2,440 19,707
Total deposits ................................................... 575,228 512,232 341,745 162,926 161,973 367,874 2,121,977
Domestic deposits .......................................... 343,972 483,241 306,556 153,765 159,741 308,509 1,755,783
Equity capital ................................................... 71,064 75,164 43,779 19,854 17,217 49,849 276,926
Off-balance-sheet derivatives ....................... 4,070,038 3,538,820 1,346,929 41,321 30,482 1,954,501 10,982,091

Performance ratios (annualized %)
Return on equity .............................................. 16.58 13.51 14.64 21.49 15.89 17.14 15.84
Return on assets ............................................. 1.39 1.23 1.23 1.78 1.34 1.64 1.39
Net interest income to assets ......................... 3.56 3.42 3.43 4.20 3.80 3.92 3.63
Loss provision to assets ................................ 0.70 0.42 0.30 0.66 0.20 0.31 0.46
Net operating income to assets ..................... 1.37 1.21 1.22 1.77 1.32 1.62 1.37
Noninterest income to assets ......................... 3.93 2.29 2.19 3.18 1.74 2.96 2.85
Noninterest expense to assets ...................... 4.60 3.36 3.51 3.99 3.39 3.98 3.87
Loss provision to loans and leases ............... 1.12 0.68 0.44 0.97 0.35 0.45 0.72
Net charge-offs to loans and leases ............. 0.90 0.50 0.35 0.98 0.45 0.63 0.64
Loss provision to net charge-offs ................. 124.64 136.22 126.81 99.26 77.94 71.49 112.88

Performance ratios (%)
Percent of institutions unprofitable ................ 3.00 13.89 3.63 2.73 6.51 8.54 5.98
Percent of institutions with earnings gains ... 70.04 58.33 56.45 50.52 53.59 61.79 56.87
Nonint. income to net operating revenue ...... 52.42 40.17 38.99 43.13 31.39 43.02 44.06
Nonint. expense to net operating revenue ... 61.47 58.82 62.32 54.12 61.25 57.91 59.70

Condition ratios (%)
Nonperforming assets to assets ................... 0.95 0.57 0.62 0.59 0.64 0.54 0.68
Noncurrent loans to loans .............................. 1.37 0.84 0.86 0.82 1.01 0.69 0.96
Loss reserve to noncurrent loans .................. 158.25 177.92 172.72 218.81 131.53 333.24 189.09
Loss reserve to loans ..................................... 2.17 1.50 1.49 1.79 1.33 2.28 1.82
Equity capital to assets .................................. 8.31 8.92 8.33 8.15 8.36 9.59 8.67
Leverage ratio ................................................. 7.50 7.40 7.64 7.62 7.74 7.74 7.56
Risk-based capital ratio ................................. 12.48 11.34 11.78 12.15 13.10 12.18 12.02
Net loans and leases to assets ...................... 60.81 60.80 66.20 66.75 56.39 66.92 62.86
Securities to assets ......................................... 16.93 20.07 16.90 16.27 26.75 9.44 17.12
Appreciation in securities (% of par) ............. –0.87 –1.93 –1.11 –1.27 –1.56 –1.77 –1.42
Residential mortgage assets to assets ......... 15.54 27.10 19.63 20.35 23.05 14.09 19.88
Total deposits to assets ................................. 67.29 60.76 65.00 66.85 78.68 70.79 66.46
Core deposits to assets ................................. 34.11 50.85 51.52 57.31 67.94 53.49 48.50
Volatile liabilities to assets ............................... 45.35 31.47 30.28 25.29 20.36 28.19 33.27

Key indicators, FDIC-insured national banks by region
Second quarter 1999
(Dollar figures in millions)
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All
Northeast Southeast Central Midwest Southwest West institutions

Percent of loans past due 30–89 days
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.21 0.98 1.28 1.45 1.27 0.82 1.12

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 1.22 0.88 1.21 1.19 1.04 0.90 1.05
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 1.46 0.74 1.32 1.27 1.18 1.31 1.13
Home equity loans ..................................... 0.77 0.70 0.90 0.72 0.47 0.70 0.76
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 0.21 0.49 0.65 1.03 0.86 0.36 0.51
Commercial RE loans ................................ 0.71 1.25 1.13 0.76 0.88 0.60 0.96
Construction RE loans ............................... 0.79 0.93 1.53 2.23 1.14 0.80 1.17

Commercial and industrial loans* ................ 0.74 0.69 1.24 1.43 1.43 0.58 0.87
Loans to individuals ...................................... 2.56 2.53 1.98 2.16 1.43 1.84 2.23

Credit cards ............................................... 2.78 2.23 1.92 2.40 0.89 1.95 2.42
Installment loans ........................................ 2.25 2.63 1.99 1.89 1.45 1.69 2.10

All other loans and leases ............................ 0.43 0.33 0.82 0.97 1.44 0.33 0.52

Percent of loans noncurrent
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.37 0.84 0.86 0.82 1.01 0.69 0.96

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 1.35 0.87 0.92 0.62 1.06 0.59 0.93
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 1.03 0.68 1.04 0.57 0.77 0.71 0.82
Home equity loans ..................................... 0.46 0.32 0.39 0.29 0.21 0.24 0.34
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 1.16 1.08 0.77 0.22 0.63 0.50 0.83
Commercial RE loans ................................ 1.28 1.28 0.96 0.56 1.54 0.56 1.05
Construction RE loans ............................... 0.79 0.99 0.81 0.77 0.71 0.68 0.83

Commercial and industrial loans* ................ 1.14 0.87 1.02 0.88 1.44 0.91 1.01
Loans to individuals ...................................... 2.49 0.98 0.73 1.14 0.37 0.99 1.40

Credit cards ............................................... 2.16 1.22 1.21 1.60 0.54 1.49 1.75
Installment loans ........................................ 2.93 0.89 0.63 0.60 0.36 0.37 1.16

All other loans and leases ............................ 0.43 0.53 0.53 0.73 0.81 0.32 0.47

Percent of loans charged-off, net
Total loans and leases ..................................... 0.90 0.50 0.35 0.98 0.45 0.63 0.64

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 0.05 0.11 0.05 0.12 0.12 0.03 0.08
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 0.09 0.11 0.05 0.21 0.04 0.16 0.11
Home equity loans ..................................... 0.13 0.32 0.23 0.17 0.64 –0.02 0.18
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 0.10 –0.02 0.01 0.09 –0.15 0.01 0.02
Commercial RE loans ................................ –0.07 0.09 –0.03 0.00 0.21 –0.13 0.01
Construction RE loans ............................... 0.02 0.00 0.07 0.03 0.06 0.13 0.05

Commercial and industrial loans* ................ 0.60 0.54 0.39 0.39 0.70 0.66 0.55
Loans to individuals ...................................... 3.22 1.86 1.06 3.22 0.90 2.45 2.35

Credit cards ............................................... 4.04 4.56 2.36 5.21 2.14 4.42 4.21
Installment loans ........................................ 2.01 0.95 0.76 0.92 0.85 –0.11 1.01

All other loans and leases ............................ –0.07 0.38 0.34 0.68 0.25 0.14 0.20

Loans outstanding ($)
Total loans and leases ..................................... $531,364 $520,444 $353,290 $165,655 $117,649 $355,915 $2,044,316

Loans secured by real estate (RE) ............ 157,322 240,208 142,943 65,594 49,472 114,918 770,457
1–4 family residential mortgages ............. 81,041 133,727 63,531 33,245 20,722 45,907 378,174
Home equity loans ..................................... 11,827 14,232 15,290 3,919 991 14,038 60,298
Multifamily residential mortgages ............. 5,273 6,682 5,208 1,958 1,810 4,624 25,554
Commercial RE loans ................................ 29,405 62,364 43,602 17,235 17,984 34,721 205,312
Construction RE loans ............................... 5,653 20,672 12,657 6,269 6,357 11,001 62,609
Farmland loans ........................................... 461 2,328 2,628 2,967 1,609 1,332 11,324
RE loans from foreign offices .................... 23,662 203 27 0 0 3,294 27,186

Commercial and industrial loans ................. 173,934 152,407 102,894 42,187 34,019 104,538 609,979
Loans to individuals ...................................... 112,046 67,272 54,593 38,254 23,072 56,015 351,252

Credit cards ............................................... 64,485 17,040 9,119 20,525 861 31,186 143,216
Installment loans ........................................ 47,561 50,232 45,474 17,729 22,211 24,829 208,037

All other loans and leases ............................ 89,047 60,868 52,996 19,643 11,266 80,638 314,458
Less: Unearned income ............................... 984 311 136 23 181 195 1,831

Loan performance, FDIC-insured national banks by region
Second quarter 1999
(Dollar figures in millions)

*Includes “All other loans” for institutions under $1 billion in asset size.



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 199912

Preliminary Preliminary
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999YTD 1998Q2 1999Q2

Number of institutions reporting..................... 9,940 9,528 9,143 8,775 8,675 8,984 8,675
Total employees (FTEs) .................................. 1,484,421 1,489,203 1,538,428 1,627,069 1,623,175 1,593,918 1,623,175

Selected income data ($)
Net income ....................................................... $48,745 $52,352 $59,160 $61,811 $34,936 $16,108 $16,962
Net interest income ......................................... 154,210 162,758 174,510 182,763 95,154 45,513 47,780
Provision for loan losses ................................ 12,603 16,285 19,850 22,205 10,336 5,098 4,926
Noninterest income ......................................... 82,426 93,569 104,498 123,701 69,198 30,425 34,513
Noninterest expense ....................................... 149,729 160,700 169,985 194,120 100,396 46,374 50,811
Net operating income ...................................... 48,396 51,511 57,933 59,257 34,533 15,739 16,910
Cash dividends declared ............................... 31,053 38,792 42,540 41,002 22,705 7,522 13,653
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ... 12,202 15,500 18,316 20,723 9,574 4,774 4,577

Selected condition data ($)
Total assets ...................................................... 4,312,676 4,578,412 5,015,057 5,441,224 5,467,745 5,181,540 5,467,745
Total loans and leases ..................................... 2,602,963 2,811,363 2,970,860 3,238,498 3,308,430 3,091,849 3,308,430
Reserve for losses .......................................... 52,838 53,458 54,685 57,250 57,591 56,384 57,591
Securities ......................................................... 810,872 800,658 871,876 979,718 1,007,111 893,984 1,007,111
Other real estate owned ................................. 6,063 4,780 3,795 3,148 2,915 3,531 2,915
Noncurrent loans and leases ......................... 30,351 29,131 28,543 31,253 31,157 29,063 31,157
Total deposits ................................................... 3,027,574 3,197,207 3,421,799 3,681,552 3,680,818 3,506,625 3,680,818
Domestic deposits .......................................... 2,573,480 2,723,627 2,895,604 3,109,518 3,086,707 2,957,589 3,086,707
Equity capital ................................................... 349,571 375,295 417,802 462,198 466,187 445,839 466,187
Off-balance-sheet derivatives ....................... 16,860,614 20,035,444 25,063,799 33,005,084 33,003,585 28,175,580 33,003,585

Performance ratios (annualized %)
Return on equity .............................................. 14.66 14.45 14.68 13.93 14.97 14.70 14.49
Return on assets ............................................. 1.17 1.19 1.23 1.19 1.28 1.25 1.25
Net interest income to assets ......................... 3.71 3.70 3.64 3.51 3.49 3.54 3.51
Loss provision to assets ................................ 0.30 0.37 0.41 0.43 0.38 0.40 0.36
Net operating income to assets ..................... 1.16 1.17 1.21 1.14 1.27 1.22 1.24
Noninterest income to assets ......................... 1.98 2.13 2.18 2.37 2.54 2.36 2.54
Noninterest expense to assets ...................... 3.60 3.65 3.54 3.73 3.69 3.60 3.74
Loss provision to loans and leases ............... 0.51 0.61 0.69 0.72 0.63 0.67 0.60
Net charge-offs to loans and leases ............. 0.49 0.58 0.64 0.67 0.59 0.62 0.56
Loss provision to net charge-offs ................. 103.28 105.07 108.37 104.85 107.97 104.61 107.63

Performance ratios (%)
Percent of institutions unprofitable ................ 3.55 4.27 4.85 6.05 6.33 4.94 6.65
Percent of institutions with earnings gains ... 67.53 70.78 68.39 61.47 55.48 59.35 56.77
Nonint. income to net operating revenue ...... 34.83 36.50 37.45 40.36 42.10 40.07 41.94
Nonint. expense to net operating revenue ... 63.27 62.69 60.92 63.34 61.09 61.07 61.74

Condition ratios (%)
Nonperforming assets to assets ................... 0.85 0.75 0.66 0.65 0.64 0.65 0.64
Noncurrent loans to loans .............................. 1.17 1.04 0.96 0.97 0.94 0.94 0.94
Loss reserve to noncurrent loans .................. 174.09 183.51 191.59 183.18 184.84 194.00 184.84
Loss reserve to loans ..................................... 2.03 1.90 1.84 1.77 1.74 1.82 1.74
Equity capital to assets .................................. 8.11 8.20 8.33 8.49 8.53 8.60 8.53
Leverage ratio ................................................. 7.61 7.64 7.56 7.54 7.74 7.64 7.74
Risk-based capital ratio ................................. 12.68 12.54 12.25 12.23 12.37 12.36 12.37
Net loans and leases to assets ...................... 59.13 60.24 58.15 58.47 59.45 58.58 59.45
Securities to assets ......................................... 18.80 17.49 17.39 18.01 18.42 17.25 18.42
Appreciation in securities (% of par) ............. 1.01 0.51 1.10 1.07 –1.20 1.10 –1.20
Residential mortgage assets to assets ......... 20.31 19.79 20.04 20.93 20.28 20.01 20.28
Total deposits to assets ................................. 70.20 69.83 68.23 67.66 67.32 67.68 67.32
Core deposits to assets ................................. 53.47 52.46 50.06 49.40 48.63 49.39 48.63
Volatile liabilities to assets ............................... 29.68 30.71 31.92 31.68 33.01 32.21 33.01

Key indicators, FDIC-insured commercial banks
Annual 1995–1998, year-to-date through June 30, 1999, second quarter 1998, and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)
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Loan performance, FDIC-insured commercial banks
Annual 1995–1998, year-to-date through June 30, 1999, second quarter 1998, and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Preliminary Preliminary
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999YTD 1998Q2 1999Q2

Percent of loans past due 30–89 days
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.29 1.37 1.31 1.26 1.12 1.15 1.12

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 1.38 1.41 1.33 1.26 1.02 1.11 1.02
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 1.53 1.57 1.59 1.44 1.14 1.30 1.14
Home equity loans .................................. 1.09 1.06 0.96 0.98 0.75 0.81 0.75
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 0.99 1.19 1.11 0.87 0.58 0.80 0.58
Commercial RE loans .............................. 1.21 1.24 0.97 0.99 0.86 0.84 0.86
Construction RE loans ............................ 1.41 1.58 1.42 1.50 1.13 1.31 1.13

Commercial and industrial loans* ............. 0.86 0.95 0.83 0.88 0.92 0.82 0.92
Loans to individuals ................................... 2.21 2.50 2.50 2.43 2.18 2.24 2.18

Credit cards ............................................ 2.40 2.76 2.73 2.58 2.44 2.51 2.44
Installment loans ...................................... 2.08 2.31 2.33 2.33 2.03 2.07 2.03

All other loans and leases ......................... 0.37 0.37 0.51 0.51 0.60 0.52 0.60

Percent of loans noncurrent
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.17 1.04 0.96 0.97 0.94 0.94 0.94

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 1.39 1.20 1.01 0.91 0.85 0.95 0.85
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 0.88 0.99 0.94 0.88 0.79 0.88 0.79
Home equity loans .................................. 0.52 0.48 0.44 0.42 0.36 0.42 0.36
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 1.99 1.35 0.95 0.84 0.70 0.84 0.7
Commercial RE loans .............................. 2.02 1.61 1.21 0.95 0.91 1.10 0.91
Construction RE loans ............................ 2.75 1.38 0.97 0.81 0.83 1.00 0.83

Commercial and industrial loans* ............. 1.19 0.98 0.86 0.99 1.11 0.95 1.11
Loans to individuals ................................... 1.22 1.36 1.47 1.52 1.33 1.39 1.33

Credit cards ............................................ 1.58 1.91 2.18 2.22 1.87 2.01 1.87
Installment loans ...................................... 0.97 0.97 0.98 1.06 1.03 0.99 1.03

All other loans and leases ......................... 0.30 0.22 0.25 0.34 0.43 0.28 0.43

Percent of loans charged-off, net
Total loans and leases ..................................... 0.49 0.58 0.64 0.67 0.59 0.62 0.56

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 0.18 0.10 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.03 0.06
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 0.11 0.08 0.08 0.07 0.08 0.06 0.09
Home equity loans .................................. 0.20 0.20 0.16 0.14 0.16 0.14 0.16
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 0.32 0.15 0.04 0.05 0.00 0.05 0.01
Commercial RE loans .............................. 0.32 0.09 0.01 0.00 0.01 –0.04 0.02
Construction RE loans ............................ 0.22 0.19 –0.02 0.01 0.04 –0.01 0.05

Commercial and industrial loans* ............. 0.25 0.26 0.28 0.42 0.50 0.35 0.55
Loans to individuals ................................... 1.73 2.28 2.70 2.69 2.33 2.71 2.12

Credit cards ............................................ 3.40 4.35 5.11 5.19 4.60 5.41 4.25
Installment loans ...................................... 0.66 0.89 1.04 1.04 0.94 0.95 0.86

All other loans and leases ......................... –0.04 0.13 0.16 0.78 0.21 0.25 0.18

Loans outstanding ($)
Total loans and leases ..................................... $2,602,963 $2,811,363 $2,970,860 $3,238,498 $3,308,430 $3,091,849 $3,308,430

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 1,080,116 1,139,099 1,245,073 1,345,596 1,373,189 1,285,768 1,373,189
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 546,808 570,190 620,676 668,741 663,159 643,974 663,159
Home equity loans .................................. 79,182 85,302 98,166 96,649 91,756 97,244 91,756
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 35,788 38,163 41,233 42,727 47,307 42,085 47,307
Commercial RE loans .............................. 298,533 315,989 341,523 371,022 391,134 349,237 391,134
Construction RE loans ............................ 68,696 76,407 88,246 106,727 118,124 95,721 118,124
Farmland loans ........................................ 23,907 24,964 27,072 29,095 30,603 28,418 30,603
RE loans from foreign offices ................. 27,202 28,083 28,157 30,635 31,105 29,090 31,105

Commercial and industrial loans .............. 661,417 709,604 795,005 898,730 936,064 849,451 936,064
Loans to individuals ................................... 535,348 562,291 561,352 570,948 534,399 547,705 534,399

Credit cards ............................................ 216,016 231,664 231,118 228,834 192,872 216,864 192,872
Installment loans ...................................... 319,332 330,627 330,233 342,115 341,527 330,841 341,527

All other loans and leases ......................... 331,934 405,678 373,901 427,258 468,329 413,167 468,329
Less: Unearned income ............................ 5,853 5,309 4,470 4,034 3,552 4,243 3,552

*Includes “All other loans” for institutions under $1 billion in asset size.
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Key indicators, FDIC-insured commercial banks by asset size
Second quarter 1998 and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than $100M $100M to $1B $1B to $10B Greater than $10B
1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2

Number of institutions reporting............. 5,646 5,303 2,964 2,978 310 317 64 77
Total employees (FTEs) .......................... 123,004 113,567 313,518 305,769 306,632 286,894 850,764 916,945

Selected income data ($)
Net income ............................................... $789 $661 $2,497 $2,409 $3,239 $3,625 $9,583 $10,267
Net interest income ................................. 2,726 2,498 7,731 7,669 9,655 8,909 25,401 28,703
Provision for loan losses ........................ 140 146 480 564 1,550 1,185 2,927 3,031
Noninterest income ................................. 877 767 2,844 2,994 6,309 6,987 20,395 23,766
Noninterest expense ............................... 2,376 2,220 6,455 6,650 9,417 9,153 28,126 32,788
Net operating income .............................. 784 660 2,473 2,398 3,194 3,610 9,289 10,242
Cash dividends declared ....................... 416 346 1,155 1,503 2,255 1,907 3,697 9,897
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ... 91 87 387 378 1,550 1,013 2,747 3,098

Selected condition data ($)
Total assets .............................................. 259,068 247,002 734,109 736,505 927,706 872,539 3,260,657 3,611,699
Total loans and leases ............................. 153,817 146,521 449,158 459,188 605,524 552,989 1,883,351 2,149,731
Reserve for losses .................................. 2,228 2,117 6,756 6,796 12,929 11,012 34,470 37,666
Securities ................................................. 69,396 68,207 193,107 196,139 186,063 203,297 445,417 539,468
Other real estate owned ......................... 321 261 789 720 588 458 1,832 1,476
Noncurrent loans and leases ................. 1,658 1,577 3,948 3,768 6,191 4,932 17,266 20,881
Total deposits ........................................... 221,681 210,833 606,007 602,366 627,253 596,709 2,051,684 2,270,910
Domestic deposits .................................. 221,611 210,824 603,988 600,344 610,816 584,578 1,521,173 1,690,962
Equity capital ........................................... 28,468 26,744 71,292 69,379 90,567 83,250 255,511 286,813
Off-balance-sheet derivatives ............... 873 241 9,957 8,721 133,689 93,432 28,692,855 33,397,720

Performance ratios (annualized %)
Return on equity ...................................... 11.19 9.86 14.18 13.87 14.66 17.47 15.26 14.22
Return on assets ..................................... 1.23 1.08 1.37 1.32 1.41 1.68 1.18 1.14
Net interest income to assets ................. 4.24 4.08 4.25 4.21 4.22 4.14 3.13 3.18
Loss provision to assets ........................ 0.22 0.24 0.26 0.31 0.68 0.55 0.36 0.34
Net operating income to assets ............. 1.22 1.08 1.36 1.32 1.39 1.68 1.14 1.14
Noninterest income to assets ................. 1.37 1.25 1.56 1.64 2.75 3.25 2.51 2.64
Noninterest expense to assets .............. 3.70 3.63 3.55 3.65 4.11 4.25 3.46 3.64
Loss provision to loans and leases ....... 0.37 0.41 0.43 0.50 1.04 0.86 0.63 0.57
Net charge-offs to loans and leases ..... 0.24 0.24 0.35 0.34 1.04 0.74 0.59 0.58
Loss provision to net charge-offs ......... 155.12 167.88 124.18 148.39 99.79 116.92 102.97 97.89

Performance ratios (%)
Percent of institutions unprofitable ........ 6.62 9.56 1.89 2.18 4.52 1.26 0.00 1.30
Percent of institutions with earnings gains .. 54.39 50.63 67.31 65.41 69.03 73.19 81.25 77.92
Noninterest income to

net operating revenue ....................... 24.35 23.48 26.89 28.08 39.52 43.95 44.53 45.29
Noninterest expense to

net operating revenue ....................... 65.94 67.99 61.04 62.36 58.99 57.58 61.42 62.49

Condition ratios (%)
Nonperforming assets to assets ........... 0.77 0.74 0.65 0.61 0.73 0.62 0.62 0.65
Noncurrent loans to loans ...................... 1.08 1.08 0.88 0.82 1.02 0.89 0.92 0.97
Loss reserve to noncurrent loans .......... 134.38 134.26 171.11 180.38 208.85 223.29 199.64 180.39
Loss reserve to loans ............................. 1.45 1.44 1.50 1.48 2.14 1.99 1.83 1.75
Equity capital to assets .......................... 10.99 10.83 9.71 9.42 9.76 9.54 7.84 7.94
Leverage ratio ......................................... 10.78 10.84 9.28 9.24 8.63 8.73 6.73 6.99
Risk-based capital ratio ......................... 17.98 17.86 15.09 14.68 13.33 13.38 11.28 11.47
Net loans and leases to assets .............. 58.51 58.46 60.26 61.42 63.88 62.11 56.70 58.48
Securities to assets ................................. 26.79 27.61 26.31 26.63 20.06 23.30 13.66 14.94
Appreciation in securities (% of par) ..... 0.69 –1.03 0.93 –0.99 0.88 –1.24 1.34 –1.29
Residential mortgage assets to assets ... 21.29 21.08 24.38 24.32 24.25 26.81 17.72 17.83
Total deposits to assets ......................... 85.57 85.36 82.55 81.79 67.61 68.39 62.92 62.88
Core deposits to assets ......................... 74.48 73.92 71.27 70.15 56.62 57.14 40.41 40.45
Volatile liabilities to assets ....................... 12.50 13.04 15.92 16.74 26.34 25.93 39.11 39.40
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Loan performance, FDIC-insured commercial banks by asset size
Second quarter 1998 and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than $100M $100M to $1B $1B to $10B Greater than $10B
1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2 1998Q2 1999Q2

Percent of loans past due 30–89 days
Total loans and leases ............................. 1.57 1.44 1.27 1.18 1.47 1.26 0.99 1.05

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .. 1.34 1.23 1.05 0.93 1.07 0.92 1.13 1.06
1–4 family residential mortgages ... 1.67 1.58 1.26 1.15 1.12 1.07 1.35 1.12
Home equity loans .......................... 1.05 0.84 0.91 0.69 0.87 0.83 0.77 0.74
Multifamily residential mortgages .. 0.69 0.76 0.65 0.60 0.85 0.58 0.84 0.57
Commercial RE loans ...................... 1.04 0.86 0.81 0.72 0.98 0.77 0.74 0.99
Construction RE loans .................... 1.21 1.08 1.20 0.98 1.44 0.92 1.32 1.32

Commercial and industrial loans* ..... 1.60 1.46 1.43 1.36 1.30 1.21 0.51 0.72
Loans to individuals ........................... 2.32 2.21 1.95 1.99 2.32 2.15 2.26 2.23

Credit cards .................................... 3.24 2.73 2.90 3.34 2.47 2.61 2.49 2.29
Installment loans .............................. 2.27 2.19 1.79 1.71 2.15 1.77 2.10 2.19

All other loans and leases ................. 1.15 1.08 0.48 0.59

Percent of loans noncurrent
Total loans and leases ............................. 1.08 1.08 0.88 0.82 1.02 0.89 0.92 0.97

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .. 0.91 0.87 0.75 0.66 0.89 0.77 1.07 0.95
1–4 family residential mortgages ... 0.80 0.78 0.70 0.66 0.77 0.80 0.99 0.83
Home equity loans .......................... 0.57 0.46 0.36 0.38 0.48 0.41 0.41 0.33
Multifamily residential mortgages .. 0.62 0.72 0.73 0.55 0.82 0.54 0.93 0.82
Commercial RE loans ...................... 0.96 0.83 0.83 0.67 1.16 0.81 1.26 1.12
Construction RE loans .................... 0.79 0.61 0.79 0.61 0.91 0.75 1.20 1.01

Commercial and industrial loans* ..... 1.46 1.58 1.27 1.24 0.91 1.03 0.81 1.02
Loans to individuals ........................... 0.89 0.82 0.76 0.81 1.45 1.12 1.54 1.54

Credit cards .................................... 1.92 1.76 1.85 2.18 1.90 1.82 2.10 1.87
Installment loans .............................. 0.84 0.78 0.57 0.53 0.93 0.54 1.16 1.34

All other loans and leases ................. 0.48 0.59 0.25 0.43

Percent of loans charged-off, net
Total loans and leases ............................. 0.24 0.24 0.35 0.34 1.04 0.74 0.59 0.58

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .. 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.08 0.02 0.07
1–4 family residential mortgages ... 0.05 0.02 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.11 0.06 0.10
Home equity loans .......................... 0.02 0.04 0.07 0.05 0.16 0.19 0.15 0.17
Multifamily residential mortgages .. 0.04 –0.01 0.13 0.01 –0.05 0.06 0.07 –0.02
Commercial RE loans ...................... 0.04 0.03 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.01 –0.14 0.01
Construction RE loans .................... 0.05 0.25 0.04 0.03 0.01 0.08 –0.06 0.02

Commercial and industrial loans* ..... 0.38 0.42 0.48 0.47 0.29 0.46 0.32 0.56
Loans to individuals ........................... 0.72 0.68 1.38 1.41 3.39 2.68 2.78 2.14

Credit cards .................................... 3.81 2.80 5.42 5.41 5.63 4.75 5.27 3.96
Installment loans .............................. 0.56 0.59 0.62 0.58 0.90 0.86 1.13 0.96

All other loans and leases ................. 0.30 0.28 0.27 0.19

Loans outstanding ($)
Total loans and leases ............................. $153,817 $146,521 $449,158 $459,188 $605,524 $552,989 $1,883,351 $2,149,731

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .. 85,486 82,390 277,642 286,905 272,873 280,428 649,767 723,466
1–4 family residential mortgages ... 41,837 38,691 124,043 122,428 133,143 130,845 344,950 371,195
Home equity loans .......................... 1,973 1,830 12,906 12,040 19,774 17,561 62,590 60,324
Multifamily residential mortgages .. 1,835 1,743 9,196 9,517 11,454 11,032 19,600 25,013
Commercial RE loans ...................... 23,056 22,982 95,571 102,900 81,141 89,460 149,469 175,793
Construction RE loans .................... 5,992 6,339 25,074 27,982 23,594 27,998 41,061 55,806
Farmland loans ................................ 10,784 10,805 10,816 11,978 3,450 3,172 3,368 4,647
RE loans from foreign offices ......... 10 0 37 59 315 360 28,728 30,687

Commercial and industrial loans ...... 25,722 25,085 81,432 83,373 125,993 118,073 616,304 709,533
Loans to individuals ........................... 22,486 20,677 65,531 63,941 166,825 119,731 292,863 330,050

Credit cards .................................... 1,057 823 9,365 10,721 88,742 54,880 117,700 126,448
Installment loans .............................. 21,429 19,854 56,167 53,221 78,083 64,851 175,163 203,602

All other loans and leases ................. 20,690 18,759 25,702 25,888 40,597 35,257 326,179 388,425
Less: Unearned income .................... 567 390 1,149 920 764 500 1,762 1,743

* Includes “All other loans” for institutions under $1 billion in asset size.
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All
Northeast Southeast Central Midwest Southwest West institutions

Number of institutions reporting..................... 685 1,439 1,880 2,243 1,485 943 8,675
Total employees (FTEs) .................................. 478,100 397,377 287,399 127,229 117,618 215,452 1,623,175

Selected income data ($)
Net income ....................................................... $4,683 $3,955 $2,853 $1,519 $986 $2,966 $16,962
Net interest income ......................................... 14,330 11,040 7,744 3,875 2,955 7,837 47,780
Provision for loan losses ................................ 1,830 1,147 584 486 167 712 4,926
Noninterest income ......................................... 14,969 6,851 4,370 2,317 1,151 4,855 34,513
Noninterest expense ....................................... 19,551 10,629 7,347 3,450 2,530 7,304 50,811
Net operating income ...................................... 4,736 3,916 2,829 1,512 977 2,941 16,910
Cash dividends declared ............................... 4,703 4,241 1,515 1,058 420 1,717 13,653
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .... 1,782 869 460 451 174 842 4,577

Selected condition data ($)
Total assets ...................................................... 1,909,654 1,233,130 901,706 374,643 304,264 744,349 5,467,745
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1,005,781 777,778 598,011 250,934 171,891 504,035 3,308,430
Reserve for losses .......................................... 19,891 11,438 8,611 4,319 2,324 11,008 57,591
Securities ......................................................... 317,463 259,121 174,167 73,416 87,017 95,927 1,007,111
Other real estate owned ................................. 840 737 362 195 251 530 2,915
Noncurrent loans and leases ......................... 12,166 6,288 4,810 2,104 1,748 4,041 31,157
Total deposits ................................................... 1,205,759 801,217 617,461 271,780 244,830 539,771 3,680,818
Domestic deposits .......................................... 771,767 764,496 569,998 262,619 242,598 475,230 3,086,707
Equity capital ................................................... 149,500 109,680 75,379 32,688 26,532 72,408 466,187
Off-balance-sheet derivatives ....................... 25,946,572 3,602,233 1,405,748 42,073 31,097 1,975,862 33,003,585

Performance ratios (annualized %)
Return on equity .............................................. 12.43 14.26 15.19 18.51 14.85 16.48 14.49
Return on assets ............................................. 0.98 1.29 1.28 1.63 1.31 1.60 1.25
Net interest income to assets ......................... 3.00 3.61 3.49 4.17 3.91 4.22 3.51
Loss provision to assets ................................ 0.38 0.37 0.26 0.52 0.22 0.38 0.36
Net operating income to assets ..................... 0.99 1.28 1.27 1.63 1.29 1.58 1.24
Noninterest income to assets ......................... 3.13 2.24 1.97 2.49 1.52 2.62 2.54
Noninterest expense to assets ...................... 4.09 3.47 3.31 3.71 3.35 3.93 3.74
Loss provision to loans and leases ............... 0.73 0.59 0.40 0.78 0.39 0.57 0.60
Net charge-offs to loans and leases ............. 0.71 0.45 0.31 0.73 0.41 0.67 0.56
Loss provision to net charge-offs ................. 102.76 131.89 126.99 107.69 96.13 84.63 107.63

Performance ratios (%)
Percent of institutions unprofitable ................ 9.20 10.22 4.79 3.88 5.99 10.71 6.65
Percent of institutions with earnings gains ... 65.26 60.95 58.56 51.23 53.40 59.17 56.77
Noninterest income to net operating revenue ... 51.09 38.29 36.07 37.42 28.03 38.25 41.94
Noninterest expense to net operating revenue .. 66.73 59.41 60.65 55.72 61.63 57.55 61.74

Condition ratios (%)
Nonperforming assets to assets ................... 0.73 0.57 0.58 0.61 0.66 0.62 0.64
Noncurrent loans to loans .............................. 1.21 0.81 0.80 0.84 1.02 0.80 0.94
Loss reserve to noncurrent loans .................. 163.50 181.90 179.03 205.25 132.97 272.40 184.84
Loss reserve to loans ..................................... 1.98 1.47 1.44 1.72 1.35 2.18 1.74
Equity capital to assets .................................. 7.83 8.89 8.36 8.73 8.72 9.73 8.53
Leverage ratio ................................................. 7.29 7.73 7.91 8.34 8.20 8.27 7.74
Risk-based capital ratio ................................. 12.42 11.86 12.07 13.04 13.89 12.58 12.37
Net loans and leases to assets ...................... 51.63 62.15 65.37 65.83 55.73 66.24 59.45
Securities to assets ......................................... 16.62 21.01 19.32 19.60 28.60 12.89 18.42
Appreciation in securities (% of par) ............. –1.29 –1.16 –1.06 –1.07 –1.38 –1.24 –1.20
Residential mortgage assets to assets ......... 16.71 27.34 21.56 20.12 23.21 15.10 20.28
Total deposits to assets ................................. 63.14 64.97 68.48 72.54 80.47 72.52 67.32
Core deposits to assets ................................. 32.80 54.45 55.34 63.32 68.58 55.91 48.63
Volatile liabilities to assets ............................... 44.92 28.43 28.40 20.85 19.70 27.16 33.01

Key indicators, FDIC-insured commercial banks by region
Second quarter 1999
(Dollar figures in millions)
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All
Northeast Southeast Central Midwest Southwest West institutions

Percent of loans past due 30–89 days
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.09 1.04 1.29 1.38 1.31 0.88 1.12

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 1.11 0.91 1.13 1.13 1.08 0.81 1.02
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 1.27 0.90 1.23 1.30 1.30 1.17 1.14
Home equity loans .................................. 0.73 0.72 0.86 0.79 0.55 0.70 0.75
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 0.46 0.48 0.85 0.77 0.81 0.48 0.58
Commercial RE loans .............................. 0.81 1.00 1.01 0.75 0.86 0.56 0.86
Construction RE loans ............................ 1.05 0.94 1.49 1.78 1.12 0.84 1.13

Commercial and industrial loans* ............. 0.62 0.79 1.32 1.61 1.57 0.79 0.92
Loans to individuals ................................... 2.44 2.37 1.98 2.16 1.57 1.80 2.18

Credit cards ............................................ 2.80 2.52 1.96 2.59 1.37 1.80 2.44
Installment loans ...................................... 2.12 2.32 1.98 1.79 1.58 1.80 2.03

All other loans and leases ......................... 0.54 0.36 1.07 0.65 1.17 0.36 0.60

Percent of loans noncurrent
Total loans and leases ..................................... 1.21 0.81 0.80 0.84 1.02 0.80 0.94

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 1.10 0.78 0.80 0.65 0.96 0.69 0.85
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 0.92 0.67 0.86 0.57 0.81 0.82 0.79
Home equity loans .................................. 0.47 0.31 0.38 0.28 0.29 0.28 0.36
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 0.76 0.86 0.70 0.30 0.63 0.57 0.70
Commercial RE loans .............................. 1.14 1.00 0.82 0.59 1.23 0.66 0.91
Construction RE loans ............................ 1.03 0.90 0.78 0.74 0.60 0.78 0.83

Commercial and industrial loans* ............. 1.19 0.90 1.02 1.21 1.60 1.13 1.11
Loans to individuals ................................... 2.23 0.95 0.70 1.07 0.47 0.98 1.33

Credit cards ............................................ 2.40 1.41 1.31 1.66 0.71 1.44 1.87
Installment loans ...................................... 2.08 0.81 0.59 0.56 0.46 0.40 1.03

All other loans and leases ......................... 0.40 0.49 0.45 0.49 0.69 0.35 0.43

Percent of loans charged-off, net
Total loans and leases ..................................... 0.71 0.45 0.31 0.73 0.41 0.67 0.56

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 0.06 0.09 0.05 0.08 0.09 0.03 0.06
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 0.09 0.09 0.05 0.15 0.04 0.14 0.09
Home equity loans .................................. 0.12 0.23 0.22 0.13 0.58 –0.01 0.16
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 0.08 –0.04 0.02 0.05 –0.09 –0.04 0.01
Commercial RE loans .............................. –0.01 0.08 –0.01 0.01 0.16 –0.08 0.02
Construction RE loans ............................ 0.01 0.01 0.10 0.03 0.08 0.08 0.05

Commercial and industrial loans* ............. 0.59 0.52 0.35 0.40 0.71 0.77 0.55
Loans to individuals ................................... 2.70 1.64 1.12 2.76 0.85 2.55 2.12

Credit cards ............................................ 4.21 4.13 3.18 5.13 2.53 4.35 4.25
Installment loans ...................................... 1.31 0.84 0.70 0.76 0.78 0.19 0.86

All other loans and leases ......................... 0.04 0.36 0.28 0.43 0.19 0.15 0.18

Loans outstanding ($)
Total loans and leases ..................................... $1,005,781 $777,778 $598,011 $250,934 $171,891 $504,035 $3,308,430

Loans secured by real estate (RE) .......... 327,188 394,437 268,398 110,960 79,076 193,131 1,373,189
1–4 family residential mortgages ........... 180,907 205,684 123,525 52,063 32,784 68,196 663,159
Home equity loans .................................. 21,377 23,987 23,135 5,068 1,152 17,036 91,756
Multifamily residential mortgages .......... 12,517 10,547 9,455 3,276 2,544 8,968 47,307
Commercial RE loans .............................. 71,339 107,588 81,861 30,257 29,202 70,888 391,134
Construction RE loans ............................ 13,070 40,772 22,813 10,390 10,059 21,021 118,124
Farmland loans ........................................ 1,136 5,656 7,575 9,906 3,335 2,995 30,603
RE loans from foreign offices ................. 26,842 203 33 0 0 4,027 31,105

Commercial and industrial loans .............. 320,543 198,845 172,084 57,916 45,460 141,216 936,064
Loans to individuals ................................... 180,862 111,462 79,845 48,761 32,381 81,088 534,399

Credit cards ............................................ 85,018 27,120 11,918 22,327 1,299 45,190 192,872
Installment loans ...................................... 95,844 84,342 67,927 26,434 31,082 35,898 341,527

All other loans and leases ......................... 178,731 73,730 78,033 33,360 15,359 89,116 468,329
Less: Unearned income ............................ 1,544 696 347 62 385 517 3,552

Loan performance, FDIC-insured commercial banks by region
Second quarter 1999
(Dollar figures in millions)

*Includes “All other loans” for institutions under $1 billion in asset size.
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Glossary

Data Sources

Data are from the Federal Financial Institutions Exami-
nation Council (FFIEC) Reports of Condition and Income
(call reports) submitted by all FDIC-insured,
national-chartered and state-chartered commercial banks
and trust companies in the United States and its territo-
ries. Uninsured banks, savings banks, savings asso-
ciations, and U.S. branches and agencies of foreign
banks are excluded from these tables. All data are col-
lected and presented based on the location of each re-
porting institution’s main office. Reported data may in-
clude assets and liabilities located outside of the re-
porting institution’s home state.

The data are stored on and retrieved from the OCC’s
Integrated Banking Information System (IBIS), which is
obtained from the FDIC’s Research Information System
(RIS) database.

Computation Methodology

For performance ratios constructed by dividing an in-
come statement (flow) item by a balance sheet (stock)
item, the income item for the period was annualized
(multiplied by the number of periods in a year) and di-
vided by the average balance sheet item for the period
(beginning-of-period amount plus end-of-period amount
plus any interim periods, divided by the total number of
periods). For “pooling-of-interest” mergers, prior period(s)
balance sheet items of “acquired” institution(s) are in-
cluded in balance sheet averages because the
year-to-date income reported by the “acquirer” includes
the year-to-date results of “acquired” institutions. No
adjustments are made for “purchase accounting” merg-
ers because the year-to-date income reported by the
“acquirer” does not include the prior-to-merger results
of “acquired” institutions.

Definitions

Commercial real estate loans—loans secured by nonfarm
nonresidential properties.

Construction real estate loans—includes loans for all prop-
erty types under construction, as well as loans for land
acquisition and development.

Core deposits—the sum of transaction deposits plus
savings deposits plus small time deposits (under
$100,000).

IBIS—OCC’s Integrated Banking Information System.

Leverage ratio—Tier 1 capital divided by adjusted tan-
gible total assets.

Loans to individuals—includes outstanding credit card
balances and other secured and unsecured installment
loans.

Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve—total loans
and leases charged off (removed from balance sheet
because of uncollectibility), less amounts recovered on
loans and leases previously charged off.

Net loans and leases to assets—total loans and leases
net of the reserve for losses.

Net operating income—income excluding discretionary
transactions such as gains (or losses) on the sale of
investment securities and extraordinary items. Income
taxes subtracted from operating income have been ad-
justed to exclude the portion applicable to securities
gains (or losses).

Net operating revenue—the sum of net interest income
plus noninterest income.

Noncurrent loans and leases—the sum of loans and
leases 90 days or more past due plus loans and leases
in nonaccrual status.

Nonperforming assets—the sum of noncurrent loans and
leases plus noncurrent debt securities and other assets
plus other real estate owned.

Number of institutions reporting—the number of institutions
that actually filed a financial report.

Off-balance-sheet derivatives—the notional value of fu-
tures and forwards, swaps, and options contracts; be-
ginning March 31, 1995, new reporting detail permits
the exclusion of spot foreign exchange contracts. For
March 31, 1984 through December 31, 1985, only for-
eign exchange futures and forwards contracts were re-
ported; beginning March 31, 1986, interest rate swaps
contracts were reported; beginning March 31, 1990,
banks began to report interest rate and other futures
and forwards contracts, foreign exchange and other
swaps contracts, and all types of option contracts.

Other real estate owned—primarily foreclosed property.
Direct and indirect investments in real estate ventures
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are excluded. The amount is reflected net of valuation
allowances.

Percent of institutions unprofitable—the percent of in-
stitutions with negative net income for the respective
period.

Percent of institutions with earnings gains—the percent
of institutions that increased their net income (or de-
creased their losses) compared to the same period a
year earlier.

Reserve for losses—the sum of the allowance for loan
and lease losses plus the allocated transfer risk reserve.

Residential mortgage assets—the sum of one- to four-family
residential mortgages plus mortgage-backed securities.

Return on assets (ROA)—net income (including gains
or losses on securities and extraordinary items) as a
percentage of average total assets.

Return on equity (ROE)—net income (including gains or
losses on securities and extraordinary items) as a per-
centage of average total equity capital.

Risk-based capital ratio—total capital divided by risk
weighted assets.

Risk-weighted assets—assets adjusted for risk-based
capital definitions which include on-balance-sheet as well
as off-balance-sheet items multiplied by risk weights
that range from zero to 100 percent.

Securities—excludes securities held in trading accounts.
Effective March 31, 1994 with the full implementation of Fi-
nancial Accounting Standard (FAS) 115, securities classi-
fied by banks as “held-to-maturity” are reported at their
amortized cost, and securities classified a “available-for-sale”
are reported at their current fair (market) values.

Securities gains (losses)—net pre-tax realized gains (losses)
on held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities.

Total capital—the sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. Tier 1
capital consists of common equity capital plus noncu-
mulative perpetual preferred stock plus minority inter-
est in consolidated subsidiaries less goodwill and other
ineligible intangible assets. Tier 2 capital consists of
subordinated debt plus intermediate-term preferred
stock plus cumulative long-term preferred stock plus a
portion of a bank’s allowance for loan and lease losses.
The amount of eligible intangibles (including mortgage
servicing rights) included in Tier 1 capital and the amount
of the allowance included in Tier 2 capital are limited in
accordance with supervisory capital regulations.

Volatile liabilities—the sum of large-denomination time
deposits plus foreign-office deposits plus federal funds
purchased plus securities sold under agreements to re-
purchase plus other borrowings. Beginning March 31,
1994, new reporting detail permits the exclusion of other
borrowed money with original maturity of more than one
year; previously, all other borrowed money was included.
Also beginning March 31, 1994, the newly reported “trad-
ing liabilities less revaluation losses on assets held in
trading accounts” is included.
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Recent Corporate Decisions

The OCC publishes monthly, in its publication Interpre-
tations and Actions, corporate decisions that represent
a new or changed policy, or present issues of general
interest to the public or the banking industry. In addi-
tion, summaries of selected corporate decisions appear
in each issue of the Quarterly Journal. In the second
quarter of 1999, the following corporate decisions were
of particular importance because they were
precedent-setting or otherwise represented issues of
importance. If the summary includes a decision or ap-
proval number, the OCC’s decision document may be
found in Interpretations and Actions. For decisions that
have not been published yet, the summary includes the
application control number, which should be referenced
in inquiries to the OCC regarding the decision.

Charter

On May 8, 1999, the OCC granted preliminary condi-
tional approval to NextCard, Inc., San Francisco, Cali-
fornia, to charter a credit card national bank titled
NextBank, National Association, San Francisco, Califor-
nia. The bank’s activities will be limited to those speci-
fied in the Competitive Equality Bank Act of 1987, as
amended. This is the second charter proposal approved
by the OCC for a national bank that will deliver products
and services to customers primarily through the Internet
and other electronic means. Approval was granted sub-
ject to certain pre-opening requirements and ongoing
conditions addressing capital, funding, technology, and
Internet security matters. [Conditional Approval No. 312]

Conversion

On April 29, 1999, the OCC granted approval to Local
Financial Corporation to charter Local Oklahoma Bank,
National Association, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, and to
merge Local Oklahoma Bank, Federal Savings Bank,
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, into the newly chartered bank.
The resulting national bank will retain and operate as
branches the branches of the federal savings bank. [Cor-
porate Decision No. 99–11]

Change in Bank Control

On June 28, 1999, the OCC granted no objection to the
change in control notification filed by Thomas H. Lee
Equity Fund IV, L.P., et al., to make a 29 percent in-
vestment in Metris Companies, Inc., St. Louis Park,

Minnesota. Metris is the parent of Direct Merchants
Credit Card Bank, National Association, Phoenix, Ari-
zona. The notificants will acquire control by convert-
ing nonvoting preferred stock, senior notes, and war-
rants into voting preferred stock. [Corporate Decision
No. 99–15]

Operating Subsidiary

On April 12, 1999, the OCC granted conditional approval
for First Tennessee, National Association, Memphis, Ten-
nessee, to establish an operating subsidiary to under-
write and deal in municipal revenue bonds, under au-
thority of 12 CFR 5.34(f). The decision was similar to the
OCC’s three prior decisions involving municipal revenue
bonds. (Conditional Approval No. 262, December 11,
1997; Corporate Decision No. 98–48, October 20, 1998;
and, Conditional Approval No. 297, December 9, 1998).
[Conditional Approval No. 309]

Community Reinvestment Act Decisions

On May 5, 1999, the OCC granted approval for a series
of transactions that resulted in the merger of National
City Trust Company, West Palm Beach, Florida, with
National City Bank, Cleveland, Ohio, an affiliated bank.
In approving the transactions, the OCC did not opine on
the appropriateness of the bank’s proposed delineations
of the CRA assessment areas for West Palm Beach and
Naples, Florida. The OCC noted that it will review those
delineations at the next CRA examination. The OCC also
noted that it will evaluate the performance of National
City’s Florida operations as part of the lending, invest-
ment, and service tests. While National City as a whole
is a full-service bank that includes extensive retail op-
erations, its business strategy in Florida will be one of
several factors the OCC will take into account in deter-
mining the performance context when evaluating National
City’s CRA performance, consistent with applicable regu-
latory provisions. The OCC did not receive any public
comments on these transactions. [CRA Decision No. 93]

On May 20, 1999, the OCC granted approval for Bank
of American National Trust and Savings Association,
San Francisco, California, to merge with NationsBank,
National Association, Charlotte, North Carolina. While
the OCC did not receive any direct protests on the ap-
plication, the OCC investigated the concerns received
by the Federal Reserve Board in connection with the
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holding company merger application. The OCC’s in-
vestigation and analysis of the issues raised indicated
no basis for denying or conditionally approving the ap-
plication. The OCC’s decision document addresses the
issues. The OCC’s decision document also notes that
the bank has represented that it will provide public
reports on its progress in meeting the goals of its
10-year, $350 billion commitment to community devel-
opment lending and investment. The progress reports
will be prepared on national, state, and local bases.
[CRA Decision No. 94]

On May 24, 1999, the OCC granted approval for NBD
Bank, National Association, Indianapolis, Indiana, and
NBD Bank, Elkhart, Indiana, to merge with Bank One,
Indiana, National Association, Indianapolis, Indiana, an

affiliated bank. A community-based organization ex-
pressed concerns regarding branching hours and ac-
ceptance of utility payments. The OCC investigated the
concerns and found no basis for denying or condition-
ally approving the application. The OCC’s decision docu-
ment addresses the concerns. [CRA Decision No. 95]

On June 30, 1999, the OCC granted approval for US
Bank, National Association, Minneapolis, Minnesota, to
merge with Bank of Commerce, San Diego, California,
an affiliated bank. The OCC received several protests
regarding US Bank’s CRA record of performance in Cali-
fornia. The OCC’s investigation and analysis of the is-
sues raised indicated no basis for denying or condition-
ally approving the application. The OCC’s decision docu-
ment addresses the issues. [CRA Decision No. 96]
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The Special Supervision/Fraud Division of the Bank Su-
pervision Operations Department supervises the resolu-
tion of critical problem banks through rehabilitation or or-
derly failure management, monitors the supervision of del-
egated problem banks, coordinates fraud/white collar
crime examinations, provides training, disseminates infor-
mation, and supports OCC supervisory objectives as an
advisor and liaison to OCC management and field staff
on emerging problem bank and fraud/white collar crime
related issues. Fraud experts are located in each dis-
trict office, in the large bank division, and in OCC’s
Washington office.

This section includes information on problem national
banks, national bank failures, and enforcement actions.
Data on problem banks and bank failures is provided
by OCC’s Special Supervision/Fraud Division in Wash-
ington.  Information on enforcement actions is provided
by the Enforcement and Compliance Division (E&C) of
the OCC’s law department.  The latter is principally
responsible for presenting and litigating administrative
actions on the OCC’s behalf against banks requiring
special supervision.

Problem National Banks and
National Bank Failures

Although the number of problem banks is relatively
stable, a slight increase in problem banks is now evi-
dent. Even so, problem banks represented less than 1
percent of the national bank population at June 30, 1999.
The number of problem banks or those rated CAMELS
4 or 5 totals 23 at June 30, 1999.  (The CAMELS rating is
the composite rating based on capital, asset quality,
management, earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity to mar-

ket risk.)  This low volume of problem banks reflects the
stable economy and generally favorable economic con-
ditions.  There were no national bank failures during the
first six months of 1999, although two commercial banks
failed.

Enforcement Actions

The OCC has a number of remedies with which to carry out
its supervisory responsibilities. When it identifies safety
and soundness or compliance problems, these remedies
range from advice and moral suasion to informal and for-
mal enforcement actions. These mechanisms are designed
to achieve expeditious corrective and remedial action to
return the bank to a safe and sound condition.

The OCC takes enforcement actions against national
banks, individuals associated with national banks, and
servicing companies that provide data processing and
other services to national banks. The OCC’s informal
enforcement actions against banks include commitment
letters and memorandums of understanding (MOUs).
Informal enforcement actions are meant to handle less
serious supervisory problems identified by the OCC in
its supervision of national banks. Failure to honor infor-
mal enforcement actions will provide strong evidence of
the need for the OCC to take formal enforcement action.
The charts below show total numbers of the various types
of enforcement actions completed by the OCC in the
last several years.

Figure 2—Bank failures

Source: OCC Supervisory Monitoring System (SMS) data. Note
that SMS totals for previous years’ completed enforcement actions
may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.

Figure 1—Problem national bank historical trend line

Source: Special Supervision.
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signed by a national bank’s board of directors and the
OCC in which specific corrective and remedial mea-
sures are enumerated as necessary to return the bank
to a safe and sound condition. Cease-and-desist or-
ders (C&Ds), sometimes issued as consent orders, are
similar in content to formal agreements but are public
documents which may be enforced either through as-
sessment of civil money penalties (CMPs) or by an
action for injunctive relief in federal district court. The
OCC issued one CMP against a national bank in the
first half of 1999.

The OCC also continued to rely on the safety and sound-
ness order process in its year-2000 enforcement efforts.
In the first half of 1998, the OCC issued 59 notices of
deficiency, which notified the affected banks that they
needed to submit a plan for bringing their computer sys-
tems into compliance or possibly face a safety and
soundness order requiring them to do so. During the
first half of 1999, 60 national banks submitted accept-
able safety and soundness plans (some of these banks
received notices of deficiency in 1998). The OCC is-
sued one safety and soundness order in the first half of
1999 for year-2000 problems.

In the first half of 1999, the OCC continued to take a
substantial number of enforcement actions against in-
stitutions under its supervision. Many of these actions
were designed to ensure that national banks and ser-
vice providers properly prepare their computer systems
for the year-2000 conversion. The charts indicate how
many of the enforcement actions for the first half of 1999
were for year-2000 problems.

In addition to traditional informal actions, the OCC also
issued supervisory directives to national banks with ma-
terial deficiencies in their preparation for the year-2000
conversion of their deficiencies. Supervisory directives

summarize the deficiencies and the OCC’s expectations
of how the banks need to address them. The OCC issued
43 supervisory directives for year-2000 problems in the
first half of 1999, down from a total of 330 for 1998.

The most common types of formal enforcement actions
issued by the OCC against banks over the past sev-
eral years have been formal agreements and cease-
and-desist orders. Formal agreements are documents

Source: OCC Supervisory Monitoring System (SMS) data. Note
that SMS totals for previous years’ completed enforcement actions
may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.
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Figure 3—Commitment letters

Figure 4—Memorandums of understanding

Source: SMS. Note that SMS totals for previous years’ completed
enforcement actions may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.
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Figure 5—Formal agreements

Source: SMS. Note that SMS totals for previous years’ completed
enforcement actions may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.
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Figure 6—Cease-and-desist orders against banks

Source: SMS. Note that SMS totals for previous years’ completed
enforcement actions may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.
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Figure 9—Removal and prohibition ordersFigure 7—Civil money penalties against individuals

Source: SMS. Note that SMS totals for previous years’ completed
enforcement actions may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.

The most common enforcement actions against individu-
als are CMPs, personal C&Ds, and removal and prohibi-
tion orders.  CMPs are authorized for violations of laws,
rules, regulations, formal written agreements, final or-
ders, conditions imposed in writing, and under certain
circumstances, unsafe or unsound banking practices
and breaches of fiduciary duty.  Personal C&Ds may be
used to restrict individuals’ activities and to order pay-
ment of restitution.  Removal and prohibition actions,
which are used in the most serious cases, result in life-
time bans from the banking industry.

In the first half of 1999, the OCC joined with other bank-
ing regulators in taking enforcement actions against
service providers. These actions are described in the
next section.

Recent Enforcement Cases

Appellate Decision Regarding OCC
Enforcement Actions

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed
the OCC’s enforcement actions against Edward Towe and
Thomas Towe, president and chairman of the Board, re-
spectively, of the First National Bank & Trust in Wibaux,
Montana. The Towes were involved in numerous transac-
tions over several years that resulted in losses to the
bank and profits to the Towes. The OCC sought prohibi-
tions from the banking industry and civil money penalties
of $10,000 and $25,000. After an administrative hearing,
the administrative law judge recommended the prohibi-
tions and civil money penalties. The OCC subsequently

Figure 8—Cease-and-desist orders
against individuals

Source: SMS. Note that SMS totals for previous years’ completed
enforcement actions may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.

Source: SMS. Note that SMS totals for previous years’ completed
enforcement actions may be adjusted to reflect revised aggregates.
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imposed the civil money penalties and the Federal Re-
serve Board ordered the Towes prohibited from the bank-
ing industry. The Towes raised several arguments on ap-
peal, contesting the fairness of various aspects of the
OCC’s examination and administrative hearing. The Ninth
Circuit rejected the Towes’ every argument and upheld
the OCC actions. Subsequently, a state in which Thomas
Towe was licensed as an attorney began disciplinary pro-
ceedings based on the misconduct identified by the OCC
at the national bank. The disciplinary proceedings have
not been concluded.

Consent Orders

In March 1999, the former president and the former ex-
ecutive vice president of a community bank in California
each consented to prohibitions from the banking industry
and to restitution orders totaling $225,000 and $70,000,
respectively. While at the bank, the two former officers
originated several loans to a network of start-up compa-
nies in order to facilitate the attempted acquisition of the
bank by the network’s principals. The loans violated the
bank’s legal lending limits and resulted in approximately
$1 million in losses to the bank, bringing the bank to the
verge of insolvency. After recognizing these losses, the
president approved additional overdrafts to some of these
same start-up companies, resulting in further loss to the
bank of approximately $184,000.

A former institution-affiliated party (IAP) consented to a
prohibition from banking in a joint action of the OCC and
the Federal Reserve Board, in January 1999. The agen-
cies alleged that the IAP had omitted material facts in
regulatory filings connected with his acquisition of con-
trol of more than 25 percent of the outstanding voting
shares of a national bank.

A former officer of a national bank stipulated to a prohi-
bition order, a civil money penalty of $75,000, and resti-
tution of $170,000 (in accordance with a plea agreement).
The OCC alleged that he (1) improperly caused the bank
to fund expenses for the benefit of himself and other
individuals from the bank's general ledger accounts, (2)
received payments improperly funded by the bank's gen-
eral ledger accounts, (3) caused the bank to significantly
exceed its legal lending limit to two borrowers, and (4)
caused the bank to lease a branch building from him at
inflated amounts.

A former president of a national bank and his wife, a
former officer of the bank, stipulated to restitution (in
accordance with a plea agreement) estimated to be
around $4 million and a civil money penalty that was
waived due to their financial condition. The OCC alleged
that they (1) engaged in several different schemes to
cause the bank to fund expenses for the benefit of them-
selves and other individuals from the bank's general

ledger accounts for expenses and income, (2) caused
the bank to extend credit to them in the names of other
individuals (i.e., as nominee loans), and (3) caused the
bank to extend credit to lease a branch building from a
former officer of the bank at inflated amounts.

Formal Agreements with Service Providers

In March 1999, the OCC joined the Federal Reserve, the
FDIC, the OTS, and the NCUA and entered into a formal
agreement with First Data Corporation. The agreement re-
quired First Data to correct year-2000 deficiencies at the
Nashville Data Center of its subsidiary, First Data Merchant
Services. The agreement required submission of a plan to
correct the deficiencies by a date certain, or First Data
would have to release its financial institution customers
from their contracts with First Data in order to allow the
customers to contract with other service providers.

In May 1999, the OCC joined the other federal banking
agencies and the State of Washington’s Department of
Financial Institutions, and entered into a formal agree-
ment with TransAlliance, L.P. TransAlliance is a service
provider that offers automated teller machine (ATM) and
point of sale (POS) services, card productions, and
switching services, among other services. Similar to the
First Data agreement, TransAlliance committed to cor-
rect its year-2000 deficiencies by a date certain or face
the requirement of releasing its financial institution cus-
tomers from their contracts with TransAlliance.

In June 1999, the OCC joined the FDIC and entered into
a formal agreement with Management Information Re-
sources, Inc. (MIR). In the agreement, MIR committed
to submit and comply with a profitability and capital
plan to correct its financial weakness and resulting in-
stability. In the event MIR cannot meet its financial pro-
jections and improve its financial strength to reasonable
levels, the agreement will require it to release its finan-
cial institution customers from their contracts with MIR.

Fast Track Enforcement Cases

The OCC continued its Fast Track Enforcement Program,
initiated in 1996, which ensures that bank insiders who
have engaged in criminal acts in banks, but who are not
being criminally prosecuted, are prohibited from work-
ing in the banking industry. As part of the Fast Track
Enforcement Program, in the first half of 1999, Enforce-
ment and Compliance secured six consent prohibition
orders against institution-affiliated parties. Some of these
orders also incorporated restitution payments to the ap-
propriate banks for losses incurred. In addition, Enforce-
ment and Compliance sent out 37 notifications to former
bank employees who were convicted of crimes, inform-
ing them that federal law prohibits them from working
again in a federally insured depository institution.
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Statement required by 12 USC 250: The views expressed
herein are those of the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency and do not necessarily represent the views of
the President.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, thank you
for the opportunity to appear before you today to report
on the progress national banks are making to address
the problems associated with the century date change
and to discuss pending year-2000 legislation.

For the past two years, the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency (OCC), together with its Federal Financial
Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) counterparts,
has been aggressively engaged in a comprehensive
program to address the challenges presented by the
coming year-2000 date change. Let me say at the out-
set of my statement that the vast majority of national
banks and their service providers have made excellent
progress toward completing their testing and implement-
ing year-2000-compliant systems.

However, in our previous reports to Congress, we also
noted that year-2000 preparedness is a dynamic pro-
cess and that the ratings assigned to individual banks
at one stage of the process could change, particularly
as that process moves into the testing phase. Indeed,
since our most recent quarterly report to Congress, a
number of national banks have experienced some de-
lay in meeting some of the milestone dates set out in
the FFIEC’s guidance, and we anticipate that a small
number of national banks may not be able to meet the
June 30, 1999, target. The testing process has proven
to be more complex, time-consuming, and costly than
many banks anticipated. I want to make it clear that
most problems encountered during the testing phase
have not proven to be serious, and for the most part
they have been quickly solved. It is also important to
remember that while the June 30, 1999, target is an
important one, the FFIEC chose this date to ensure that
there would still be sufficient time remaining in the year
to deal with problems coming out of the testing phase.
For any banks or service providers that are unable to
meet FFIEC year-2000 milestone dates, we stand well
prepared to take any and all necessary steps to deal
with their deficiencies.

In my responses to the questions raised in your invita-
tion letter, I have attempted to give you an accurate
picture of the OCC’s comprehensive approach to the

challenges presented by year 2000. Together with our
FFIEC counterparts, we have:

• Developed and disseminated detailed policy guid-
ance to our supervised institutions;

• Trained and deployed our examiners to conduct three
or more on-site examinations of each institution;

• Set up systems to track and monitor progress;

• Established and implemented vigorous enforce-
ment programs to deal with deficiencies;

• Coordinated with other government agencies as
well as private enterprises, domestically and in-
ternationally, to share valuable year-2000-related
information;

• Conducted numerous outreach programs to edu-
cate banks and the public; and

• Helped to organize and participated in a series of
interagency contingency planning groups to plan
for the orderly resolution of problems or issues that
may arise either systemically or with individual
banks.

This approach to the year-2000 problem has positioned
us well to anticipate and deal with problems. Our ex-
amination and supervisory processes provide us with
extensive information on the preparedness of each na-
tional bank. We assign and update ratings quarterly
based on the results of our on-site examinations and
off-site reviews. In assigning ratings, a bank’s compli-
ance with the FFIEC interim milestone dates is a key,
but not the sole, factor that examiners consider. Last
year we also implemented a quality assurance process
to evaluate the overall quality of our year-2000 supervi-
sory efforts. This program, staffed by experienced OCC
personnel not otherwise responsible for year-2000 su-
pervisory issues, has provided valuable input to over-
all management of our year-2000 effort and identified
areas where we can further strengthen our year-2000
supervisory program.

We have organized the information we collect into a com-
prehensive database that serves as a valuable man-
agement tool for the OCC. Through application of vari-
ous queries, we use this database to provide informa-
tion on the preparedness levels of individual banks as
well as the system at large and to check the accuracy of

Statement of John D. Hawke Jr., Comptroller of the Currency,
before the U.S. House Committee on Banking and Financial
Services, on year-2000 progress and pending legislation,
Washington, D.C., April 13, 1999
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our ratings. Because our examinations and reviews sel-
dom coincide with quarter-ends, there is a timing differ-
ence between when ratings are assigned and the quar-
ter-end-based FFIEC performance targets. To deal with
this timing difference, we also compile and maintain a
datasheet on each national bank that tracks the bank’s
progress in meeting various milestones. We use these
datasheets to aggressively follow up on those banks
that appear to be slipping from the established FFIEC
target dates and to decide whether enhanced supervi-
sory or enforcement action is warranted. In cases where
a datasheet indicates that a bank has not met a mile-
stone, yet is rated “satisfactory,” an exception report is
prepared for immediate follow-up by the supervisory
office.

Our experience to date has been that a vast majority of
those banks have achieved full compliance with FFIEC
interim guidelines by the time we review them again. If
the bank has not subsequently met the deadline, typi-
cally we downgrade the bank’s rating. Exceptions to
this policy are rare and require senior-level approval.
With respect to the final June 30, 1999, FFIEC target,
we have instructed examiners that if a national bank
has not successfully met this target, the bank should
be rated less than satisfactory. Exceptions to this policy
will be limited.

In sum, given the large number and complexity of sys-
tems involved, as well as a host of external consider-
ations, many of them beyond the control of individual
institutions, it would be unrealistic to expect or demand
a zero-defect year-2000 outcome. But it is reasonable
to expect that we do everything practical to minimize
disruption and to anticipate and deal effectively with
problems that occur. That is what our program is de-
signed to achieve.

Against this backdrop, Mr. Chairman, I will now address
specifically the questions raised in your invitation letter.

For ease of reference, I have repeated each of your ques-
tions, followed by our response.

Industry Year-2000 Readiness

Q1. In addition to the percentage of “satisfactory” rat-
ings, please provide a report on the number of institu-
tions which met FFIEC standards for remediation and
testing, including, to the maximum extent possible, pre-
liminary findings on the number of institutions which met
the December 31, 1998, and March 31, 1999, dates for
“substantial” completion of testing internally and with
outside service providers (note: please clarify what “sub-
stantial” means).

Ratings Summary

The FFIEC agencies are now conducting Phase II of their
year-2000 work program, which focuses primarily on year-
2000 validation (testing) and implementation phases and
contingency plans. At the OCC, we are well under way
in conducting the second round of Phase II examina-
tions and expect to complete them by July 1999. In cases
where we uncovered testing problems, most have been
corrected within a short period of time. In general, though,
testing is taking longer and costing more than institu-
tions expected last year.

Table 1 shows aggregate ratings information for na-
tional bank and federal branch examinations completed
through March 31, 1999, compared with the results
from the fourth quarter of 1998. The year-2000 ratings
of all size classes of national banks and federal
branches have slipped some from the fourth quarter,
with the largest banks showing the most difference.
This decline in the ratings of large banks was not un-
anticipated, given the complexity of large bank op-
erations and the immense scope of their remediation
and testing activities. However, the OCC is closely

Evaluation

Less than
$100MM 4Q98/

1Q99

$100MM to
$500MM 4Q98/

1Q99

$500MM
to $1B

4Q98/1Q99

Over $1B
4Q98/1Q99

Overall percent
4Q98/1Q99

98%/97% 98%/97% 98%/98% 92%/98% 97%/96%

2%/2% 2%/3% 1%/2% 8%/12% 3%/4%

Less than 1%/
less than 1% 1%/0% 0%/0%Less than 1%/1%

Less than 1%/
less than 1%

Table 1—Preliminary year-2000 summary evaluations, national bank and federal branches,
by asset size, 4Q98 vs. 1Q99

Satisfactory

Needs
 Improvement

Unsatisfactory
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and continuously monitoring their progress through
resident examination teams, whose job it is to see
that these banks are taking aggressive corrective ac-
t ion. For smaller banks, we are assessing their
progress at least quarterly and more frequently when
banks fall behind schedule.

The OCC and the other FFIEC agencies also examine
hundreds of service providers and software vendors that
play an important role in processing data and develop-
ing software for banks. The ratings for service providers
and software vendors have not changed significantly
since the fourth quarter of 1998. Table 2 provides a sum-
mary of preliminary first quarter year-2000 evaluations of
OCC-supervised service providers and software com-
panies compared with results from the fourth quarter of
1998. We will continue to gather information during ex-
aminations to assess the exposure of banks to service
providers and software vendors with less than “satisfac-
tory” ratings. We also are assessing the capacity of ser-
vice providers and software vendors rated “satisfactory”
to provide services to an institution that is using a
noncompliant provider.

Institutions Meeting Interim FFIEC Dates

Your letter asked that we report on the number of institu-
tions that met the FFIEC dates for “substantial” comple-
tion (December 31, 1998, for internal testing, and March
31, 1999, for external testing) You also requested that

we clarify what “substantially complete” means. Up to
now, neither the OCC nor the FFIEC has defined that
term. However, with the approach of the final June 30,
1999, deadline, we have instructed our examiners that
“substantially complete” means that a bank has com-
pleted all FFIEC-required testing and implementation
within two weeks of that deadline.

Our database reflects when internal or external testing
of all mission-critical systems is complete, rather than
just substantially complete. Approximately 75 percent
of national banks had fully completed their testing of
internally developed mission-critical systems by De-
cember 31, 1998. By the end of the first quarter, the
number of institutions that had completed testing of all
internal mission-critical systems had risen to 95 per-
cent. Again, those that have not are being subjected
to more intense supervision.

Regarding testing with outside service providers, our
preliminary information indicates that approximately 75
percent of national banks were complete as of the
March 31, 1999, target date. We will verify the actual
completion dates during our second quarter supervi-
sory activities.

Q2. Report on the number of institutions which are cur-
rently in noncompliance with at least one FFIEC date
and what actions have been taken to ensure those insti-
tutions improve compliance with FFIEC standards.

1 Under the Multi-regional Data Processing Services (MDPS) and Shared Application and Software Review (SASR) programs, the federal
banking agencies jointly examine 12 large nonbank data processing service companies and 16 turnkey software vendors. Lead examina-
tion responsibilities are rotated among the FFEIC member agencies. The OCC is the agency in charge for supervising five MDPS and four
SASR companies. Examiners from at least two of the member agencies typically participate on examinations. Additionally, the examination
responsibilities of approximately 250 smaller regional data processing companies (designated as Independent Data Centers—IDCs) are
assigned to specific member agencies. The OCC is responsible for examining 31 IDCs.

OCC-supervised
institutions serving

nonaffiliated institutions
4Q98/1Q99

Satisfactory

Needs
 Improvement

Unsatisfactory

Total

Summary
Evaluation

OCC-supervised
MDPS

4Q98/1Q99

OCC-supervised
SASRs

4Q98/1Q99

OCC-supervised
IDCs

 4Q98/1Q99
Total

4Q98/1Q99

5/5 4/4 33/30 75/71 117/110

0/00/0

0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0

5/5 4/4

1/1 1/2 2/3

34/31 76/73 119/113

Table 2—Preliminary year-2000 summary evaluations,
service providers and software vendors, 4Q98 vs. 1Q991
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Noncompliance with Interim FFIEC Dates

As of March 31, 1999, only 58 banks that missed the
year-end 1998 interim target for internal mission-critical
testing were still in noncompliance. However, we believe
that approximately 25 percent of the national banks
missed the March 31, 1999, target for completing test-
ing with outside service providers. Of those, we expect
that the vast majority will come into compliance within
the next few weeks, and we are monitoring those banks
closely.

Based upon current examination results, we project that
relatively few banks will miss the June 30, 1999, target
for completing testing and substantially completing the
implementation of mission-critical systems. Given the
extended time needed to finish testing at some banks
and the possibility of unanticipated problems during
implementation, that number may grow. It is important
to keep in mind that the aggressive testing targets es-
tablished by the FFIEC contemplated that some insti-
tutions would encounter some difficulties and delays
and provided a six-month cushion to enable full imple-
mentation before the century date change.

Institutions have missed interim target dates for a vari-
ety of reasons. These reasons range from scheduling
conflicts with their software or service providers to un-
anticipated staffing problems and unplanned extra test-
ing requirements. Although we are concerned about
these exceptions and we are closely monitoring them,
most testing problems have not required lengthy re-
pair periods. Most banks remediated deficiencies un-
covered during testing quickly because the problems
they encountered were not substantive or complex.

Enforcement

National banks that miss interim FFIEC targets are sub-
ject to rigorous OCC oversight. The OCC uses a vari-
ety of enforcement tools to ensure that year-2000 lag-
gards promptly resolve their problems. The form and
severity of the OCC’s action are determined by the
following:

• An institution’s year-2000 rating;

• An institution’s progress in complying with any
previously issued supervisory directive or other
informal or formal enforcement action;

• The cooperation, responsiveness, and capability
of the institution’s management and board of di-
rectors; and

• The time remaining prior to the year 2000.

To address year-2000 deficiencies, the OCC has is-
sued or entered into 353 supervisory directives, nine
commitment letters, nine memorandums of understand-
ing, eight formal agreements, two consent orders, and
one safety and soundness order. We have also initi-
ated the safety and soundness order process against
53 banks. 2  Overall, our enforcement actions have been
successful in prompting banks to comply with FFIEC
and OCC year-2000 policy, as evidenced by the large
number of banks that have subsequently corrected their
problems, been upgraded, and had their enforcement
action terminated.

Resolution Alternatives

The OCC also is working with the other FFIEC agencies
in a number of contingency planning efforts including
the development of methods of resolving banks whose
viability might be threatened by year-2000 problems.
These efforts include analyzing legal and supervisory
options that would be appropriate for such banks. The
OCC and the other federal banking agencies view a reso-
lution involving a receivership as an option that should
be considered only as a last resort, and we expect to
see few if any failures caused by year-2000 problems.
To ensure that the agencies are prepared to resolve any
such banks in an orderly manner, however, we are work-
ing to identify issues and options for handling those
situations.

Q3. Report on the OCC’s methodology for ensuring that
“satisfactory” ratings and the exam data on which they
are based are accurate and consistent with FFIEC
standards.

The effectiveness of the OCC’s year-2000 supervisory
efforts depends on the accuracy of our ratings system.
Earlier last year, the OCC incorporated several manage-
ment control processes into our year-2000 supervisory
approach to ensure that ratings are assigned uniformly
and consistently with FFIEC and OCC policy. This over-
sight includes field-level review of all ratings prior to
issuance of examination reports, as well as computer-
based analyses that flag banks for which we need to
verify their assigned rating.

Our field examiners remain our primary control mecha-
nism in the ratings process. Field examiners have the
best understanding of the issues each bank faces. They

 2 The following year-2000 enforcement actions are currently out-
standing: 18 supervisory directives, four commitment letters, four
memorandums of understanding, four formal agreements, one
consent order, and one safety and soundness order. In addition,
31 institutions are operating under approved safety and sound-
ness plans.
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are in the best position to evaluate bank management’s
ability to effect corrective action. Before an assigned
rating for an institution is finalized, the examiner-in-
charge reviews the findings with the assistant deputy
comptroller for accuracy and consistency with policy.
If the institution is rated less than “satisfactory,” the
district or Washington Supervision Review Committee
conducts additional review of the rating and prescribes
enforcement follow-up.

The OCC has two mechanisms to improve the accu-
racy of our year-2000 ratings and the integrity of our
database. The first mechanism is an OCC database
that tracks bank ratings and identifies potential ratings
inconsistencies. The second is our formal quality as-
surance function, which we use to assess the quality
and consistency of examinations of banks and service
providers.

Our year-2000 database contains the answers our ex-
aminers provide each quarter to specific questions on
each national bank’s year-2000 project plan and compli-
ance with FFIEC guidance. This database serves as a
year-2000 management reporting and monitoring tool for
the OCC. We have been constantly revising and ex-
panding this database since its inception to address
emerging issues and needs. The database enables us
to make ad hoc inquiries and filter information to best
focus our supervisory activities. For example, we use a
number of key questions targeted by the Gartner Group
and supplemented by OCC experience to create filters
that help us to determine if there are any apparent in-
consistencies between the database responses and the
institution’s year-2000 rating.

Our quality assurance process evaluates the overall
quality of our year-2000 supervision for all sizes and
types of institutions. Since the quality assurance pro-
cess began in October 1998, the OCC has conducted
five reviews: two community bank reviews, two large
bank reviews, and one mid-size/credit card bank review.
Specifically, the quality assurance reviews focus on the
accuracy of our year-2000 ratings, consistency of work
papers, appropriateness of follow-up, and the overall
quality of our communications. This program, conducted
by experienced personnel who are independent of the
year-2000 examination process, helps us make our year-
2000 supervisory process more effective.

Q4. Please provide any rebuttal the OCC wishes to make
to recent reports on a Weiss Ratings, Inc., survey sug-
gesting that about a third of banks and thrifts respond-
ing had missed a year 2000 deadline.

In recent months, private ratings firms’ reports have re-
flected a broad range of conclusions about the banking

industry’s year-2000 preparedness. One rating agency,
using an extensive survey methodology, found that the
banking industry is well ahead of all other industries in
the United States with regard to addressing the year-
2000 issue. Another, using a short and limited survey,
assigned lower year-2000 performance ratings than the
FFIEC to institutions that had not fully completed reno-
vation and testing of all internal mission-critical systems
by December 31, 1998.

We believe that this spectrum of conclusions is inevi-
table, given the dynamic and evolving nature of banks’
year-2000 remediation efforts and the rather limited in-
formation that some private rating firms must rely on to
make their conclusions. While we recognize that in some
instances private rating firms can provide a useful source
of information to customers, in other cases, their conclu-
sions may be misleading and unfair to the banks in-
volved. That is why we believe that banks themselves
are in the best position to inform customers about their
year-2000 progress. As I note in my response to ques-
tion six, we stress the importance of banks having cus-
tomer-awareness programs.

Q5. Report on the OCC’s policy on whether financial in-
stitutions which do not meet the upcoming June 30, 1999,
FFIEC regulatory deadline for completing all mission-criti-
cal testing will be rated by examiners as “satisfactory,”
and whether all institutions should be prepared, as a part
of their public communications plan, to assure bank cus-
tomers in writing that they are in compliance with the
FFIEC June 30, 1999, deadline.

Generally, national banks that do not comply within the
June 30, 1999, target date will be rated less than satis-
factory. Exceptions may be granted when completion
and implementation are expected within two weeks of
that date. Exceptions may also be granted where a bank
with many “mission-critical” systems has achieved imple-
mentation on all but an insignificant number of those
systems, core bank functions will be sustained, and full
implementation of year-2000 remedies is anticipated
soon thereafter. A satisfactory rating can also be as-
signed to a bank that plans extra testing, provided the
required testing outlined in FFIEC guidance was com-
plete by June 30, 1999.

You also asked whether institutions should be prepared,
as part of their public communications plans, to as-
sure bank customers in writing that they are in compli-
ance with the FFIEC June 30, 1999, deadline. I am aware
that views vary on this point and that there are strong
arguments on both sides of the issue. Those favoring
this approach feel strongly that bank customers can
only benefit from such disclosures. Those on the other
side of the issue are concerned about the potential for
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overreaction to the very same disclosures. I believe
this issue would benefit from additional discussion
before arriving at a final policy and that the FFIEC agen-
cies should ultimately reach and follow a clear and con-
sistent policy in this regard. I will work closely with my
FFIEC counterparts to resolve this important issue.

Q6. Provide an update on year 2000 contingency plan-
ning at financial institutions, including examples of
“best practices” being used by financial institutions to
meet—or effectively mitigate—increased customer
demand for cash in December 1999 and January 2000,
and to communicate year 2000 contingency plans to
bank customers.

Our supervision has identified a number of best prac-
tices used by national banks to meet or mitigate increas-
ing customer demand for cash. These best practices
generally fall into two categories: customer awareness
programs and contingency funding plans.

Customer Awareness Programs

Educating bank customers about the year-2000 prob-
lem is critical to minimizing unnecessary public alarm,
which could cause serious problems for financial institu-
tions and their customers. Both the FFIEC agencies and
the banks have a role to play in assuring the public that
the banking industry is aggressively addressing year-
2000-related issues.

Our research indicates that customers want to hear more
from their own banks about the banks’ year-2000 efforts.
We are encouraging bankers to take a more active role
in communicating with their customers. We believe that
banks can most effectively mitigate customer concerns
and excessive demands for cash by adopting an ag-
gressive communications program that includes the fol-
lowing five elements:

• Effective disclosure. A bank should keep its cus-
tomers up-to-date on its efforts to meet the cen-
tury date change. Customers want to be informed
as to the bank’s progress, whether the news is good
or bad.

• Employee training. Bank staff at all levels is a
valuable communication asset. A bank that does
not provide sufficient year-2000 training risks de-
livering an inconsistent or misleading message
to customers.

• Consistent messages in multiple media. Effective
customer awareness programs have a core set of
messages that are repeated in a variety of ways.
Reliance on one delivery mechanism—like bro-
chures or call centers—may not be sufficient.

• Cooperation with other banks, community leaders,
and leading commercial firms. Banks have effec-
tively addressed public concerns through joint co-
operative efforts with other public and community
business leaders. Cooperative efforts leverage re-
sources and provide an opportunity to present a
unified message to the public. Some banks are
joining with community leaders to host a series of
town meetings on year-2000 issues.

• Work with local media. The media have significant
influence on public attitudes, including the ability to
mitigate or sensationalize year-2000 issues. Bank-
ers working with local media outlets can provide
balanced information on the century date change.

Planning for Contingency Funding

The FFIEC issued specific guidance regarding liquidity
issues to help banks address the potential increased
demand for cash or other funding associated with the
century date change.3 A key feature of that guidance is
the development of contingency funding plans that in-
clude scenarios that respond to short- or long-term li-
quidity problems. When establishing its year-2000 con-
tingency funding plan, a bank should consider the fol-
lowing elements:

• Borrowing from reliable sources. One of the primary
roles of the Federal Reserve is to act as the lender
of last resort through the discount window and to
lend to depository institutions in appropriate cir-
cumstances when market funding sources are not
reasonably available. Depository institutions that
plan to use the discount window as a contingent
liquidity source should complete the appropriate
documents and make arrangements to pledge col-
lateral as early as possible in 1999 in order to fa-
cilitate processing.

• Access to supplies of cash. As part of the contin-
gency funding planning process for the century
date change, financial institutions should estimate
the cash demands of their customers and deter-
mine whether they need to arrange for additional
cash reserves. A financial institution also should
determine how quickly it can obtain additional
amounts of cash should its reserves be reduced
unexpectedly. It may be necessary, for example,
for institutions to increase cash reserves before
the century date change.

• Banks’ cash distribution network. A financial in-
stitution may wish to evaluate the potential for

3 See the FFIEC’s December 11, 1998, “Questions and Answers
Concerning Year 2000 Contingency Planning.”
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disruptions in its cash distribution systems and
develop plans to meet customer needs through-
out its geographical service area. When a finan-
cial institution uses a third party to service its
cash disbursement requirements (e.g., ATMs, ar-
mored car services), it should review the third-
party provider’s plan to ensure that providers of
these services and facilities can provide suffi-
cient cash to meet customer needs in late 1999
and early 2000.

• Security risks. A financial institution may need to
review its insurance coverage and security pro-
cesses if it plans to hold additional cash reserves.
Further, the bank may need to consider the secu-
rity risks of its customers leaving the premises
with large amounts of cash.

Q7. State the OCC’s recommendations to federal agen-
cies (e.g., Social Security Administration) and private
sector entities (e.g., pension funds) as to whether they
should, on a one-time basis, move up to December 1999
any monthly payment ordinarily due in January 2000,
whether such payments should be made by paper check
rather than electronic funds transfer (EFT), what the in-
come tax implications are for such a contingency plan,
and how the OCC or others can effectively publicize
such recommendations to all those involved in such con-
tingency planning.

This matter is under review by the President’s Council
on Year 2000, and I understand that the council will is-
sue a recommendation shortly.

Q8. Provide an assessment of the effectiveness of financial
institution procedures for evaluating year-2000-related risk
from material borrowers and the OCC’s exam procedures
for assessing the level of that risk for individual institutions.

In March 1998 the FFIEC issued guidance that outlines
the agencies’ expectations regarding how insured finan-
cial institutions manage their year-2000 customer credit
risk.4 This guidance required financial institutions to es-
tablish by June 30, 1998, and to implement by Septem-
ber 30, 1998, a risk control process that:

• Identifies material customers;

• Assesses the preparedness of material customers;

• Evaluates the resulting year-2000 risk to the insti-
tution; and

• Develops appropriate risk controls.

Specific procedures to evaluate banks’ compliance with
this guidance were included in the Phase II procedures.
Examinations conducted under these procedures indi-
cate that as of the end of last year, 97 percent of af-
fected national banks had met this target. We are pur-
suing the other 3 percent through our supervisory and
enforcement processes.

The OCC also assesses year-2000-related credit risk dur-
ing the course of its asset quality examinations, which
assess both the quantity of risk and the quality of risk
management. Beginning in the second quarter of 1999,
the OCC’s quarterly year-2000 monitoring program will in-
clude specific questions about the level of year-2000 cus-
tomer risk and how banks have modified their underwriting
practices to manage that risk. We are aware that some
banks have attempted to alter loan covenants to require a
showing of year-2000 preparedness, but have met with
mixed success due to their lack of leverage with borrow-
ers in the currently competitive lending environment.

Q9. Report any material change in year 2000 readiness
and contingency planning in the international banking
and financial sector since the OCC last testified before
the committee on September 17, 1998.

Before I comment on year-2000 readiness and contin-
gency planning in the international banking and finan-
cial services sector, I would like to first make the point
that direct international exposure of national banks over-
all is limited. Only a small number of the largest national
banks engage in international transactions directly with
foreign banks, private sector enterprises or foreign gov-
ernments, and only a small number of those banks have
significant exposure in countries that are less well pre-
pared to address year-2000 problems.

I can report that the global financial services sector, in-
cluding most central banks, large global banks, finan-
cial services firms, and clearing and settlement organi-
zations, has made progress in testing and implement-
ing year-2000-compliant systems. Most countries are now
engaged in testing programs that involve both internal
and external testing with domestic and global business
partners and payment agencies. While progress has
been most rapid among the world’s major industrialized
countries, some smaller countries are also making good
progress. Also, more countries have begun active dis-
closure programs to inform world markets of the readi-
ness of their financial sector for year 2000.

The greatest concern internationally is whether there
are adequate plans and resources to handle the year-
2000 challenge in certain countries of Latin America,
Asia, and Eastern Europe. U.S. and global banking su-
pervisors, international organizations such as the Bank

4 See the FFIEC’s March 11, 1998, “Guidance Concerning the
Year 2000 Impact on Customers.”
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for International Settlements (BIS), and private indus-
try groups are providing smaller countries technical as-
sistance to advance their systems testing and
remediation efforts.

The following issues will require ongoing attention from
the international community over the next few months:

• Improved information sharing and disclosure. Finan-
cial institutions and regulators should continue to
develop clear and proactive communication strate-
gies to ensure that global confidence in their readi-
ness is maintained through this difficult period.

• Contingency planning. Bank regulators, such as
the members of the FFIEC and BIS, are discuss-
ing the need to coordinate contingency planning
activities and develop bilateral and multilateral
communications programs, particularly around the
period leading up to the changeover day and im-
mediately after.

• Coordination of bank holidays. Discussion contin-
ues regarding the need to add new holidays to
allow additional time for year-2000 preparations.
We are not in favor of additional bank holidays
either before or after the century date change, as
this would make the global calendar more com-
plex and further complicate global testing plans.

• Testing. Testing schedules in those countries that
had a late start on addressing the year-2000 prob-
lem are becoming congested. Additional coordi-
nation and tailoring of test schedules may be
necessary to handle the backlog.

• Liquidity. Banks and regulators are closely moni-
toring the behavior of bank customers and inves-
tors to gauge their reactions to the century date
change. Changes in perception of global risk could
lead to changes in investor behavior, including a
sudden flight to quality and changes in liquidity
holdings, which could have an impact on world
markets.

• Infrastructure. Although the overall quality of in-
formation on the year-2000 readiness of power
companies, telecommunications providers, and
maritime transportation companies, especially in
certain emerging market economies, varies sig-
nificantly, the quality of the information continues
to improve.

Pending Year-2000-Related Legislation

Q1. Comment on legislation pending in Congress (H.J. Res.
14) which would move the federal holiday observance of

New Year’s Day 2000 (which falls on a Saturday), from
Friday, December 31, 1999, to Monday, January 3, 2000.

H. J. Res. 14 would move the federal holiday observance
of New Year’s Day 2000 (which falls on a Saturday) from
Friday, December 31, 1999, to Monday, January 3, 2000.
We do not believe such a change would be desirable for
three reasons. First, if states followed the federal lead and
moved the business holiday from Friday to Monday, this
would create processing backlogs and increased volumes
at the start of the New Year when computer systems may
be most vulnerable to year-2000 errors and malfunctions.
Second, the change in the federal holiday date could be
perceived as indicating a lack of congressional confidence
in the banking industry and this may unnecessarily increase
public concern. Third, conforming state action (moving the
business holiday) could also create a testing problem for
some banks because they would need to add the Decem-
ber 31, 1999, date to test scripts even though most have
already completed their internal testing.

Q2. Comment on the potential impact of pending year
2000 liability legislation (e.g., H.R. 775) on financial in-
stitutions, federal year 2000 supervision of such institu-
tions, or the ability of financial institutions to determine
the year 2000 compliance of borrowers or other critical
external parties, such as providers of telecommunica-
tions and power services; please submit, if appropriate,
any recommended amendment language to H.R. 775.

Liability reform legislation, even in the limited context
of year 2000, is complicated and presents both signifi-
cant uncertainties and significant governmental issues.
For example, the substantive limits involving contrac-
tual obligations and tort liability in the proposed legis-
lation may raise potential constitutional issues and basic
questions of federalism. However, there are in H.R. 775
several provisions that do not present these types of
concerns and may diminish the risk of needless litiga-
tion and encourage parties to resolve disputes in an
expeditious way. The proposed legislation establishes
a required pre-filing notification period of 90 days to
encourage resolution of potential year-2000 disputes
without litigation. Specifically, a potential plaintiff would
be required to give written notice to the defendant iden-
tifying year-2000 concerns and providing the potential
defendant with an opportunity to “cure” the year-2000
problem. The proposed legislation also has provisions
encouraging alternative dispute resolution, such as me-
diation. These are worthy of serious consideration. Fi-
nally, the proposed requirement of proportionality of
damages merits further study. While the issue of dam-
ages is complex and has historically been addressed
by state law, further exploration of some limited fore-
closure of pure “joint and several” liability in year-2000
actions might be warranted.
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You invited the OCC to suggest amendments on H.R.
775. The OCC is concerned that H.R. 775 may hinder the
OCC’s ability to take effective supervisory and enforce-
ment actions regarding year-2000 problem banks. Ac-
cordingly, we suggest two amendments. First, we strongly
request a clarification that agency enforcement actions
are not affected or covered by the general provisions in
Titles I through V of the legislation. “Government entities”
are expressly included within the scope of “persons” sub-
ject to H.R. 775 and the definition of “year-2000 action” is
sufficiently broad that it might arguably apply to govern-
ment enforcement actions. This potential ambiguity should
be eliminated by amending “year-2000 action” to ex-
pressly exclude actions brought by a federal, state, or
other public entity, agency, or authority acting in a regula-
tory, supervisory, or enforcement capacity. A similar ex-
press exclusion is found in the definition of “covered ac-
tion” in section 3 of the Year 2000 Information and Readi-
ness Disclosure Act (P.L. 105-271) and in S. 461, the Year
2000 Fairness and Responsibility Act.

Second, we strongly recommend that section 605 of H.R.
775 be revised to make clear that banking enforcement
actions are not affected by that section. Section 605

would suspend penalties for year-2000 failures by “small
business concerns.” It is arguable that small financial
institutions might come within the definition of “small
business concerns.” See 13 CFR Part 121. We are op-
posed to legislation that would limit the ability of the
federal bank regulators to take enforcement actions in-
volving year-2000 concerns. Such legislation might
hinder necessary and timely supervisory actions to
achieve year-2000 readiness.

Q3. Comment on whether references to bona fide error
in current banking consumer law would be clarified to
include, in the definition of computer error, explicit refer-
ence to year 2000-related errors and, if so, please pro-
vide suggested legislative language.

In our view, computer malfunctions and programming
errors due to year-2000 problems appear to be covered
by the statutory provisions dealing with “bona fide er-
rors.” However, a legislative clarification could be help-
ful to avoid unnecessary and protracted litigation. Any
clarification on this point should not affect the existing
standard that institutions maintain procedures reason-
ably adapted to avoid bona fide errors.
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Remarks by John D. Hawke Jr., Comptroller of the Currency, before
the Summit on Contingency Planning and Customer Awareness,
President’s Council on Year 2000 Conversion, on contingency planning
and customer awareness, Washington, D.C., April 15, 1999

On behalf of the Office of the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency and the Financial Sector Group of the President’s
Council on the Year 2000 Conversion, it’s a pleasure to
welcome you to our Y2K summit. Holding these meet-
ings is one way that we as financial regulators recog-
nize the responsibility we share with you in the financial
services industry to meet the challenge of the century
date change with minimum disruption to our financial
system and our economy.

Today’s summit centers on two closely related topics:
contingency planning and customer awareness. They
are related in this critical sense: the industry’s success
in meeting its customer awareness goals will largely deter-
mine whether contingency plans will have to be acti-
vated or whether they can stay on the shelves, as all of
us would prefer. Given this sequence and the limits of
time this morning, I thought that I would focus my re-
marks on the work already done—and the work yet to
be done—in educating public opinion on the dimensions
of the Y2K problem and what it might mean for bank
customers.

Two days ago, in testimony before the House Banking
Committee along with representatives of the other FFIEC
agencies, I discussed the Y2K readiness of the banks
and service providers under the OCC’s jurisdiction. The
message that I delivered to the Committee was a posi-
tive one. I expressed the view that the banking industry
would come through the Y2K experience with flying col-
ors. Already, the vast majority of financial institutions
have met or will soon meet FFIEC deadlines for Y2K
testing and remediation. As of April 1, 97 percent had
completed testing of mission-critical systems. In the
most recent on-site Y2K examinations conducted by the
OCC—“Phase II” examinations, focusing on bank test-
ing results, business resumption contingency plans, cus-
tomer risk assessments, and customer awareness pro-
grams—96 percent of our institutions were rated “satis-
factory,” 4 percent were rated “needs improvement,” and
less than 1 percent of national banks and service pro-
viders were rated “unsatisfactory”—a statistically insig-
nificant decline from the 1998 fourth quarter results. And,
when this latest round of examinations is completed by
the end of July, we and the other FFIEC agencies will be
in a position to provide the intensive, high-level atten-
tion that may be needed to bring any remaining “unsat-
isfactory” institutions into full compliance with Y2K re-
quirements before year’s end.

Obviously, a great deal of work remains to be done be-
fore we can declare the banking system fully Y2K-com-
pliant. Our examiners have found that testing efforts are
taking longer and costing more than many bankers had
originally budgeted for. Some institutions have encoun-
tered scheduling conflicts with their service providers or
software vendors. Others are expanding their definition
of “mission-critical” systems—generating additional test-
ing requirements now, but reducing the possibility of
unpleasant surprises later, when time to correct them
will be in short supply.

So we have good cause to be sanguine. The renovation
process is going well—better, in fact, than we had any
right to expect at this time last year. Testing has uncov-
ered few problems that can’t be fixed and fixed on time.
We’re confident that we have the supervisory and en-
forcement tools to deal with any problems that may re-
quire regulatory intervention. For good reason, in my judg-
ment, most objective parties have concluded that no
single sector of the economy—not even the computer
software industry itself—is better prepared than the fi-
nancial services industry for the century date change.

But that’s not what the public seems to think. According
to a recent survey, more than 20 percent of respondents
believe that the entire banking system will crash as the
result of Y2K glitches. Nearly a quarter of those sur-
veyed said that they would probably withdraw all their
money from banks, and two out of three said that they
were planning to withdraw at least some extra cash. Forty
percent agreed with the proposition that ATMs would
not work come January 1, 2000. Large minorities ex-
pressed the conviction that checks won’t properly clear,
that banks will lose track of customers’ funds, and that
people will at least temporarily lose access to their cash.
Perhaps most disturbing, nearly half of the survey re-
spondents agreed with the statement that “people will
panic and withdraw all their money” from banks.

Why the public is apparently so unimpressed by—or so
unaware of—the progress in getting bank information
systems in readiness for Y2K is a question that demands
consideration. There are several possibilities, including
a tabloid that recently appeared in the supermarket racks.
I’m told that it sells almost a million copies each week.
But for every copy that’s sold, probably dozens of people
thumb through its hyperbolic pages while waiting in the
checkout line. This is how fear gets started.
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People whose anxieties are aroused by this stuff may
then turn to what has become the first source of informa-
tion—and misinformation—in the computer age. When I
did an Internet search using the key words “Year 2000
Survival,” it generated 479 hits to Web pages such as
one that offers the kind of advice one would expect if
preparing for a nuclear holocaust. It and others like it
take for granted that the financial system will collapse
and bring down the rest of the economy with it. That
these perceptions are taking hold with noticeable num-
bers of Americans is confirmed by reports in the main-
stream media of long waiting lists for wood-burning
stoves and gas-powered generators, and a surge in
orders to processors of freeze-dried food and other
emergency items.

There’ll always be an element of the population that
trades in conspiracies and doomsday theories. Nothing
we can do or say is likely to make these folks see the
light. And from certain segments of the media we can-
not expect much more than negativism and sensation-
alism. They, too, have their rights.

Our concern—your concern—must be with the tens of
millions of reasonable Americans who are legitimately
concerned—but still open-minded—about Y2K. They’re
hungry for reassurance if we can honestly provide it, but
hungry for the truth in any event. The quality of the infor-
mation they obtain will shape their behavior, for better or
worse, and will very largely determine whether sanity
and calm—or something short of that—prevails in the
days leading up to January 1, 2000.

The need is clear. It’s not enough to fix your data sys-
tems if your customers don’t know about it. They have
to be informed—and disabused of whatever misinfor-
mation they may have picked up along the way. Unfor-
tunately, the evidence suggests that we have a great
deal of catching up to do in this vital task.

In a recent survey, 70 percent of the respondents said
they hadn’t received any Y2K information from their finan-
cial institution. Now, we know from our own surveys that
this cannot be true. But it suggests that the materials
that banks are sending out have done little to capture
customers’ attention. Either way, we must do a better job
of publicizing Y2K remediation efforts if we expect to be
doing any real celebrating next New Year’s Eve.

That’s why it’s so incumbent on all of us—regulators,
trade associations, bankers, and other members of the
financial community—to turn our attention NOW to pub-
lic opinion, to make sure that bank customers receive
Y2K information that is complete, accurate, and sober
about the accomplishments to date—and the challenges
that remain—in preparing the financial system for the

century date change. We must all work to ensure that
customers are kept informed about the steps that finan-
cial institutions are preparing to take in the event that
everything does not go according to plan. Helping fi-
nancial institutions to develop the right messages for
public consumption—to build public confidence—is a
key goal of our summit today.

You’ll be hearing much more in the course of our discus-
sions—and in our future communications to the indus-
try—about specific customer awareness initiatives and
“best practices” being undertaken by various financial
providers. Let me launch today’s dialogue by drawing
on the FFIEC’s guidance on customer communications
to suggest five essential elements of any effective Y2K
communications plan.

The first is effective disclosure. A bank should fully and
completely disclose its efforts to meet the Y2K chal-
lenge. Our research shows that customers want to be
informed as to the bank’s progress, whether the news is
good or bad. Do not succumb to the temptation to sugar-
coat the truth or cover up unpleasantness. The public
knows there’s a problem out there, and to suggest oth-
erwise will only make the good news less credible when
it arrives.

The second important element is employee training. Bank
staffs at all levels are valuable communications assets.
A bank that does not provide sufficient Y2K training risks
delivering an inconsistent or misleading message to con-
sumers. Tellers and customer service personnel should
be prepared to answer customer questions about Y2K
as crisply and accurately as the CEO, for they have
wide networks of friends and family who will be intensely
curious about bank preparations for Y2K.

The third element is the need to deliver consistent mes-
sages across all media. Effective customer awareness
programs, we have found, have a core set of messages
that are repeated in a variety of ways. Repetition is the
key. Studies show that most people don’t really absorb
a message until they’ve heard it three times. And the
more varied the sources from which they hear it, the
more likely it is to register. Reliance on a single delivery
mechanism—brochures or call centers, for example—
may not be sufficient. It’s certainly not enough simply to
slip a sheet on Y2K into the customer’s monthly state-
ment and call that a customer communication program.

Fourth, we cannot overemphasize the need for coopera-
tion with other banks, community leaders, and leading
commercial firms. Banks have effectively addressed pub-
lic concerns through joint cooperative efforts with other
public and community business leaders. Cooperative ef-
forts leverage resources and provide an opportunity to
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present a unified message to the public. For example,
some banks are joining with community leaders to host
series of town meetings on year-2000 issues. That’s an
excellent way of making the most of your resources and
getting the message out in an accessible way.

Last but not least, banks should work closely with lo-
cal media on Y2K issues. The media obviously have
tremendous influence on public attitudes. But, with the
airwaves and the print media already crowded with in-
accurate and sensational stories on Y2K, we cannot
assume that journalists will get the message right, on
their own, every time. If bankers make themselves avail-
able for interviews with local newspapers and televi-
sion and radio outlets, the odds greatly improve that
what gets reported to audiences on Y2K will be bal-
anced and accurate.

Let me emphasize that you’re not alone in promoting
customer awareness. In recent months we have heard
from a great many financial institutions encouraging the
regulatory agencies of our government—state and na-
tional—to become more active in the Y2K public infor-
mation arena.

These suggestions are well taken. And rest assured that
with phase II of the Y2K examination regimen drawing
to a close and with the more definitive understanding of
the state of industry preparedness acquired in the pro-
cess, the regulatory agencies will become much more
vocal and visible in the coming weeks in communicat-
ing with bank customers and the general public on Y2K.

For example, the FFIEC member agencies have formed
a communications group to coordinate messages and
share ideas and techniques to better reach target audi-
ences. Soon to enter production is a video that banks

can show in their lobbies, explaining the FFIEC’s Y2K
supervisory efforts and all that banks must do to meet
their regulatory requirements. We are developing media
kits including Y2K questions and answers and other
useful material for journalists, government officials, and
other interested parties. I—along with my FFIEC coun-
terparts—will be speaking out on this subject with in-
creasingly frequency as the clock winds down to the
Year 2000.

And what I’ll be saying is this: thanks to the combina-
tion of their own pace-setting remediation efforts and
the intensive program of agency oversight, the banking
industry will pass the Y2K test, and pass it with flying
colors.

Rumor and gossip are potentially as grave a threat to
our Y2K readiness as time itself. Left unchecked, they
can do great harm to public confidence in the banking
system. Direct communication with bank customers is
the best way I can think of to conquer fear and false-
hood —and our best assurance of a bright New Year’s
Day 2000.

The twentieth century has been a time of challenge for all
Americans. War, depression, and social unrest have
tested us as a nation and brought out our best qualities
as a people. It seems somehow fitting that this century
should come to an end on a similar note of challenge. We
in the financial services industry and the financial regula-
tory community have already cleared some significant
hurdles to ensuring that the century change passes rela-
tively uneventfully. What now remains is for us to prevail
on the good common sense—and courage—of the Ameri-
can people in how they approach the year 2000. If we do
that job to the best of our abilities, I’m confident that we
won’t be disappointed by their response.
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There’s an old Persian fable about three noblemen who
keep stumbling upon wondrous surprises. In the course
of their travels together, they find themselves—unex-
pectedly, of course—on the paradise island of Serendip.
As the author John Barth explains, “You don’t reach
Serendip by plotting a course for it. You have to set out
in good faith for elsewhere and lose your bearings
serendipitously.”

History is full of happy accidents and unpredicted out-
comes. Christopher Columbus discovered the New
World instead of an alternate route to Asia. Alexander
Graham Bell was working on a hearing aid for his wife
when he hit upon the idea for the telephone. And Women
in Housing and Finance, which began 20 years ago as
a group of five professional women networking at lunch,
is today an organization of men and women, more than
700 strong, who have become a major force on the
local and national scene. I congratulate you on your
anniversary.

Serendipity has also played an important role in the evo-
lution of our financial system. When Congress created
the national banking system in 1863, it didn’t intend for
state and national banks to coexist as they do today.
Indeed, it was Congress’ original expectation—and fer-
vent wish—that the national charter would be so attrac-
tive that it would soon drive all others from the field.
When market forces failed to do the job, Congress sought
to provide the necessary push in the form of a tax on
state banks. But that didn’t work either, and neither did
various other proposals down through the years to unify
the bank charter. Like the cat with nine lives, the state
banks survived and the dual banking system flourished.
Not coincidentally, so has our nation’s economy.

With hindsight, it’s clear that attempts to suppress dual
banking were both futile and ill-advised. Our system of
charter and supervisory options may not conform to any
predetermined model of bureaucratic organization. It may
lack simplicity and well-defined, orderly lines of author-
ity. But it does reflect fundamental values cherished by
Americans: competition, federalism, and freedom of
choice. It seems to me, in other words, that the dual bank-
ing system has persisted as an institution, despite its
complexities and despite efforts to eradicate it, because
it’s an authentic reflection of what we believe—and what
we practice—as a people. Balancing supervisory author-
ity between Washington and the states has contributed
to a responsive, innovative, and stable banking system

capable of accommodating the full diversity of our eco-
nomic life—a system that’s the envy of the world.

One reason the system has thrived is that, after coming
to a belated appreciation of its value, Congress inter-
vened at critical intervals to maintain a healthy balance
and to ensure that the state and national bank charters
kept pace with one another. Through legislation, federal
regulators and national banks obtained the authority to
match innovations and incentives coming from their state
counterparts. For example, in response to urgent pleas
from the Comptroller of the Currency, Congress in 1927
passed the McFadden Act, granting national banks
branching powers roughly equivalent to those already
enjoyed by many state banks. And it relaxed other legal
restrictions—such as those barring national banks from
offering safe deposit boxes and making most real es-
tate loans—that were eroding the value of the national
bank franchise.

At the same time, Congress has been cautious about
encroaching on the authority of the states to charter and
empower banks. For example, excepting only insurance
underwriting, the states have been left free to allow their
banks to engage in activities not permissible for na-
tional banks so long as the FDIC determines the activity
would not pose a significant risk to the insurance fund.

Let me add that this process has not been a one-way
street. Many states have enacted “wild card” statutes—
laws that allow state-chartered banks to exercise pow-
ers available to national banks.

Nor—despite what some critics say—has the process
been a “race to the bottom.” Back in the early 1960s,
under Comptroller James J. Saxon, the OCC concen-
trated on upgrading the qualifications and skills of its
examination force. This led to calls from state bankers
and action by state supervisors to match these improve-
ments. The quality of examinations improved significantly
on both sides, and the whole dual banking system
emerged the stronger for it.

In short, what former Federal Reserve Board chair-
man Arthur Burns called—in memorable if misleading
terms—“a competition in laxity” between state and
federal banking authorities—has actually been a text-
book case of federalism in action. The competitive
tension between state and national authority has pro-
duced a safe and sound banking system, an efficient

Remarks by John D. Hawke Jr., Comptroller of the Currency, before the
Women in Housing and Finance, on operating subsidiaries of national
and state banks, Washington, D.C., April 19, 1999
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and effective supervisory regime, and regulatory struc-
tures capable of adapting to the demands of an evolv-
ing marketplace.

The point is that, while the dual banking system today is
healthy and strong, it requires care and feeding to keep
it that way. History shows that the absence of needed
legislation—or the enactment of the wrong kind of legis-
lation—can do it real harm.

We happen to be at one of those critical crossroads when
Congress seems to be moving toward action on compre-
hensive banking legislation. I’m concerned, however, that
some of the current legislative proposals would upset the
balance between state and national banks in the context
of the dual banking system. Last year’s version of H.R.
10, for example, contained a profusion of provisions that
would have discriminated—wholly unjustifiably—against
national banks, and some of the most ardent proponents
of financial modernization continue to urge Congress to
impose discriminatory restrictions on national banks.

You have all heard the arguments about the pros and
cons of operating subsidiaries (“op subs”). Some have
argued that Congress should deprive national banking
organizations of the ability to choose the format that
suits their needs best in the name of containing some
ethereal and elusive “subsidy.” On the other hand, the
FDIC—the agency with the greatest interest in preserv-
ing the safety and soundness of banks—has consis-
tently made the point that the op sub advances safety
and soundness, by allowing banks to diversify their in-
come streams and to husband their resources, rather
than forcing revenue and capital out of the bank to ben-
efit Fed-regulated holding companies.

I don’t want to embroil you again in the esoterica of op
subs. But I do want to focus on the impact on the dual
banking system of the position proposed by the anti–
op-sub camp.

First of all, for some reason, this camp seems to be op-
posed to op subs only where they apply to newly autho-
rized financial activities conducted by national banks.
Despite concerns about spreading the alleged “subsidy”
and their claim that op subs generally are incompatible
with safety and soundness, they have not proposed to
apply a similar prohibition to state-chartered banks. They
seem willing to accept a structure in which the states are
left free to permit new activities for state banks, subject
only to the FDIC determination that no risk is presented
to the insurance fund, while flatly prohibiting comparable
new activities for national bank subsidiaries.

How can we explain this inconsistency? Political real-
ism—to put the best light on it—is one possibility.

The 50 state banking systems constitute a formidable
political force that would surely mobilize in opposi-
tion to any overt proposal that op subs for state banks
should be outlawed in the manner proposed for na-
tional banks.

But any apparent advantage for state banks may be
short-lived. If those who want to put national banks in an
organizational straitjacket succeed in doing so—osten-
sibly in the name of curtailing the spread of some “sub-
sidy”—how long do you think it would be before some-
one got the idea of applying the same limits to state
banks? After all, if a subsidy exists, and if the op sub
presents a safety and soundness issue, it’s hard to see
what rationale would support legislation that arbitrarily
allows some banks to own subsidiaries but not others,
based on the source of their charter.

Please don’t misunderstand me. I am not by any means
suggesting that limits should be placed on state bank
op subs. I am in favor of freedom of choice—a funda-
mental principle of the dual banking system—for state
as well as national banks. The states have, with the con-
currence of the FDIC, authorized a variety of activities
for state-chartered banks, and I think they should be
permitted to do so. My point is simply that the states
cannot be complacent in the face of proposals to re-
strict the activities of national banks. To paraphrase John
Donne, the bell tolls for them, too.

While the debate on this issue has focused on those
proposals that would explicitly discriminate against na-
tional banks, opponents of the op sub have, to be fair to
them, selectively proposed as well that Congress should
do additional damage to the dual banking system by
cutting back on some of the powers of state banks
through a new expansion of Glass–Steagall. Despite the
fact that a foundation stone of financial modernization
legislation has been the repeal of provisions of Glass–
Steagall, those opposed to op subs have actually tried
to extend the reach of section 21 of Glass–Steagall.
Section 21 as it now exists prohibits a deposit-taking
institution from engaging in securities underwriting in
the same entity. It does not reach relationships with af-
filiates—sister companies or subsidiaries—that might
engage in securities activities. Those relationships have
been governed by sections 20 and 32, the very sec-
tions everyone agrees ought to be repealed.

The consequence of extending section 21, as the anti–
op-sub forces have proposed, would be to outlaw secu-
rities activities for all bank subsidiaries—state and na-
tional alike. Unlike sections 20 and 32, section 21 is not
limited in its reach to member banks of the Federal Re-
serve System. This would effectively nullify the existing
power of state banks to engage through subsidiaries in
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securities underwriting—an activity the FDIC has already
found not to pose a risk to the insurance fund.

Why, it should be asked, more than 65 years after Glass–
Steagall was enacted; at a time when it is almost univer-
sally regarded as obsolete and eminently repealable; at
a time when section 20 affiliates of member banks have
engaged in securities underwriting under Federal Re-
serve jurisdiction for a number of years without appar-
ent problems, should it be deemed necessary to pro-
hibit the same securities activities for bank subsidiar-
ies, state and national alike?

More to the point, why should Congress accept such a
proposal to cut back on powers that a number of states
have already granted to their banks? To put the kindest
face on it, this proposal is not only retrogressive, but
quite inconsistent with a decent respect for the dual
banking system. Once again, state banks should take
care that they know for whom the bell tolls.

There are other gratuitous ways in which various ver-
sions of the legislation would do violence to the dual
banking system. For example, in some versions of
financial modernization legislation, national banks and
their subsidiaries would be barred from selling title
insurance, while state banks and their subsidiaries
could continue to sell title insurance. In addition, while
a majority of states currently permit state banks to
act as agents for the sale of insurance, with no re-
strictions on the size of the locality in which they op-
erate, all the pending versions of financial moderniza-
tion legislation would perpetuate the archaic “place of
5,000” limit on the ability of national banks to act as
insurance agents.

I’m sure there are some state banks that might welcome
and support these provisions. It’s hard not to feel like a
winner when you come out ahead of the other guy.

But I believe state banks and their supervisors would
be terribly shortsighted if they ignored the implications
of these discriminatory provisions. Once the precedent
is established of accepting anticompetitive provisions—
whether they involve operating subsidiaries, product
restrictions, activity limits, or discrimination among types
of banks—everyone is fair game.

For more than a century, the fortunes of state and na-
tional banks have been inextricably linked. That is still
true today. State banking interests should keep in mind
that our strength has traditionally also been their strength
and vice versa. Competition can be inconvenient and
even painful in the short term, but its long-term benefits
are incalculable. Without the competition we provide each
other, without the stimulus we generate to improve and
innovate, we may all be threatened with stagnation. And
that’s not in the interests of the American people.

At the outset of my remarks, I suggested that the re-
markable resilience of the dual banking system over the
years derives from the fact that it’s a true expression of
our national character. Above all, we Americans are a
pragmatic people; we embrace what works. The dual
banking system is around today not because it was part
of anyone’s master plan, but because it’s helped us at-
tain our goal of a buoyant, prosperous economy. We
should think twice—or three times—before enacting leg-
islation that would cause profound injury to an institu-
tion that has been so instrumental in helping us achieve
our national success.
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Back near the end of the last century, the United States
Navy, without so much as a single modern battleship to
its name, ranked eleventh among the world’s fighting
fleets, behind Turkey and Austria. The Army was even
worse off. In 1890 it fielded a total force of 28,000 offic-
ers and men, fewer than Bulgaria at the time. Coastal
defense consisted of scattered batteries of mostly Civil
War–vintage artillery. Other advanced nations must have
had a good laugh when they compared notes about
America’s creaking military machine.

But they would have missed the point. Though weak,
this army and navy were equal to America’s security
needs in the 1890s. We had no foreign enemies, and
even if we had, the oceans would have kept them safely
at bay. Americans were not alarmed to see their coastal
guns gathering rust because there was little likelihood
that those guns would be needed. In other words, there
was appropriate proportionality between any risks to
national security and the means available to protect
against those risks.

Proportionality. That’s the basis of effective risk man-
agement—whether it’s national security or the safety
and soundness of financial institutions that’s at stake.

Four decades ago, overall risk in the banking system
was low. Governmentally imposed ceilings on deposit
interest rates, branching restrictions, and limitations on
powers and products made banks virtually indistinguish-
able from one another. Competition among financial pro-
viders was muted and genteel. While the biggest cor-
porate borrowers were already turning to the capital
markets, the vast majority of credit-seekers had no place
else to go except the local bank. Banks could afford to
be fussy in deciding who got credit. And they were.

Meanwhile, a predictable stream of customer deposits
provided bankers with cheap and abundant liquidity.
While market-rate instruments such as certificates of
deposit and stock market mutual funds had been
around for years, they appealed only to a comparative
handful of affluent Americans in 1970. The first certifi-
cates of deposit (CDs) were sold in minimum denomi-
nations of $1 million—hardly an investment vehicle for
the masses. Middle-class savers had to settle for a
return on bank deposits that narrowly exceeded the
inflation rate—and, in many years, actually lagged be-
hind it. And of course, demand deposits earned no
interest at all.

No-cost or low-cost funds meant that bankers had to
put their minds to it to lose money. It was a time when
loan-to-asset ratios in the 40 percent range—compared
to today’s 60 percent—were not uncommon. And it was
a time when some unusually risk-averse bankers saw
loan production as almost not worth the effort when, as
in early 1970, a one-year Treasury security returned 350
basis points above the Regulation Q passbook ceiling.
The loans bankers did make could hardly go wrong on
what were then standard terms. As a rule, maturities
were short, loan-to-value ratios were low, pricing was
stiff, and bankers slept soundly at night.

Thus safeguarded and secured, most loans essentially
administered themselves. Banks managed asset qual-
ity and made loan loss provisions based on trailing
measures of credit risk, such as levels and trends in
past due and nonperforming loans and loan losses.

In other words, in those halcyon days of banking, there
was some meaningful proportionality between the amount
of risk in the banking system—low—and the simple tools
bankers used to manage and control it.

Occasionally this balance went out of whack. Although
competition was already increasing in the 1960s, the
domestic loan market of the 1970s was relatively placid.
Hungry for bigger returns, some high-rolling bankers
ventured into high-risk fields of international lending
and foreign currency trading, and speculated heavily
in commercial real estate or on the future of interest
rates. That kind of activity exposed the weaknesses of
haphazard risk management, and a few national banks
failed as a result.

But they were aberrations. During the 1960s, the ratio of
net loan and lease charge-offs at all commercial banks
averaged less than two-tenths of 1 percent. Even during
the more tumultuous 1970s, it was still less than four-
tenths of 1 percent—a bit more than half of what it is
today, in an era of much steadier economic growth. Be-
tween 1970 and 1980, there were only 14 national bank
failures.

That was then. This is now. The new era of risk manage-
ment for financial providers began around 1980, with
deregulation of deposit interest rates, with increased
volatility in market interest rates resulting from changes
made by the Federal Reserve in its monetary policy pro-
cedures, and with the gradual liberalization of constraints

Remarks by John D. Hawke Jr., Comptroller of the Currency, before
the Bank Administration Institute Security, Audit and Compliance
Conference, on risk management, Orlando, Florida, May 4, 1999
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on products and services. Since then, bankers, so long
protected by government regulation, have had an edu-
cation in the full meaning of competition.

It’s been a sobering lesson indeed. More than a thou-
sand banks failed during the 1980s and 1990s. Banks
no longer hold the lion’s share of America’s household
financial assets. In 1986, commercial bank deposits
outstripped mutual fund assets by more than two to one.
Today, little more than a decade later, we are well on the
way to seeing that relationship reversed. Banks must
look to price-sensitive, credit-sensitive—and sometimes
risky—wholesale funding to meet their pressing liquid-
ity needs.

Competition has profoundly altered the domestic credit
market. In 1972, commercial banks provided nearly 75
percent of all U.S. business loans. Last year, the num-
ber was down to about 45 percent. The U.S. banking
system’s loss has been a windfall for investment bank-
ers, commercial finance companies, and foreign banks.
Today, it’s the capital markets doing most of the cherry-
picking. Bankers must scramble for the higher-risk cus-
tomers that remain. These days, even marginal custom-
ers can demand and receive preferential terms and pric-
ing that Fortune 500 corporations might have blushed to
ask of their banks 20 years ago.

The challenge of today’s risk environment for bankers is
greater today than I have seen in almost 40 years of
experience with our financial system. Part of the chal-
lenge is understanding the evolving character of risk. To
aid in that understanding, I would like to suggest a new
analytical distinction: between environmental risk—risk
associated with the long-term, macroeconomic changes
in the financial world, including the ones I’ve just de-
scribed—and what one might call volitional risk. By defi-
nition, environmental risk involves trends and issues that
bankers must understand and react to, but that are
largely beyond their control. We all know that there’s no
rolling back the clock to the days when government of-
fered bankers sanctuary from the competition of the free
marketplace. That genie is out of the bottle for good.

By contrast, volitional risk is the risk inherent in indi-
vidual decisions that individual bankers make every
day—the kind of risk they often can control. When a
banker decides to extend a loan based on patently un-
realistic financial expectations, he or she is taking on a
higher order of volitional credit risk. When a credit of-
ficer, bedazzled by the star quality of a fashionable hedge
fund, goes ahead with a loan despite being denied ac-
cess to critical financial information, that loan officer is
adding to the institution’s volitional risk. When a banker
signs off on a deal that includes weak covenants, liberal
or no amortization, aggressive advance rates, or overreli-

ance on optimistic enterprise values, and then prices the
loan as if it were a solid, investment-grade credit, he or
she is—volitionally—raising the bank’s credit risk profile.

While bank regulators must be concerned with the bank-
ing system’s preparedness to deal with all types of risk,
our job requires us to be particularly concerned about
volitional risks—those business decisions that should be
subject to some control. And my special concern is that
we see continued evidence of credit standards being re-
laxed, despite the fact that the OCC and our sister agen-
cies have been sounding off about the secular decline in
credit underwriting standards for more than two years now.
Our examiners are reporting an increasing incidence of
structurally deficient loans: loans with elevated leverage
ratios; loans based on insufficient documentation; loans
whose repayment is dependent on optimistic cash flow
projections or recapitalization; loans where personal guar-
antees of principals have been foregone.

The effects have already started showing up. Net charge-
offs have been rising over the past three years, despite
robust economic growth. Last year, noncurrent loans rose
for the first time since the current recovery began. More
banks are reporting increases in nonperforming loans—
big increases in some cases.

What makes this risk trend particularly worrisome is the
absence of proportionality in many banks’ ability to
manage and control it. In a world of rising risk, one would
expect that banks would be devoting significant effort
to making their risk management systems more robust.

One would expect that, especially after such a long pe-
riod of economic expansion, banks would be adding to
their reserves to help cover the probable losses that will
invariably be realized as economic growth slows, as it
is bound to do.

One would expect that banks would be strengthening
their fundamental risk controls—financial statement
analysis, loan review, credit administration, and the in-
formation systems that support them—in order to im-
prove their ability to identify, measure, monitor, and con-
trol this rising risk.

One would expect that banks would be bolstering and
empowering their internal control functions and audit ca-
pabilities—adding expertise, tightening procedures, and
ensuring that auditors have the clout they need to get
senior management to take heed and, when necessary,
to act.

One would expect that banks would be augmenting
their existing risk control mechanisms with techno-
logical innovations, such as risk models, that can be
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of real value in the context of an effective overall risk
management program.

I trust that these expectations seem as self-evident—
and as reasonable—to you as they do to me. Unfortu-
nately, in too many cases, these expectations are not
being realized. In too many cases, the fundamentals of
risk management are being ignored. Loan loss reserves
are falling. Loan review and ongoing credit administra-
tion are not getting the attention they deserve. And in-
ternal audit functions at some banks are not as strong
as they should be to protect banks against the increased
risks they face, both as the result of their own business
decisions and of forces beyond their control.

The effectiveness of banks’ internal audit processes has
been a matter of concern to the OCC for some time now.
Last year we surveyed the examiners of our largest na-
tional banks to get their views on how well the banks
they supervise were handling internal audit functions.
What emerges from this survey is a mixed picture—
itself a matter of concern in the current risk climate. For
example, a large number of the national banks in our
sample were viewed as understaffed in one or more au-
dit areas. The biggest deficit in audit resources and
expertise is reportedly in the information technology
area—a critical component of every banking activity.

Moreover, our survey reported a high annual level of turn-
over in bank audit departments—more than 20 percent
in some cases. This kind of mobility could actually be a
source of strength to a bank if it reflected the movement
of talented auditors into loan production and other front-
line functions. Or it could mean that audit personnel are
not being fairly compensated or recognized for the work
they do, and feel compelled to seek greater recognition
elsewhere.

The net effect, however, is that many banks are not as
well staffed in the audit area as we would like, and that
helps to explain why only one-third of the examiners we
surveyed rated their bank’s audit capability as “good”—
that is, better than simply “adequate.” Many reported
that, as a result of short-handedness, internal audits had
to be deferred or reduced in scope to keep up with the
audit schedule—again, a worrisome trend in a time of
increasing risk.

All of this may be alarming, but at least it’s not mysteri-
ous. The growing imbalance between the overall risk
profile of the banking system and its internal risk man-
agement capacity is the result of a curious mixture of
complacency and urgency. Most bankers are quite con-
cerned about current trends in underwriting and the fall-
out likely to occur if the economy softens. However, you
can still find bankers who seem convinced that we have

somehow tamed the business cycle, that growth will go
on forever, that nothing can go seriously wrong, and that
even marginal borrowers—and dubious deals—will even-
tually work out and pay off. In this light, internal audit
capacity and credit review seem almost superfluous—
needless frills.

Such complacency might have been warranted in the
relatively low-risk banking world of the 1970s. It’s not
warranted now. As one very experienced banker said to
me a few days ago, our people have to realize that trees
don’t grow to the sky.

Bankers are simultaneously under extreme pressure
these days to maintain loan volume and earnings at their
current lofty levels in the face of shrinking market share
and increased competition for loans. The current eco-
nomic expansion has raised expectations perhaps to
unreasonable—and ultimately, I believe, unattainable—
heights. A sober look at history should demonstrate that
realizing a 20 percent return on equity year after year is
not a goal that can be sustained—at least not for very
long. Yet we are disappointed if new records do not fol-
low one upon the other. Shareholders and equity ana-
lysts demand it. Bankers feel compelled to deliver it.
And to do that, they cut corners, chip away at functions
that don’t contribute immediately and directly to the
bottom line, and look the other way instead of walking
away from some of the one-sided deals that, unfortu-
nately, continue to be consummated.

I have heard it argued in response to our admonitions
about credit quality that an abundance of liquidity in the
system has forced banks to become more competitive
in the terms they offer, and that if this implies greater
risk, then so be it: after all, bankers are in the business
of taking risk.

That’s wrong. Bungee-jumpers, sky divers and Indy 500
drivers are in the business of taking risk. Bankers are in
the business of managing risk. To manage risk effec-
tively, they need to be able to identify, quantify, and
control risk. They need to understand the implications
of granting exceptions to sound credit policies. And they
need to assure that exceptions are occurring in a well-
modulated way. To do these things effectively, they need
internal audit, loan review, and compliance resources
commensurate with the amount of risk they must man-
age. I can think of no practice more penny-wise and
pound-foolish than to reduce those resources simply
because things seem to be going swimmingly right now.

Anyone involved in the independent control functions in
banks—loan review, audit, or credit administration—has
a difficult job under the best of circumstances. But in-
ternal controls are more urgently needed right now than
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perhaps at any time in recent memory. Federal Reserve
chairmen are fond of saying that the job of the central
bank is to pull the punch bowl away just as the party is
getting good. Internal controls over bank credit prac-
tices serve a very similar purpose. They are an essen-
tial safeguard against undue—even irrational—exuber-
ance in the loan origination process.

As Acting Comptroller Julie Williams told this confer-
ence last year, the vigor and independence of bank con-
trol procedures, risk management, and early-warning
systems are matters of primary importance to the OCC
in our supervision of the national banking system. And
we continue to refine and update our supervisory poli-
cies and practices to reflect this emphasis.

Since Julie spoke to you, we have issued guidance on
loan portfolio management and have delivered special-
ized training to our examiners to better enable them to
recognize weaknesses in portfolio management pro-
cesses and systems. In response to reports of increas-
ing numbers of loans with structural weaknesses of the
sort that I mentioned earlier, we have provided new train-
ing and procedures that have already been of material
assistance to examiners in bringing such credits to the
early attention of senior bank managers and directors.

Just yesterday, the OCC released the latest installmenti
in a series of issuances related to leveraged lending

activities, including hedge funds. Yesterday’s letter high-
lights the unique risks associated with today’s leveraged
lending activities, outlines OCC’s risk management ex-
pectations for banks that engage in this business, and
aims to resensitize bankers to existing OCC policies and
guidance.

Following up on our internal audit survey of last year, the
OCC has launched a study that aims to validate the con-
sistency and quality of our supervision of banks’ audit func-
tions. With this information, we should be better able to
allocate the right amount of supervisory resources to en-
sure that the audit function receives the high-quality, high-
level attention it requires during our regular examinations.

And in the five months that I have been in office, I have
put enormous emphasis on our need to assure that the
OCC has the most effective early-warning systems we
can devise—to supplement and complement the sys-
tems in use at banks.

I hope you find it of some reassurance that the OCC is
at your side in helping to maintain the safety and
soundness of your institutions during these challeng-
ing times. All who have an interest in the continued
strength of the American economy are counting on the
vitality and integrity of banks’ internal control func-
tions as the front line of defense in maintaining the
health of our financial system.
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It’s truly a pleasure to join you this morning. Of course,
I’d heard about Fran Justa well before I became Comp-
troller of the Currency. But only recently did I get to meet
her. And only then did I come to fully appreciate the
outstanding work that she and New York NHS and all the
financial institutions represented here today—and many
that are not—have been doing together in partnerships
formed over the past 17 years.

I could spend all of my time with you today discussing
those accomplishments, and still not do them justice.
So, instead, I thought I would offer some observations
on a subject in which I know NHS has had a long and
abiding interest: the development of more equitable and
efficient housing and consumer credit markets.

I’m told that Fran’s involvement in community develop-
ment grew out of a personal encounter with discrimina-
tion. Sad to say, her experience was all too common.
Not too long ago, redlining prevented credit from flow-
ing into many communities, and far too many would-be
borrowers were denied loans on the basis of race, gen-
der, or ethnic origin. The result was stagnation and de-
cay in redlined neighborhoods, hardship and hopeless-
ness among many of our citizens, and lost business
opportunities and productivity in our economy.

Slowly, things changed for the better. The passage of
laws such as the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Home
Mortgage Disclosure Act, and the Community Reinvest-
ment Act (CRA) brought the resources and authority of
the federal government to bear in the fight against un-
equal access to financial services. Regulators and pub-
lic interest groups did their part to ensure that the laws
were properly implemented and enforced. And organi-
zations like NHS sprang up to provide leadership, bring-
ing borrowers and lenders together, educating
homeowners and those who aspired to join their ranks.

While CRA has known its share of controversy, its funda-
mental purpose is to overcome market imperfections in
the flow of information to—and from—lenders. Empirical
evidence suggests that information barriers have impeded
the efficient operation of financial markets. CRA created
incentives for banks to reduce the barriers that obstructed
the flow of market information. For example, when lend-
ers shied away from some low- and moderate-income
borrowers, it was in part because they didn’t know enough
about them—and because they thought that the cost of
obtaining additional information was not worth it.

For their part, aspiring borrowers found themselves caught
in a vicious—and pernicious—cycle. Without a verifiable
credit history, they were unable to obtain the loans they
needed to establish a verifiable credit history. Without
good information, lenders relied on what they had, in-
cluding misperceptions and flawed generalizations. Some-
one—or something—had to break the logjam.

That’s what CRA was designed to do—to overcome the
market imperfection of inadequate information, and to
help lenders and creditworthy borrowers connect. And
they have. As Chairman Greenspan noted last year, “in-
creased focus on [community development] lending has
helped financial institutions discover new markets that
may have been underserved before.”

We can measure this progress in at least two ways.
First, there is the growing volume of CRA-qualifying loans
and investments. Since 1993, financial institutions have
made CRA commitments and pledges totaling more than
one trillion dollars.

The second measure of progress is the success of CRA
asset-backed securities in the capital markets. Since
late 1997, more than $2 billion worth of community rein-
vestment loans have been packaged and marketed into
securities. As a percentage of all lending that earns CRA
consideration, of course, that’s a drop in the bucket. But
it ’s an important star t. Every dollar taken off the
originator’s books through securitization is a dollar avail-
able for new loans. And, more to the point, securitization
reflects a growing confidence among secondary market
investors—many of whom, after all, are under no CRA
obligation of their own—in the quality of these loans. I
think that it proves we’re on the right track.

As we develop more complete information on low- and
moderate-income borrowers and the performance of their
loans over time, competitive markets are developing,
just as we’d hoped. Lenders are discovering opportuni-
ties in community development and the low- and moder-
ate-income housing market to build new and profitable
business relationships. I trust that NHS of New York is
finding the going somewhat easier than it was 17 years
ago. Government encouragement is no longer the sole
force driving the process.

Some emerging financial sub-markets are experiencing
growing pains, however. For example, I know of no fi-
nancial product with greater potential for good—or for
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abuse—than subprime loans. Potentially, they offer first-
time borrowers a chance to build a credit history, and
repeat borrowers a chance to rehabilitate a blemished
history. Under the right conditions, subprime loans can
provide entry—or reentry—into the financial main-
stream—but only if they’re marketed and used respon-
sibly. An increasing number of subprime lenders are
taking the lead in developing programs that reward good
payment performance with gradually lowered rates.
That’s the way efficient markets should work.

But sharp and shady practices unfortunately abound.
Subprime borrowers often lack professional advisers to
help them in shopping for a mortgage, which can make
them easy targets for unscrupulous lenders. When the
paycheck’s gone and there are still bills left to pay at
the end of the month, the offer of credit—on any terms—
can be hard to resist, and lenders know it. Yet evidence
suggests that at least 30 percent of subprime mortgage
borrowers would actually qualify for prime rates if they
only knew to ask or to shop around. And we continue to
hear heartbreaking stories of people—especially the eld-
erly—who have little cash flow, but lots of home equity,
being signed up for loans they cannot possibly repay,
and losing their homes as a result. Through no fault of
their own, subprime borrowers can easily become
trapped in a financial straitjacket from which Houdini
himself would have trouble escaping.

I would like to believe that these predatory practices are
less common among commercial banks with subprime
departments than among other subprime providers. And
I wonder whether the CEOs and directors of any offend-
ing banks are actually aware that these practices are
taking place.

Just as with community development lending in the re-
cent past, I believe that sunshine is the best antidote to
predatory and discriminatory lending practices in the
subprime field today. That means full, complete, and
conspicuous disclosure of terms to potential borrowers,
to let them see the actual cost of their loan, how rapidly
it will amortize, and what the consequences of nonpay-
ment will be—a matter of particular importance when
loans are secured by the borrower’s primary residence.

Consumers need full and accurate information if they
are to make intelligent choices. The lack of information
plays directly into the hands of the financial predators.

Another essential piece of the disclosure picture con-
cerns credit bureau reporting. Subprime loans can’t be-

come a vehicle for upward mobility if creditors in the
broader credit market lack access to consumer credit
history. Yet, a growing number of subprime lenders have
adopted a policy of refusing to report credit line and
loan payment information to the credit bureaus—with-
out letting borrowers know about it. Some make no
bones about their motives: good customers that pay
subprime rates are too valuable to lose to their com-
petitors. So they try to keep the identity and history of
these customers a closely guarded secret.

When they do, it’s the borrower who loses. A credit
history can’t be built or repaired if lenders refuse to let
anyone else know about it. The failure to report is un-
fair to customers, unfair to competition, and ultimately
inconsistent with the values of our national economy.

I’m also concerned that a decline in credit bureau re-
porting could have broader safety and soundness im-
plications for the whole banking system. Lenders that
continue to rely on credit bureau information—as most
still do—on the assumption that it is fair and complete,
and lenders who construct their scoring systems using
such data, will have less complete information. This must
inevitably skew lending decisions and eventually com-
promise the integrity of those lenders’ risk management
processes.

That’s why we recently brought this issue to the atten-
tion of the other banking agencies, and why our staff
has raised questions about these practices with staff at
the Federal Trade Commission. In the coming weeks,
we will be formulating a joint supervisory response to
the nonreporting of favorable consumer credit histories.
In the meantime, I would urge any banks and other fi-
nancial institutions with subprime interests that might
be reconsidering their policy on credit bureau reporting
to think about the potential consequences—for them-
selves and for their customers—before they jump aboard
this bandwagon.

Thanks to the NHS of New York and its many corpo-
rate and community partners, thousands of New York-
ers are better housed than they’ve ever been. You
should be very proud of that achievement. One of the
things I’ve tried to do in my remarks this morning is
to remind you that the impact of your good work goes
beyond the individual neighborhoods of this great city.
You’ve made a significant contribution to a national
economy that’s more open, more rational, and more
humane. That’s no small feat. I congratulate you—and
thank you.
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Statement required by 12 USC 250: The views expressed
herein are those of the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency and do not necessarily represent the views of
the President.

Introduction

Madam Chairwoman and members of the subcommit-
tee, I appreciate this opportunity to discuss continuing
efforts to reduce regulatory burdens on the banking in-
dustry, and specifically to offer the views of the Office
of the Comptroller of the Currency on H.R. 1585, the
Depository Institution Regulatory Streamlining Act of
1999. I commend you for your leadership in crafting a
bill that builds on prior successful efforts to provide pru-
dent and effective regulatory relief for banks.

Effective bank supervision requires a regulatory infrastruc-
ture that maintains the safety and soundness of the in-
dustry, ensures that the credit needs of the public are
served, and protects the interests of banking customers.
The achievement of these goals necessarily results in
some degree of regulatory burden on the banking indus-
try. However, those of us in the bank regulatory commu-
nity share with the Congress the responsibility to identify
and eliminate the regulatory and supervisory burdens that
are unnecessary and to streamline the requirements that
are needed in order for banks to serve their important role
in our national economy and our nation’s communities.
Needless burdens make banking more costly, inhibit
banks’ ability to serve their customers, and, in the long
run, undermine safety and soundness.

The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) has
a strong continuing commitment to reduce unnecessary
regulatory burdens and improve the efficiency of our
supervision. A few weeks ago, I announced that the OCC
would undertake a program to address the needs of
community banks. As part of that program, we are con-
ducting a community-bank-focused review of our regu-
lations that will enable us to identify and to change rules
that are particularly onerous for community banks. I am
pleased to report to you that today’s edition of the Fed-
eral Register contains an advance notice of proposed
rule making (ANPR) soliciting public comment and sug-
gestions for addressing the regulatory burdens that es-
pecially impact community national banks. This ANPR
is the first step toward revising our rules to lessen com-

munity banks’ burden consistent with maintaining safety
and soundness. We look forward to hearing the sugges-
tions of community banks and others interested in this
effort.

Of course, the need for regulatory burden reduction is
felt throughout the industry, not only among community
banks. The OCC has a consistent record of working hard
to ensure that regulation and supervision are efficient
for all national banks. Efficient supervision means that
the OCC focuses its regulations and its supervisory re-
sources on those bank activities and products that
present the greatest risks to safety and soundness or
that most directly affect the other aspects of the na-
tional banking system’s mission. Our recent initiatives
include the OCC’s regulation review program, completed
in 1996, which involved reviewing all of the OCC’s rules
and eliminating or revising provisions that did not con-
tribute significantly to maintaining the safety and sound-
ness of national banks, facilitating equitable access to
banking services for all consumers, or accomplishing
the OCC’s other statutory responsibilities. Second, we
have implemented a supervisory approach, supervision
by risk, which deploys our examiners as efficiently as
possible by focusing their attention on the supervisory
issues that have the greatest effect on the nature and
extent of the risks in each particular institution. Finally,
we have reduced the assessments and charges national
banks pay the OCC to pass along savings in our actual
cost of supervision.

The OCC’s ability to undertake these initiatives success-
fully owes much to the leadership that the Congress has
shown over the last five years in reducing needless bur-
den on the banking industry without compromising ei-
ther safety and soundness or the community and cus-
tomer responsibilities of banks. And there is still oppor-
tunity to do more. As you know, regulatory burden on
national banks can take many forms. In addition to un-
necessary and antiquated statutory requirements, banks
face regulatory burden through unwarranted restrictions
that impede their ability to compete with other financial
services providers. For example, national bank insur-
ance sales activities are subject to a geographic con-
straint—the so-called “place of 5,000” restriction—that
limits their ability to conduct this business in a way that
is both outdated and anticompetitive. Unfortunately,
none of the financial modernization bills currently under
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Act of 1999, Washington, D.C., May 12, 1999
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consideration removes this burdensome restriction.
Whatever the outcome of the financial modernization
debate in this Congress, I believe this restriction is no
longer warranted and should, consistent with the elimi-
nation of needless regulatory burden, be repealed.

I thank you, Madam Chairwoman, the members of the
subcommittee, and your staffs for working with the OCC
and the other federal banking regulators to craft a bill
that takes into account many of our concerns and sug-
gestions for appropriate regulatory burden relief. The
OCC supports the subcommittee’s efforts to provide
regulatory relief and promote economic efficiency in the
banking industry.

In the remainder of my statement, I will offer the OCC’s
comments on several provisions in the bill and recom-
mend additional changes that I believe would provide
additional burden relief.1

Comments on the Depository Institution
Regulatory Streamlining Act of 1999

Removal of Restrictions on Interest Payments

In your invitation letter, you requested that the OCC com-
ment on two of the bill’s most significant provisions,
which would amend the Federal Reserve Act to lift the
prohibition on depository institutions paying interest on
business checking accounts and to allow the Federal
Reserve Board to pay interest on required and excess
reserves.

Interest on business checking accounts. H.R. 1585 re-
moves the statutory prohibitions that prevent deposi-
tory institutions from offering interest-bearing negotiable
order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts to businesses and
paying interest on demand deposits. In a 1996 inter-
agency report,2  the OCC and other federal banking regu-
latory agencies concluded that the statutory prohibition
against the payment of interest on demand deposits no
longer serves a useful public purpose. The OCC contin-
ues to believe the prohibition is outdated in the modern
financial services environment. While banks might incur
a cost from paying interest on demand accounts, the
long-term effects of removing this regulatory distortion
and encouraging increased competition and efficiency
in the banking industry are likely to be beneficial. Fur-
ther, we do not believe that the repeal of this prohibition

would raise any longer-term supervisory concerns. We
agree with the sponsors of this legislation, however, that
it is appropriate to provide a transition period so that
financial institutions can make necessary changes in
their funding sources and pricing to accommodate the
repeal of the prohibition, especially in light of the unique
challenges financial institutions now face in readying
themselves for the year 2000. The proposed effective
date of October 1, 2004, provides an ample transition
period for this purpose.

Interest on reserves. The question of paying interest on
reserves has been under debate for many years. On
one side, the prohibition on payment of interest on re-
quired reserves has caused banks to create mecha-
nisms to reduce required reserves.3 The practical re-
sult of these measures has been the shrinkage of the
reserve base.4 Recently, the Federal Reserve Board
has expressed concern over this shrinkage and the
possibility that this could hinder its implementation of
monetary policy. On the other side, permitting the pay-
ment of interest on required reserves would reduce rev-
enue that the Federal Reserve Board currently turns
over to the Treasury.

This provision thus has a budgetary impact. Accord-
ingly, while we have no objection in principle to paying
interest on required reserves, without knowing the bud-
getary ramifications of the changes, and given the range
of programs that could be detrimentally affected, we
are not able to take a position on this provision at this
time. The Treasury Department has offered its analysis
and comment on this proposal and we defer to those
views for a more detailed reaction.

1 Appendix A to this statement contains the OCC’s section-by-
section comments on the bill. Appendix B lists the OCC’s additional
suggestions for regulatory burden relief.

2 Joint Report: Streamlining of Regulatory Requirements, Septem-
ber 23, 1996, p. I–47.

3 For example, the development of sweep accounts has prolifer-
ated. Under these arrangements, funds in corporate checking
accounts are transferred, or “swept,” into interest-bearing invest-
ment vehicles, usually overnight, to be returned to the demand
account the next day. This has had two significant effects from the
bank’s perspective. First, sweep arrangements reduce the level of
transaction deposits, thereby reducing the amount of sterile re-
serves that a bank must hold and increasing the funds available to
lend or invest. Second, sweep accounts enable corporate check-
ing account customers to earn interest on their transaction bal-
ances by temporarily placing these funds in interest-bearing ac-
counts. Thus, banks can attract and maintain corporate deposits,
funds which could otherwise be placed in nonbank financial institu-
tions that do not face the payment of interest restriction. These
deposits, in turn, provide funds that the bank may use to make
loans and investments.

4 According to the February 25, 1998, American Banker article,
“Fed Raps Plan to Get Around Ban on Corporate Checking Inter-
est,” the growth in sweep accounts has coincided with a $14 billion
drop in reserve balances from December 1994 to November 1997
(p. 4).
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The Bank Examination Report Privilege Act
(BERPA)

Your invitation letter also specifically requested that we
comment on the Bank Examination Report Privilege Act
(BERPA), contained in sections 501 and 502 of the bill,
which would establish a bank supervisory privilege to
protect confidential supervisory information, such as de-
pository institution examination reports and other docu-
ments relating to the examination. The OCC supports
BERPA. Codifying and strengthening the examination
privilege will help preserve the cooperative exchange of
information by supervised institutions with their examin-
ers and the candid internal analysis of examiners that is
so critical to maintaining an institution’s safety and sound-
ness. These sections will buttress existing, uniform pro-
cedures for handling and accessing supervisory informa-
tion by requiring third-party litigants to seek supervisory
information directly from the supervisory agencies rather
than indirectly from the supervised institution. They also
will address the supervised institutions’ concerns that their
privileges will be waived if they voluntarily permit the su-
pervisory agencies to have access to privileged informa-
tion that can be valuable to an examiner’s assessment of
safety and soundness. These sections favorably resolve
many of the unsettled issues regarding the handling of
access to supervisory information, while preserving a fair
process, including judicial review, by which third parties
may seek access to supervisory information.

Limited Purpose Banks

You also requested our comments on sections 222 and
223, which contain amendments relating to limited pur-
pose banks, otherwise known as “nonbank banks.”
Among other things, these sections would exempt well-
capitalized and well-managed nonbank banks from the
activities restrictions contained in the Competitive Equal-
ity Banking Act of 1987, although leaving in place the
prohibition on nonbank banks accepting both demand
deposits and making commercial loans. The OCC has
no objections to these changes.

Corporate Governance Provisions

The bill contains important, burden-reducing provisions
that would streamline and modernize aspects of the cor-
porate governance of national banks. The OCC supports
all of these provisions and, as described in Appendix A
of this statement, under “Title III—Streamlining Federal
Banking Agency Requirements,” we have some sug-
gestions for additional amendments that would comple-
ment those already included in the bill.

Expedited procedures for corporate reorganization. Sec-
tion 203 expedites the procedure by which a national

bank may reorganize to become a subsidiary of a hold-
ing company. Currently, a national bank that wishes to
reorganize into a subsidiary of a bank holding company
must go through a cumbersome multi-step process be-
cause there are no provisions in current law that permit
the bank to accomplish this type of reorganization in a
single, direct transaction. The OCC supports this provi-
sion because it would make it easier for banks to create
a holding company, if they choose that structural form
of organization, in a manner that reduces unnecessary
burdens and costs.

Authority to allow additional directors. Section 201 would
permit the OCC to allow a national bank to have more
than the current limit of 25 directors. Permitting this in-
crease would provide the bank with more flexibility to
determine the composition of its board of directors in a
manner that best suits its particular needs. For example,
a larger board of directors may be more appropriate for
banks resulting from a merger or consolidation and would
permit better local representation on the board of direc-
tors of interstate banks.

Waiver of citizenship requirement. Section 603 reinstates
the Comptroller’s authority to waive the citizenship require-
ment for up to a minority of directors of national banks
that are subsidiaries or affiliates of foreign banks. Con-
gress inadvertently repealed this longstanding authority
when it adopted the Economic Growth and Regulatory
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996. The OCC supports the
correction of this technical error. However, we prefer the
provision adopted by the Senate Banking Committee in
S. 576, which expands this amendment to give the OCC
the flexibility to waive the citizenship requirements for up
to a minority of the directors for any national bank, whether
or not affiliated with a foreign bank.

Ownership of a depository institution’s own stock. Sec-
tion 202 permits any depository institution to own or
hold its own stock. Under current law, a national bank
is prohibited from owning or holding its own stock un-
less the stock is acquired to prevent loss on a debt
previously contracted (DPC) and sold or disposed of
within six months. The OCC has concluded that, in light
of other provisions in national banking law, a national
bank may acquire its own stock for certain legitimate
corporate purposes. This amendment is important, how-
ever, because it will eliminate any confusion about the
authority of a national bank to purchase its own shares
for legitimate corporate purposes, e.g., offering stock
in connection with an officer or employee stock option
or bonus plan; selling stock to a potential director in
circumstances where a director is required to own quali-
fying shares; reorganizing as a subchapter S corpora-
tion; or reducing capital when market conditions or in-
ternal operations indicate that doing so is in the best
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interest of the bank and is consistent with safety and
soundness.

Provisions Affecting the Banking Agencies’
Supervisory Authorities

H.R. 1585 contains a number of provisions that affect
various supervisory authorities of the federal banking
agencies. Here, I would like to highlight a few specific
suggestions with respect to certain of these amendments
for the subcommittee’s consideration.

Purchased mortgage servicing rights. Section 303
amends the Federal Deposit Insurance Act to allow the
federal banking agencies to jointly adjust or eliminate
the 10 percent “haircut” on the valuation of purchased
mortgage servicing rights and originated mortgage ser-
vicing rights, if they find that such valuation would not
have an adverse effect on the deposit insurance funds
or the safety and soundness of the depository institu-
tion. The OCC prefers this provision, which we jointly
suggested with the other federal banking agencies, over
any proposal that would repeal this “haircut” altogether.

Insider lending limits. The OCC believes that the sub-
committee should proceed cautiously with the relaxation
of insider lending limits proposed in section 310. As a
whole, these insider lending limits provide important
safeguards including protections against valuation is-
sues arising with collateral provided in transactions by
bank insiders. Over time there has been a series of re-
ductions in these limits and we urge the subcommittee
to examine the cumulative effect of earlier liberalization
in this area.

Additional Regulatory Relief Items

The OCC also asks that the subcommittee consider
additional amendments that would further reduce bur-
den for national banks, streamline corporate governance
procedures, and clarify existing laws. A few of these
suggestions are described here.

Corporate Governance Provisions

Facilitating subchapter S status. Amendments to the
Internal Revenue Code enacted in the 104th Congress
now permit banks to organize as subchapter S corpora-
tions. With subchapter S status, corporations pay no
corporate income taxes and pass profits (and losses)
directly to shareholders, who are individually taxed.
However, under existing banking laws, banks, especially
small community institutions, often have trouble qualify-
ing for this corporate status. Specifically, because sub-
chapter S corporations may only have 75 shareholders
or less, the requirement that a bank’s directors own

shares in the bank or the bank’s holding company may
limit the ability of some banks to obtain subchapter S
status. In addition, there is no express authority in the
national banking laws for banks to conduct reverse stock
splits, which can be a useful mechanism for a bank to
reduce its number of shareholders for subchapter S sta-
tus. Therefore, in order to permit more national banks to
take advantage of subchapter S status, we urge that
provisions be added to H.R. 1585 to permit the Comp-
troller to waive the directors’ stock purchase require-
ment, in whole or in part, in the case of national banks
that elect to be subchapter S corporations, and to clarify
the authority of a national bank to engage in reverse
stock splits, upon the approval of the Comptroller and
with protections for dissenting shareholders. These two
amendments would work together with section 202, which
repeals the prohibition on a national bank’s purchasing
or holding its own shares, to make it easier for commu-
nity banks to qualify as subchapter S corporations.

Elections of national bank directors. As indicated by my
earlier comments, the OCC supports the proposal in-
cluded in the bill that would permit the OCC to allow a
national bank to have more than 25 directors. We also
believe it would be appropriate to allow national banks
to elect their directors for terms of up to three years in
length and to permit these directors to be elected on a
staggered basis, so that only one-third of the board of
directors is elected each year. Currently, national bank
directors may hold office for only one year and must be
elected annually. Conducting an election for an entire
board every year can be disruptive of regular business
operations and there are, in addition, sound public policy
reasons for allowing banks to choose a staggered elec-
tion process. Staggered elections can help ensure that
a board will always include experienced members, a
factor that tends to enhance safety and soundness. This
change would be consistent with the Model Business
Corporation Act and with many state corporate codes,
including Delaware’s General Corporation Law. Moreover,
it would promote stability on bank boards of directors
and enhance a bank’s flexibility to determine the mem-
bership of the board to reflect its lines of business and
the markets in which it operates.

Further streamlining national bank corporate reorganiza-
tions. The OCC also suggests permitting national banks
to merge or consolidate with nonbank subsidiaries or af-
filiates that are engaged in activities that are permissible
for the bank to conduct directly. The National Bank Con-
solidation and Merger Act authorizes and establishes
the procedures for the merger or consolidation of na-
tional banks with other national banks or with state
banks. However, there is no express authority under fed-
eral law for national banks to merge with nonbank sub-
sidiaries or affiliates. As a result, in order to accomplish



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 199954

a corporate reorganization involving a combination of an
uninsured subsidiary or affiliate with the bank, the bank
must use a more burdensome form of corporate trans-
action—a purchase of assets and assumption of liabili-
ties of the subsidiary or affiliate. The substance of the
transaction is the same as a merger in that the bank
acquires the other entity, but the purchase and assump-
tion transaction can require extensive documentation of
transfers of individual assets and can entail issues of
corporate succession that do not arise in a merger. Per-
mitting national banks to merge with their nonbank sub-
sidiaries and affiliates would enhance the ability of banks
to organize activities and assets within their banking
organizations in the way that makes the best business
sense and does not impose unnecessary burdens.

Community Involvement and Banking Access
Amendments

Clarifying national bank authority to branch on Indian
reservations. The national bank branching statute pro-
vides that the OCC may authorize branches “within the
city, town or village” or, alternatively, “at any point within
the State” in which the bank “is situated” to the same
extent permitted to state banks. However, because In-
dian land is sovereign territory, it is unclear whether an
Indian reservation is located “within” a state. In addi-
tion, the fact that state banking laws generally do not
apply on Indian reservations also makes it unclear
whether the federal statute, which incorporates state
branching laws, permits national banks to branch on
Indian reservations. Finally, it is also unclear how the
federal branching statute applies in situations where an
Indian reservation spans more than one state. In order
to enhance the ability of national banks to serve the
financial needs of Native American communities, we
suggest that this section be clarified to specifically per-
mit a national bank to establish and operate branches
on Indian reservations, provided tribal law permits such
branching. This approach would treat Indian reserva-
tions and other lands comprising Indian country simi-
larly to states by permitting tribal governments to con-
trol branching laws in their local jurisdiction.

National bank participation in certain community ac-
tivities. Current law generally prohibits national banks
from announcing, advertising, or publicizing lotteries
or any lottery winners or participants. The legislative
history of this prohibition indicates that Congress
clearly intended to prohibit banks from being used for
state lottery activities. However, because this section
broadly defines the term lottery to include any arrange-
ment in which the participants advance money or credit
to another in exchange for the possibility or expecta-
tion of winning an amount more than they advanced,
this provision could be interpreted to prohibit types of

community-related fund-raising activities that were not
intended to be covered by the statute, such as raffles
sponsored by community or non-profit organizations.
We propose that the Comptroller be allowed to permit
activities that include the use of national bank premises
for charitable fund raising that does not involve cash
awards. This change would enhance the ability of na-
tional banks to participate in and support community-
based fund-raising activities.

Conclusion

The OCC remains committed to the reduction of unnec-
essary regulatory and supervisory burden. But we must
do so without compromising either the safety and sound-
ness or the community and consumer responsibilities of
insured depository institutions. We applaud you, Madam
Chairwoman, and the subcommittee for your efforts to
reduce unnecessary regulatory burden, consistent with
these goals.

Appendix A: H.R. 1585, the
Depository Institution Regulatory
Streamlining Act of 1999, as
introduced on April 27, 1999

Summary and Comments of the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency

Title I—Improving Monetary Policy

Sec. 101. Payment of Interest on Reserves at
Federal Reserve Banks

Summary: In general, section 19(b) of the Federal Re-
serve Act (FRA) requires depository institutions to main-
tain reserves against their transaction accounts and
nonpersonal time deposits (“sterile reserves”). This sec-
tion amends section 19(b) to permit the Federal Reserve
Board (Fed) to pay interest on all reserve balances, both
required and excess, on at least a quarterly basis at a
rate not to exceed the general level of short-term inter-
est rates. The Fed would have authority to issue regula-
tions regarding the payment, distribution, and crediting
of interest pursuant to this section. In addition, this sec-
tion permits depository institutions to place their reserves
in either Federal Reserve Banks or banks that maintain
reserves in a Federal Reserve Bank.

OCC comment: This provision thus has a budgetary
impact. Accordingly, while we have no objection in prin-
ciple to paying interest on required reserves, without
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knowing the budgetary ramifications of the changes, and
given the range of programs that could be detrimentally
affected, we are not able to take a position on this provi-
sion at this time. The Treasury Department has offered
its analysis and comment on this proposal and we defer
to those views for a more detailed reaction.

Sec. 102. Amendments Relating to Savings and Demand
Deposit Accounts at Depository Institutions

Summary: Section 1832 of Title 12 prohibits depository
institutions from offering interest-bearing NOW accounts
to businesses. Section 19(i) of the FRA (12 USC 371a),
section 5(b)(1)(B) of the Home Owners’ Loan Act (HOLA)
(12 USC 1464(b)(1)(B)) and section 18 of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act (FDI Act) (12 USC 1828) prohibit
member banks, thrifts, and nonmember banks, respec-
tively, from paying interest on demand deposits. Sec-
tion 102 authorizes depository institutions, as of enact-
ment, to permit the owner of any interest-bearing de-
posit or account to make up to 24 transfers per month to
another account of the owner in the same institution.
Effective October 1, 2004, section 102 permits deposi-
tory institutions to offer interest-bearing NOW accounts
to businesses and to pay interest on demand deposits
(thereby providing a five-year transition period).

OCC comment: The OCC supports this amendment. In a
joint report submitted to the Congress in September 1996,
the OCC, along with the other federal banking agencies,
concluded that the statutory prohibition against the pay-
ment of interest on demand deposits no longer serves a
useful public purpose. See Joint Report: Streamlining of
Regulatory Requirements (September 23, 1996). The OCC
believes that the prohibition on paying interest on busi-
ness checking accounts is outdated in the modern finan-
cial services environment. While banks may incur a cost
from paying interest on demand accounts, the long-term
effects of removing this regulatory distortion and encour-
aging increased competition and efficiency in the bank-
ing industry are likely to be beneficial. Further, we do not
believe that the repeal of this prohibition would result in
any long-term supervisory concerns. The amendments
also provide a period during which financial institutions
could make necessary changes in their funding sources
and pricing to accommodate the repeal of the prohibi-
tion. Providing for an adequate transition period is par-
ticularly important as institutions face unique challenges
readying themselves for the year 2000. The proposed
effective date of October 2004 provides an ample transi-
tion period for this purpose.

Sec. 103. Study of Reserve Ratios for Deposit
Insurance Funds

Summary: This section requires the FDIC, in consulta-
tion with the Fed and Treasury, to conduct a study of the

adequacy of the deposit insurance funds and to recom-
mend to Congress, before June 30, 2000, an appropri-
ate range of reserve ratios of the Bank Insurance Fund
(BIF) and the Savings Insurance Fund (SAIF) to the ag-
gregate amount of insured deposits, and an appropri-
ate mechanism for rebating or providing credit from BIF
or SAIF when the balance of either fund exceeds the
applicable reserve ratio. This study must take into ac-
count expected operating expenses, case resolution
expenditures and income, and the effect of assessments
on members’ earnings and capital; historical failure rates
and loss experiences; recent changes in law; the in-
vestment income of each fund; the potential implica-
tions of the year-2000 computer problem and industry
consolidation; and the historical experiences of the FDIC
in providing rebates or credits.

Comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the Trea-
sury and FDIC on this provision.

Title II—Improving Depository Institutions
Management Practices

Subtitle A—National Banks

Sec. 201. Authority to Allow More than 25
Directors

Summary: Section 31 of the Banking Act of 1933 (12
USC 71a) requires the board of directors of every na-
tional bank and state member bank to consist of at least
five and no more than 25 members. This section permits
the OCC, by order or regulation, to allow a national bank
to have more than 25 directors.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this change. Permit-
ting a national bank to have more than 25 directors, with
the approval of the OCC, would provide the bank with
flexibility to determine the composition of its board of
directors in a manner that best suits its particular needs.
For example, a larger board of directors may be more
appropriate for banks resulting from a merger or consoli-
dation, and would permit greater geographic representa-
tion on the board of directors of interstate banks.

Sec. 202. Loans On or Purchases by Bank of Its
Own Stock

Summary: Section 5201 of the Revised Statutes (12
USC 83) prohibits a national bank from making any
loan or discount on, or owning or holding, its own stock
unless the stock is acquired to prevent loss on a debt
previously contracted (DPC) and sold or disposed of
within six months. The purpose of section 5201 is to
prevent the impairment of a bank’s capital resources.
See Deitrick v. Greaney, 309 U.S. 190 (1940). This
amendment would repeal this section’s prohibition on
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a bank owning or holding its own stock but retain the
prohibition on making loans or discounts on the secu-
rity of the bank’s own shares. This section also makes
a conforming change to section 18 of the FDI Act so
that all insured depository institutions may be permit-
ted to own or hold their own stock.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section. While
the OCC has interpreted section 83 in light of other
provisions in national banking law and has concluded
that a national bank may acquire its own stock for
certain legitimate corporate purposes (12 CFR 7.2020),
deleting the prohibition in section 83 will eliminate any
confusion about the authority of a national bank to
purchase its own shares for legitimate corporate pur-
poses, e.g., to reduce its capital when market condi-
tions or internal operations indicate that doing so is in
the best interest of the bank and is consistent with
safety and soundness. Other examples of legitimate
corporate purposes for which a bank may wish to ac-
quire or hold its own stock include offering stock in
connection with an officer or employee stock option
or bonus plan, selling stock to a potential director in
circumstances where a director is required to own
qualifying shares, or when conducting a reverse stock
split to reorganize as a subchapter S corporation,
which may involve decreasing the number of share-
holders of the bank.

However, we do note that a technical change needs to
be made to this amendment. The word “previously”
should be added before the word “contracted” on page
10, line 17, and again on page 11, line 8.

Sec. 203. Expedited Procedures for Cer tain
Reorganizations

Summary: This section amends the National Bank Con-
solidation and Merger Act (12 USC 215 et seq.) to ex-
pedite the procedure by which a national bank reorga-
nizes to become a subsidiary of a holding company.
Pursuant to regulations issued by the OCC, national
banks would be permitted, with the approval of two-
thirds of the shareholders of the bank and the approval
of the OCC, to reorganize into a subsidiary of a bank
holding company directly. Under this section, the share-
holder approval requirements and dissenters' rights that
apply under current law to these transactions would
not change, and the requirements of the Bank Holding
Company Act (BHC Act) would still apply. In addition,
this section requires the OCC, in approving these trans-
actions, to continue to apply the Bank Merger Act's
public notice requirements, statutory convenience and
needs test, and CRA review as if the transaction were
still subject to the Bank Merger Act. This section also
states that it is unlawful for a company to become a

bank holding company or for a bank to become a sub-
sidiary of a bank holding company without the prior
approval of the Fed pursuant to section 3 of the BHC
Act.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this provision be-
cause it would make it easier for a bank to reorganize
into a subsidiary of a holding company, if it chooses
that corporate form of organization, in a manner that
reduces unnecessary burdens and costs. Under cur-
rent law, a national bank that wishes to reorganize into
a subsidiary of a bank holding company must go
through a cumbersome multi-step process because
there are no provisions in current law that permit a na-
tional bank reorganization as a subsidiary of a bank
holding company in one direct transaction. Under cur-
rent law, the bank first forms a "phantom bank" that is
owned by a bank holding company. The bank then
merges into this phantom bank to become the subsid-
iary of the bank holding company. Upon the consum-
mation of this transaction, shares of the existing bank
are converted into shares of the holding company or
other compensation is provided to the shareholders,
and the holding company owns all of the shares of the
resulting bank. The resulting bank typically is indistin-
guishable in name, location, and balance sheet from
the preexisting bank, with the only difference being
the ownership of its stock. However, because the "phan-
tom bank" must be chartered as any other bank with
its attendant procedures and costs, this procedure can
be unnecessarily expensive and time-consuming, and
imposes needless burdens.

Subtitle B—Savings Associations

Sec. 211. Noncontrolling Investments by Savings
and Loan Holding Companies

Summary: This section amends section 10(e)(1)(A)(iii)
of HOLA (12 USC 1467a(e)(1)(A)(iii)) to give the director
of OTS the discretion to permit a savings and loan hold-
ing company to acquire or retain more than 5 percent of
the voting shares of a savings association or another
savings and loan holding company that is not a subsid-
iary. However, this section specifically prohibits the OTS
from permitting a multiple savings and loan holding com-
pany to acquire more than 5 percent of a company not a
subsidiary engaged in any activities, other than certain
exempt activities. Current law prohibits the acquisition
unless the transaction is subject to an exception, e.g.,
the shares are acquired in a fiduciary capacity or ac-
quired pursuant to a debt previously contracted. While
the director has the discretion to permit a savings and
loan holding company to acquire “control” of a savings
association or another savings and loan holding com-
pany (control is generally triggered if 25 percent of the
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voting stock is acquired), the director does not have the
discretion under current law to permit noncontrolling
ownership of stock of over 5 percent.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
OTS on this provision.

Sec. 212. Streamlining Thrift Service Company
Investment Requirements

Summary: Under current section 5(c)(4)(B) of HOLA (12
USC 1464(c)(4)(B)), a federal savings association may
invest in the stock of any corporation organized under
the laws of the state in which the association has its
home office if the stock of the corporation is owned
only by savings associations chartered by that state
and federal savings associations having their home
office in that state. Current OTS regulations further pro-
vide that federal savings associations may apply to
engage in activities through a service corporation, other
than those that are preapproved, that are “reasonably
related” to the activities of financial institutions. 12 CFR
559.3(e)(2). This section repeals the geographic limita-
tions on where a service company must be chartered
and where its owners must be located. This section
also permits service corporations to be organized as
limited liability companies.

OCC comment: The OCC notes that the authority for
subsidiaries of federal thrifts to engage in activities not
permissible for the thrift itself does not include the types
of safety and soundness safeguards that pending financial
modernization legislation would apply to subsidiaries of
banks engaged in activities not permitted for the bank
itself.

Sec. 213. Repeal of Dividend Notice Requirement

Summary: Section 10(f) of HOLA (12 USC 1467a(f)) re-
quires savings association subsidiaries of savings and
loan holding companies to give 30 days’ advance no-
tice to the OTS before declaring any dividends. Section
213 of this legislation repeals the notice requirement in
section 10(f) of HOLA.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
OTS on this provision.

Sec. 214. Updating of Authority for Thrift
Community Development Investments

Summary: Currently, section 5(c)(3)(A) of HOLA (12 USC
1464(c)(3)(A)) authorizes a federal savings association
to invest in real estate (or loans secured by real estate)
located in areas receiving “concentrated development
assistance” under the Community Development Block

Grant program. The aggregate amount of real estate in-
vestments made under this provision may not exceed 2
percent of assets, and the aggregate real estate invest-
ments plus loans made under this provision may not
exceed 5 percent of assets.

Section 214 of this legislation replaces the outdated
language referring to the Community Development Block
Grant program with community development authority
that is substantially the same as that which is autho-
rized for national banks and state member banks. This
section also replaces the current 2 percent/5 percent
asset investment limit with the same investment limit
that applies to national banks, specifically, the sum of
5 percent of capital and surplus. A higher amount may
be permitted up to 10 percent of capital and surplus if
the director of the OTS determines that this higher
amount will pose no significant risk to the deposit in-
surance fund and the savings association is adequately
capitalized. The OCC and the Fed have similar author-
ity to permit community development investments up
to 10 percent of capital and surplus for national and
state member banks, respectively. See 12 USC 24(Elev-
enth) and 338a.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
OTS on this provision.

Subtitle C—Other Institutions

Sec. 221. Prohibition on Accrual to Insiders of
Economic Benefits from Credit Union Conversions

Summary: This section amends section 18 of the FDI
Act (12 USC 1828) to prohibit an insured credit union
from converting to an insured depository institution or to
a stock form of ownership unless the appropriate regu-
lator determines that no current or former (within the past
five years) director, committee member, or senior man-
agement official will receive any economic benefit as a
result of the conversion with regard to shares or inter-
ests in the credit union or resulting insured depository
institution.

OCC comment: The OCC takes no position on this section.

Sec. 222. Amendments Relating to Limited
Purpose Banks

Summary: Section 4(f) of the BHC Act (12 USC 1843(f))
grandfathers companies that control so-called nonbank
banks (i.e., banks that were not defined as banks under
the BHC Act until that definition was amended by the
Competitive Equality Banking Act of 1987 [CEBA]). Un-
der section 4(f)(3), certain restrictions are imposed on
grandfathered nonbank banks’ activities. Cross-marketing
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of products or services that a bank holding company could
not provide under section 4(c)(8) of the BHC Act is pro-
hibited. Overdrafts (including intra-day overdrafts) on
behalf of an affiliate are also prohibited except for those
that are defined as “permissible overdrafts.” CEBA also
permitted bank holding companies to retain ownership
of nonbank banks provided that the nonbank bank did
not engage in any activity in which it was not engaged
as of March 5, 1987 or that would have caused the
institution to be a bank before the enactment of CEBA
or increase the number of locations from which the in-
stitution transacts business. (The 7 percent asset
growth restriction was repealed by the Economic Growth
and Regulatory Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996.)
Section 4(f)(4) of the BHC Act requires companies con-
trolling a grandfathered nonbank bank to divest the
nonbank bank if the company: (i) acquires control of
an additional bank or an insured institution, (ii) acquires
more than 5 percent of the shares of an additional bank
or a savings association, or (iii) fails to comply with the
restrictions described above. Under current law, it must
divest control of the nonbank bank within 180 days or
conform to the limitations in the BHC Act within that
period.

Section 222: (1) permits a company to control another
company that engages in activities permissible for credit
card banks without losing its nonbank bank exemption;
(2) allows overdrafts incurred as a result of an inadvert-
ent computer or accounting error that is beyond the con-
trol of the bank or affiliate or is fully secured by direct
obligations of or guaranteed by the United States or
securities and obligations eligible for settlement on the
Federal Reserve book entry system; (3) exempts well-
capitalized and well-managed nonbank banks from the
activities restrictions of section 4(f)(3); (4) repeals the
cross-marketing restrictions; and (5) provides that, if a
company fails to continue to qualify for the nonbank bank
exemption, the company does not have to divest the
nonbank bank if it corrects the condition or ceases the
activity that violated the exemptions or receives approval
from the Fed of a plan to correct the condition or cease
the activity within 1 year, and the company implements
procedures that are reasonably adapted to avoid the
reoccurrence of the offending condition or activity, pro-
vided the company notifies the Fed immediately upon
failing to qualify for the exemption.

OCC comment: The OCC does not object to this provision.

Sec. 223. Business Purpose Credit Extensions

Summary: This section adds a provision to section 4 of
the BHC Act (12 USC 1843) to provide that CEBA credit
card banks and nonbank banks that provide credit card
accounts for qualified business purposes will not be

treated as engaging in the business of making commer-
cial loans by reason of such extensions of credit. The
Fed is given the authority to define “qualified business
purposes,” with specific parameters: expenditures for
capital improvements, inventory acquisitions, or other
large acquisitions may not be considered a “qualified
business purpose,” while expenditures for employee
travel, entertainment, and subsistence, and certain small
acquisitions and purchases may meet this definition.

OCC comment: The OCC does not object to this provision.

Title III—Streamlining Federal Banking Agency
Requirements and Elimination of Unnecessary
or Outdated Requirements

Sec. 301. “Plain English” Requirement for
Federal Banking Agency Rules

Summary: This section requires each federal banking
agency to use plain language in all proposed and final
rule makings published in the Federal Register after Janu-
ary 1, 2000. In addition, each federal banking agency
must submit a report to Congress by June 1, 2001 that
describes how the agency has complied with this require-
ment. This section is similar to a recent executive memo-
randum issued June 1, 1998, by President Clinton.

OCC comment: The OCC supports the objective of this
section. However, we suggest that the term “plain lan-
guage” be defined as provided in President Clinton’s
executive memorandum. (This memorandum states that
“plain language” documents have logical orientation,
easy-to-read design features, and use: (1) common ev-
eryday words (except for necessary technical terms),
(2) “you” and other pronouns, (3) the active voice, and
(4) short sentences.)

Sec. 302. Call Report Simplification

Summary. This section requires the federal banking agen-
cies to jointly develop a system under which insured
depository institutions and their affiliates may file call
reports, savings association financial reports, and bank
holding company consolidated and parent-only finan-
cial statements electronically, and make these reports
and statements available to the public electronically. The
agencies must report to Congress no later than July 1,
2001, with legislative recommendations that would en-
hance efficiency for filers and users of these call reports
and statements. In addition, the federal banking agen-
cies would be required to jointly adopt a single form for
the filing of core information that is required to be sub-
mitted to all federal banking agencies in these reports
and statements, and to simplify and establish an index
for the instructions for these reports and statements.
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Finally, each federal banking agency would be required
to review the information required by schedules supple-
menting this core information and eliminate requirements
that are not necessary for safety and soundness or other
public purposes.

OCC comment: These requirements have essentially
already been enacted by Congress, and the federal
banking agencies are in the process of implementing
them. See section 307 of P.L. 103–325, the Riegle Com-
munity Development and Regulatory Improvement Act
of 1994. Although the OCC supports simplifying the pro-
cesses through which banks provide supervisory infor-
mation, given the demands on computer systems asso-
ciated with Year 2000 compliance, we do not favor a
renewed requirement that would place demands on
banks to reprogram their computer systems until after
the industry has remediated its mission-critical systems.
Year-2000 compliance currently requires the full atten-
tion of information systems experts and contractors at
banks and the federal banking agencies.

Sec. 303. Purchased Mortgage Servicing Rights

Summary: This section amends section 475 of the FDI
Act (12 USC 1828 note), which provides that purchased
mortgage servicing rights (PMSR) may be included in
calculating risk-based capital if, among other things,
the servicing rights are valued at not more than 90 per-
cent of their fair market value (10 percent haircut). Spe-
cifically, this section permits the appropriate federal
banking agencies to adjust or eliminate this haircut by
permitting PMSRs to be valued at more than 90 percent
of their fair market value, up to 100 percent, if they jointly
find, within 180 days of enactment of this legislation,
that such valuation would not have an adverse affect on
the deposit insurance funds or on the safety and sound-
ness of insured depository institutions. This section also
requires that any regulations issued pursuant to this
section be issued jointly by the banking agencies.

OCC comment: The OCC prefers this provision, which we
jointly suggested with the other federal banking agencies,
over any proposal that would repeal this “haircut” altogether.

Sec. 304. Judicial Review of Receivership
Appointments

Summary: Pursuant to section 11(c)(7) of the FDI Act
(12 USC 1821(c)(7)), insured state depository institu-
tions must bring suit against the FDIC for its decision to
appoint the FDIC as conservator or receiver of the insti-
tution within 30 days of the appointment. Section
5(d)(2)(B) of HOLA (12 USC 1464(d)(2)(B)) also provides
a 30-day statute of limitations for the challenge of the
appointment by the Director of the OTS of a receiver or

conservator of a thrift, and section 203(b) of the Bank
Conservation Act (BCA) (12 USC 203(b)) provides a 20-
day statute of limitations for the appointment by the OCC
of a conservator for a national bank. However, current
law does not expressly provide a statute of limitations
for a decision by the OCC to appoint a receiver of an
insured or uninsured national bank. As a result, the gen-
eral six-year statute of limitations for actions against the
United States applies to these appointments. See James
Madison, Limited v. Ludwig, 82 F.3d 1085 (1996).

Section 304 amends section 2 of the National Bank Re-
ceivership Act (12 USC 191) to make it consistent with
the FDI Act, HOLA, and the BCA by imposing a 30-day
statute of limitations on a national bank’s challenge to
the Comptroller’s decision to place the bank in receiver-
ship. In addition, this section amends section 11(c)(7)
of the FDI Act to place a 30-day statute of limitations for
challenges to the appointment of the FDIC as receiver
or conservator pursuant to other statutory authority.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section.

Sec. 305. Elimination of Outdated Statutory
Minimum Capital Requirements

Summary: This section repeals section 5138 of the Re-
vised Statutes (12 USC 51), which imposes minimum
capital requirements for national banks ranging from
$50,000 to $200,000, depending on where the bank is
located. Section 5138 was first enacted in 1864 and last
amended in 1935 and does not reflect current minimum
capital ratio requirements that have been adopted pur-
suant to the authority in section 38 of FDI Act (12 USC
1831o) and section 908 of the International Lending Su-
pervision Act (ILSA) (12 USC 3907). Section 908 of ILSA
was enacted by Congress in 1983 and expressly re-
quires the federal banking agencies to establish adequate
minimum capital requirements for banking institutions.
Section 38 of FDI Act was enacted in 1991 and estab-
lishes a system of prompt corrective action based on
capital levels.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section. Section
5138 is outdated and unnecessary in light of current law
and should be repealed to avoid any confusion.

Sec. 306. Elimination of Individual Branch
Capital Requirements

Summary: Section 5155 of the Revised Statutes (12 USC
36(c)) requires a national bank, in order to establish an
intrastate branch in a state, to meet the capital require-
ments imposed by the state on state banks seeking to
establish intrastate branches. Section 306 of this legis-
lation would repeal this requirement.
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OCC comment: The OCC supports this repeal. The
branch-by-branch capital requirement is obsolete and
not necessary for safety and soundness. Moreover, un-
der prompt corrective action, troubled banks are already
subject to branching limitations. See 12 USC 1831o(e).

Sec. 307. Amendment Relating to Shareholder
Notice Provisions Relating to Consolidations and
Mergers

Summary: This section eliminates the requirement in 12
USC 214a, 215, and 215a that shareholder notice for
meetings involving a consolidation or merger vote must
be made by “certified or registered” mail. National banks
still would be required to provide notice of the meeting
to each shareholder of record by regular mail, and to
publish notice in a newspaper of general circulation in
the place where the bank is located.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section. Requir-
ing the mailed notice to be certified or registered im-
poses unnecessary costs and burdens on national
banks, without any significant offsetting benefit.

Sec. 308. Payment of Interest in Receiverships
with Surplus Funds

Summary: This section amends section 11(d)(10) of FDI
Act (12 USC 1821(d)(10)) to provide the FDIC with ex-
press rulemaking authority, with respect to receivership
estates of insured depository institutions, to permit post-
insolvency interest to be paid to creditors and to estab-
lish an interest rate on those payments following satis-
faction of the principal amount of all creditor claims.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
FDIC on this provision.

Sec. 309. Repeal of Deposit Broker Notification
and Recordkeeping Requirement

Summary: This section repeals section 29A of the FDI
Act (12 USC 1831f–1), which requires a deposit broker to
file a written notice with the FDIC before soliciting or plac-
ing any deposits with an insured depository institution.
The FDIC has no enforcement power over deposit bro-
kers, who are part of a generally unregulated industry.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
FDIC and Treasury on this provision.

Sec. 310. Allowances for Certain Extensions of
Credit to Executive Officers

Summary: This section provides a specific statutory
exemption to the insider-lending rules by amending sec-

tion 22(g) of the FRA (12 USC 375a) to permit executive
officers: (1) to obtain home equity lines of credit up to
$100,000 secured by a lien on their primary residence,
provided that the aggregate amount of the lien and all
other extensions of credit secured by such liens do not
exceed the appraised value of the residence; and (2) to
obtain credit in an amount not to exceed the greater of
(a) the amount that is the lessor of 2.5 percent of the
aggregate amount of capital and unimpaired surplus of
the bank or $100,000, or (b) $25,000, provided that in
either case the extension of credit is secured by readily
marketable assets with a fair market value that is not
less than twice the amount of credit extended.

OCC comment: The OCC believes that the subcommit-
tee should proceed cautiously with the relaxation of in-
sider-lending limits proposed in section 310. As a whole,
these insider-lending limits provide important safeguards
including protections against valuation issues arising
with collateral provided in transactions by bank insid-
ers. Over time there has been a series of reductions in
these limits and we urge the subcommittee to examine
the cumulative effect of earlier liberalization in this area.

Sec. 311. Repeal of Federal Reserve Act
Lending Limit

Summary: This section repeals section 11(m) of the FRA
(12 USC 248(m)), which prohibits a member bank from
making loans secured by stocks or bonds to one bor-
rower in excess of 15 percent of the bank’s unimpaired
capital and surplus.

OCC comment: The OCC supports repealing this obso-
lete provision. Section 11(m), as enacted, set a limit of
10 percent (raised to 15 percent in 1994), which at the
time corresponded to the 10 percent lending limit appli-
cable to national banks under 12 USC 84. In 1982, Con-
gress raised the lending limit in section 84 to 25 percent
of unimpaired capital and surplus (not more than 15
percent of which may be unsecured), but did not raise
the corresponding limit in section 11(m). This produces
anomalous results. For example, if a bank has loaned to
one borrower an amount equal to 10 percent of its unim-
paired capital and surplus, and those loans are secured
by stocks or bonds, section 84 allows that bank to lend
an additional 15 percent of its unimpaired capital and
surplus on an unsecured basis to that borrower. However,
if the borrower does not qualify for an unsecured loan
under0 the bank’s credit criteria, section 11(m) prohibits
that bank from making a loan secured with stocks or bonds
in excess of 15 percent, even though the borrower could
qualify for the loan using this additional collateral. Sec-
tion 11(m) thus hinders a bank’s ability to make loans
collateralized to the maximum extent possible and, thus,
is inconsistent with safety and soundness.
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Sec. 312. Repeal of Bank Holding Company Act
Provision Limiting Savings Bank Life Insurance

Summary: Section 312 repeals section 3(f) of the BHC Act (12
USC 1842(f)). Section 3(f) provides that a qualified savings
bank (a savings bank organized prior to March 5, 1987)
that is a subsidiary of a bank holding company may
engage directly or through a subsidiary in any activity
permissible under state law notwithstanding any other
provision of the BHC Act (except for the restrictions in
section 3(f)). However, section 3(f) also provides that
the insurance activities of qualified savings banks are
limited to those permissible for nonbank affiliates of bank
holding companies under section 4(c)(8) of the BHC Act
(i.e., credit-related activities or agency activities con-
ducted in a place with a population of under 5,000) un-
less the qualified savings bank is located in Connecti-
cut, Massachusetts, or New York and was permitted
under state law to engage in the sale or underwriting of
savings bank life insurance as of March 5, 1987. In ad-
dition, section 3(f) provides that the grandfathered au-
thority to engage in savings bank life insurance will ter-
minate if the savings bank is acquired by a company
which is not a savings bank or a savings bank holding
company, unless the activity is otherwise authorized
under the BHC Act.

OCC comment: The OCC does not object to the repeal
of section 3(f). We recommend that the legislative his-
tory for this provision point out that section 3(f) is no
longer needed in light of subsequent judicial clarifica-
tions of the BHC Act that the BHC Act does not apply to
activities conducted directly or through subsidiaries by
national or state bank affiliates of BHCs, and legislation
subsequently enacted by Congress, notably section 24
of the FDI Act, which governs the permissible insurance
activities of state banks (including savings banks) and
their subsidiaries

Sec. 313. Amendment to Section 5137 of the
Revised Statutes of the United States.

Summary: Currently, section 5137 of the revised stat-
utes (12 USC 29) prohibits national banks from holding
any real estate acquired in satisfaction of debts previ-
ously contracted (real estate acquired “DPC”) for more
than five years. However, the OCC may approve pos-
session for an additional five years if: (1) the bank has
made a good faith attempt to dispose of the real estate
within the five-year period, or (2) disposal within the five-
year period would be detrimental to the bank. In addi-
tion, national banks which on October 15, 1982, held
real estate, including any subsurface rights or interests
therein, that, as of December 31, 1979, had not been
valued on the books of the bank for more than a nominal
amount, may continue to hold such real estate, rights,

or interests for such longer period of time as would be
permitted a state-chartered bank by the law of the state
in which the national bank is located, if the aggregate
amount of earnings from such real estate, rights, or in-
terests is separately disclosed in the annual financial
statements of the association. (Texas law characterizes
all mineral interests as real property and has a divesti-
ture requirement similar to section 29. Thus, under cur-
rent state law, Texas banks must follow the same rules
for divestiture of these interests as do national banks.)

This amendment would provide an additional five-year
holding period for subsurface rights of real estate, and
interests in such rights, held by a national bank DPC
with the approval of the OCC pursuant to section 29,
notwithstanding their location and state law treatment of
subsurface rights and interests as real or personal prop-
erty. Specifically, this amendment provides that the OCC
may approve possession of these rights and interests
for an additional five years provided: (1) the national
bank acquired the property in satisfaction of debts pre-
viously contracted; (2) the bank holds the subsurface
rights and interests passively and is not engaged in
production, extraction, exploration, or other active use
of the rights or interests, (3) the bank values the rights
and interests for no more than a nominal amount and
separately discloses the aggregate amount of earnings
from these rights and interests in its annual financial
statements, and (4) the Comptroller determines that the
possession of the rights and interests is not inconsis-
tent with the bank’s safety and soundness. In addition,
the amendment would permit the Comptroller to require
divestiture if it is later determined that continued pos-
session of the rights and interests would be detrimental
to the bank.

OCC comment: The OCC does not object to this amend-
ment. However, we note that, as drafted, it is unclear
whether this amendment would apply to mineral rights
and interests acquired before October 15, 1982, and,
therefore, whether national banks that acquired such
rights and interests on or before this date may continue
holding these rights and interests pursuant to state law,
which may have a longer holding period than what is
provided by this section. We also have technical com-
ments on this amendment.

Title IV—Disclosure Simplification

Sec. 401. Alternative Disclosure for Variable-
Rate, Open-Ended, Home-Secured Credit

Summary: This section amends section 127A(a)(2) of
the Truth in Lending Act (TILA) (15 USC 1637(a)(2)) to
allow a creditor to provide a statement that “periodic
payment may increase or decrease” in lieu of the 15-
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year historical table currently required for a variable-
rate, open-end, consumer credit plan secured by the
consumer’s principal dwelling. Section 127A(a)(2) con-
tinues to require a creditor to provide the maximum
APR and the associated minimum payment. (Section
2105 of the Economic Growth and Regulatory Paper-
work Reduction Act of 1996 amended TILA to provide
a similar change for closed-end, variable-rate loans.)

OCC comment: The OCC does not object to this section.

Title V—Bank Examination Report Privilege Act

Sec. 501. Amendment to the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act

Summary: This section adds a new section 45 to the
FDI Act to establish a bank supervisory privilege to
protect confidential supervisory information, such as
depository institution examination reports or supervi-
sory correspondence or other documents relating to an
examination. Recent court decisions have created am-
biguity about the confidential status of supervisory in-
formation, which is the foundation for the supervisory
process.5

Specifically, new section 45 provides that all confiden-
tial supervisory information is the property of the federal
banking agency that created or requested it and is privi-
leged from disclosure to any other person. Persons in
possession of this information are prohibited from dis-
closing it without prior authorization of that federal bank-
ing agency, with certain exceptions. In addition, this
section provides that, when a depository institution sub-
mits any information to a federal, state, or foreign bank
supervisory authority, the institution has not waived,
destroyed or otherwise affected any privilege it may
claim with respect to that information under federal or
state law. This section also provides that the same privi-
lege created by this section exists in any court proceed-
ing to compel production or disclosure of information or
documents prepared by a state bank supervisor or for-
eign bank regulatory or supervisory authority.

However, the privilege created by section 45 does not
prevent duly authorized committees of the U.S. Con-
gress or the comptroller general of the United States
from obtaining access to this information. In addition,
the federal banking agencies may waive this privilege,
in whole or in part, at their discretion, and may authorize
access to confidential supervisory information for any
appropriate governmental, law enforcement, or public
purpose in accordance with agency regulations and or-
ders without waiving any privilege.

This section also establishes specific procedures for
obtaining confidential supervisory information from the
originating federal banking agency. It also provides
definitions for “confidential supervisory information,”
supervisory process,” and “financial institution.” Fi-
nally, this section authorizes each federal banking
agency, after consultation with the other federal bank-
ing agencies and the National Credit Union Adminis-
tration (NCUA), to issue regulations that implement
this section.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section. In a
letter to Representative McCollum dated September
17, 1997, the OCC, along with the other federal bank-
ing agencies and the NCUA, expressed their support
for this legislation. Specifically, this section will help
preserve the cooperative, nonadversarial exchange of
information by supervised institutions with their exam-
iners and the candid internal analysis of examiners, by
codifying and strengthening the examination privilege.
Second, the proposed legislation will enforce existing,
nationwide uniform procedures for handling and access-
ing supervisory information, requiring third-party liti-
gants to seek supervisory information directly from the
federal banking agencies and not indirectly from the
supervised institutions. Third, the proposed legislation
will resolve the supervised institutions’ concerns that
their privileges will be waived if they voluntarily permit
the agencies to have access to privileged information
that is otherwise valuable to an examiner’s assessment
of safety and soundness. The proposed legislation fa-
vorably resolves many of the unsettled issues regard-
ing the handling of and access to supervisory informa-
tion, while preserving a fair process, including judicial
review, by which third parties may seek access to su-
pervisory information in appropriate circumstances. The
OCC recommends, however, that the subcommittee
include the technical amendments that have been dis-
cussed with the staffs of the other federal banking agen-
cies, which clarify the scope of the definition of “confi-
dential supervisory information,” insure that confiden-
tial supervisory information can be used for law en-
forcement purposes, and make other minor technical
corrections. We look forward to working with the sub-
committee to perfect this amendment.

5 See, e.g., In re Bankers Trust, 61 F.3d 465, 470 (6th Cir. 1995)
(holding that litigants seeking information from the Federal Re-
serve Board (FRB) need not subpoena the FRB for the information
and instead may obtain the FRB’s confidential information from a
defendant bank); Schreiber v. Society for Savings Bancorp, 11
F.3d 217, 220 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (holding that the bank examination
privilege protects only agency opinion from disclosure and does
not protect factual information about an institution); and Frankford
Trust Co. v. Advest Inc., 1995 U.S. Dist. Lexis 11825 (E.D. Penn,
Aug. 25, 1995) (not reported) (holding that the work product privi-
lege is waived by disclosure of privileged information to a bank
regulatory agency).
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Sec. 502. Amendment to Federal Credit Union Act

Summary: This section adds a new section 215 to Title
II of the Federal Credit Union Act (12 USC 1781 et seq.)
to establish a credit union supervisory privilege and the
procedures for obtaining confidential supervisory infor-
mation from the NCUA in the case of federal credit unions.
This privilege and these procedures are essentially iden-
tical to the privileges and procedures established by
section 501 that apply to the federal banking agencies
and depository institutions.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
NCUA on this section.

Title VI—Technical Corrections

Sec. 601. Technical Correction Relating to
Deposit Insurance Funds

Summary: This section amends an incorrect citation in
section 2707 of the Deposit Insurance Funds Act of 1996
(P.L. 104–208, 110 Stat. 3009).

OCC comment: The OCC supports this technical cor-
rection.

Sec. 602. Rules for Continuation of Deposit
Insurance for Member Banks Converting Char-
ters (Technical Error in Section 8(o) of FDI Act)

Summary: This section amends an incorrect citation in
section 8(o) of FDI Act (12 USC 1818(o)).

OCC comment: The OCC supports this technical correction.

Sec. 603. Waiver of Citizenship Requirement for
National Bank Directors

Summary: Section 5146 of the Revised Statutes (12 USC
72) requires that the directors of a national bank must
be citizens of the United States and that a majority of
the directors must live in the same state where the bank
is located, or within 100 miles of an office of the bank.
The Comptroller may waive the state residency require-
ment, pursuant to section 2241 of P.L. 104–208, the Eco-
nomic Growth and Regulatory Paperwork Reduction Act
of 1996. As drafted, however, section 2241 inadvertently
deleted the long-standing authority of the Comptroller to
waive the citizenship requirement for up to a minority of
directors of national banks that are subsidiaries or affili-
ates of foreign banks. In a colloquy on the Senate floor
at the time P.L. 104–208 was being considered for final
passage, Senators Mack, D’Amato, and Graham stated
that deleting the citizenship waiver authority was a tech-
nical drafting error and directed the OCC to treat the

authority as unchanged until Congress could correct the
error. This section corrects this technical error.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section. The
OCC, however, prefers the provision adopted by the
Senate Banking Committee in S. 576 that gives the OCC
the flexibility to waive the citizenship requirements for
up to a minority of the directors for any national bank.

Sec. 604. Technical Correction to Prohibition on
Comptroller Interests in National Banks

Summary: Section 329 of the Revised Statutes (12 USC
11) prohibits the Comptroller and deputy comptroller from
having an interest in any association issuing national
currency. This section amends 12 USC 11 to reflect the
fact that national banks no longer issue national cur-
rency. The section, however, maintains the purpose of
the original provision and it prohibits the Comptroller
and deputy comptroller from owning interests in the na-
tional banks they regulate.

OCC comment: The OCC supports this section.

Sec. 605. Applicability of Limitation to Prior
Investments

Summary: Section 18(s) of the FDI Act (12 USC
1828(s)(1)), as added by the Economic Growth and Regu-
latory Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996, P.L. 104–208,
prohibits a bank or savings association from being an
affiliate of, being sponsored by, or accepting financial
support, directly or indirectly, from any government-spon-
sored enterprise (GSE), except for routine business
financings. For purposes of this prohibition, a GSE in-
cludes Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Farmer Mac, Sallie
Mae, the Federal Home Loan Bank System, the Farm
Credit Banks, the Banks for Cooperatives, the College
Construction Loan Insurance Association, and any of
their affiliated or member institutions. Section 605 pro-
vides that the prohibition on investments does not ap-
ply to investments made in any GSE prior to April 11,
1996. This change is made retroactive back to the ef-
fective date P.L. 104–208.

OCC comment: The OCC takes no position on this provision.

Title VII—Special Reserve Funds

Sec. 701. Abolition of Special Reserve Funds

Summary: The Economic Growth and Regulatory Paperwork
Reduction Act, P.L. 104–208, establishes a SAIF Special
Reserve as of January 1, 1999, that will consist of the ex-
cess in the SAIF over the designated reserve ratio as of that
date (1.25 percent). While the amount in the SAIF Special
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Reserve cannot be used to calculate any future designated
reserve ratio and cannot be used for refunds from the SAIF,
it would be available for emergency purposes if the reserve
ratio of the SAIF is less than 50 percent of its designated
reserve ratio for a sustained period of time. (FDIC staff cur-
rently predicts that the SAIF reserve ratio to be within the
range of 1.37 to 1.45 percent on December 31, 1998, which
would result in a Special Reserve of $883.6 million to $1.35
billion on January 1, 1999.) The FDIC has stated that, by
eliminating any cushion in the SAIF above the designated
reserve ratio, the Special Reserve increases the likelihood
that the SAIF will fall below this ratio. This would require the
FDIC to raise SAIF premiums, which would re-open the is-
sues associated with a BIF–SAIF premium differential.

Public Law 104–208 also establishes the Deposit Insur-
ance Fund (DIF) Special Reserve, which would have the
same functions and operations as the SAIF Special Re-
serve once the BIF and SAIF are merged into the new
Deposit Insurance Funds.

This section eliminates both the SAIF and DIF Special
Reserves.

OCC comment: The OCC defers to the comments of the
FDIC on this provision.

Appendix B: OCC Regulatory
Relief Items

Subcommittee on Financial Institutions
and Consumer Credit, U. S. House of
Representatives, May 12, 1999

The OCC requests that the following items be consid-
ered for inclusion in H.R. 1585:

1. Facilitating subchapter S status for national banks
(12 USC 72)

Recent amendments to the Internal Revenue Code
permit banks to organize as subchapter S corpora-
tions. However, because subchapter S corporations
may only have 75 shareholders or less, the require-
ment in section 72 that directors own qualifying
shares may limit the ability of some banks to ob-
tain subchapter S status. This amendment would
permit the Comptroller to waive this stock purchase
requirement, in whole or in part, in the case of na-
tional banks that elect this corporate status.

2. Clarifying recapitalization authority for national
banks (12 USC [new section])

This section would clarify the authority of a national
bank to engage in reverse stock splits with the

approval of the Comptroller and pursuant to any
regulations issued by the Comptroller. A reverse
stock split is a useful method of enabling a bank to
recapitalize. In addition, recent amendments to the
federal tax law enable banks to reorganize as sub-
chapter S corporations. Because a subchapter S
corporation may have no more than 75 sharehold-
ers, a reverse stock split can be a useful mecha-
nism for a bank to reduce its number of sharehold-
ers to achieve subchapter S status. In order to pro-
tect the rights of dissenting shareholders, this
amendment requires that OCC regulations provide
a means for dissenting shareholders to obtain pay-
ment of the fair value of their shares.

3. Streamlining national bank corporate reorganiza-
tions (12 USC 215 et seq.)

The National Bank Consolidation and Merger Act,
12 USC 215 et seq., authorizes and establishes the
procedures for the merger or consolidation of na-
tional banks with other national banks or with state
banks. However, there is no express authority un-
der federal law for national banks to merge with
nonbank subsidiaries or affiliates that are engaged
in activities that are permissible for the bank to
conduct directly. As a result, in order to accom-
plish a corporate reorganization involving a combi-
nation of an uninsured subsidiary or affiliate with
the bank, the bank must use a more burdensome
form of corporate transaction—a purchase of as-
sets and assumption of liabilities of the subsidiary
or affiliate. The substance of the transaction is the
same as a merger in that the bank acquires the
other entity, but the purchase and assumption trans-
action can require extensive documentation of trans-
fers of individual assets and can entail issues of
corporate succession that do not arise in a merger.

This amendment would expressly permit a national
bank, upon the approval of the Comptroller and
pursuant to regulations issued by the Comptroller,
to merge or consolidate with its nonbank subsidiar-
ies or affiliates, without providing for an increase in
powers for the national bank. This amendment,
which is included in S. 576, as reported by the Sen-
ate Banking Committee, would enhance the ability
of banks to organize activities and assets within
their banking organizations in the way that makes
the best business sense and does not impose un-
necessary burdens.

4. Permitting choice of appraisal procedures for na-
tional banks (12 USC 214a, 215, and 215a)

Under current law, shareholders of the target bank
who dissent from the merger or consolidation of the
bank are entitled to receive the value of their shares
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under certain circumstances. The laws also set out
procedures for the formation of a three-member
appraisal committee to ascertain the stocks’ value.
If the committee is not formed or cannot reach agree-
ment as provided by the statute, the Comptroller
makes the initial appraisal which is final and bind-
ing. In practice, rarely is the full committee of ap-
praisers appointed and, therefore, the Comptroller
performs the appraisal. Even if the committee is
formed and does reach agreement on an appraised
value, under current law, the Comptroller must make
the reappraisal if a dissenting shareholder appeals
the committee’s decision. This amendment provides
that the valuation of a dissenting shareholder’s stock
will be done in accordance with the corporate gov-
ernance procedures designated in the bylaws of
the bank in which the dissenting shareholder owns
stock rather than by the Comptroller.

5. Enhancing national banks’ corporate flexibility in
the election of directors (12 USC 61)

Currently, section 61 requires that, in all elections
of national bank directors, each shareholder has
the right to (1) vote the number of shares owned for
as many persons as there are directors to be
elected, or (2) cumulate these shares by multiply-
ing the number of directors by the number of his or
her shares and giving all votes to one or more can-
didates. This amendment would permit national
banks to choose which method of electing their di-
rectors best suits their business goals and needs,
thereby making cumulative voting optional. It also
would provide the OCC with authority to issue regu-
lations to carry out the purposes of this section.
Because the Model Business Corporation Act and
most states’ corporate codes provide that cumula-
tive voting is optional, this amendment would make
national banking law consistent with the majority
rule under state corporate law. In so doing, it would
reduce unnecessary regulatory burden by provid-
ing national banks with the same corporate flexibil-
ity available to many state corporations and state
banks.

6. Promoting management continuity for national
banks (12 USC 71)

Currently, section 71 provides that directors of a
national bank may hold office for only one year and
must be elected on an annual basis. This amend-
ment would permit national banks to elect their di-
rectors for terms of up to three years in length and
would permit these directors to be elected on a
staggered basis in accordance with regulations is-
sued by the OCC, so that only one-third of the board
of directors is elected each year. This would pro-
vide national banks with flexibility in their corporate

election process. Also, a bank that chooses a stag-
gered election process will at all times have expe-
rienced members on its board, thereby enhancing
the bank’s safety and soundness. This change,
which is included in S. 576, as reported by the Sen-
ate Banking Committee, is consistent with section
8.06 of the Model Business Corporation Act (1984,
as amended 1994) and with many state corporate
codes, including Delaware’s General Corporation
Law, Del. Code Ann. Tit. 8, section 141 (1991, as
amended 1994).

7. National bank participation in certain community
activities (12 USC 25a)

Section 25a broadly defines prohibited “lottery” ac-
tivities to preclude banks from engaging in any ar-
rangement in which the participants advance money
or credit to another in exchange for the possibility
or expectation of winning an amount more than they
advanced. This provision could be interpreted to
prohibit types of community-related fund-raising
events that are not intended to be covered by the
statute and for which there is no cash prize. How-
ever, the legislative history of this section indicates
that Congress clearly intended to prohibit banks
from being used for state lottery activities in which
tickets are sold for a chance to win a cash jackpot.
This amendment would enhance the ability of na-
tional banks to support their community by allow-
ing the OCC to authorize the use of national bank
premises to be used for charitable fund raising that
does not involve cash awards, such as community
raffles.

8. Clarifying national bank authority to branch on In-
dian reservations (12 USC 36)

Section 36 provides that the OCC may authorize in-
trastate branches “within the city, town or village” or,
alternatively, “at any point within the State” in which
the bank “is situated” to the same extent permitted
to state banks. However, because Indian land is
sovereign territory it is unclear whether an Indian res-
ervation is located “within” a state. In addition, the
fact that state banking laws generally do not apply
on Indian reservations also makes it unclear whether
the National Bank Act, which incorporates state
branching laws, permits national banks to branch on
Indian reservations. Finally, it is also unclear how
section 36 applies in situations where an Indian res-
ervation spans more than one state.

This amendment would enhance the ability of na-
tional banks to serve the financial needs of Native
American communities by clarifying a national
bank’s authority to establish and operate branches
on Indian reservations, notwithstanding the law of
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the state or states in which the Indian reservation is
located, and provided tribal law permits such
branching (thereby treating the various Indian res-
ervations and other lands comprising Indian coun-
try similarly to states by permitting tribal govern-
ments to control branching laws in their local juris-
diction).

9. Providing parity for federal agencies of foreign banks
(12 USC 3102)

This amendment would amend the International
Banking Act (“IBA”) to provide that federal agen-
cies may accept foreign source deposits. Currently,
pursuant to a decision by the D.C. Circuit Court of
Appeals, federal agencies of foreign banks are pro-
hibited from taking any deposits, including the lim-
ited foreign-source deposits (i.e., deposits that are
not from “citizens or residents of the United States”)
even though that type of deposit may be accepted
by state-licensed agencies of foreign banks. Con-
ference of State Bank Supervisors v. Conover, 604
F.2d 604, 623 (D.C. Cir. 1983). Consequently, for-
eign banks that operate federal agencies in the
United States are competitively disadvantaged be-
cause they cannot offer the same services to for-
eign customers that may be offered by state agen-
cies. The recommended change to the IBA would
provide that federal agencies have the same right
as state agencies to receive limited foreign source
deposits. This amendment would not make any other
change to current law or in any other way expand or
affect the activities that are permissible for federal
agencies operating in the United States.

10. Providing examination parity for branches and agen-
cies of foreign banks (12 USC 3102(b))

Section 2214 of the Economic Growth and Regula-
tory Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996, P.L. 104–
208, replaced the annual requirement for an on-site
examination of a branch or agency of a foreign bank
with a requirement that these branches and agen-
cies be examined as frequently as would a national
or state bank by the appropriate federal banking
agency. As a result, branches or agencies that sat-
isfy a comparable asset test imposed on domestic

banks may be examined on an 18-month cycle
rather than a 12-month basis. However, this legisla-
tion did not make a conforming change to section
3102. This amendment, which is included in S. 576,
as reported by the Senate Banking Committee,
would make that conforming change and clarify that
the same rules easing examination requirements
and costs for domestic banks apply to federal
branches and agencies of foreign banks.

11. Reducing regulatory burden for representative of-
fices of foreign banks (12 USC 3102)

Although the International Banking Act (IBA) sought
to provide foreign banks with a federal option for
their U.S. offices, it did not provide the OCC with
authority to establish federal representative offices.
In this respect, the IBA does not fully implement
the dual banking option nor advance the goal of
national treatment. In addition, the absence of a
federal representative office option has in some
cases resulted in additional regulatory burden for
those foreign banks that would prefer to have their
entire U.S. operations under a federal license. This
amendment would amend 12 USC 3102 to provide
foreign banks with the option of establishing fed-
eral representative offices with OCC approval and
under the OCC’s supervision, provided that this
establishment is not prohibited by state law. This
amendment would not affect the Federal Reserve’s
existing authority to also approve or examine rep-
resentative offices.

12. Reducing regulatory burden of the capital equiva-
lency deposit requirement for federal branches and
agencies of foreign banks (12 USC 3102)

The capital equivalency deposit requirement is in-
tended to ensure that assets will be available in the
U.S. for creditors in the event of liquidation of the
U.S. branch or agency of a foreign bank. This
amendment would reduce regulatory burden by clari-
fying, streamlining, and deleting obsolete provisions
of the capital equivalency deposit requirement,
thereby making this requirement more consistent
with comparable state law requirements for asset
deposits by foreign banks.
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Remarks by John D. Hawke Jr., Comptroller of the Currency, before a
conference sponsored by the Consumer Bankers Association and
Robert Morris Associates, on customer credit and personal financial
information, San Francisco, California, June 7, 1999

Last November, when I was awaiting the White House
announcement of my appointment to serve as Comptrol-
ler of the Currency, the then-Acting Comptroller, Julie Wil-
liams, made a speech on customer service. It was a
speech that I’d long thought needed to be given and had
been looking forward to giving myself as Comptroller.

The thrust of her remarks seemed irrefutable—at least
to me. She began by sketching the historical evolution
of bank supervision from the days when it consisted of
a simple measurement of a bank’s internal management
and core operations, to today’s broader, more encom-
passing approach of assessing risk in all its manifesta-
tions—political, social, and economic.

And that brought her to the central point. “Bankers,” she
said, “need to weigh their business decisions—deci-
sions that might be perfectly aboveboard from a legal
or regulatory standpoint— against the reaction those
decisions might elicit from the customers and commu-
nities they are chartered to serve.” “They need to be
aware,” she added, “that actions perceived by a cus-
tomer to be unreasonable or unfriendly may trigger a
backlash whose costs can easily exceed the narrow value
of that customer’s business.” Indeed, she argued that
perceptions of deterioration in bank customer service
had already hurt the industry in its efforts to achieve its
legislative goals. By working to improve customer ser-
vice, she concluded, banks had an opportunity to swing
public opinion more to their side.

Generally, the speeches of bank regulators have a short
shelf life: you read about them in the trade press for a
day or two, and that’s that. But Julie’s speech sparked a
spirited debate that lasted for weeks. Some people were
startled—even offended—that a regulator would depict
customer service as a safety and soundness issue. Oth-
ers suggested pointedly that regulators keep their noses
out of the banks’ lawful relationship with their customers
and let the free market do its job. After all, they said, if
customers don’t like the service they’re getting, they’re
always free to take their business somewhere else.

But most commentators called the speech timely and
important. Said one banker, “We as an industry would
be better off paying attention” to the customer service
problem than “to deny it or make excuses about it.”

I applaud that kind of candor. I believe that customer
service is a subject that clearly falls within the OCC’s

purview—for all the reasons Julie cited and for a few
more. Of course, while it’s important to generate discus-
sion, it’s even better if a speech leads to constructive
action. The industry’s progress—or lack of it—in deal-
ing with the customer service issue since Julie deliv-
ered her speech is what I’d like to talk to you about
today. And I’d like to discuss the work of the OCC’s
customer assistance group—one way we’re trying to help
bankers to do an even better job of meeting their cus-
tomers’ service expectations.

First, Julie was absolutely right in affirming that cus-
tomer service is a safety and soundness issue —that
is, unless you hold the view that a bank can afford to
alienate its customers and damage its reputation with-
out weakening itself. History is replete with cases of
whole industries brought to the brink of extinction be-
cause a “customer be damned” attitude became em-
bedded in the corporate culture. During the late 1970s
and early 1980s, for example, the domestic auto
industry’s indifference to customer satisfaction and
changing customer preferences cost it a huge piece of
the U.S. market—a loss it’s still struggling to recoup.

Banks could afford to turn a deaf ear to their customers
if there were no place else for their customers to turn.
But that’s clearly not the case. Just as American house-
holds turned to foreign auto manufacturers 20 years ago,
consumers of financial services have a wide choice of
nonbank suppliers today. Competition has never been
stronger, and, more than ever, customer service is a key
competitive battleground. It concerns me—as I know it
concerns you—that an increasing number of nonbank
competitors are making a selling point of their nonbank
status. When advertising stresses, “We’re NOT a bank,”
and promises a higher level of responsiveness, local
decision making, and customer service, it highlights a
problem of major proportions for banks.

Customers all too frequently have negative predisposi-
tions about banks, and bank practices too often validate
them. For example, some institutions’ penchant for piling
on fees and penalties reinforces the stereotype of the
banker as Scrooge. Customers often don’t understand
why they should have to pay to gain access to their funds,
or why talking to a teller might warrant a surcharge. You
know that all bank services are delivered at a cost, and
that you can’t last long giving away products and ser-
vices for nothing. But banks generally have not done a
good job of explaining this fact of life to customers.
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Industries that regularly win higher scores for customer
service are likely to become your most significant future
competitors. The computer software industry, for ex-
ample, always ranks near the top in consumer surveys—
a fact that should worry traditional bankers, given the
rapid growth of on-line financial transactions. Merrill
Lynch just last week announced a major move into elec-
tronic delivery of financial services. To suggest that the
competitive challenges you face from those quarters are
unrelated to the safety and soundness of the banking
system and the value of the bank charter strikes me as
woefully misinformed.

It’s also the OCC’s responsibility under the law to en-
sure that consumers are protected in their dealings with
national banks. Unfortunately, there’s mounting evidence
of an increase in banking practices that are at least
seamy, if not downright unfair and deceptive—practices
that virtually cry out for government scrutiny.

Two particularly objectionable practices have recently
come to our attention. The first involves financial institu-
tions that, without letting customers know about it, have
stopped reporting consumer credit lines, high credit
balances, and payment records to credit bureaus. Some
lenders, in particular, appear not to be reporting their
payment experiences with subprime borrowers in order
to protect against good customers being picked off by
the competition—even though these customers may have
been lured into a high-rate loan as a way of repairing a
bad credit history. These high-interest borrowers may
be rudely surprised when they discover that their good
credit history as a subprime borrower isn’t reflected in
their credit files when they seek credit in the future and
that they are unable to obtain better rates based on their
good credit record.

Failure to report may not be explicitly illegal. But it can
readily be characterized as unfair; it may well be decep-
tive, and—in any context—it’s abusive. OCC staff has
been discussing this issue with the other banking agen-
cies and with the Federal Trade Commission staff, and
is working to develop a joint supervisory response to
this practice. But that may not be the end of it: Con-
gress is already homing in on the problem.

The second item involves the sale of personal customer
financial information to telemarketing firms. What’s hap-
pening is basically this. A bank will enter into an agree-
ment with an unaffiliated telemarketing firm under which
the bank provides extensive confidential customer in-
formation in return for a commission on sales made by
the marketing firm. And the information goes well be-
yond mere lists of names. It also includes addresses,
telephone numbers, social security numbers, dates of
birth, credit card numbers, checking account numbers,

account balances, credit card purchases, last payment
dates, occupations, marital status, and credit-scoring
information.

With this information, a telemarketer can profile bank
customers and offer so-called “trial memberships” most
likely to appeal to a particular customer. If a customer
indicates an interest in seeing materials about the offer
or expresses an interest in the trial membership, his
account at the bank is automatically charged by the
telemarketer—without the customer ever divulging his
account number, much less knowingly authorizing the
charge or withdrawal.

In many cases, the customer may not realize that he’s
being charged unless he spots and questions an unfa-
miliar item that appears on his monthly statement. And
in many cases, the “trial” membership automatically
converts into a continuing series of monthly charges
unless the customer affirmatively “opts out” of the pro-
gram. The disclosures provided to a customer about
the need to opt out in order to avoid continuing charges
often leave much to be desired, and the bank’s pub-
lished privacy policies frequently fail to make reference
to this use of confidential customer information.

In my judgment, this practice raises a number of seri-
ous legal concerns, which we and others are currently
reviewing. Judging from the calls we receive from state
attorney general offices around the country, the scope
of the concern may be widespread.

In addition to the legal issues, however, one must be
troubled about the implications of this practice for the
preservation of customer confidence in the confidential-
ity of the bank–customer relationship. We heard loud
complaints from many in the banking industry that the
now-defunct “know your customer” regulation would do
severe damage to customer confidence—as I believe it
would have. But there doesn’t seem to be the same
sensitivity about damaging that relationship when there
are commissions to be earned from the sale of confi-
dential information.

Issues surrounding the transfer of customer information
already have lent momentum to proposals for new fed-
eral legislation, and the emergence of practices such as
I’ve described will only increase the likelihood of new
legislation.

And that brings up the third reason why customer ser-
vice is a legitimate public policy issue for bank regula-
tors. What Julie warned about in her November speech—
the risk that consumer complaints would translate into
legislation that the industry may view as adverse to its
interests—now seems more real than ever before.
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One can review the history of consumer protection leg-
islation over the past three decades and see one com-
mon and compelling theme: consumer abuses that are
allowed to continue without being addressed by the in-
dustry are eventually addressed through regulatory leg-
islation. And this audience knows as well as any that
the cure can be more painful than the disease. Truth in
Lending, Fair Credit Billing, Fair Credit Reporting, and
Truth in Savings were legislative responses to clear
abuses the industry proved unwilling to address on its
own. These enactments not only created significant com-
pliance burdens for the industry, but vastly expanded
the enforcement responsibilities of the banking agen-
cies, and added significant complexity to the traditional
process of safety and soundness examination.

While it might be unfair to burden an entire industry with
legislation aimed at curbing the poor conduct of a few
institutions, the persistent failure of the industry itself to
address abusive conduct creates a fertile seedbed for
legislation. Perhaps it’s too late for industry codes of
conduct, self-policing arrangements, or even statements
of best practices to relieve the burdens of regulatory
legislation already on the books. But it may still be pos-
sible to avoid new legislation crafted to remedy today’s
excesses.

What’s needed, in my judgment, is for the leaders of the
industry, including the Consumer Bankers Association
and RMA, to speak out on these issues. You must em-
phasize to Congress and the American people that the
banking industry stands ready to take the steps neces-
sary to clean up its act. If you are unable or unwilling to
develop an industry self-regulatory mechanism, or to
promulgate codes of conduct with incentives for volun-
tary compliance, you can at least assist in that effort by
providing guidance on the kinds of practices that are
and are not acceptable. In my view, the banking
industry’s response must be prompt and unambiguous
in order to stem the tide of corrective legislation.

This represents a significant challenge. And while it’s
not our job to draft standards of fair conduct, we can
help banks to respond more effectively to consumer is-
sues and concerns. In fact, over the past year, we have—
quite unexpectedly, I should add—amassed a signifi-
cant amount of information about bank–customer rela-
tionships that can be of real value to bank management
seeking to upgrade its service.

In April 1998, the OCC installed a state-of-the-art con-
sumer hotline system at our customer assistance center
in Houston. Although we have not widely advertised or
promoted this facility, our call volume has grown dra-

matically. In 1997, before we installed the new system,
our customer assistance group logged some 16,000
consumer complaints. In 1998, the number rose to more
than 68,000. And, if the complaint volume during the
first quarter of 1999 holds for the entire year, we should
be well over 100,000 this year. Again, that’s without any
promotion on our part.

Our approach to this operation is not regulatory- or com-
pliance-oriented. We are not seeking out violations of
law. Most of the complaints we receive are the result of
a breakdown in communications between a bank and a
customer. We lend our good offices to the resolution of
disputes. If the customer’s complaint lacks merit, we’re
frank to say so. In my view, this operation has been a
great success, for both customers and banks.

What’s most disturbing, however, is the large number of
complaints we receive about bank practices—such as
those I’ve already mentioned—that, intentionally or not,
violate the letter or the spirit of consumer protection laws
or that clearly strain the boundaries of ethical conduct.

I think of our customer assistance center as performing
two critical functions. First, it provides an outlet for con-
sumers, where their complaints will receive prompt and
efficient attention. Second, it adds value to the supervi-
sory process by giving bankers insight into their cus-
tomers’ assessment of the service they provide. A num-
ber of national bank CEOs to whom I’ve spoken have
expressed surprise at learning the extent of the service
problem, and I suspect most CEOs or boards of direc-
tors never learn through internal processes about bad
customer assessments of their service, or about ques-
tionable practices at the marketing level. The informa-
tion collected by our Houston unit can inform senior
management where steps are necessary to improve the
quality of the service their banks deliver. It can also
point toward internal processes and control weaknesses
that they should be interested in fixing.

Of course, when we find that consumer protection laws
have been violated, our response will be firm. But shoddy
and unethical practices, marketing schemes that over-
reach or exploit, and offensive sales techniques may
not be currently sanctionable under the law. It’s very
much in the interests of the banking industry and its
customers to eliminate such conduct. Effective self-po-
licing should be undertaken as a matter of enlightened
self interest—not only to improve customer relationships,
but to demonstrate to Congress that new regulatory leg-
islation aimed at curbing abuses by banks is not needed.
The industry’s future could well depend on how it re-
sponds to this challenge.
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Introduction

Few would disagree that the financial world has changed
substantially since the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision promulgated the Capital Accord in 1988.
Internationally active banks today are significantly more
complex, more driven by technology, and more global
in their scope. Clearly, for these more sophisticated
banks, a “one-size-fits-all” approach to capital is no longer
appropriate. Instead, we must find new ways to reflect
credit risks in the capital framework. The Basel Commit-
tee has taken the first step in this direction by recently
issuing a consultative paper looking toward a revision
of the accord.

Today, I will focus my remarks on the issues raised by
the 1988 accord and the options we at the OCC see for
the future of the regulatory capital framework, in light of
the new Basel Committee proposal.

1. Deconstructing the 1988 Accord

In retrospect, there is no question that the 1988 accord
represented a significant step forward on several fronts.
It has been credited with reducing international dispari-
ties in the regulation of capital adequacy, addressing the
risks posed by the growth of off-balance sheet instru-
ments, making banks’ capital levels more transparent to
market participants, and reversing what had been a pro-
longed decline in the capital levels of internationally ac-
tive banks. However, as institutions have grown in com-
plexity and have increasingly resorted to the use of so-
phisticated financial tools such as securitization and com-
plex derivatives to reduce capital requirements, manage
risk and allocate credit, the limitations of the accord have
become manifest. Many of the limitations of the current
accord are already well recognized. One fundamental
problem is that the current system does not adequately
or accurately assess risk. The current “risk-bucketing”
approach, under which assets are sorted into different
buckets based on broad categories of risk, is a crude
approach to allocating capital. It has resulted in a poor
differentiation of credit risks, given rise to tremendous
arbitrage opportunities, and led to distortions in the way
that banks allocate credit and price products.

Moreover, the current system does not take into account
some of the common risk management techniques used
by banks today, including diversification and hedging.

Although these techniques have helped bankers to bet-
ter manage risks, the regulatory capital framework has
not been adjusted to reflect these improvements. Nor
has it been adjusted to take account of the additional
risks that stem from concentrations and other broader
“portfolio effects.”

Finally, the accord has not kept pace with developments
in risk management and capital allocation in the bank-
ing industry. It has become increasingly difficult to fit
many new product offerings into the existing risk buck-
ets—credit derivatives being a prime example. The in-
ability of the accord to stay abreast of market innova-
tions has become one of the main reasons the Basel
Committee is looking toward a substantial revision of
the accord.

Given the problems posed by the current system, our
goal and our challenge is to develop a system that is
flexible and forward looking, and that provides for a useful
and rational assessment of risk upon which to base a
capital charge.

II. What a Revised Accord Offers

The first step toward meeting that goal was taken last
week with the release of the Basel Committee’s consul-
tative paper describing elements for a new capital frame-
work. This paper represents the first step in a two-step
process: first, the development of the framework for the
future accord; second, the articulation of the details. In
each case, industry comment will be sought, and this is
an opportunity that the industry should grasp. Ultimately,
the views of the industry will be of critical importance to
the framing of any future accord. The committee has
made it clear that it wants capital rules that reflect not
only the risks, but also the realities of banking today.

The new proposal will seek to update the 1988 accord in
a number of different areas. First, the proposal would
expand the “standardized” or risk-bucketing approach.
Second, it looks to the use of new approaches to mea-
suring credit risk, such as internal ratings. Third, it raises
the issue of what other areas need to be covered by a
revised accord.

Among the fundamental changes that the proposal would
make is the introduction of the “three pillars” of capital. To
date, the accord has looked primarily at the quantitative
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aspects of capital. The new accord will add two new
pillars as integral parts of the regulatory capital frame-
work: supervisory review and market discipline.

The OCC has long believed that supervisory review and
market discipline are important elements in the review of
capital adequacy. However, this is not a view that is held
around the world. Qualitative elements tend to be forgot-
ten when viewed alongside the challenges posed by quan-
titative measures such as internal ratings and credit risk
modeling. While most supervisors have ways to imple-
ment and enforce capital adequacy standards, there is
now a need to enhance the role that supervision plays in
assessing the qualitative aspects of capital and identify-
ing the specific methods by which to do so. Market disci-
pline must also play a role in any capital adequacy frame-
work, as it rewards banks that manage risks effectively
and penalizes those whose risk management is less pru-
dent. Greater transparency will improve the market’s abil-
ity to make rational judgments about an institution’s risk
management and overall soundness.

Another change is the proposal for the addition of a capi-
tal charge for “other” risks, such as operational risk and
interest rate risk.

The main issue here is how to arrive at an appropriate
capital charge. These “other” risks are not easily quanti-
fiable. Even interest rate risk, while measurable, is not
measured in a consistent way among banks or coun-
tries. The charge for “other” risks will be the source of
much discussion within the Basel Committee, and, I
expect, within the banking community, over the coming
months. The third major change addresses the most
serious shortcoming of the present accord—the need to
make the credit risk measurement criteria more sensi-
tive to actual risk.

III. The Future Methodologies

Four approaches to credit risk measurement have been
suggested: expansion of risk buckets, use of external
ratings, use of internal ratings, and portfolio credit risk
modeling.

Expanded risk bucketing would not, in my view, be a
major step forward or an option we should pursue avidly
in the future. While it offers some opportunities for re-
finement, it would perpetuate some of the problems of
the present accord—lumping assets that inevitably have
differing risk characteristics into fixed categories, with
attendant opportunities for arbitrage.

A second approach, the use of external ratings from widely
recognized rating agencies, could be applied to both
sovereign and corporate credits. However, there are still

some issues that must be thought through before this
approach could be used. For sovereign credits, there are
currently only two risk buckets, one for sovereigns that
are members of the Organization for Economic Coopera-
tion and Development; another for those who are not. While
there is wide agreement that the present framework for
rating sovereigns should be dismantled, the track record
of the rating agencies on sovereign credits has proved
disappointing. We have seen during the Asian crisis of
the past two years that ratings were often lagging indica-
tors of emerging problems. The use of external ratings
also presents some problems for corporate credits. The
fact is that there are generally very few externally rated
credits on the books of most U.S. banks, and outside of
the United States, the use of external ratings is much
less common than in the United States. While external
ratings may prove useful as a part of a broader package,
particularly as they become more common abroad, I do
not believe that the external ratings approach alone will
go very far in solving the problems of the current accord.

The other two approaches raised in the proposal—internal
ratings and, over the longer term, full portfolio credit risk
modeling—offer the greatest promise for the most sophis-
ticated internationally active banks. But given the current
state of the art of these methodologies, it is questionable
whether they will be feasible options in the near term.

The internal ratings approach is geared toward basing a
capital charge on the ratings that banks themselves
assign to the credits in their portfolios. Full portfolio credit
risk modeling goes a step further, using the internal risk
ratings as a starting point and then applying sophisti-
cated modeling techniques to adjust the ratings for “port-
folio effects” to arrive at a capital charge for the entire
portfolio. Advances are being made in both of these
methodologies by many institutions. However, there are
still a number of difficulties to work out before either of
these approaches can be reliably used.

Two major challenges posed by the internal risk ratings
approach are the lack of consistency among the internal
ratings systems, and the need to “map” internal ratings
to a uniform schedule of capital charges. Systems de-
veloped by individual banks can differ in a number of
very important ways. For example, some institutions may
define the credit risk attributable to “default” as the prob-
ability that a loan will go bad, while others may go fur-
ther and derive a loss figure that would result if the credit
becomes a problem, the so-called loss given default.
These inconsistencies compound the problem of trans-
lating internal ratings into a generally applicable range
of risk weightings. Of course, moral hazard must also
be considered in connection with any methodology that
attaches significant economic consequences to a bank’s
own classification of its risks.



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 199972

Despite the issues raised by the internal ratings approach,
it is still far closer to implementation than portfolio credit
risk modeling, where challenges are much more difficult
to overcome. A recent Basel Committee report high-
lighted two substantial difficulties with the current state
of credit risk modeling—a lack of data and the inability
to validate the models. As I noted, this approach has
promise, but we are still a number of years away from
being able to depend comfortably on credit risk models.

The good news is that many of you in this audience are
devoting significant resources to the development of
systems that can overcome the difficulties that I have
just described. I see this process as a continuing col-
laborative effort between the public and private sector.

IV. Conclusion

The effort to amend the accord in a way that both ad-
dresses problems already recognized and takes ac-

count of emerging technologies of risk assessment has
substantial momentum behind it. The process will take
some time to complete, but that is desirable for a num-
ber of reasons.

As time passes, we will continue to see advances in
credit risk measurement methodologies that will allow
for a more precise calculation of the risks against which
capital should be held. Despite the challenges that must
be overcome, the internal ratings approach and, further
down the road, portfolio modeling, offer the most prom-
ise for the future. At the same time that these new meth-
odologies are being developed, the focus on qualitative
approaches to capital, namely supervisory review and
market discipline, will sharpen. Together, these elements
will allow for a more supportable determination of capital
adequacy, while retaining the flexibility to adapt to the
changes—in risk management and in products and ser-
vices offered by the banking community—that are inevi-
table in the future.
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According to the latest report from the U.S. Bureau of
Labor Statistics, the nation’s fastest-growing occupa-
tions today are—again—by-products of the micropro-
cessor. Database administrators, computer engineers,
and systems analysts rank first, second, and third.

Of course, not all of our new professions have high-tech
roots. For example, back in the 1970s, few financial in-
stitutions employed people with the title of “compliance
officer.” Since then, however, compliance has become a
major focus for banks—and a major responsibility for
bank supervisors. That’s the result of the proliferation of
laws governing banks’ relationships with their custom-
ers. Truth in Lending, Truth in Savings, Fair Credit Bill-
ing, Electronic Funds Transfer, Expedited Funds Avail-
ability, and Real Estate Settlement Procedures are ex-
amples of the many and complex laws enacted since
the 1970s to address consumer concerns. And, for rea-
sons I’ll discuss in a minute, I think it’s safe to say that
these won’t be the last laws of their kind.

These laws not only have created a demand for your
specialized skills. They’ve also fundamentally altered
the nature of the bank examination process and, indeed,
of bank supervision itself. At the OCC and the other
federal banking agencies, compliance has become, and
will remain, a significant component of our mission.

There’s a paradox here. When the economic history of
the United States during the last quarter of the twentieth
century is written, it will undoubtedly take as one of its
main themes the triumph of deregulation in key sectors
of the economy. Some regulatory structures erected in
earlier times, such as those applying to the airlines and
the trucking industry, have been totally dismantled. Oth-
ers have been appreciably modified. In banking, for
example, we’ve seen the elimination of deposit interest
rate ceilings and geographic limits on expansion.

At the same time, however, I know of no other industry
where the progress toward deregulation has been so
largely offset by new regulatory measures. Despite the
fact that we have seen some deregulation in banking, I
think most bankers would agree that the hand of gov-
ernment has, if anything, become progressively heavier.

Why are compliance issues so prominent today? Why
has banking been subjected to such a profusion of regu-
latory legislation when deregulation has triumphed nearly
everywhere else? And, looking to the future, what can we

do—you as compliance specialists and we as bank su-
pervisors—to turn compliance functions and controls into
positive enhancements to banks in their quest for safety,
soundness, customer service, and competitiveness?

Of course, there would have been no consumer protec-
tion laws if consumers of financial services hadn’t been
able to make a persuasive case that they were needed.
Although never involving more than a small minority of
financial providers, market abuses have not been un-
common. Too often over the years, bankers and their
trade associations have passed up opportunities to ad-
dress these abuses through their own codes of conduct
or self-regulatory mechanisms. That’s left Congress with
very little choice but to adopt legislation to address con-
sumers’ concerns.

A related factor has been the vastly increased empow-
erment of consumers over the last three or four decades.
“Consumerism” has become a movement of formidable
proportions, as consumer advocacy groups have grown
in experience and sophistication, and have become more
adept at using the political process to redress consumer
grievances. Consumers have learned that through con-
certed action they can bring about change, not only in
laws and regulations, but in the marketplace, as well.

It’s a simple but profound fact that, in conducting the
business of banking, financial institutions touch the lives
of their customers in ways that no other business does.
Banks serve as a repository for savings, as a means of
making payments, as a source of financing for cars,
homes, education, and the myriad durable goods es-
sential to our modern quality of life. But more than that,
they are the custodians of people’s money and the bear-
ers of their trust. When that special relationship breaks
down—when customers feel that their trust has been
betrayed—they tend to react passionately and volubly.

Was it inevitable, one might ask, that these laws—and
the burdens to which they have given rise— should have
multiplied so fast?

In one sense, that question was answered when Con-
gress chose regulation as the method for correcting
abuses in the banking system. Compare, for example,
the system of bank compliance regulation with the
means chosen to protect competition in the market-
place. Our nation’s antitrust laws empower the Depart-
ment of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission to
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initiate enforcement actions, and they created private
rights of action for injunctive relief and damages. But
they generally leave the responsibility for interpreting
and applying the law to the federal courts, rather than
to a regulatory agency. As a consequence, while cor-
porate America has clearly understood the need to
comply with the antitrust laws—and the consequences
of noncompliance— it has not had to deal with volumi-
nous regulations in the process.

In the area of depository institutions, however, Congress
has repeatedly and unfailingly chosen a regulatory rem-
edy. It has enacted corrective laws, and vested in one or
more of the banking agencies the responsibility for writing
rules to implement the mandate, with the expectation that
the rules will be enforced through regular examinations.

As you know well, the banking agencies have been dili-
gent over the years in using the examination process to
carry out the intent of Congress. At regular intervals,
banks are visited by compliance examiners whose job
it is to assure that you are doing your job.

To put a somewhat different perspective on it, Congress
is likely to choose a regulatory remedy in the area of
banking because banks are already subject to formal
regulation. One might argue that the existence of the
bank examination process has been an invitation to add
additional tasks to those already performed by examin-
ers. And Congress has repeatedly made clear that it
intends that process to be used to ensure compliance.

There are at least three important implications of this
history. First, bankers are much more likely to be sub-
ject to new regulatory legislation than their nonbank,
nonsupervised competitors. Insurance companies and
securities firms—while subject to their own regulatory
schemes, to be sure—are not subject to routine exami-
nation in the manner of banks. The government’s scru-
tiny of finance companies and mortgage companies is
even less comprehensive and exacting. It seems cer-
tain that future statutory consumer protection mea-
sures—privacy is a likely subject—will again have a
much heavier impact on banks than nonbanks.

Second, Congress’ choice of remedy has significantly
altered the nature of bank examination. To be sure, safety
and soundness is still the major focus of the examina-
tion process. But today, safety and soundness examin-
ers are accompanied by highly skilled and well-trained
compliance examiners, whose task it is to assure that
banks are fulfilling their responsibilities under the vari-
ous consumer protection laws.

Third, history suggests that your role as bank compli-
ance officers is likely to become even more important

as time goes on. In short, you’re in no imminent danger
of working yourselves out of your jobs. Banks operate
today in a fishbowl, and their compliance is closely and
continuously monitored—by the regulatory agencies, the
banking public, the investing community, and elected
officials. In this environment, there’s a growing recogni-
tion that compliance slip-ups can be every bit as harm-
ful to a bank’s long- and short-term prospects as mis-
managed credit risk. Time and again, we’ve seen what
the consequences of inattention to compliance require-
ments can be: lawsuits, social stigma, reputational dam-
age, and lost customers. Given what it costs to replace
a customer these days, financial institutions may incur
a heavy price indeed if they fail to take their compliance
obligations seriously enough.

The multiplication of consumer protection laws has raised
challenges for us as regulators, too. We, too, have had
to learn to work smarter; to manage our compliance re-
sources more efficiently; and to maintain the proper bal-
ance between compliance examinations and all the other
activities we conduct to maintain a safe and sound bank-
ing system.

To do that, we have taken a page from our own approach
to safety and soundness supervision. Since the 1980s,
the OCC has been targeting its supervisory resources
to those institutions and banking activities that seemed
to pose the greatest systemic risk. While all national
banks continued to receive supervisory attention, they
no longer receive the equal attention implicit in a calen-
dar-driven examination schedule. Today, the OCC su-
pervises noncomplex community banks very differently
than its population of megabanks—exactly as logic would
dictate.

When our formal compliance program was launched in
1987, the OCC adopted what amounted to a “one-size-
fits-all” approach to compliance examinations. Our origi-
nal procedures were designed to test the effectiveness
of banks’ compliance systems irrespective of asset
size. But the growing number and complexity of con-
sumer and community protection laws forced some
hard choices on us—just as they have on the banks
we supervise. And so, in 1995, we modified our pro-
gram to take account of the different ways that com-
munity and large banks control compliance risk. Com-
munity banks—those with total assets of $250 million
or less—generally have less formal compliance mecha-
nisms in place; so, for those banks, we take a transac-
tion-based approach, focusing on the results of opera-
tions rather than the methods used to achieve them.
The results of this transaction testing enables examin-
ers to derive conclusions about the quality of an
institution’s compliance risk management, and take
appropriate follow-up action.



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999 75

By contrast, compliance examinations of our large
banks—with $1 billion or more in total assets— are pro-
cess driven. Our examiners evaluate the bank’s compli-
ance management systems, selectively drill down to
make sure systems are working as intended, and make
recommendations for improvements where these sys-
tems are found wanting.

For banks between $250 million and $1 billion in assets,
examiners themselves make the determination as to
which of the two approaches to take, based on, among
other things, the complexity of the bank’s structure and
its history of compliance management.

This risk-focused approach to compliance continues to
undergo expansion and refinement. Last year, the OCC
launched a pilot program targeting high-risk national
banks for more intensive Bank Secrecy Act (BSA) ex-
aminations, including extensive transaction testing by a
cross-functional team of BSA specialists. The banks
selected for this more intensive scrutiny included a num-
ber of institutions already under suspicion with law en-
forcement agencies. To that pool were added four other
banks, one each from the nation’s four most active drug-
trafficking areas. Three of the four were found to have
serious BSA deficiencies, which led to corrective ac-
tion. Next year, we plan to expand this program to in-
clude banks from each of the Justice Department’s 21
high-intensity drug-trafficking areas.

Expanding this targeted approach to other compliance
areas requires that we first identify the relevant risk fac-
tors. That work is already under way. For example, in the
future, we might target fair-lending exams to institutions
displaying particular risk factors: significant manage-
ment turnover, or a large number of consumer com-
plaints; where loan officers have unusual discretion in
underwriting and pricing; or where there are conspicu-
ous gaps in geographic lending patterns on the basis of
race or ethnicity.

As it’s fleshed out in the coming months, this risk-based
approach promises to reduce regulatory burden on banks

that are meeting their compliance responsibilities and
to help us better identify— and correct—deficiencies at
those institutions that are falling short. I believe that this
approach to compliance management is the wave of the
future—for the industry as well as for regulators.

Bank compliance officers have a lot to offer their institu-
tions beyond the scope of existing laws and regulations.
They should be considered members of the bank’s total
risk-management team. In my experience, the most suc-
cessful financial institutions are those in which a culture
of compliance is embedded in the institution. By that I
mean an atmosphere in which employees up and down
the organization not only understand the specific provi-
sions of the law as they apply to their own functions, but
where they have internalized the spirit of the law, as well.
That calls for a conservative approach to customer rela-
tions even in those areas where no specific regulatory
guidelines currently exist. Most importantly, it means
anticipating the kinds of problems that can lead to new
compliance requirements if they’re not corrected first. If
all banks were to adopt this kind of cross-functional,
proactive approach to compliance, the industry might
finally win real regulatory relief—from both existing and
future requirements.

So the next time your boss asks you to sit down and
review your performance goals, I suggest that you pro-
pose to add the following line to your job description:
“works to inculcate a compliance consciousness through-
out the organization.” And when you’re asked how you
propose to accomplish that, emphasize the importance
of having a voice in the process of designing new prod-
ucts and marketing strategies. Do that, and you’ll be
making a major contribution to the safety, soundness,
and competitiveness of your institution.

Our ability to adopt the risk-based approach to compli-
ance I have just described depends on the extent of the
industry’s success in meeting its own compliance obli-
gations. The better you do in upholding the letter and
spirit of these laws—and making new laws unneces-
sary—the less that we in government will have to do.
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When this conference was being scheduled several
months ago, my topic was listed as “Guarding Con-
sumer Privacy: Understanding the Guidelines for Shar-
ing Customer Data.” Little did any of us know that the
timing of this speech would coincide with the explo-
sion of privacy as an issue in the debate on financial
modernization legislation, litigation challenging a ma-
jor financial firm’s privacy practices in connection with
telemarketing, and a surge of privacy-related stories in
the media.

This morning I will first recap recent developments that
have shaped the privacy debate for the financial ser-
vices industry. Then I will cover the status of regula-
tory and legislative responses as well as the role of the
marketplace in safeguarding privacy. I will conclude
with a snapshot of where we are today and dust off
some old, but still relevant, perspectives on the issue
of privacy.

It would require an extraordinary set of blinders not to
recognize that American consumers are increasingly
privacy conscious. Survey data bear out that consum-
ers are concerned about threats to their privacy and
about whether they have lost control of information they
consider personal and private. Interestingly, whereas
in the past, customers seemed to be most concerned
about government intrusions into their privacy, current
customer concerns about privacy appear to be great-
est in the areas of private sector uses of financial and
health information.

When a privacy issue—identity theft—is the premise for
a hit movie starring Sandra Bullock—The Net—I do not
think it is productive to continue to debate whether pri-
vacy is a major consumer issue, or to suggest that cus-
tomer concerns are merely “anecdotal.” The question
must be, rather, how the issue can be credibly ad-
dressed, and how fast that can be done.

Privacy abuses touch a common nerve. They may come
in the form of the inconvenience of dealing with a
telemarketing call at dinner time; having to empty a
mailbox full of unwanted catalogues; finding a plethora
of identifying information about yourself on the Internet;
the sudden appearance of unexplained credit card
charges; having your bank account robbed by way of a
forged check; having your identity stolen; or being
stalked. Each of these is a breach of personal privacy—
ranging in severity from mere irritants to crimes that in-

cite fear for personal safety. They are not academic or
remote occurrences. We can identify with their victims.

It is against this backdrop—this increasingly charged
atmosphere where each new reported invasion of per-
sonal privacy triggers a visceral public reaction—that I
would like to reflect on the topic of privacy and the pri-
vacy challenges you are facing in your businesses.

In part, we have arrived at this point in the privacy de-
bate because of the explosion of information technology.
Technological advances have greatly facilitated the col-
lection, dissection, and transfer of vast amounts of per-
sonal data. Information can be sliced, diced and shared
at a level of personal detail that was never before pos-
sible. These new capabilities have turned personal infor-
mation into a marketable commodity, and cause consum-
ers—when they learn about it—to question whether highly
personal medical and financial information should be in
the hands of, and exploited by, third parties.

There are two sides to the commoditization of informa-
tion. Businesses, armed with extensive data about indi-
vidual preferences and circumstances, can profit by tai-
loring products and services to maximize their appeal
to consumers. A banker recently told me about his
company’s goal of customizing and individualizing credit
cards to appeal to a market of one. Bankers talk about
the ability to anticipate and satisfy their customers’
changing financial needs over the course of a lifetime. It
is the availability of these opportunities that may well
cement relationships between customers and their fi-
nancial institutions. In short, personal information is a
potent and profitable tool in a company’s portfolio—when
used responsibly.

The pace and magnitude of mergers and affiliations
in the financial services industry fuel the privacy de-
bate. Moreover, Congress is currently considering leg-
islation that would enhance the ability of different types
of financial services companies to affiliate, thereby
increasing the potential for gathering and using per-
sonal financial and medical information about the
company’s customers.

One key rationale for these combinations is that result-
ing companies will be able to “warehouse” data on an
expanded customer pool and “mine” that data to de-
sign an increasing array of targeted and profitable prod-
uct and service offerings. Affiliations among diverse
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sectors of the financial services industry are intended to
create new synergies and opportunities for cross-mar-
keting to customers. Again, this ability is heavily reliant
on sharing and pooling data. The sheer magnitude of
these data warehouses and the sensitivity of the infor-
mation they hold fuels public skepticism and anxiety
about the security and proper uses of such data and
propels Congress to devise safeguards to protect
against its misuse.

That gets us to the heart of the privacy debate—both
the perception and the reality that individuals are losing
control over their personal information. When the infor-
mation is highly sensitive, such as medical and finan-
cial information, consumer concern about who has con-
trol over its disposition is compounded. And that leads
me to the other part of the privacy equation—the
industry’s response.

Curiously, given the importance of information as a valu-
able business asset, the financial services industry has
been more defensive than proactive in its reactions to
date to customer privacy issues. Frankly, I find this some-
what surprising given the virulence of the industry’s op-
position to the proposed “know your customer rule” on
grounds that it would lead to unwarranted intrusions on
customer privacy. The attitude of at least some industry
representatives has been, “Show me the harm, show me
the complaints.” The problem with this attitude is that, in
many instances, individuals may not realize—and have
no way of forcing disclosure of—just how their personal
information is being handled. However, as daylight be-
gins to shine on firms’ practices for handling customers’
personal information, the public appears ready to make a
stink about the shortcomings they see. Any company
that ignores, or fails to understand, the tinderbox of pub-
lic sentiment waiting to ignite on privacy, acts at its peril.

An example comes to mind that the Comptroller spoke
about two weeks ago—the exchange of extensive confi-
dential customer information by a bank and its insur-
ance affiliate to an unaffiliated telemarketer in return for
commissions on sales made by the marketing firm to
bank customers. Imagine how customers reacted when
they learned from press accounts of a lawsuit filed by a
state attorney general that alleged that their trusted fi-
nancial institution had sold their name, address, phone
number, social security number, account number, ac-
count balance, last payment date, occupation, marital
status, and much more, to a telemarketer. A telemarketer.
I’ll tell you how they reacted. They phoned in complaints
in droves. They lined up at the bank to demand an ex-
planation, and in some cases, to close their accounts.

Commendably, senior management of the bank reacted
swiftly. In a newspaper ad directed at its customers the

bank announced, “There is nothing we value more than
the trust you put in us. When that trust is called into
question, it’s something we take very seriously.” The
bank announced that it would end its participation in all
such marketing relationships.

This particular bank learned a very expensive lesson
about respecting customer privacy. I certainly hope that
other financial service providers are learning this same
lesson derivatively, and not waiting to get burned.

I’d like to take a moment to comment on the proliferation
of bank privacy policies. I commend the banking trade
groups for promulgating privacy principles and urging
their members to adapt and adopt such principles. Many,
many banks have heeded the call—more and more
banks are posting privacy policies on their Web sites. It
is essential, however, that these steps be more than
window-dressing. Privacy policies are meaningful only
if they reflect an organizational commitment, are adhered
to, are stated in terms customers can readily understand,
and meet legitimate customer expectations about the
handling of their personal information.

As many of you know, the banking regulators have also
weighed in on this debate. At the OCC, we have been
gently, and perhaps sometimes not so gently, prodding
the industry to get its privacy house in order. We have
issued guidance to the industry in areas such as safe-
guarding customer data from unauthorized release to
unscrupulous information brokers or “pretext callers”
posing as bank customers. Where there are relevant
privacy laws, we have taken steps to encourage banks
to scrupulously adhere to them. Last March, the OCC
issued guidance to national banks about effective prac-
tices for meeting the notice and opt-out requirements
for affiliate information sharing under the Fair Credit Re-
porting Act. Most recently, in May, again through the
issuance of effective practices guidance, we encouraged
banks to establish privacy policies and post them on
their Web sites. We are currently considering mecha-
nisms to ensure that banks maintain adequate proce-
dures and internal controls to enhance compliance with
stated privacy policies.

Pressure on the privacy front is further being exerted by
the states through legislation restricting the uses of cus-
tomer information, and lawsuits, such as the one I noted
that was filed two weeks ago, that also seek to stem the
flow of customer information. Also, Congress presently
has pending many bills concerning the treatment of per-
sonal information—most of which are aimed squarely at
the financial services industry. The evolution of the pri-
vacy debate surrounding consideration of financial ser-
vices modernization legislation reveals what a potent
issue privacy has become.
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In the last Congress, discussions of privacy were at the
periphery of the debate over modernizing the financial
services industry. Privacy legislation affecting the in-
dustry that was either enacted into law, or came close to
passage in the last Congress, was aimed at data secu-
rity—such as curbing identity theft, which is now law, or
punishing pretext callers who obtain confidential infor-
mation from banks under false pretenses. The dynam-
ics have shifted dramatically over the course of this year,
however.

In March, the House Banking Committee had an unex-
pectedly long and vigorous debate over an amendment
offered by a freshman congressman that would have
required banks to notify customers about their informa-
tion-sharing practices with third parties and an opportu-
nity to opt out of the sharing of that information. Mem-
bers reacted viscerally to descriptions of current prac-
tices and the limited reach of existing privacy laws. But,
by the next day, after committee members were “edu-
cated” by the industry, many had set aside their gut
reactions and spoke about operational difficulties and
unknown consequences of increased restrictions on the
transfer of customer information. The amendment failed,
and in its place, the committee adopted an amendment
requiring disclosure of privacy policies.

When the Senate considered S. 900, its financial mod-
ernization bill, in the beginning of May, privacy amend-
ments were generally fended off. A number of pro-pri-
vacy senators announced that the issue should be con-
sidered separate and apart from S. 900. That view largely
prevailed.

But just weeks ago, the issue resonated when the House
Commerce Committee considered H.R. 10. A Commerce
subcommittee adopted a measure mandating that fi-
nancial services companies disclose their information-
sharing practices to their customers. However, by June,
a growing clamor to address existing and potential pri-
vacy abuses resulted in the passage of an amendment
that requires financial services companies to provide
their customers with the opportunity to opt out of all types
of information-sharing arrangements with unaffiliated and
affiliated third parties.

It remains to be seen whether some type of enhanced
privacy protections will be retained in financial modern-
ization legislation as it continues to move through the
Congress. But, it is evident that the marketplace has
already begun to recognize the significance of distinc-
tions in privacy protections afforded consumers. There

is evidence that—when information is available—mar-
ket forces will take privacy issues into account. Just
last week, a large bank announced that it was taking an
“industry-leading” privacy position by ceasing the shar-
ing of customer information with third-party marketers.
In doing so, the bank said that “customer privacy is one
of our highest priorities.”

That brings me to my last point—where do we go from
here? The financial services industry is just beginning
to realize the potential of the Internet and the business
opportunities made available by technology. But these
very developments increase the potential for intrusions
on personal privacy and facilitate the transfer of per-
sonal data. And, as more information about how cus-
tomer information is collected and used becomes avail-
able, market forces increasingly will take privacy con-
sequences into account.

I would offer one suggestion today for how the financial
services industry can approach this challenge. It is not
a solution, but rather an attitude, drawn from Justice
Louis Brandeis’ eloquent description—over 70 years
ago—of the concept of privacy. He called it “the right to
be left alone—the most comprehensive of rights, and
the right most valued by a free people.” These words
capture an issue central to treatment of privacy con-
cerns in the new information age.

Privacy as an individual right implies that to some de-
gree personal and private information about an indi-
vidual is the property of that individual. That also im-
plies that when a customer gives that property to an-
other for one express purpose, he or she is not implic-
itly giving it for whatever other purposes the recipient
may want to use it.

My suggestion is to think of personal information from
your customers’ perspective, as something they feel
belongs to them. In developing and implementing pri-
vacy policies, think about how your customers would
react if you gave them a full description of how much of
their information you collect, what you do with it, whether
you transfer it, whom you transfer it to, and what hap-
pens to it then.

Would you be embarrassed?

Would your customers feel they have been treated fairly?

Structure your privacy policies—and implement them—
accordingly.
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Statement required by 12 USC 250: The views expressed
herein are those of the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency and do not necessarily represent the views of
the President.

Introduction

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I ap-
preciate this opportunity to discuss the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency’s (OCC) role and supervi-
sory approach with respect to subsidiaries of national
banks that are registered broker–dealers, and to review
the NationsSecurities matter. The OCC is the primary
supervisor for national banks. The National Association
of Securities Dealers Regulations, Inc., (NASDR) and
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) are the
primary supervisors for registered broker–dealers, in-
cluding those that are subsidiaries of national banks.
The OCC recognizes that these securities regulators have
primary responsibility for overseeing the operations of
brokerage subsidiaries of national banks and their com-
pliance with comprehensive securities law requirements.

However, because we are responsible for supervising
the parent bank, the OCC also has an interest in—and
responsibilities that pertain to—the activities of bank
subsidiaries. Our approach begins with identifying risks
these activities pose and determining if those risks are
being managed appropriately. Risk may be present, for
example, if the bank and its subsidiary do not have in
place procedures to assure that bank customers receive
full and accurate disclosures about the uninsured sta-
tus and risks of investment products they buy through
the bank’s subsidiary. Failure to do so may injure the
bank’s customers, damage their relationship with the
bank, mar the bank’s reputation, and expose the bank
to liability. We thus fully share the goals of the SEC and
the NASDR to assure fair treatment of customers. We
do not, however, seek to duplicate or intrude into the
responsibilities or activities of the securities regulatory
bodies with respect to registered broker–dealers.

In that regard, we have learned a great deal about effec-
tive regulatory coordination in this area since our efforts
in 1993 and 1994 to establish disclosure and operational
guidance for sales of  investment products on bank pre-
mises. We have learned, for example, that no regulator’s
supervisory interests need be compromised simply be-
cause different regulators have different direct and indi-

rect interests with respect to the same entities. We have
worked hard to coordinate on individual cases as well
as larger policy and regulatory issues with the SEC and
the NASDR.  And we have learned that recognition of
each agency’s respective responsibilities, and effective
interagency coordination, maximizes both safety and
soundness of national banks and investor protection,
and helps securities and bank regulators achieve their
goals.

OCC’s Supervisory Approach

It is in that spirit that I will explain in more detail the OCC’s
current supervisory approach to broker–dealer subsidiar-
ies of national banks, and our particular experiences in
the NationsSecurities matter. As noted at the outset, in
determining our role with respect to broker–dealers that
are subsidiaries of national banks, the OCC has been
mindful of the vital primary supervisory role of the SEC
and the NASDR. One recent industry survey suggests
that 96 percent of the sales force involved with bank-
related investment sales are registered with the NASDR
and are subject fully to regulation as brokers.

Brokerage subsidiaries of national banks must register
with the securities regulators and comply with a com-
prehensive securities law regulatory scheme that offers
significant customer protection, to the same extent as
brokers that are not affiliated with banks. The NASDR
and SEC have primary responsibility for inspecting these
subsidiaries, interpreting and applying securities law and
regulatory standards, and addressing any compliance
concerns. We fully understand the SEC’s interest in
maintaining its primacy in this area, as the SEC has
clearly communicated, and fully support its supervisory
efforts to assure adequate protections for investors.
Accordingly, the OCC defers to the SEC and the NASDR
to conduct inspections, address securities law compli-
ance concerns and generally supervise brokers that are
subsidiaries of banks.

At the same time, due to our responsibilities for the safety
and soundness of national banks, the OCC also has an
interest in the operations of bank subsidiaries. We seek
to assure that the parent bank effectively monitors and
controls risks presented by the subsidiary’s operations.
We focus on the adequacy of policies, procedures, and
risk management systems, and we test and verify to
determine whether those systems work. With respect to

Statement of Julie L. Williams, Chief Counsel, Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency, before the Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee,
U.S. House Committee on Commerce, on regulating bank subsidiaries
and the NationsSecurities example, Washington, D.C., June 25, 1999
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brokerage subsidiaries of banks, we emphasize risk
identification and risk management systems applicable
to a subsidiary’s operations, rather than attempting to
duplicate the work of the SEC or the NASDR by examin-
ing the subsidiary’s daily operations. In the case of a
brokerage subsidiary that operates on bank premises
or effects sales through banks, however, a review of the
bank’s management and control systems for that activ-
ity will inevitably touch on aspects of the operations of
the brokerage subsidiary as well.

If, as a result of our oversight of a bank’s compliance
and risk management systems, the OCC becomes aware
of conduct or activities that raise concerns about secu-
rities law compliance by a brokerage subsidiary or affili-
ate, we would promptly consult with the primary regula-
tor to determine appropriate examination efforts and
supervisory responses by each regulator to the situa-
tion. A recent example of how this functional approach
works involved a national bank brokerage subsidiary
with plans to significantly expand its securities sales
program through the parent bank. OCC examination staff
had concerns with the sales program based on our knowl-
edge of compliance function issues at the bank itself,
and prior SEC inspections.  Accordingly, prior to the
expansion of the bank’s sales program, the OCC invited
the SEC to participate in an examination that reviewed
these sales activities.

Collaborative efforts between examiners on-site and the
local SEC office contributed to the success of the ex-
amination. An SEC examiner participated directly in the
examination and OCC staff met with representatives of
the local SEC office before, during, and at the conclu-
sion of the examination. Since that review, OCC and SEC
examiners have continued to share information and main-
tain communication. Another joint examination is planned
within the next twelve months. Staff from both agencies
found this approach efficient and effective.

The OCC coordinates in other respects with the primary
regulators for brokerage subsidiaries of national banks
because of our related areas of responsibility. In Janu-
ary of l995, the OCC and the other federal financial insti-
tution regulators signed an agreement with the NASDR
relating to sharing information and coordinating efforts.
Shortly thereafter, the OCC exchanged lists of local con-
tacts with the NASDR to facilitate exchanges of informa-
tion and coordination at the local level, where coordina-
tion concerning individual institutions is most effective.
The OCC also coordinates and shares information with
the SEC. As noted above, we have contacted the SEC
when it appears that a substantive issue, subject to
SEC’s jurisdiction, exists with respect to a broker sub-
sidiary of a bank. We also make examination reports
available to the SEC relating to investigations and pro-

vide access to examiner work papers, internal docu-
ments and examination staff. The OCC also has pro-
vided examination staff as witnesses in SEC enforce-
ment actions.

The OCC’s policies on functional oversight of broker-
age subsidiaries are reflected in revisions to the OCC’s
bank examination booklet of the Comptroller’s Hand-
book that have been under way for some time and will
be published shortly in a new examination booklet.
Under these policies, examiners defer to the primary
role of the securities regulators, while reviewing risks
to the bank from the subsidiaries’ operations, in evalu-
ating the composite risk profile of the parent bank. Ex-
aminers are instructed that if they have concerns with
the securities activities of a subsidiary, they should
contact the primary regulator and work with the regula-
tor to obtain necessary information and determine ap-
propriate action. Examiners also are advised to main-
tain communications with the local contacts for the pri-
mary regulators on an ongoing basis to keep abreast
of any developments that could affect the bank. The
booklet also reminds examiners of the OCC’s policy to
refer evidence of potential violations of law that fall
within the jurisdiction of another primary regulator. All
of these steps will enhance information sharing and
coordination between our examination staff and securi-
ties regulators.

In addition to the guidance contained in revisions to the
OCC’s bank examination booklet, OCC bank supervi-
sion staff have held meetings with representatives of
the SEC in Washington, D.C., to identify areas where it
is productive to exchange supervisory information. We
intend to continue this dialogue. The intent of these
meetings is to establish avenues of communication simi-
lar to those that have traditionally existed with other fed-
eral and state bank supervisory agencies.

Development of Consumer Protection
Standards For Securities Sales

As noted at the outset, the OCC and the securities regu-
lators share a common concern that bank customers
understand the risks involved in securities investments
and not mistakenly believe these products are FDIC-
insured or guaranteed by the bank. In July of 1993, the
OCC issued Banking Circular 274, which established
standards for national banks offering mutual funds, an-
nuities and other nondeposit investment products. The
circular stressed that “[b]anks should view customers’
interests as critical to all aspects of their sales pro-
grams.” It directed banks to disclose that securities prod-
ucts are not FDIC-insured, not backed by the bank and
involve investment risks, including possible loss of prin-
cipal. In addition, the circular further directed that banks
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obtain signed statements from customers acknowledg-
ing receipt and understanding of these disclosures. The
circular also addressed program management, physi-
cal separation of securities and depository activities,
advertising, suitability, qualifications and training, and
other consumer protection issues.

Shortly after the issuance of Banking Circular 274, the
OCC worked with the other federal banking regulators
to establish uniform interagency guidance for securi-
ties sales through banks.  In February of 1994, the
agencies issued the “Interagency Statement on Retail
Sales of Nondeposit Investment Products,” which em-
braced the standards from Banking Circular 274 and
provided more detailed guidance on sales programs.
The OCC also issued detailed examination procedures
for examiners on evaluating compliance with the inter-
agency statement. The banking agencies developed
these standards due to the absence—at the time—of
securities regulatory requirements directed at the spe-
cial concerns that arise from sales by registered bro-
ker–dealers through banks.

In 1998, the NASDR adopted its final rule applicable to
broker–dealers governing their securities sales through
banks. The new NASDR standards incorporate many
of the standards in the interagency statement. We ap-
preciate the efforts of the NASDR to coordinate and
establish consistent standards with the banking agen-
cies, and since then, the OCC and the other federal
banking agencies have undertaken a project to codify
the interagency statement standards, in a manner con-
sistent with the NASDR rules. We anticipate our pro-
posal will focus on activities and obligations that ap-
ply directly to banks, and should therefore mesh with
the NASDR rules, which focus on the activities of the
broker–dealer.

OCC Supervisory Efforts Relating to
NationsSecurities

I would now like to turn to the matter of securities sales
abuses involving NationsSecurities in late l993 and
early 1994.

On April 9, l993, the OCC approved a partnership be-
tween a NationsBank subsidiary and Dean Witter named
“NationsSecurities.” It was contemplated that the part-
nership would operate from some NationsBank offices
and would offer securities to bank customers. Before
approving the proposal, the OCC required representa-
tions and imposed enforceable conditions of approval
designed to establish proper management oversight of
and basic customer protection standards for securities
sales effected by the partnership on the premises of, or
otherwise through, NationsBank.

For example, one condition required that the partner-
ship disclose that the products were not FDIC-insured,
were not backed by the bank, and involved investment
risks, including loss of principal. The condition also re-
quired that a signed statement be obtained from cus-
tomers acknowledging receipt and understanding of
these disclosures. Another condition required that the
partnership’s products not be marketed in a manner that
would mislead or deceive consumers as to the prod-
ucts’ uninsured nature and lack of any guarantee by the
bank or the partnership.  Various other disclosure and
operational requirements designed to protect bank cus-
tomers were established in the 12 conditions imposed
on this approval. The OCC approval noted that the part-
nership would be registered as a broker–dealer and sub-
ject to the requirements of the federal securities laws
and “Rules of Fair Practice” of the NASDR. Shortly after
the partnership commenced operations on June 7, l993,
the OCC adopted Banking Circular 274, which imposed
additional consumer protection standards for banks of-
fering securities on bank premises designed to avoid
customer confusion.

On November 1, l993, the OCC commenced an exami-
nation of NationsBank to evaluate the bank’s progress
towards compliance with the conditions in the OCC’s
approval and Banking Circular 274. At that time there
was great interest in the adequacy of disclosures of the
uninsured nature of investment products sold on bank
premises, and the SEC had just issued its “Chubb Let-
ter” addressing the propriety of payment of referral fees
to unregistered employees of financial institutions. Thus,
the examination concentrated on the disclosures being
provided to customers and reviewed the operational
policies and procedures of the bank, particularly with
respect to whether the incentives made available to bank
employees for referring business to the partnership were
appropriate. Our examiners issued an examination re-
port that was critical of compliance efforts in general,
stemming from a lack of coordinated effort by bank
management to achieve compliance. The report found
specific noncompliance with Banking Circular 274 pro-
visions relating to advertising, compliance management,
disclosures and employee compensation.

On reviewing our examination findings, the bank took
corrective actions to address areas criticized by the OCC
and to ensure future compliance with the interagency state-
ment. Bank management’s response commenced during
the examination with the formation of a compliance com-
mittee in January of 1994 to establish a corrective action
response plan. The plan was drafted by February of 1994
and the response was in place by April of 1994.

In late spring and summer of l994, the OCC received
customer and broker complaints about sales abuses
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relating to sales of Term Trusts1 that had occurred be-
tween August and September of 1993 and January and
February of l994. After learning of these complaints, OCC
examination staff immediately began a review, includ-
ing interviewing employees of the bank and
NationsSecurities and doing on-site reviews in the bank’s
Tampa locations. The OCC also met with the SEC and
other regulators and began sharing information regard-
ing their work and their findings. At roughly the same
time, our on-site examination staff conducted additional
inquiries regarding the sales practices at issue and
planned and organized an intensive examination of the
bank’s nondeposit investment products sales practices.2

This exam formally began in January of 1995, using resi-
dent examiners and a cadre of expert examiners brought
in from other parts of the country. During that examina-
tion, OCC examination staff advised the bank of major
deficiencies in the customer suitability and product se-
lection process. Between May and September of 1995,
at the direction of the OCC, the bank and
NationsSecurities responded to OCC concerns and took
actions to correct the customer suitability and product
selection deficiencies.

On July 24, l996, the OCC commenced another exami-
nation of NationsBank’s retail sales program. Following
that exam, our examiners confirmed that corrective ac-
tion had been taken to resolve concerns identified in the
l995 examination and noted no instances of noncompli-
ance with the interagency statement.

The OCC, SEC, and NASDR Coordinated their
Efforts Along Functional Lines of Regulation

The OCC and securities regulators pursued our exami-
nation and investigation reviews and enforcement ac-
tions consistent with our functional lines of regulation.
The SEC primarily investigated potential violations of
securities laws by NationsSecurities and the bank, while
the OCC focused on the bank’s compliance with bank-
ing laws and standards applicable to the bank that were
relevant to customer protection.

On learning of the sales practice abuses, the OCC and
SEC staff consulted with one another and exchanged
formal requests for access to each other’s documents.

The OCC provided the SEC access to our examination
information and set up meetings between OCC exami-
nation staff and SEC investigators, which occurred in
August of 1994.

In September of l994, the SEC opened a formal Order of
Investigation. Subsequently, the SEC would be conduct-
ing an in-depth investigation, including depositions of
customers, and would share information from the inves-
tigation with the OCC. The SEC shared with the OCC
information gathered from its investigation. The OCC also
shared with the SEC our examination reports, work pa-
pers, and other internal information relating to the secu-
rities sales programs.

During the negotiation of settlement actions, the OCC,
the SEC, and the NASDR effectively coordinated their
respective enforcement efforts and announced the settle-
ments together on the same date. At a joint press confer-
ence, the agencies expressed appreciation for each other’s
coordination and cooperation in these enforcement en-
deavors. The agencies’ final enforcement actions reflect
a functional regulation approach. The OCC brought an
action against the bank based on the bank’s failure to
comply with the OCC’s condition requiring that the bank
assure that securities products not be marketed in a
manner that would mislead or deceive bank consumers
as to the products’ uninsured nature and lack of any guar-
anty by the bank. Through the bank’s noncompliance with
this condition, the bank failed to adhere to the OCC’s
standards on retail nondeposit investment sales contained
in Banking Circular 274. The OCC assessed a civil money
penalty of $750,000 against the bank for this violation.
The OCC also suspended from engaging in bank securi-
ties activities and assessed a penalty against a bank
employee who had been involved in the sales practice
abuses and entered into agreements with two other indi-
viduals to prevent them from engaging in securities ac-
tivities within banks during the period they had been sus-
pended by the NASDR. In addition, the SEC assessed a
$4 million penalty and the NASDR assessed a $2 million
penalty against NationsSecurities for securities law viola-
tions. The SEC also entered into a consent order with the
bank in which it agreed to cease and desist from causing
or engaging in violations of certain securities law provi-
sions. The NASDR also fined and suspended three indi-
viduals based on violations of the federal securities laws
falling within their jurisdiction. The agencies relied upon
information developed by each other in completing their
respective enforcement actions.

Legislative Proposals Affecting the Bank
Regulators’ Role

In closing, I would like to briefly note a development
that could impair much of the progress that has been

1 The 2003 and 2004 Term Trusts were two closed-end invest-
ment companies that were sold by NationsSecurities and other
broker–dealers.

2 In November of 1994, NationsBank bought out Dean Witter’s
interest in NationsSecurities. We were informed by the bank that it
made these structural changes to assure greater control over
securities sales through the bank and compliance with regulatory
standards and to facilitate corrections of the kinds of problems
experienced with the sales of the Term Trusts.
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made in recent years in coordination between bank regu-
lators and securities regulators who are working toward
that common goal of fair treatment of customers. The
current system of functional regulation involves different
regulators on the lookout—from their different perspec-
tives—for customer concerns arising from securities sales
through banks. We are concerned that H.R. 10 could di-
minish these safeguards. Under Section 117, the ability
of a bank or thrift regulator to seek information from, or
examine, a functionally regulated bank affiliate or sub-
sidiary, would be severely limited. As a practical matter,
this could preclude a bank regulator from promptly tak-
ing reasonable steps to verify the existence of informa-
tion relevant to a potential problem that would warrant a
contact with the appropriate functional regulator.

We would respectfully suggest that setting a framework
for cooperation and coordination between, rather than
segregation of, regulators would be preferable and would
enhance both investor protection and the safety and
soundness of all types of financial institutions that have
functionally regulated affiliates and subsidiaries.

Conclusion

We appreciate this opportunity to explain to the sub-
committee the OCC’s role with respect to brokerage sub-
sidiaries of banks and our coordination with their pri-
mary regulators, and hope you will find this information
useful in your oversight activities. I would be pleased to
answer any questions you have.
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Statement required by 12 USC 250: The views expressed
herein are those of the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency and do not necessarily represent the views of
the President.

Introduction

Chairwoman Roukema and members of the subcommit-
tee, I am Wayne Rushton, the senior deputy comptroller
for Bank Supervision Policy. I have been a national bank
examiner for 34 years, and I appreciate this opportunity
to present the testimony of the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency (OCC) on the important issues associ-
ated with the allowance for loan and lease losses (loan
loss reserves).

History has shown repeatedly that loan losses are diffi-
cult to accurately measure before they become obvi-
ous. Nonetheless, the procedures banks employ to es-
timate loan losses are critical to their health. Loan losses
that exhausted a bank’s reserve, and ultimately wiped
out equity capital, have been the primary cause of al-
most all bank failures. For that reason, it is critical that
any external actions that could have the effect of caus-
ing banks to lower their reserves receive close scrutiny.

The OCC does not believe there is a widespread prob-
lem with inflated loan loss reserves. Bank examiners
and public accountants who regularly review financial
institutions’ reserves have not reported such problems.
Moreover, we are especially concerned that the current
debate on the treatment of reserves occurs at a time
when the risk of loss in many bank loan portfolios is
increasing.

The SEC’s primary mandate of investor protection and
the banking agencies’ primary mandate of safety and
soundness are not in conflict. Indeed, conservative re-
serve practices that protect a bank’s capital also pro-
tect investors. The best antidote for concerns about the
possible misuse of loan loss reserves is clear and con-
sistent guidance by all the agencies on process, docu-
mentation, and disclosure.

My testimony today begins with an overview of the prac-
tical application of loan loss reserves, followed by a brief
discussion of how OCC examiners assess the reserving
policies and practices of national banks. I will then re-
spond to the questions posed in your letter of invitation.

The Role of Loan Loss Reserves

Loan loss reserves play a critical role in the health of the
banking system. Simply stated, a bank’s reserve should
represent the best estimate its management can make
of how much money the bank will lose on the loans it
has made. A bank creates and replenishes its reserve
by charging a loan loss provision expense against in-
come and setting that amount aside in a separate ac-
count on the bank’s books. The reserve does not count
as part of the bank’s equity capital, and the bank may
use it only for the purpose of absorbing loan losses.1

When a bank charges off a bad loan, it makes the charge
against the reserve. Periodically, but not less frequently
than quarterly, each bank must reassess whether the
amount remaining in its reserve is appropriate, given
the amount of estimated losses inherent in its remaining
loans. A wide range of factors comes into play in that
analysis, including economic trends and other environ-
mental influences. If the reserve is found to be too small,
then the bank must increase its provision—the amount
it takes out of earnings—to restore the reserve to an
appropriate amount. If, on the other hand, the reserve
exceeds the amount of estimated losses, the bank must
decrease its provision.

It is fair to say that the bank and thrift failures of the
1980s and early 1990s are still fresh in the minds of
most bankers. As a result, most of them have tilted to-
ward maintaining healthy reserves to provide a margin
for error in their estimates of loan losses. Indeed, the
bank regulators have consistently encouraged them to
do so. For example, when I began my present assign-
ment two years ago, one of my first actions was to send
a letter to every national bank’s chief executive officer
to remind them of the need for capital and reserves com-
mensurate with their risks.

This does not mean, however, that banks should build
their reserves to levels that are beyond the amount they
can reasonably justify or that they should engage in pure
speculation about losses that could possibly material-
ize in the future. Nor should they in any way manipulate
their reserves to achieve some predetermined path for
earnings or otherwise deceive investors or regulators.

Statement of Emory W. Rushton, Senior Deputy Comptroller for Bank
Supervision Policy, before the Financial Institutions and Consumer
Credit Subcommittee, U.S. House Committee on Banking and Financial
Services, on loan loss reserves, Washington, D.C., June 16, 1999

1 See 12 CFR Part 3, Appendix A, section 2(b)(1).
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The OCC, through its examination processes and its writ-
ten guidance, has emphasized the need for national banks
to maintain appropriate levels of loan loss reserves.

The OCC’s Assessment of National Banks’
Loan Loss Reserves

Lending remains one of the riskiest businesses that
banks conduct. Therefore, the evaluation of credit risk
receives a very high priority in our examinations. Our
general examiner staff is bolstered by a cadre of credit
specialists who maintain state-of-the-art knowledge and
skills in analyzing particular forms of lending. Our staff
of Ph.D. economists provides macro-analyses of major
borrowing industries and collaborates with our examin-
ers in the use of a variety of computer-assisted models
designed to predict the risk of default and loss in loans.

At the largest national banks, we have on-site teams of
full-time credit experts who track loan quality and trends
on a real-time basis so that our assessments of credit
quality are predictive as well as historical. At smaller
national banks, examiners typically assess the reserve
on-site at least once every 12 to 18 months, depending
on the bank’s size and risk profile. We supplement this
with interim off-site analyses of reported data and
through telephone contact with bank management.

Our examinations include a review of a bank’s internal
loan reports and the work of outside auditors. Importantly,
however, we also perform independent testing procedures
to determine the adequacy of reserves. We dig into the
loan files, analyze financial statements, check loan cov-
enants, and evaluate collateral. We also evaluate the
bank’s loan loss reserve methodologies and the quality
of the documentation of its reserves. This comprehen-
sive approach enables us to make an independent judg-
ment about a bank’s exposure to losses and the adequacy
of its reserves. If we find that a bank is significantly over-
or under-reserved, or that it lacks adequate documenta-
tion, we require the bank to take corrective action.

Based on those direct assessments� our opinion is that
national banks, as a group, are not materially over- or
under-reserved. That is why we are so concerned about
any government action that might have the effect, albeit
unintended, of applying general downward pressure on
bank reserves.

Madam Chairwoman, I will now turn to the questions
posed in your letter of June 8, 1999.

Responses to Questions

1. Federal law requires that financial statements to be
filed by banks with the federal bank agencies must be

in compliance with GAAP. Some have suggested that in
the area of loan loss reserves the federal banking agen-
cies apply regulatory accounting principles (RAP) to
banks and thrifts, which are less stringent than GAAP.
Please discuss what accounting standards the federal
banking agencies apply to financial institutions, and if it
is GAAP, the process by which the federal banking agen-
cies interpret and apply GAAP.

The federal banking agencies require all institutions to fol-
low generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), in-
cluding the provisions of GAAP applicable to loan loss
reserves. Interpretations of GAAP are provided by the OCC’s
chief accountant’s office. All of the accountants on its staff
are certified public accountants (CPAs) and intimately knowl-
edgeable with all aspects of GAAP affecting banks. For
interpretations of GAAP on areas in which GAAP is not
definitive, the chief accountant’s staff frequently consults
with the staffs of the other banking agencies, the SEC, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), and the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).
This consultation helps to ensure consistent GAAP appli-
cation among all federal government agencies that have a
regulatory role over the banking industry.

GAAP is applied through both the reporting and exami-
nation processes. Banks are required to file quarterly
and annual financial reports (call reports) prepared in
accordance with GAAP. The call report instructions pro-
vide a summary of the more significant GAAP standards
affecting banks.

During bank examinations, examiners seek to ensure the
accuracy of those financial reports. Our examining staff
includes a number of CPAs, and we provide accounting
guidance for all examiners. For example, the “Allowance
for Loan and Lease Losses” booklet (June 1996) of the
Comptroller’s Handbook specifically emphasizes the im-
portance of understanding the guidance in the Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114 (SFAS No. 114)
as a prerequisite to any discussion about the allowance
determination process. Furthermore, the Federal Finan-
cial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) call report
instructions and the “Interagency Policy Statement on the
Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses” also provide guid-
ance that is consistent with GAAP.

2. Please discuss how frequently examiners review a
financial institution’s loan loss reserves. In reviewing loan
loss reserves do the federal banking agencies compare
loan loss reserves to financial institutions in the same
peer group as well as local and regional economic trends?

OCC examiners review and determine the adequacy
of the reserve in conjunction with every full-scope on-
site examination. This occurs at least once every 18
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months for the smallest, lowest-risk national banks,
and annually for all others. Examiners conduct more
frequent reviews of the reserve, if deemed necessary,
based on the level and direction of a bank’s credit
risk, and the quality and effectiveness of its credit
risk management.

During their on-site reviews, examiners consider the fol-
lowing factors:

• The quality of bank underwriting standards and
risk selection criteria;

• Product risk (high loan-to-value lending, leveraged
finance, etc.);

• Portfolio composition, including concentrations and
correlations among portfolio exposures;

• Loan growth rates;

• The quality and effectiveness of risk management
and control processes, such as policymaking, loan
administration, loan review;

• Management integrity, expertise, and risk tolerance
(overall lending culture);

• Historical default and loss rates, including those
experienced through a business cycle; and,

• The bank’s capacity and experience in collecting
loans, such as through workout and/or collateral
liquidation.

In addition to on-site reviews, examiners perform quar-
terly off-site monitoring of the condition of all national
banks using call reports and other submitted financial
information. Depending on the bank’s risk profile, an
examiner may require the bank to submit specific in-
formation about its loan portfolio and credit quality. In
most cases, these reviews will include analyses of
credit risk and reserve levels, and the effect of local
and regional trends on the bank’s credit risk. Any sig-
nificant change in risk levels requires further investiga-
tion by the examiner, which may range from a telephone
call to bank management up to an on-site visit. The
quarterly financial information examiners use includes
bank-specific and peer-bank data on both the reserve
and the loan portfolio. Examiners look for deviations
from the selected peer group(s) that signal the need
for further inquiry or analysis.

In addition to bank financial information and peer data,
examiners also use several analytical tools designed to
identify risk outliers. They apply these analytical tools
systematically to each national bank every quarter and
use comparative financial information and analytical mod-
els to identify banks, and specific risk areas within and

among banks, including the reserve, that may warrant
further investigation.

It is important to point out that this quarterly monitoring
only serves as an interim and analytical tool. It is not a
substitute for on-site examination. The determination of
the adequacy of the reserve requires on-site analysis
and verification of the risks in individual credits as well
as portfolios of credits.

Does the guidance require examiners to review al-
lowances to determine if they are in accordance
with GAAP?

Yes, as noted in my response to Question 1, we train our
examiners to review loan loss reserves consistent with
GAAP requirements. As also noted in that answer, the
Comptroller’s Handbook booklet emphasizes the impor-
tance of understanding the guidance in SFAS No. 114.
In addition, call report instructions and the “Interagency
Policy Statement on the Allowance for Loan and Lease
Losses” provide guidance that is consistent with GAAP.

3. Some have suggested that the federal banking agen-
cies always encourage institutions to increase their re-
serves, whether warranted or not, due to safety and sound-
ness concerns. Please indicate whether this is consistent
with existing examiner guidance.

The OCC does not encourage banks to increase their loan
loss reserves unnecessarily; our guidance to examiners
on this subject is clear. Within the context of the OCC’s
responsibility to ensure the safety and soundness of the
national banking system and consistent with GAAP, the
OCC requires that a bank’s financial statements accu-
rately reflect its risks. Given the difficulties of measuring
credit risk precisely, the OCC encourages prudence and
conservatism in measuring and reporting such risks.

One of the major examination objectives in the “Allow-
ance for Loan and Lease Losses” booklet of the
Comptroller’s Handbook is “To determine if the process
for determining the appropriate [emphasis added] level
for the allowance is sound, based on reliable informa-
tion, and well documented.” The booklet, published in
June 1996, makes it clear that “appropriate” includes
“determining whether there has been a significant mis-
statement of the operating results and financial condi-
tion of the bank.” It also points out that the allowance
should be neither “inadequate” nor “excessive.” The
section addressing adjustment to the allowance con-
cludes, “If, after considering all available information,
the examiner concludes that the allowance has been
significantly misstated, bank management should be
requested to make the necessary adjustments to bring
the allowance to an appropriate level.” We chose the
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word “appropriate,” instead of the word “adequate,” so
that examiners and bankers would understand that both
“inadequate” and “excessive” levels of the loan loss re-
serve are unacceptable. Examiners are also directed to
ensure that banks have consistent and well-documented
processes for establishing their reserves. Such pro-
cesses and documentation help to prevent decisions to
arbitrarily increase or decrease reserve levels.

More recently, the OCC released Advisory Letter 97–8
(AL 97–8) dated August 6, 1997. The advisory cautioned
national banks about observed diverging trends in credit
risk and reserve levels and advised them to carefully re-
view their reserve methodologies in light of these trends.
The advisory states, in part, that the OCC considers
unallocated reserves to be a prudent way for banks to
recognize the imperfect nature of most estimates of in-
herent loss. But it also cautions that unallocated reserves
“must not be used to obfuscate the determination of overall
allowance adequacy, mask significant deteriorating trends,
or ‘manage’ earnings.” The advisory further states that
“bank management is expected to have a clear and con-
sistent methodology and supporting documentation for
determining an adequate allowance, including the size of
both the allocated and unallocated components. Exam-
iners will work with banks to ensure that flawed method-
ologies are corrected promptly.”

4. Please discuss whether the SEC has consulted with
and coordinated its comments on loan loss reserves with
the Federal Reserve and other federal banking regula-
tors. Please discuss whether you believe consultation
between the SEC and the regulators prior to the SEC
issuing loan loss reserve comments would be workable
and whether prior consultation would promote a more
consistent approach to GAAP.

Although SEC staff occasionally consult with the OCC’s
chief accountant’s staff on accounting issues, the SEC
has not generally done so on issues involving comments
for a specific registrant, particularly regarding the
registrant’s loan loss reserve.

The OCC believes that such consultation would promote
a more consistent approach to GAAP. However, because
of examination timing and other logistical issues, such
consultation, if practiced for all filings, might detract from
the SEC’s ability to ensure that registrants receive timely
reviews of their statements. A more efficient approach
would be for the SEC to consult with bank regulators on
filings when it has significant questions pertaining to a
registrant’s loan loss reserve.

5. Please discuss whether you believe there is a wide-
spread problem with financial institutions inflating their
loan loss reserves outside of what is permitted under GAAP.

The OCC does not believe there is a widespread prob-
lem with inflated loan loss reserves. Bank examiners
and public accountants who regularly review financial
institutions’ reserves have not reported such problems.
To the contrary, the OCC has for the past several years
been concerned about increasing credit risk trends within
bank portfolios. This prompted the OCC to issue Advi-
sory Letter 97–8 in August 1997, which discussed our
concerns with concurrent declining trends in allowance
coverage and increasing portfolio credit risk indicators.

That concern has not abated. Indicators of increasing
credit risk continue to surface. They include relaxed un-
derwriting standards and risk selection standards by
banks (e.g., increasing willingness by banks to lend to
leveraged or subprime borrowers and to extend high
loan-to-value real estate loans to consumers), signifi-
cant loan growth, high and increasing consumer debt
levels, and high consumer loan past due, charge-off and
bankruptcy rates. We believe that this increase in credit
risk may require some banks to increase reserves to
account for expected inherent loss.

6. In the early 1990s several bank holding companies
were sued for securities fraud with respect to arguably
inadequate loan loss reserves. Did you take action against
any of the banks or bank holding companies involved?

During the late 1980s and early 1990s, there were nu-
merous actions brought by both the government and
shareholders against bank holding companies concern-
ing public statements by such companies about the
adequacy of their loan loss reserves. With respect to
companies with significant national bank subsidiaries,
the OCC had a key role in those actions, involving both
formal and informal actions.

Many of those actions had certain procedural similarities.
The precipitating event in those cases was an OCC on-
site examination that identified deficiencies in the bank’s
allowance levels and methodologies. At the conclusion
of the examination, the OCC required the bank to provide
a significant additional allowance provision, make funda-
mental changes to the reserve process, and institute in-
dependent loan review programs and/or other similar en-
hancements. In many cases, the OCC also brought for-
mal enforcement action against the institution, including
requiring a restatement of relevant call reports.

In many of the cases referenced above, the SEC fol-
lowed up the OCC’s actions with enforcement actions of
its own. Leveraging off of the OCC’s supervisory and
enforcement actions, and relying on OCC documents
and OCC examiners as experts, the SEC commenced
enforcement proceedings against the bank’s parent hold-
ing company under section 15 of the Securities Exchange
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Act of 1934. The fundamental allegation in those pro-
ceedings was that the understatement of the loan loss
reserve resulted in an overstatement of the company’s
net income. For an example of a typical enforcement
proceeding, see In the Matter of Texas Commerce
Bancshares, Inc., Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Re-
lease No. 34–24803 (August 17, 1987). In the late 1980s
and early 1990s, the OCC referred or otherwise provided
information to the SEC on over 40 similar cases involv-
ing inadequate allowances.

7. In response to the problems of the early 1990s, did
the SEC meet and work with the federal banking agen-
cies on loan loss reserves?

In developing new accounting guidance, the OCC rou-
tinely consults not only with the other federal banking
agencies, but others as well with expert accounting knowl-
edge such as the SEC, FASB, and AICPA.

a. Did the SEC review or have input into the 1993
Interagency Statement on loan loss reserves? Please
comment generally on how bank loan loss reserve
practices have changed since 1993.

Yes, the consultation process on the 1993 interagency
statement on loan loss reserves included seeking the
SEC ’s review and comments. The SEC ’s chief
accountant’s office reviewed the draft interagency state-
ment and provided a number of comments and sugges-
tions. These comments were an important contribution
to the final interagency statement.

Reserve techniques have continually improved and be-
come more sophisticated since the late 1980s, partially
as a consequence of the lessons learned from bank fail-
ures caused by under-estimated loan losses. For ex-
ample, during the period since 1993, the number of in-
stitutions using analytical tools such as stress testing,
concentration and correlation analysis, and other similar
devices in the management of credit risk has grown.
Banks often use these tools to assist in the develop-
ment of a bank’s loan loss reserve. While use of these
tools does not eliminate the inherent imprecision in the
allowance process, the tools provide valuable prospec-
tive information upon which to apply sound judgment
consistent with both safety and soundness and GAAP.

b. Please describe how the SEC and federal bank-
ing agencies communicated and coordinated on the
loan loss reserve accounting between 1993 and
November of 1998.

As stated above, the banking agencies endeavored to
ensure that the 1993 interagency statement on loan loss
reserves was consistent with GAAP by seeking the SEC’s

views, as well as others’. During the intervening time pe-
riod from 1993 until early 1998, the OCC and SEC staffs
had only a few discussions on loan loss reserve issues.
This was due in part to a lack of problem loan situations
and few questions involving the loan loss reserve.

The OCC issued AL 97–8 in August 1997 on the allow-
ance for loan and lease losses to address questions
resulting from examination observations. Because AL
97–8 focused on supervisory issues, we did not consult
with the SEC.

Within the last year, the OCC and SEC have also discussed
loan loss reserves relating to the year-2000 issue.

c. In November of 1998 and March of 1999 the agen-
cies issued interagency statements on the loan loss
reserve issue. Please discuss these statements and
how the coordination provided for in these state-
ments is working.

Both the November 1998 and March 1999 issuances em-
phasized ongoing cooperative relationships among the
federal banking agencies and the SEC (collectively, “the
agencies”) and a commitment to work with the account-
ing profession and standard setters, and with the bank-
ing industry. The March 1999 issuance also went some-
what further by establishing two joint SEC/banking agency
working groups to provide additional guidance on the al-
lowance with respect to financial statement disclosure
and best practices for loan loss reserve documentation.

Both the November and March issuances were intended
to provide a consistent message on the level, documen-
tation, and disclosure of the allowance for loan losses.
Recently, however, the SEC determined that institutions
could use a “change in accounting principle” mechanism
(“transition adjustment”) to adjust their loan loss reserve
in light of an April 12, 1999, FASB Viewpoints article. Al-
though many bankers and accountants viewed this as
reflecting an expectation that banks should make signifi-
cant reductions in reserves, SEC Chairman Levitt on May
19 strongly stated that it was not the SEC’s intention to
promote widespread reductions in levels of reserves.

The November and March statements have established
clear points of agreement among the agencies on im-
portant aspects of reserve practices. For example, all
have agreed that:

• Arriving at an appropriate allowance involves a high
degree of management judgment and results in a
range of estimated losses;

• Prudent, conservative, but not excessive loan loss
allowances that fall within an acceptable range of
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estimated losses are appropriate. In accordance
with GAAP, an institution should record its best
estimate within the range of credit losses, includ-
ing when management’s best estimate is at the
high end of the range;

• The process for determining the allowance for loan
losses is inevitably imprecise, and an appropriate
allowance falls within a range of estimated losses;

• An “unallocated” loan loss allowance is appropri-
ate if it reflects an estimate of probable losses,
determined in accordance with GAAP, and is prop-
erly supported;

• Allowance estimates should be based on a com-
prehensive, well-documented, and consistently
applied analysis of the loan portfolio; and

• The loan loss allowance should take into consider-
ation all available information existing as of the
financial statement date, including environmental
factors such as industry, geographical, economic,
and political factors.

Further, interagency efforts are ongoing to provide the
banking industry and accounting profession with en-
hanced guidance on appropriate methodologies, dis-
closures, and supporting documentation for loan loss
allowances. The agencies, in cooperation with the AICPA
Allowance for Loan Loss Task Force, will continue ef-
forts to clarify several aspects of GAAP related to the
allowance. In addition, the agencies will continue to seek
input and guidance from the banking industry and ac-
counting profession in all of these efforts.

8. The FASB issued Statement No. 114 in 1993. This
statement was supposed to supplement FASB Statement
No. 5. Did the SEC, federal banking agencies, and FASB
work on Statement No. 114 together?

Yes. The OCC has an excellent working relationship with
the FASB. OCC staff, along with representatives from
the other federal banking agencies, meet quarterly with
the staff of the FASB. Also, the OCC’s accounting staff
frequently consults with the FASB staff on banking mat-
ters, and the OCC’s chief accountant has served on the
FASB’s Financial Instruments Task Force.

During the development of SFAS No. 114, the OCC pro-
vided its comments and concerns to the FASB sepa-
rately and in joint efforts with the other federal banking
agencies. Further, OCC accounting representatives in-
formally discussed these issues with members of the
SEC’s chief accountant’s staff.

As a result of this process and the comments of other
parties, the FASB delayed the effective date of SFAS

No. 114. The FASB also amended the standard with the
issuance of SFAS No. 118. This allowed the banking
industry sufficient time to implement the changes re-
sulting from the new standards, which were responsive
to many concerns and comments of the industry and
bank regulators.

9. Please discuss your understanding of the issues which
the AICPA Task Force on Loan Loss Reserves is intended
to address.

The AICPA recently formed the Allowance for Loan Loss
Task Force (“task force”) to help clarify and provide ad-
ditional accounting guidance on accounting for loan
losses. Although the task force may recommend
changes to existing accounting standards to the FASB,
it is only permitted to interpret these standards and pro-
vide implementation guidance. Any proposed interpre-
tations and guidance developed will be submitted for
public comment and are subject to a review and no ob-
jection by the FASB. Upon completion of this comment
and approval process, the interpretations and guidance
formally become part of GAAP.

The OCC is very familiar with the issues that the AICPA
Allowance for Loan Loss Task Force plans to address.
The OCC’s chief accountant is a member of the task
force, serving as the federal banking agencies’ repre-
sentative. The task force is currently finalizing the scope
of issues it expects to address and the additional loan
loss allowance guidance it intends to develop.

The task force recognizes that there are numerous is-
sues that need to be addressed because current guid-
ance on accounting for loan losses appears to lack the
degree of clarity and specificity that is needed to en-
sure that it is consistently applied. One of the major
issues the task force intends to provide guidance on is
how to differentiate a current loss from a future loss.
This is an important and difficult issue because GAAP
presently only allows a loan loss reserve for a current
loss even though the accuracy of the loss estimate will
not be known until sometime in the future. Furthermore,
SFAS No. 114 requires that a bank estimate “future” cash
flows in assessing whether a loan is impaired and the
amount of a loan loss reserve that should be provided.
Much of the confusion today revolves around this issue,
and additional guidance is clearly needed to assist banks
in developing loan loss reserves consistent with GAAP.

Other issues the task force may address include funda-
mental questions such as how a creditor should deter-
mine that it is probable it will be unable to collect the full
amount of the loan and how various credit risk models
may be used within the context of GAAP. Additionally, a
number of measurement questions will be addressed,
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including providing guidance on how current trends, fu-
ture events, and economic conditions should be consid-
ered in the measurement of loan losses. The task force
may also provide additional guidance on disclosure and
documentation requirements in cooperation with the work
being done jointly with the SEC and banking agencies.

It is obvious the task force will have a full agenda, but
also a very important task in achieving both a better
understanding of GAAP requirements and consistent
application in the banking industry. Consequently, we
believe banks generally should not make fundamental
changes to their processes for determining loan loss
reserve adequacy until this guidance and interpretations
are available for implementation.

10. The federal banking agencies closely monitor eco-
nomic trends on a regional, national, and international
basis. Please discuss whether you believe that financial
institutions should be permitted to establish loan loss
reserves for expected future losses based on local or
regional market conditions or expected trends.

The line between probable losses presently inherent in
the portfolio (current GAAP standards) and expected
future losses is difficult to draw since both rely on esti-
mates about the future. As noted in my response to
Question 9, this is one of the issues that the AICPA
Allowance Task Force will be addressing.

The OCC strongly believes that banks must include an
assessment of local and regional market conditions and
trends as well as any other factors that affect credit
quality in establishing and maintaining their loan loss
reserves. We believe such an approach is consistent
with and integral to sound contemporary credit risk mea-
surement and management practices. It is also con-
sistent with our interpretation and application of GAAP.

By its very nature, lending involves an assumption of risk
of future losses. Loans are not repaid by historical cash
flows or collateral. While the borrower’s financial and re-
payment history are important elements of any lending or
reserving decision, the expectation that the borrower will
have the capacity to repay the loan, when due, must be
based on careful analysis of the borrower’s future busi-
ness and cash generation prospects, as well as the
amount, quality, and liquidity of any collateral pledged.
In other words, the repayment of a loan made today can
only be based on the expectation that the borrower will
perform over the term of the loan going forward.

Both bankers and regulators like to think that we learn
from our mistakes. And we have both made mistakes in
the past. That includes establishing (or accepting) re-
serves overly dependent on historical performance and
ignoring current information that signals the probability
of higher loss levels in the future.

11. In connection with the Viewpoints article, the SEC
indicated that “transition adjustments” for loan reserves
should be made prior to the end of the second quarter.
Please discuss whether you expect many financial insti-
tutions to take advantage of this one-time opportunity.

Although we do not know how many banks will take ad-
vantage of this “one-time opportunity” to make a transi-
tion adjustment, we do know that there is continuing
confusion in the industry on this issue. Let me elaborate
by recounting some history.

Beginning last fall, many bankers and the bank regula-
tors became concerned when the SEC required a large
banking company to restate its loan loss reserves in
connection with an acquisition. To allay those fears, the
banking agencies and the SEC in November 1998 is-
sued an interagency agreement in which we pledged to
work together to develop joint prospective guidance on
reserving practices. Unfortunately, the apprehension
continued, so in March 1999, the banking agencies and
the SEC entered into another interagency agreement,
which, among other things, created two working groups
to address issues regarding reserving practices of
banks.

After FASB staff issued a Viewpoints article interpreting
SFAS Nos. 114 and 5, the SEC announced that banks
that had previously misinterpreted GAAP, as expressed
in the article, had until the end of the second quarter of
this year to make an adjustment to their reserves. Com-
ments received from banks we supervise indicated to
us that this announcement reflected an expectation that
significant reductions in reserves were expected. The
chairman of the SEC subsequently made a strong pub-
lic statement that it was not the SEC’s intention to bring
about widespread reductions in reserves.

That’s where we are today. We continue to work with the
other agencies in an effort to reach common ground and
to develop clarifying guidance. We have also urged na-
tional banks to consult with us if they are considering
reducing their reserves in light of the current uncertainty
regarding the SEC’s application of GAAP.
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Interpretive Letters

857—December 4, 1998

12 USC 3103(a)7

12 USC 3103(a)1

12 USC 1831(u)

Dear [      ]:

This letter responds to your inquiry requesting the views
of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) on
whether the interstate branching provisions of the Inter-
national Banking Act (IBA) permit a foreign bank, such as
[      ] (“bank”), to establish an interstate federal branch or
agency in Florida. Currently, the bank operates a federal
branch in [State].

It is the view of the OCC that, pursuant to 12 USC
3103(a)(7), the IBA permits a foreign bank, whose home
state is not Florida, to establish an interstate limited fed-
eral branch or a federal agency in Florida. Additionally,
pursuant to 12 USC 3103(a)(1) and 1831u, the IBA may
permit a foreign bank to establish an interstate federal
branch or federal agency where such office results from a
merger.

1. Pre-Riegle–Neal1 Interstate Authority
under 12 USC 3103(a)(7)

The IBA, at 12 USC 3103(a)(7), restates the limited inter-
state branching authority for foreign banks that existed
prior to the enactment of Riegle–Neal. This provision now
reads as follows:

Notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (2), a foreign bank
may, with the approval of the Board and the Comptrol-
ler of the Currency, establish and operate a Federal
branch or Federal agency or, with the approval of the
Board and the appropriate State bank supervisor, a
State branch or State agency in any State outside the
foreign bank’s home State if—

(A) the establishment and operation of a branch or
agency is expressly permitted by the State in which
the branch or agency is to be established; and

(B) in the case of a Federal or State branch, the branch
receives only such deposits as would be permissible

for a corporation organized under section 25A of the
Federal Reserve Act [12 USC A. 611 et seq.].

12 USC 3103(a)(7)(1996).2 In other words, the statute per-
mits a foreign bank to establish an interstate branch or
agency in Florida if: (a) Florida expressly permits such
branches or agencies; and (b) the branch’s deposit-tak-
ing activities were limited in the same manner as that of
an Edge Act corporation. An analysis of the relevant stat-
utes demonstrates that, in the case of Florida, these con-
ditions are met. Therefore, we conclude that the IBA per-
mits a foreign bank to establish an interstate federal
agency or a limited federal branch in Florida pursuant to
12 USC 3103(a)(7).

Florida law provides that foreign banks may establish “in-
ternational bank agencies” in Florida.3 However, the broad
powers given to Florida’s international bank agencies in-
dicate that, in practice, Florida permits its “agencies” to
engage in activities that, for the purposes of the IBA, would
constitute “branches” (despite their designation as “agen-
cies” under state law). Specifically, state-licensed inter-
national bank agencies in Florida are permitted to accept
a number of types of deposits, such as those from non-
resident U.S. citizens: “An international bank agency may
not receive deposits in this state except: (a) Deposits from
nonresident entities or persons whose principal places of
business or domicile are outside the United States. . . .”
Fla. Stat. ch. 663.061 (1996) (emphasis added).

Thus, Florida permits its “agencies” to receive deposits
from U.S. citizens not residing in the United States. The
IBA, on the other hand, defines and limits a foreign bank
“agency” operation to mean “ . . . any office or any place
of business of a foreign bank located in any State of the
United States at which credit balances are maintained in-
cidental to or arising out of the exercise of banking pow-
ers, checks are paid, or money is lent but at which depos-
its may not be accepted from citizens or residents of the
United States.” 12 USC 3101(1) (emphasis added). A
branch, on the other hand, is defined as “any office or
place of business of a foreign bank located in any State of
the United States at which deposits are received.” 12 USC
3101(3).

2 Under the plain language of the IBA it appears that the estab-
lishment of interstate federal branches in a state is permitted if the
state permits the establishment of either a branch or an agency.
However, this letter does not rely on that theory since, as discussed
below, we have determined that under Florida law the establish-
ment of an interstate limited branch is permitted.

3 See, e.g., Fla. Stat. ch. 663.06 (1996) (Licenses; permissible
activities), added by 1992 Fla. Laws ch. 92–303, § 160 (effective
July 3, 1992).

1 The Riegle–Neal Interstate Banking and Branching Efficiency Act
of 1994, Pub. L. No. 103–328, 108 Stat. 2338 (enacted September
29, 1994) (“Riegle–Neal”).
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Consequently, because Florida allows its state-licensed
“international bank agencies” to accept deposits from U.S.
citizens, beyond those permitted to “agencies” in the IBA,
those Florida-licensed organizations may be regarded, for
the purposes of the IBA, as “branches.” In other words,
for the purposes of the IBA, Florida allows the establish-
ment of both interstate branches and agencies, and the
first criterion of 12 USC 3103(a)(7) is thus satisfied.4

To meet the second criterion of section 3103(a)(7), a fed-
eral branch may only receive such deposits that are per-
missible for an Edge Act corporation. 12 USC
3103(a)(7)(B). By definition, the deposit-taking activities
of a “limited federal branch” are restricted in this manner.
12 CFR 28.11(t). Thus, the Comptroller may approve an
application by a foreign bank to establish an interstate
limited federal branch in Florida.5

2. Post-Riegle–Neal Interstate Authority
under 12 USC 1831u

The Riegle–Neal Interstate Banking and Branching Effi-
ciency Act of 1994 amended the IBA to provide an addi-
tional basis for interstate operations. As amended by
Riegle–Neal, 12 USC 3103(a)(1) now provides:

Subject to the provisions of this chapter and with the
prior written approval by the Board and the Comptrol-
ler of the Currency of an application, a foreign bank
may establish and operate a Federal branch or agency
in any State outside the home State of such foreign
bank to the extent that the establishment and opera-
tion of such branch would be permitted under section
36(g) of this title or section 1831u of this title if the for-
eign bank were a national bank whose home State is
the same State as the home State of the foreign bank.

12 USC 3103(a)(1).

Thus, under the IBA, 12 USC 3103, there are three differ-
ent statutory bases that authorize a foreign bank to estab-
lish interstate operations: (1) authority under 12 USC 36(g)
(“the McFadden Act”); (2) authority under 12 USC 1831u
(the Federal Deposit Insurance Act or “FDIA”); and as dis-
cussed above, (3) the pre-Riegle–Neal authority under 12
USC 3103(a)(7) for limited interstate operations. Florida
law appears to prohibit de novo branching by out-of-state
banks and, therefore, de novo interstate operations under
12 USC 36(g) are not discussed further in this letter. How-
ever, that statutory authority may be a basis for establish-
ing de novo interstate operations in other states.

Section 1831u of Title 12, United States Code, provides
that, unless a state has enacted legislation to “opt-out”
prior to June 1, 1997, insured banks with different “home
states” may merge, thereby establishing a single bank
with interstate branches. Florida has not “opted-out” of
the Riegle–Neal interstate branching provisions, and in
fact specifically permits the merger of an out-of state in-
sured bank with a Florida bank that has been in existence
for at least three years. The resulting bank may be either
an out-of-state bank with Florida branches, or a Florida
bank with out-of-state branches.

Under section 3103(a)(1), the Riegle–Neal interstate pro-
visions are to be applied to foreign banks “as if the for-
eign bank were a national bank whose home State is the
same State as the home State of the foreign bank.” How-
ever, because the specific application of these provisions
is beyond the scope of your general inquiry, this letter
does not address in detail the extent and circumstances
to which Riegle–Neal provisions and the IBA provide for
interstate operations through mergers of foreign banks.
However, it appears clear that the Riegle–Neal interstate

4 It is well-established that the interpretation of federal statutes,
such as the IBA, is a matter of federal law, even when federal law
contains a reference to a state statute. See, e.g., Chase Manhattan
Bank N.A. v. Finance Administration of City of New York, 440 U.S.
447, 449 (1979); SEC v. Variable Annuity Life Insurance Co., 359
U.S. 65, 69 (1959). The case law has also established that it is
within the Comptroller’s discretionary authority in making licensing
decisions to make his own assessment of a state statute, based
upon the plain language of the statute, rather than be bound by a
state’s interpretation. Cf. Decision of the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency on the Application of First National Bank of Jackson, Jack-
son, Tennessee (April 13, 1990); see also, e.g., Bank of North Shore
v. FDIC, 743 F.2d 1178, 1184 (7th Cir. 1984) (holding that the OCC
has broad authority to interpret state branching laws in the context
of applying the McFadden Act [and by analogy, the IBA’s interstate
branching provisions].) Consequently, in this case, the Comptroller
has the authority to interpret the IBA and Florida law in order to
determine whether Florida permits interstate branches or agencies
of foreign banks, for the purposes of 12 USC 3103(a)(7). Moreover,
the conclusion that the Comptroller may approve an interstate lim-
ited federal branch in Florida, while Florida labels comparable of-
fices “international bank agencies,” is fully consistent with the IBA
and its purpose of creating a federal option for foreign banks in the
United States. In the report to accompany H.R. 10899, the Interna-
tional Banking Act of 1978, Congress explained the policy objec-
tives of the IBA:

The bill incorporates two principal policy objectives. The first
objective is to provide a system of Federal regulation of for-
eign banking activities. . . . The second objective is to provide
to the extent possible for appropriate equal treatment for for-
eign and domestic banks operating in the United States. . . .
While recognizing that current regulation of foreign banks is
in the hands of the States and providing a framework which
will allow this to continue, the bill also provides the option of
Federal chartering.

H.R. Rep. No. 910, 95th Cong., 2nd Session, Discussion, at 5 (1978).

5 Under 12 USC 3103(a)(7), approval would also be required by
the Federal Reserve Board.
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provisions provide an alternative method for foreign banks
to engage in interstate operations, including interstate
entry into Florida.

If you have any questions regarding this letter, please do
not hesitate to call me or Raija Bettauer, Counselor for
International Activities, or Maureen Cooney, Senior Attor-
ney (both at 202–874–0680).

Raymond Natter
Acting Chief Counsel

858—March 17, 1999

12 CFR 1

Re: Philadelphia Authority for Industrial Development Pen-
sion Funding Bonds (City of Philadelphia Retirement Sys-
tem), Series 1999A–1999C

Dear [      ]:

This responds to your letter on behalf of [      ] requesting
that the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC)
conclude that the Philadelphia Authority for Industrial De-
velopment Pension Funding Bonds, Series 1999A -
1999C (Bonds) are Type I investment securities as de-
fined in 12 CFR 1.2(i), and qualify for a 20 percent risk-
weight under the OCC’s risk-based capital regulations.
Based on your representations, and for the reasons dis-
cussed below, we conclude that the Bonds are Type I
investment securities that qualify for a 20 percent risk
weight under those regulations.

Background

The Philadelphia Authority for Industrial Development (Au-
thority) is issuing the Bonds pursuant to, inter alia, the
Municipal Pension Plan Funding Standard and Recovery
Act,1 to fund a portion of the unfunded actuarial accrued
liabilities (Unfunded Liability) for the retirement system of
the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (City). You repre-
sent that the Bonds will be issued and secured under a
Trust Indenture dated January 15, 1999 (Indenture) be-
tween the Authority and [      ], as trustee (Trustee).

The City’s Home Rule Charter and the Pension Plan Act
impose funding and other requirements on the City’s
pensions plans. The Home Rule Charter requires the City

to maintain an actuarially sound pension and retirement
system for all its officers and employees, and to obtain an
annual actuarial valuation and computation of any related
Unfunded Liability.2 The Pension Plan Act requires the City
to budget for and provide minimum annual contributions
to its pension plans, payable from revenues of the City,
that take the Unfunded Liability into consideration.3 The
Pension Plan Act also provides alternatives for reducing
or eliminating the Unfunded Liability (described as “Fund-
ing Alternatives” in the Act).4 The Funding Alternative cho-
sen by the City is a service agreement between the City
and the Authority under which the Authority will provide
financial services to the City, including the funding of all
or a portion of its Unfunded Liability (Service Agreement).5

You represent that the Funding Alternative and the Ser-
vice Agreement were approved by ordinance (Bill No.
980789), and adopted by the City’s City Council on De-
cember 19, 1998.

The Pension Plan Act requires all payments under the Ser-
vice Agreement to be paid in full when due and to be in-
cluded in the City’s annual budget.6 Moreover, the City’s
Home Rule Charter requires the City to appropriate monies
for the amounts due under contracts, like the Service Agree-
ment, in its annual operating budget.7 The City’s Home Rule

1 Act No. 205 of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, approved December 18, 1984 (P.S. 1005) as amended
(Pension Plan Act or Act).

2 53 P.S. § 895.302(d).

3 53 P.S. § 102 and § 404(a).

4 53 P.S. § 202.

5 You represent that the Service Agreement requires the City to
pay amounts sufficient to pay when due, inter alia, the principal or
redemption price of, and interest on, the Bonds. You also represent
that the Service Agreement provides that the City’s obligations are
absolute and unconditional, and are not subject to any set-off or
diminution.

6 53 P.S. §§ 895.302 and 1001. Failure to pay the full amount of the
payment requirements of the Funding Alternative when due, may
be remedied by the institution of legal proceedings for mandamus.
53 P.S. § 1001. Any person beneficially interested, including the
Authority, has standing to institute a legal proceeding for manda-
mus. Id. The Indenture and the Service Agreement purportedly au-
thorize the Trustee to proceed by mandamus to compel the budget-
ing and payment of all amounts due under the Service Agreement.
The Public Employee Retirement Study Commission (Commission)
may also issue an order requiring the City to comply with the Pen-
sion Plan Act. 53 P.S. § 895.307. If the City fails to comply with any
lawful order of the Commission, the Commission may institute legal
proceedings for injunction, mandamus or other appropriate remedy
at law or in equity to enforce compliance with, or restrain violations
of, the Commission’s orders. Id.

7 Under the City’s Home Rule Charter, the City Council may by
ordinance enter into a contract with a duration of more than one
year without making appropriations beyond the current year. Sec-
tion 2-309 of the City’s Home Rule Charter. Those contracts are valid
and binding on the City even though no appropriations have been
made for the ensuing years for which the contract is in operation;
but it is the duty of the City Council to make appropriations from
year to year to pay amounts coming due under those contracts. Id.
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Charter requires the City to balance its budget each year
by raising revenue sufficient to pay all budgeted obliga-
tions.8 As a result, the City is obligated, by reason of the
mandatory inclusion of the Service Agreement obligations
in its annual budget, to raise taxes, if necessary, to make
its payments under the Service Agreement.

You assert that the Bonds are limited obligations of the
Authority, payable from amounts received from the City
pursuant to the Service Agreement. Although the Author-
ity has no taxing power, you represent that the City is ob-
ligated by the Pension Plan Act, the City’s Home Rule
Charter, and the Service Agreement to appropriate mon-
ies from the revenues of the City, including taxes, to sat-
isfy its budget obligations.9

You believe that the Bonds qualify as Type I securities
regardless of the applicable “appropriations clause” in the
City’s Home Rule Charter. You state that, despite the ap-
propriations clause, the City’s obligations under the Ser-
vice Agreement are required to be included in the City’s
budget under the Pension Plan Act and the City’s Charter.
Thus, you argue that Philadelphia’s City Council is legally
required to include those amounts in its budget and to
appropriate sums to pay those amounts, with no discre-
tion to omit the obligation.

You request that the OCC conclude that the Bonds qualify
as a Type I investment securities as defined in 12 CFR
1.2(i)(4), and that they receive a 20 percent risk-weight
under the OCC’s risk based capital guidelines, on the ba-
sis that the Bonds constitute indirect general obligations
of the City.

Applicable Law

A national bank is permitted to “purchase for its own ac-
count investment securities under such limitations and
restrictions as the Comptroller of the Currency may by
regulation prescribe.”10 Section 24(Seventh) states that
the limitations on bank purchases of securities do not
apply to obligations of the United States or general obli-
gations of any State or of any political subdivision of a

State.11 Part 1 of OCC regulations implement the invest-
ment securities provisions of section 24(Seventh).12 Un-
der Part 1, “Type I” investment securities include gen-
eral obligations of a State or any political subdivision.13

A “political subdivision” includes a city.14

General obligations may be supported indirectly by politi-
cal subdivisions with powers of taxation.15 Where an obli-
gor does not have powers of taxation, an obligation may
be supported indirectly by a political subdivision having
those powers and still qualify as a general obligation.16

Accordingly, a general obligation of a political subdivi-
sion includes an obligation payable by an obligor that does
not possess general powers of taxation, when a party
possessing general powers of taxation has uncondition-
ally promised to provide funds to cover all required pay-
ments on the obligation.17 In addition, a political subdivi-
sion that possesses general powers of taxation can indi-
rectly support a general obligation by committing its full
faith and credit in support of the obligation in an agree-
ment in which the political subdivision unconditionally
promises to make payments for services provided by the
issuer of the obligation.18 Finally, a political subdivision
can indirectly support a general obligation where a statu-
tory provision or agreement unconditionally commits the
political subdivision to provide funds sufficient for the timely
payment of interest on, and principal of, the obligation.19

A bond’s status as an indirect general obligation is not
necessarily affected by the existence of an “appropria-
tions clause.” Appropriations clauses generally include
language that states that certain payments, that are statu-
tory or contractual obligations to be made periodically by
a State or political subdivision, require appropriation by a
body such as a legislature or city council.20 A security
that otherwise qualifies as an indirect general obligation

8 Section 2-302 of the City’s Home Rule Charter.

9 The Philadelphia City Council may by ordinance authorize con-
tracts for services to be rendered over a period of more than one
year without making appropriations beyond the current year. The
Council must make subsequent appropriations from year to year to
pay amounts coming due under its contracts. Section 2-309 of the
City’s Home Rule Charter. Such expenditures are to be met out of
annual operating appropriations and thus out of current revenues.
Id.

10 12 USC 24(Seventh)

11 Id.

12 12 CFR Part 1.

13 12 CFR 1.2(i)(4).

14 12 CFR 1.2(h).

15 12 CFR 1.2(b).

16 12 CFR 1.100.

17 12 CFR 1.2(b)(2) and 1.100(a).

18 12 CFR 1.100(b)(2). The payments must be sufficient, together
with any other available funds, for the timely payment of the interest
on, and principal of, the obligation. Id.

19 12 CFR 1.100(b)(4). The payments must be sufficient, together
with any other available funds, for the timely payment of the interest
on, and principal of, the obligation. Id.]

20 OCC Interpretive Letter No. 791 (July 10, 1997) reprinted in [1997
Transfer Binder] Fed. Banking L. Rep. (CCH) ¶ 81-218; OCC Inter-
pretive Letter No. 675 (March 14, 1995) reprinted in [1994-1995
Transfer Binder] Fed. Banking L. Rep. (CCH) ¶ 83,623.
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may be considered supported by the full faith and credit
of a State or political subdivision if the bank determines,
on the basis of past actions by the legislative body or city
council in similar situations involving similar types of
projects, that it is reasonably probable that the obligor will
obtain all necessary appropriations.21

OCC risk-based capital regulations contain four risk
weights for national bank assets and off-balance sheet
items, ranging from zero to 100 percent.22 The 20 percent
risk-weight category includes “claims representing gen-
eral obligations of any public-sector entity in an OECD
country [which includes the U.S.] and that portion of any
claims guaranteed by any such public sector entity.”23 In
the U.S., these obligations must meet the requirements of
12 CFR [1.2(b)].24 In contrast, revenue obligations of a
public-sector entity in an OECD country that are repay-
able “solely from revenues generated by the project fi-
nanced through the issuance of the obligations” receive a
50 percent risk weight.25

Discussion

We conclude that the Bonds qualify as Type I investment
securities and should be subject to a 20-percent risk
weight under Part 3. The City, with general powers of taxa-
tion, indirectly supports the obligation at issue by com-
mitting to provide funds that cover all the required pay-
ments on the Bonds, as Part 1 requires.26 The uncondi-
tional nature of the City’s Home Rule Charter, the Pension
Plan Act and the terms of the Service Agreement, commit
the City to appropriate sufficient revenues to cover ser-
vice on the Bonds. The obligation must be included in the
City’s annual budget and be paid from, if necessary, taxes
imposed by the City pursuant to its taxing power. The Au-
thority, an entity without taxing powers, will service the
Bonds with the funds appropriated by the City.

The existence of the “appropriations clause” in the City’s
Home Rule Charter does not bar the conclusion that the
Bonds are Type I investment securities. The City’s Home
Rule Charter provides that multiple year service contracts
entered into by the City are valid and binding on the City
even though appropriations must be made for the ensuing
years for which the contract is in operation. The City’s Home
Rule Charter requires the City Council to make appropria-
tions from year to year to pay amounts coming due under

the Service Agreement. You represent that those Home Rule
Charter provisions apply not only to the Service Agreement,
but to other agreements between the City and the Author-
ity, the City and Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority,
and the City and the Philadelphia Municipal Authority. You
state that historically, amounts due under those agreements
are appropriated and paid when due and always included
in the City’s operating budgets. Indeed, if the City fails to
make adequate annual appropriations under the Service
Agreement and include the obligations in its annual bud-
get, the obligation can also be enforced by the institution
of legal proceedings by the Commission or by the Author-
ity. Thus, national banks have a reasonable basis for con-
cluding that the City will meet its obligations on the Bonds.

The Bonds meet the requirements of 12 CFR 1.2(b)(2) for
a general obligation of a political subdivision, and there-
fore qualify for a 20 percent risk weight under the OCC’s
risk-based capital regulations. The Bonds are obligations
of a public sector entity in the U.S. since the Authority
constitutes an entity established by the City and the Bonds
ultimately are supported by payment from the City’s gen-
eral revenues.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, and based on your represen-
tations, national banks may purchase the Bonds as Type I
investment securities and treat them as having a 20 per-
cent risk-weight under Part 3. The OCC does not endorse
specific investments and this letter should not be used in
a manner that suggests otherwise. If you have any ques-
tions, please contact me at (202) 874-5210.

Tena M. Alexander
Senior Attorney, Securities and Corporate Practices
Division

859—March 29, 1999

12 USC 24(6)
12 CFR 7.2000

Office of the District Counsel

Northeastern District

1114 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 3900

New York, New York 10036–7780

Dear [      ]:

This responds to your letter, dated February 18, 1999, re-
questing that the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
(“OCC”) not object to the Board of Directors (“Board”) of

21 Id.

22 12 CFR Part 3, Appendix A.

23 Id., at section 3(a)(2)(ix).

24 Id.

25 Id., at 3(a)(3)(i).

26 12 CFR 1.2(b)(2).
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the [      ] (“Bank”), conducting regular meetings of the
Board by means of video teleconference. In your letter,
you suggest that the routine use of video teleconferenc-
ing would be consistent with federal banking law and regu-
lations and with safe and sound banking practices. As
discussed below, the OCC will not object to the Bank’s
proposal.

You indicate that the Board of the Bank has received from
the OCC a waiver of the residency requirements of 12
USC 72 and that the directors, in fact, are located in dif-
ferent states. The different locations of directors result in
difficulties in coordinating the scheduling of meetings and
the attendance of the full Board at all regular meetings.
You suggest permitting the Board to participate at such
meetings by means of video teleconference technology
will enhance each director’s ability to fulfill his statutory
and fiduciary duties by making his attendance and par-
ticipation at meetings more convenient. In addition, use
of video teleconferencing will enable directors to partici-
pate fully and effectively in the meetings with less expen-
diture of time and expense to travel to the Bank’s main
office in Wilmington, Delaware, or to another designated
location.

As you note, federal banking law does not specify the
manner in which a national bank’s Board must conduct its
meetings. The National Bank Act, however, permits a na-
tional bank’s Board “[t]o prescribe bylaws not inconsis-
tent with law regulating the manner . . . its general busi-
ness [is to be] conducted. . . .” 12 USC 24(Sixth). This
authority to adopt by-laws is sufficiently broad to include
the power to adopt procedures governing regular Board
meetings, including the ability to conduct these meetings
by video teleconferencing. You note that the Bank has, in
fact, already adopted in its by-laws the Delaware General
Corporation Law for its corporate governance procedures,
and that this law allows meetings to be conducted by
means of conference telephone or similar communications
equipment.1 You further note that this method of conduct-
ing Board meeting is not inconsistent with federal bank-
ing law. Accordingly, the OCC will not object if the Board
holds its regular meetings by video teleconference.

Jonathan H. Rushdoony

District Counsel

1 8 Del. Code §141(i) (1998). OCC Interpretive Ruling 7.2000(b)
accepts the Delaware General Corporation Law as a source of cor-
porate governance procedures for national banks.

860—April 5, 1999

12 USC 24(6)

50 Fremont Street, Suite 3900

San Francisco, CA 94105

Dear [      ]:

This is in response to your letter on behalf of your client, [
] (ACQ) requesting a no-objection letter from the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) permitting the
Board of Directors of [      ] (NB or “bank”) to hold regular
board meetings by telephone or video conference. Based
on the facts presented in your letter, the OCC does not
object to [NB] conducting board meetings by telephone
or video conference, provided that the Bank amends its
bylaws to provide for telephonic and video telephonic
board meetings.

 [ACQ] is a bank organized under the laws of the [      ]
with its headquarters located in [City, Country]. In [Month,
Year], [ACQ] acquired [NB], a national bank headquar-
tered in [City, State]. The Board of Directors of [NB] now
consists of three Directors who are residents of [State]
and three Directors who are residents of [Country]. Five of
the six Directors are United States citizens, and the OCC
has granted appropriate waivers pursuant to 12 USC 72
for the Director who is not United States citizen and for
the Directors who are not United States residents.

[NB] holds regular Board meetings on a monthly basis at
least 10 times per year. Under the proposal, [ACQ] pro-
poses that regular Board meetings of [NB] be conducted
by telephone or video conference. The three [Country]
residents would ordinarily gather in a single conference
room in [ Country ], and the three [State] residents would
gather in a single conference room in [City]. If a director is
unable to attend in person in [non-U.S. City] or in [City],
the director would attempt to conference into the Board
meeting by telephone. Telephone or video conferencing
facilities would be arranged so that every participant could
hear everything said by every other participant. In addi-
tion, [ACQ] may, from time to time, arrange for all direc-
tors to be together in person for Board meetings.

Recently, [ACQ] and [NB] have installed videoconferencing
equipment in [non-U.S. City] and [City]. This equipment
utilizes a six-position video camera at each facility that
is operable by remote control so that directors at one
location can select the camera angle at the other loca-
tion. This permits the remote location to not only hear
everything said by everyone at the other location, but
also permits the participants at the remote location to
select the camera angle to view the speaker at the other
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location, or any other participant. Packages of the mate-
rial for the Board will ordinarily be distributed prior to the
meeting so that every Director will have a complete set
of materials to reference. However, the video
conferencing technology will also permit the remote view-
ing of additional materials discussed that are not part of
the Board package. Computer support equipment is also
available so that materials that are in electronic format
can be distributed electronically and viewed immediately
at the remote location.

By conducting regular board meetings by telephone and
video conferencing, the Bank and its directors would not
be subject to the substantial inconvenience and expense
associated with inter-continental travel. For example, trav-
eling from [non-U.S. City] to [City], conducting one day’s
business in [City], and traveling back to [non-U.S. City]
would, in effect, consume three to five days of a director’s
time. Absent the travel time, and the associated fatigue,
the Bank’s directors could focus on the board meeting rather
than the logistics of traveling to and returning from [City].

In addition, as banking becomes increasingly internation-
alized, conducting regular board meetings by video or
telephone conferencing permits [NB] to benefit from hav-
ing skilled and experienced international bankers on the
Bank’s board. [ACQ]’s management philosophy is to fo-
cus on banking opportunities throughout the Pacific Rim.
The three directors who reside in [Country] include the
President of [ACQ] and two outside Managing Directors
of [ACQ]. The presence of these individuals on the Bank’s
Board is essential to [ACQ] integrating [NB] in its overall
banking strategy.

Although the National Bank Act does not specifically ad-
dress the manner in which a national bank’s board of di-
rectors shall conduct its meetings, it does authorize na-
tional banks “[t]o prescribe, by its board of directors, by-
laws not inconsistent with law, regulating the manner . . .
its general business [is to be] conducted.” 12 USC 24
(Sixth). This authority to prescribe bylaws to conduct a
national bank’s general business is sufficiently broad to
permit a national bank to adopt procedures governing the
practice of conducting board meetings, including the abil-
ity to conduct regular board meetings by telephone or
video conferencing.

Based on these facts, the OCC does not object to [NB]
conducting board meetings by telephone or video con-
ference, provided that the Bank amends its bylaws to pro-
vide for telephonic and video telephonic meetings. I trust
this has been responsive to your inquiry. If you have any
further questions, please call Senior Attorney Jimmy Singh
or the undersigned at (415) 545–5980.

Lance Cantor
District Counsel

861—February 5, 1999
12 CFR 16.6

Re: [      ](“Bank”), [City, State] and [Bank 2] (collectively,
the “banks”)

Dear [      ]:

This responds to your request for written confirmation that
staff of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC)
would not object if the banks engage in the offer and sale
of fixed and variable nonconvertible debt securities
(“notes”) as part of a multibank note offering pursuant to
section 16.6 of the OCC’s securities offering disclosure
regulations (12 CFR 16.6), subject to one exception de-
scribed in your letter. Based upon the facts set forth in
your letter and on additional information and representa-
tions you have provided, we will not object to the proposed
offering pursuant to section 16.6.

Background

Each of the banks is a wholly owned subsidiary of [      ]
(“corporation”). The corporation, in turn, is a wholly owned
subsidiary of [Inc. ], which is a wholly owned subsidiary
of [      ] (“parent bank”). The parent bank is headquar-
tered in [      ] with assets of approximately $412 billion
and is a subsidiary of [Co.], a [      ] corporation with
shares that are publicly traded on the Amsterdam Stock
Exchange.

The banks intend on offering and selling the notes with
[Bank A, Bank B, and Bank C] (together and individually,
the “issuing banks”), as part of a multibank $6,000,000,000
debt offering. The notes will range in maturities from 30
days to 10 years. The notes will be offered and sold to
accredited investors pursuant to an offering circular that
fully discloses the terms and conditions under which the
notes will be offered and sold and significant regulatory
matters which may affect the business and financial con-
dition of each banking organization. The banks have fur-
ther indicated that the notes will be sold to new purchas-
ers in minimum initial denominations of $1,000,000 or
more, and to existing holders in subsequent minimum
denominations of $250,000. The notes will also be
legended to preclude their transfer in denominations of
less than $250,000. Each note issued pursuant to the of-
fering will be an obligation solely of the issuing bank and
not be an obligation of, or otherwise guaranteed by, the
other issuing banks, [Co.] or any other affiliate, and the
offering circular and related subscription and confirma-
tion documents will make this fact clear.

In a March 28, 1995 letter (the “1995 letter”), we advised
you that we would not object to the offer and sale of fixed
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and variable nonconvertible debt securities by the bank
in reliance on section 16.6, subject to certain conditions.
As part of these conditions, the bank agreed, among other
things, that it would provide: (i) prospective purchasers
with its recent financial statements and the corporation’s
audited financial statements; and (ii) the OCC, and note
purchasers on request, with the annual report of [Co.],
which is published in [      ]. The bank also agreed to sell
its debt to new purchasers in minimum initial denomina-
tions of $1,000,000 or more, and to existing holders in
subsequent minimum denominations of $250,000. At the
time the letter was written, the bank could not technically
rely upon section 16.6 because it was not a reporting bank
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange
Act), a subsidiary of an Exchange Act reporting holding
company, or a federal branch or agency of a foreign bank.

Ordinary shares of [Co.] trade in the United States in the
form of American Depository Shares (ADSs), each of which
represents the right to receive one ordinary share. Since
May of 1997, the ADSs have been listed on the New York
Stock Exchange and the underlying ordinary shares have
been registered pursuant to section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act). As a result, [Co.]
is subject to the reporting requirements that the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission prescribes for foreign pri-
vate issuers under section 13 of the Exchange Act. To
comply with these requirements, [Co.] files Form 20–F with
the SEC, which is used by foreign issuers for the annual
report under section 13(a) of the Act, and Form 6–K, which
foreign private issuers must file to report current informa-
tion that is made public or required to be filed in the issuer’s
home country.

Discussion

As a result of [Co.]’s compliance with the Exchange Act
requirements for registration of securities and periodic
reporting, the banks propose to follow the current require-
ments of the OCC’s abbreviated disclosure procedure for
debt securities in 12 CFR 16.6 in their offer and sale of the
notes, with one exception1. Section 16.6 requires that prior
to or simultaneous with the sale of debt securities, each
purchaser must receive an offering document that con-
tains a description of the terms of the debt, the use of
proceeds and the method of distribution, and incorporates
the issuing bank’s call report, as well as its (or its holding

company’s) quarterly, annual, and special (if any) reports
filed under the Exchange Act on Forms 10–Q, 10–K, and
8–K. The banks request that, instead of meeting the re-
quirement to incorporate the holding company’s Forms
10–Q, 10–K, and 8–K or continuing to rely on the 1995
Letter, they be permitted to substitute Form 20–F and other
reports that [Co.] files under the Exchange Act. You have
represented that the information provided on the forms
filed by [Co.] is substantially similar or, in some cases,
substantially equivalent to the information required by the
forms specified in section 16.6. As a result, you believe
that the use of the forms filed by [Co.], in lieu of the forms
specified in section 16.6, would fully satisfy the disclo-
sure purposes underlying the section 16.6 requirements.

We agree that the purposes of the abbreviated disclosure
procedure in section 16.6 would be satisfied if the banks
were to incorporate by reference in the offering documents
for the notes the Forms 20–F and 6–K filed by [Co.] under
the Exchange Act in lieu of Forms 10–K, 10–Q, and 8–K.
Therefore, the banks may proceed with the offering of notes
as proposed in your letter, subject to the specific condi-
tion that, in addition to compliance with all other provi-
sions of section 16.6, the notes will be sold to new pur-
chasers in minimum initial denominations of $1,000,000,
as described above. This response is based solely on the
facts as represented and any changes in the facts could
require a different result. The OCC may impose additional
limitations to address compliance issues that may arise.

If you have any questions regarding this response, please
contact me at (202) 874–5210.

Virginia S. Rutledge, Senior Attorney
Securities and Corporate Practices Division

862—June 7, 1999
12 USC 24(7)

Dear [      ]:

This responds to your request that the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) confirm that it would
be permissible for a national bank’s captive mortgage
reinsurance subsidiary (“captive reinsurer”) to enter a
mortgage reinsurance agreement with a segregated
portfolio company1 domiciled in the Cayman Islands,

1 You represent that the banks would meet the remaining require-
ments of section 16.6. The banks will sell the notes only to accred-
ited investors and in minimum initial denominations of $1,000,000.
(Section 16.6 requires a minimum denomination of at least $250,000.)
The notes will be rated investment grade. The banks or one of their
holding companies will be subject to the reporting requirements of
the Exchange Act. The banks will file offering documents with the
OCC no later than the fifth business day after which they are first
issued.

1 A segregated portfolio insurance company insures or reinsures
separately the risks related to the business of each portfolio com-
pany and is subject to a special insurance statute that protects the
assets of each portfolio company from creditor claims against the
insurer based on liabilities related to the activities of other portfolio
companies. See Sections 229–237 of The Companies (Amendment)
(Segregated Portfolios Companies) Law (1998) (Cayman Islands).
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to reinsure private mortgage insurance on loans origi-
nated or purchased by the bank or one of its affiliates.
Your request is on behalf of [Co.], [State] domestic
monoline mortgage guaranty insurer that is a wholly owned
subsidiary of [Inc.]. Based on the information and repre-
sentations provided, and for the reasons discussed be-
low, we agree with your conclusion that the proposed struc-
ture would be permissible under the National Bank Act.

Background

A. The Proposed Reinsurance Activities

Pursuant to a Facultative Excess Layer Primary Mortgage
Guaranty Reinsurance Agreement (“reinsurance agree-
ment”)2 which has been approved by the [State] Depart-
ment of Insurance, [Co.] will write mortgage insurance
coverage, for loans originated or purchased by a national
bank or its affiliates, that will be reinsured by [      ] (“Cay-
man Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer”). The Cayman Seg-
regated Portfolio Reinsurer is a segregated portfolio com-
pany domiciled in the Cayman Islands that is wholly owned
by [Inc.], and that is authorized to write mortgage reinsur-
ance coverage for loans originated or purchased by a
national bank, or an affiliate of a national bank.3 Under the
proposed arrangement, [Co.] will agree to cede mortgage
insurance risk on an excess of loss or quota share basis,
on specified books of business and risk layers and premi-
ums to be determined and set forth in separate Certifi-
cates of Facultative Reinsurance (each a “certificate”).

[Co.] will negotiate the terms of a reinsurance transaction
with a particular bank’s captive reinsurer. The bank must
obtain approval from the OCC to establish such a subsid-
iary, and the bank and the subsidiary will be subject to
any conditions imposed by the OCC in its decision ap-
proving the subsidiary.4 The captive reinsurer will also be
subject to regulation by state insurance authorities and

state law requirements including licensing, capital, and
reserve requirements.5

In connection with a particular bank’s or its affiliate’s book
of business, [Co.] would obtain a certificate from the Cay-
man Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer accepting the rein-
surance of that bank’s or affiliate’s loans. The Cayman
Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer would in turn enter into a
Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Retrocession Agreement
(“retrocession agreement”) with the bank’s captive rein-
surer. Under the retrocession agreement, the Cayman
Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer would retrocede to the
captive reinsurer all the risk ceded pursuant to the certifi-
cate and substantially all the premium ceded pursuant to
the certificate (the difference to be sufficient to cover the
Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer’s expenses of
operation).6

Under the proposed arrangement, therefore, the captive
reinsurer would agree to accept from the Cayman Segre-
gated Portfolio Reinsurer a portion of the risk of default
associated with certain mortgage loans made or pur-
chased by the captive reinsurer’s parent bank or the bank’s
affiliates. In return for accepting risk of loss from default,
the captive reinsurer will receive substantially all the pre-
miums paid under the reinsurance agreement and certifi-
cate between the Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer
and [Co.]. [Co.] represents that its proposal will enable
[Co.] to remain flexible and achieve efficiencies in doing
business with lenders that have captive mortgage rein-
surance subsidiaries through the use of the Cayman Seg-
regated Portfolio Reinsurer, which is, in effect, a vehicle to
consolidate relationships between [Co.] and captive
reinsurers.

B. Limitations on the Liability of the Bank and
the Captive Reinsurer

Each captive reinsurer’s performance under its individual
retrocession agreement with the Cayman Segregated
Portfolio Reinsurer will be secured by assets in a trust
account to be established with a United States bank ac-
ceptable to both [Co.] and the captive reinsurer. The
captive reinsurer would be required to deposit funds
equal to a specified percent of the risk being retroceded
into the trust account and all retroceded premium would
initially be deposited into the trust account, subject to
release to the captive reinsurer as long as a specified
minimum funds requirement is maintained. Under this
structure, there would be a separate trust account for

2 Reinsurance is a process whereby an original insurer reduces its
underwriting risk by passing all or part of this risk on to another
insurance company. The first underwriter may retain only a portion
of the risk and reinsure the balance with a second company that
then owns the cash flow and assumes that portion of the risk. See
13A John Alan Appleman & Jean Appleman, Insurance Law and
Practice § 7681 (1976).

3 As a licensed reinsurer in the Cayman Islands, the Cayman Seg-
regated Portfolio Reinsurer will be subject to ongoing supervision
and regulation by the Cayman Islands Inspector of Financial Ser-
vices. Any material change in the Cayman Segregated Portfolio
Reinsurer’s plan of operation would require the prior approval of the
Cayman Islands Inspector of Financial Services.

4 See, e.g., Corporate Decisions No. 99-04 (December 23, 1998)
(Hibernia); No. 98-43 (September 11, 1998) (M&I); and No. 98-22
(April 22, 1998) (Fifth Third) and the decisions cited therein (collec-
tively, the “Mortgage Reinsurance Approval Letters”).

5 See id.

6 Copies of the reinsurance agreement and certificate would be
appended to the retrocession agreement.
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each book of business retroceded by the Cayman Seg-
regated Portfolio Reinsurer and assumed by the captive
reinsurer.

The captive reinsurer would become liable to the extent
provided in the retrocession agreement to the Cayman
Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer when a bank’s or its
affiliate’s loan insured by [Co.] goes into default (i.e., the
borrower does not make a scheduled payment of princi-
pal and/or interest by the stated due date or within the
stated grace period). The potential exposure to loss of a
captive reinsurer’s parent bank for the captive reinsurer’s
reinsurance obligation will not exceed the bank’s invest-
ment in the captive reinsurer.

No captive reinsurer will be liable for any of the activities
of the Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer or other
captive reinsurers. The Cayman Segregated Portfolio
Reinsurer’s reinsurance obligation will be made without
recourse to the captive reinsurer.7

[Co.] represents that its reinsurance agreement with the
Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer meets the require-
ments of, and has been approved by, the [State] Depart-
ment of Insurance. The form of the retrocession agree-
ment that the Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer will
use with each captive reinsurer has been approved by
the [State] Department of Insurance.

Discussion

The OCC has previously determined that a captive rein-
surer may reinsure a portion of the mortgage insurance
on loans originated or purchased by the captive reinsurer’s
parent bank, or by the parent bank’s lending affiliates.8

The OCC concluded that this reinsurance activity is part
of the business of banking because the activity (1) is func-
tionally equivalent to or a logical outgrowth of a recog-
nized banking activity; (2) responds to customer needs or
otherwise benefits the bank or its customers; and (3) in-
volves risks similar in nature to those already assumed by
banks. The OCC also concluded that, even if the activity
were not part of the business of banking, it was permis-
sible as an activity incidental to a national bank’s express
power to make loans, because it optimized the use of the
bank’s credit underwriting capacities.9

The primary difference between the proposed arrangement
and the activities that the OCC has previously approved

for captive reinsurers is the introduction of the Cayman
Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer as an intervening reinsurer
between the primary insurer and the captive reinsurer. The
existence of the Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer,
however, will not alter the nature of the activities conducted
by the captive reinsurer, which are the same types of mort-
gage reinsurance activities that have been approved by
the OCC. Similar to the mortgage reinsurance activities
previously approved by the OCC in the Mortgage Rein-
surance Approval Letters, it is envisioned that the captive
reinsurer in this arrangement will reinsure mortgages held
by its parent bank or the parent bank’s affiliates, and will
receive compensation for the risk of default through its
share of premiums paid under the reinsurance contracts.
Thus, this arrangement will also involve credit judgments
and the assumption of credit risks, and resemble the re-
purchase of bank loans or the extension of low down pay-
ment loans without mortgage insurance. The proposed
arrangement also will provide exactly the same kinds of
benefits to customers and to the bank as the mortgage
reinsurance activities already approved by the OCC. In
addition, the risks involved in the proposed arrangement
will be comparable both to the risks involved in mortgage
lending and the risks of the previously approved reinsur-
ance activities. As in the other cases considered by the
OCC, the proposed reinsurance arrangement additionally
will enable the bank to optimize the use of its existing credit
staff and credit expertise to generate additional revenues
through activities that support and enhance the bank’s
lending business.

Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing facts and analysis, we agree
with your conclusion that under the National Bank Act, a
national bank’s captive reinsurer may enter into a mort-
gage reinsurance agreement with a segregated portfolio
company to reinsure private mortgage insurance on loans
originated or purchased by the bank or its affiliates, in the
manner described herein.10

Julie L. Williams
Chief Counsel

7 The Cayman Segregated Portfolio Reinsurer will have no less
than $1 million of policyholders surplus as required under [State]
law. This surplus will be provided by The [Inc.].

8 See the Mortgage Reinsurance Approval Letters.

9 See id.

10 A specific proposal by a national bank’s captive reinsurer to
enter a mortgage reinsurance agreement with the Cayman Segre-
gated Portfolio Reinsurer to reinsure mortgage insurance on loans
originated or purchased by the bank or one of its affiliates would be
subject to the OCC’s review under 12 CFR 5.34. The OCC’s review
would include an assessment of whether any supervisory concerns
or legal issues in addition to those discussed herein are presented
in each case. Also, of course, activities of individual banks and their
subsidiaries are subject to other applicable laws and regulations.



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999 103

Mergers—April 1  to June 30, 1999

Page

Nonaffiliated mergers (mergers consummated involving two or more nonaffiliated operating banks) ............. 105

Nonaffiliated mergers—thrift (mergers consummated involving nonaffiliated national banks and savings and loan
associations) ..................................................................................................................................................... 106

Affiliated mergers (mergers consummated involving affiliated operating banks) ............................................. 107

Affiliated mergers—thrift (mergers consummated involving affiliated national banks and savings and loan
associations) ..................................................................................................................................................... 111



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999104



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999 105

Most transactions in this section do not have accompany-
ing decisions. In those cases, the OCC reviewed the com-
petitive effects of the proposals by using its standard pro-
cedures for determining whether the transaction has mini-
mal or no adverse competitive effects. The OCC found the

proposals satisfied its criteria for transactions that clearly
had no or minimal adverse competitive effects. In addi-
tion, the Attorney General either filed no report on the pro-
posed transaction or found that the proposal would not
have a significantly adverse effect on competition.

Mergers—April 1 to June 30, 1999

Louisiana
Hibernia National Bank, New Orleans (013688) ................................................................................................................ 14,020,332,000

and Beaumont Trust Company, National Association, Beaumont (023794) .................................................................. 200,000
merged on May 21, 1999 under the title of Hibernia National Bank, New Orleans (013688) ..................................... 14,020,532,000

New Jersey
Valley National Bank, Passaic (015790) ............................................................................................................................. 5,016,163,000

and The Ramapo Bank, Wayne Township ....................................................................................................................... 327,169,000
merged on June 11, 1999 under the title of Valley National Bank, Passaic (015790) ................................................. 5,343,332,000

New Mexico
The First National Bank of New Mexico, Clayton (015259) ............................................................................................. 46,556,000

and Zia New Mexico Bank, Tucumcari ............................................................................................................................ 13,450,000
merged on April 23, 1999 under the title of The First National Bank of New Mexico, Clayton (015259) ..................... 60,006,000

Texas
The State National Bank of Iowa Park, Iowa Park (013614) ............................................................................................ 60,761,000

and Electra State Bank and Trust Company, Electra ..................................................................................................... 37,640,000
and Windthorst National Bank, Windthorst (020472) ..................................................................................................... 28,421,000

merged on May 13, 1999 under the title of State National Bank of Texas, Iowa Park (013614) ............................... 126,822,000

Wyoming
Norwest Bank Wyoming, National Association, Casper (010533) ................................................................................. 4,581,695,000*

and Riverton State Bank, Riverton ................................................................................................................................... 61,896,000
and Dubois National Bank, Dubois (015205) .................................................................................................................. 22,923,000

merged on May 15, 1999 under the title of Norwest Bank Wyoming, National Association,
Casper (010533) .............................................................................................................................................................. 2,958,930,000

Nonaffiliated mergers (mergers consummated involving two or more nonaffiliated operating banks),
from April 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location (charter number) Total assets

* Note: Adjustment of $1,707,584,000 done to resulting national bank prior to consummation.
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Title and location (charter number) Total assets

Nonaffiliated mergers—thrift (mergers consummated involving nonaffiliated national banks
and savings and loan associations), from April 1 to June 30, 1999

New Jersey
United National Bank, Bridgewater (005621) .................................................................................................................... 1,508,573,000

and Raritan Savings Bank, Bridgewater ......................................................................................................................... 433,325,000
merged on March 31, 1999 under the title of United National Bank, Bridgewater (005621) ....................................... 1,941,898,000

New York
City National Bank and Trust Company of Gloversville, Gloversville (009305) ........................................................... 255,568,000

and Gloversville Federal Savings and Loan Association, Gloversville ......................................................................... 68,732,000
merged on June 1, 1999 under the title of City National Bank and Trust Company of Gloversville,

Gloversville (009305) ....................................................................................................................................................... 329,460,000

North Carolina
The First National Bank of Shelby, Shelby (006776) ........................................................................................................ 392,396,000

and First Carolina Federal Savings Bank, Kings Mountain ............................................................................................ 94,726,000
merged on April 2, 1999 under the title of The First National Bank of Shelby, Shelby (006776) ............................. 479,868,000
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Affiliated mergers (mergers consummated involving affiliated operating banks),
from April 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location (charter number) Total assets

Arizona
Bank of America National Association, Phoenix  (022106) .............................................................................................. 4,899,313,000

and NationsBank of Delaware, National Association, Dover  (022279) ........................................................................ 7,785,570,000
merged on March 31, 1999 under the title of Bank of America, National Association (USA), Phoenix  (022106) ... 12,684,883,000

Arkansas
Simmons First National Bank, Pine Bluff  (006680) ........................................................................................................... 733,245,000

and American State Bank, Charleston .......................................................................................................................... 89,619,000
merged on March 26, 1999 under the title of Simmons First National Bank, Pine Bluff  (006680) ............................. 822,864,000

The Citizens National Bank of Hope, Hope  (010579) ...................................................................................................... 228,908,000
and Peoples Bank and Loan Co., Lewisville ................................................................................................................... 34,912,000

merged on April 8, 1999 under the title of The Citizens National Bank of Hope, Hope  (010579) ............................ 263,820,000

The First National Bank of Fort Smith, Fort Smith  (001950) ............................................................................................ 559,160,000
and River Valley Bank and Trust, Lavaca ........................................................................................................................ 75,826,000

merged on June 4, 1999 under the title of The First National Bank of Fort Smith, Fort Smith  (001950) ................... 634,986,000

Colorado
Norwest Bank Colorado, National Association, Denver  (003269) ................................................................................. 9,906,710,000

and Community Bank of Parker, Parker .......................................................................................................................... 71,663,000
merged on April 24, 1999 under the title of Norwest Bank Colorado, National Association, Denver  (003269) ...... 9,978,373,000

Florida
West Coast Guaranty Bank, National Association, Sarasota  (023829) ........................................................................ 147,923,000

and West Coast Bank, Sarasota ...................................................................................................................................... 115,020,000
merged on February 16, 1999 under the title of West Coast Guaranty Bank, National Association,

Sarasota  (023829) ........................................................................................................................................................... 262,943,000

Illinois
LaSalle National Bank, Chicago  (014362) ......................................................................................................................... 21,126,000

and LaSalle Bank National Association, Chicago  (014450) .......................................................................................... 6,150,000
merged on April 30, 1999 under the title of LaSalle Bank National Association, Chicago  (014362) ........................ 27,198,000

Castle Bank National Association, Sandwich  (023817) .................................................................................................. 132,862,000
and The Bank of Yorkville, Yorkville .................................................................................................................................. 79,014,000

merged on June 25, 1999 under the title of Castle Bank National Association, Sandwich  (023817) ....................... 211,876,000

Indiana
The Merchants National Bank of Terre Haute, Terre Haute  (023076) ........................................................................... 657,128,000

and Dulaney National Bank, Marshall  (004759) ............................................................................................................. 42,235,000
merged on May 13, 1999 under the title of The Merchants National Bank of Terre Haute, Terre Haute  (023076) . 700,363,000

Kentucky
Community First Bank, National Association, Maysville  (003291) ................................................................................. 77,898,000

and Community First Bank of Kentucky, Warsaw ........................................................................................................... 85,646,000
merged on June 25, 1999 under the title of Community First Bank, National Association, Maysville  (003291) ..... 163,544,000

Citizens National Bank of Paintsville, Paintsville  (013023) ............................................................................................. 161,126,000
and The Bank Josephine, Salyersville ............................................................................................................................. 109,633,000

merged on May 25, 1999 under the title of Citizens National Bank of Paintsville, Paintsville  (013023) .................. 270,759,000

Minnesota
The First National Bank of Hudson, Woodbury  (000095) ............................................................................................... 155,261,000

and Merchants State Bank of North Branch, North Branch ........................................................................................... 53,593,000
merged on June 30, 1999 under the title of The First National Bank of Hudson, Woodbury  (000095) ................... 208,855,000
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Community National Bank, Northfield  (013350) ............................................................................................................... 73,753,000
and Roseville Community Bank, National Association, Roseville  (022046) ................................................................. 49,047,000

merged on May 10, 1999 under the title of Community National Bank, Northfield  (013350) ..................................... 122,800,000

U.S. Bank National Association, Minneapolis  (013405) .................................................................................................. 67,367,865,000
and Northwest National Bank, Vancouver  (016523) ...................................................................................................... 386,024,000

merged on May 7, 1999 under the title of U.S. Bank National Association, Minneapolis  (013405) .......................... 67,753,880,000

Missouri
Commerce Bank, National Association, Kansas City  (018112) ..................................................................................... 9,196,823,000

and the Citizens National Bank in Independence, Independence (013924) ............................................................... 95,695,000
merged on June 4, 1999 under the title of Commerce Bank, National Association   (018112) ......................................... 9,292,518,000

TeamBank, National Association, Freeman  (003350) ...................................................................................................... 256,770,000
and TeamBank Nebraska, Bellevue ................................................................................................................................. 34,347,000

merged on June 26, 1999 under the title of TeamBank, National Association, Freeman  (003350) ................................. 291,117,000

Nebraska
First National Bank Northeast, Lyons  (006221) ............................................................................................................... 108,874,000

and The Farmers and Merchants National  Bank of Oakland, Oakland  (010022) ..................................................... 23,720,000
merged on April 30, 1999 under the title of First National Bank Northeast, Lyons  (006221) .................................... 132,743,000

The First National Bank & Trust Company of Beatrice, Beatrice  (002357) ................................................................... 109,245,000
and Farmers Bank of Clatonia, Clatonia .......................................................................................................................... 9,204,000

merged on June 30, 1999 under the title of The First National Bank & Trust Company of Beatrice   (002357) ...... 118,449,000

New York
The Oneida Valley National Bank of Oneida, Oneida  (001090) ..................................................................................... 233,721,000

and First National Bank of Cortland, Cortland  (002272) ............................................................................................... 233,538,000
merged on April 16, 1999 under the title of Alliance Bank, National Association, Oneida  (001090) ......................... 467,259,000

North Carolina
NationsBank, National Association, Charlotte  (014448) .................................................................................................. 294,483,000,000

and Bank of America Texas, National Association, Dallas  (022429) ............................................................................ 5,114,000,000
and Interim Bank of America (NM), National Association, Santa Fe  (023832) ............................................................ 396,000,000

merged on April 8, 1999 under the title of NationsBank, National Association, Charlotte  (014448) ......................... 299,993,000,000

Ohio
FirstMerit Bank, National Association, Akron  (014579) ................................................................................................... 6,146,930,000

and Signal Bank, National Association, Wooster  (023344) ........................................................................................... 1,347,815,000
and NC Interim National Bank, New Castle  (023780) .................................................................................................... 401,089,000
and Summit Bank, National Association, Akron  (023439) ............................................................................................. 108,266,000

merged on February 12, 1999 under the title of FirstMerit Bank, National Association, Akron  (014579) ................. 8,702,173,000

Firstar Bank, National Association, Cincinnati  (000024) ................................................................................................. 16,750,000
and Firstar Bank Iowa, National Association, Des Moines  (016324) ........................................................................... 2,949,000
and Firstar Bank Illinois, Chicago ..................................................................................................................................... 2,732,000

merged on May 27, 1999 under the title of Firstar Bank, National Association, Cincinnati (000024) ......................... 22,431,000

National City Bank, Cleveland  (000786) ........................................................................................................................... 31,049,288,000
and National City Interim Trust Company, West Palm Beach  (023894) ....................................................................... 7,818,000

merged on June 30, 1999 under the title of National City Bank, Cleveland  (000786) ............................................... 31,057,288,000

Oklahoma
Home National Bank, Blackwell  (013891) ......................................................................................................................... 227,855,000

and Home National Bank, Arkansas City  (004487) ....................................................................................................... 210,269,000
merged on June 25, 1999 under the title of Home National Bank, Blackwell  (013891) .............................................. 438,124,000

Affiliated mergers (continued)

Title and location (charter number) Total assets
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Tennessee
Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis  (013349) .................................................................................... 27,406,926,000

and Ambank Indiana, National Association, Vincennes  (003864) ............................................................................... 443,901,000
and Ambank Illinois, National Association, Robinson  (013605) .................................................................................... 250,164,000

merged on May 07, 1999 under the title of Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis  (013349) .......... 30,959,419,000

Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis  (013349) .................................................................................... 27,406,926,000
and The First National Bank of Wetumpka, Wetumpka  (007568) ................................................................................. 190,187,000

merged on May 21, 1999 under the title of Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis  (013349) .......... 27,597,113,000

First Citizens National Bank, Dyersburg  (005263) .......................................................................................................... 363,447,000
and First Volunteer Bank, Union City ................................................................................................................................ 50,436,000

merged on June 14, 1999 under the title of First Citizens National Bank, Dyersburg  (005263) ............................... 490,656,000

Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis  (013349) .................................................................................... 32,977,865,000
and First and Farmers Bank of Somerset, Inc., Somerset ............................................................................................ 309,834,000
and Bank of Cumberland, Burkesville ............................................................................................................................. 59,432,000

merged on June 11, 1999 under the title of Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis  (013349) ......... 33,347,131,000

First American National Bank, Nashville  (003032) ........................................................................................................... 20,359,042,000
and Peoples Bank, Dickson ............................................................................................................................................. 145,666,000

merged on June 30, 1999 under the title of First American National Bank, Nashville  (003032) ................................ 20,504,708,000

Texas
Continental National Bank, El Paso  (016381) ................................................................................................................... 120,657,000

and First National Bank, Denver City  (017365) ............................................................................................................. 781,000
merged on March 30, 1999 under the title of Continental National Bank, El Paso  (016381) .................................... 121,438,000

Norwest Bank Texas, National Association, San Antonio  (014208) .............................................................................. 9,907,642,000
and The First National Bank of Franklin, Franklin  (007838) ........................................................................................... 72,439,000

merged on April 17, 1999 under the title of Norwest Bank Texas, National Association, San Antonio  (014208) .. 9,965,203,000

Norwest Bank Texas, National Association, San Antonio  (014208) .............................................................................. 9,965,203,000
and First Bank Katy, National Association, Katy  (023651) ............................................................................................ 297,561,000
and Mercantile Bank, National Association, Brownsville  (012236) ............................................................................... 828,530,000

merged on June 19, 1999 under the title of Norwest Bank Texas, National Association, San Antonio  (014208) .. 11,063,154,000

Woodforest National Bank, Houston  (016892) ................................................................................................................. 504,416,000
and Highlands Bank, Highlands ...................................................................................................................................... 75,438,000

merged on March 31, 1999 under the title of Woodforest National Bank, Houston  (016892) ................................... 579,854,000

Austin Bank, Texas National Association, Jacksonville  (005581) .................................................................................. 137,000,000
and Austin Bank, National Association, Longview  (018291) ......................................................................................... 172,000,000

merged on April 12, 1999 under the title of Austin Bank, Texas National Association, Jacksonville  (005581) ...... 309,000,000

Austin Bank, Texas National Association, Jacksonville  (005581) .................................................................................. 137,044,000
and Austin Bank, Whitehouse, Texas, National Association  (015544) ......................................................................... 84,251,000

merged on May 10, 1999 under the title of Austin Bank, Texas National Association, Jacksonville  (005581) ....... 221,295,000

Austin Bank, Texas National Association, Jacksonville  (005581) .................................................................................. 137,044,000
and Austin Bank, Big Sandy, Texas, Big Sandy ............................................................................................................. 21,480,000

merged on April 12, 1999 under the title of Austin Bank, Texas National Association, Jacksonville  (005581) ...... 158,524,000

The American National Bank of Texas, Terrell  (017043) .................................................................................................. 680,506,000
and The Bank of Van Zandt, Canton ................................................................................................................................ 71,359,000

merged on June 1, 1999 under the title of The American National Bank of Texas, Terrell  (017043) ........................ 751,865,000

Affiliated mergers (continued)

Title and location (charter number) Total assets
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Affiliated mergers (continued)

Title and location (charter number) Total assets

The Frost National Bank, San Antonio (005179) ................................................................................................................ 6,830,500,000
and Bank of Commerce, Fort Worth .............................................................................................................................. 188,923,000

merged on May 20, 1999 under the title of The Frost National Bank, San Antonio (005179) ..................................... 7,052,587,000

Extraco Banks, National Association, Temple (013778) .................................................................................................. 389,523,000
and Extraco Banks, National Association, Waco (020014) ........................................................................................... 114,271,000

merged on May 21, 1999 under the title of Extraco Banks, National Association, Temple (013778) ........................ 503,794,000

Virginia
First Community Bank, National Association, Tazewell (023892) ................................................................................... 397,960,000

and First Community Bank of Mercer County, Inc., Princeton ....................................................................................... 436,402,000
and First Community Bank of Southwest Virginia, Inc., Tazewell .................................................................................. 106,100,000
and Blue Ridge Bank, Sparta ........................................................................................................................................... 123,335,000

merged on April 30, 1999 under the title of First Community Bank, National Association, Tazewell (023892) ........ 1,063,797,000

West Virginia
City National Bank of West Virginia, Charleston (014807) .............................................................................................. 1,476,138,000

and Bank of Raleigh, Beckley ........................................................................................................................................... 402,324,000
and Greenbrier Valley National Bank, Lewisburg (005903) .......................................................................................... 182,533,000
and First National Bank In Marlinton, Marlinton (013783) ............................................................................................... 75,545,000
and The National Bank of Summers of Hinton, Hinton (007998) .................................................................................... 77,332,000
and The Twentieth Street Bank, Huntington ..................................................................................................................... 305,830,000

merged on April 26, 1999 under the title of City National Bank of West Virginia, Charleston (014807) ................... 2,519,702,000

First Century Bank, National Association, Bluefield (004643) ......................................................................................... 257,450,371,000
and First Century Bank, Wytheville .................................................................................................................................. 38,361,670,000

merged on May 7, 1999 under the title of First Century Bank, National Association, Bluefield (004643) ................. 294,511,533,000

Wisconsin
Associated Bank Green Bay, National Association, Green Bay (002132) .................................................................... 1,362,930,000

and Citizens Bank National Association, Shawano (021289) ........................................................................................ 139,349,000
merged on June 18, 1999 under the title of Associated Bank Green Bay, National Association,

Green Bay (002132) ........................................................................................................................................................ 1,502,279,000

Associated Interim Bank Green Bay, National Association, Green Bay (023695) ....................................................... 252,362,000
and Associated Bank Green Bay, National Association, Green Bay (002132) ............................................................ 1,357,874,000

merged on November 12, 1998 under the title of Associated Bank Green Bay, National Association,
Green Bay (023695) ........................................................................................................................................................ 1,610,236,000

Associated Interim Bank, National Association, Neenah (023700) ................................................................................ 179,072,000
and Associated Bank, National Association, Neenah (001602) .................................................................................... 521,012,000

merged on November 12, 1998 under the title of Associated Bank, National Association, Neenah (023700) ......... 700,084,000

Associated Interim Bank Lakeshore, National Association, Manitowoc (023701) ....................................................... 122,362,000
and Associated Bank Lakeshore, National Association, Manitowoc (015972) ............................................................ 422,698,000

merged on November 12, 1998 under the title of Associated Bank Lakeshore, National Association,
Manitowoc (023701) ......................................................................................................................................................... 545,060,000

Amcore Bank, National Association, South Central, Monroe (000230) .......................................................................... 26,257,000
and Amcore Bank, Argyle, Argyle .................................................................................................................................... 3,853,000
and Amcore Bank, Mount Horeb, Mount Horeb ............................................................................................................. 8,394,000

merged on November 13, 1998 under the title of Amcore Bank, National Association, South Central,
Monroe (000230) ............................................................................................................................................................... 38,506,000
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Affiliated mergers—thrift (mergers consummated involving affiliated national banks
and savings and loan associations), from April 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location (charter number) Total assets

Ohio
The Second National Bank of Warren, Warren (002479) ................................................................................................. 963,960,000

and Trumbull Savings and Loan Company, Warren ....................................................................................................... 508,715,000
merged on November 18, 1998 under the title of The Second National Bank of Warren, Warren (002479) ............ 1,472,675,000

Tennessee
Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis (013349) ..................................................................................... 27,406,926,000

and First Mutual Bank, S.B., Decatur ............................................................................................................................... 404,006,000
merged on May 21, 1999 under the title of Union Planters Bank, National Association, Memphis (013349) ........... 27,810,932,000

Texas
Southwest Bank of Texas National Association, Houston (017479) ............................................................................... 1,983,330,000

and Fort Bend Federal Savings & Loan Association of Rosenberg, Rosenberg ........................................................ 327,495,000
merged on April 1, 1999 under the title of Southwest Bank of Texas National Association, Houston (017479) ..... 2,310,825,000
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Alabama .........................   31 0 3   0   0  0      1   27
Alaska .............................     4 0 0   0   0  0      0   4
Arizona ...........................    16 0 0   0   0  0      0   17
Arkansas ........................   57 0 1   0   0  1      2   53
California ......................... 102 1 1   0   0  1      3   98
Colorado .........................   64 1 1   0   0  0      2   61
Connecticut ....................       9 1 0   0   0  0      0   10
Delaware ........................   22 2 2   1   0  0      2   19
District of Columbia ........ 8 0 0   0   0  0      1   7
Florida .............................    93 3 2   0   0  0      1   93
Georgia ..........................    65 5 1   0   0  2      0   67
Hawaii .............................     1 0 0   0   0  0      0   1
Idaho ..............................      1 0 0   0   0  0      0   1
Illinois ..............................   229 2 3   1   0  0      5   222
Indiana ............................    45 1 1   0   0  0      2   43
Iowa ................................       51 0 1   0   0  1      0   49
Kansas ...........................     112 2 2   0   0  1      1   110
Kentucky ........................   63 0 0   0   0  0      0   63
Louisiana ........................  20 0 0   0   0  0      0   20
Maine ..............................      7 0 0   0   0  0      0   7
Maryland ........................   19 0 1   0   0  1      0   17
Massachusetts ..............  20 1 0   0   0  0      0   21
Michigan .........................   36 1 0   0   0  0      0   37
Minnesota .......................  144 1 4   0   0  0      0   141
Mississippi ..................... 20 2 1   0   0  0      1   20
Missouri ..........................   51 0 0   0   0  0      0   51
Montana ..........................    18 1 0   0   0  0      0   19
Nebraska .......................   96 1 1   0   0  0      2   94
Nevada ...........................     8 0 0   0   0  0      0   8
New Hampshire .............  7 0 0   0   0  0      0   7
New Jersey .................... 25 3 0   0   0  0      1   27
New Mexico .................... 21 1 2   0   0  0      0   20
New York ........................   67 2 1   0   0  0      1   67
North Carolina ................ 11 0 0   0   0  1      0   10
North Dakota .................. 18 0 0   0   0  0      0   18
Ohio ................................       105 0 3   0   0  1      2   99
Oklahoma .......................   119 1 0   0   0  2      0   118
Oregon ...........................     5 0 0   0   0  0      0   5
Pennsylvania .................. 108 3 6   0   0  1     4   100
Rhode Island .................. 2 0 0   0   0  0      0   2
South Carolina ................  20 3 0   0   0  1      0   22
South Dakota ..................  23 1 0   0   0  0      0   24
Tennessee ......................  34 0 0   0   0  0      0   34
Texas ..............................      408 8 14   0   0  1      4   397
Utah ................................       8 0 0   0   0  0      0   8
Vermont ..........................    13 0 0   0   0  0      1   12
Virginia ............................   32 4 0   0   0  0      0   36
Washington .................... 20 0 1   0   0  0      1   18
West Virginia .................. 31 0 3   0   0  0      1   27
Wisconsin .......................       61 4 4  0   0  0      1   60
Wyoming ........................    21 1 2   0   0  0      0   20

United States: ................. 2,571 56 61 2  0 14    39  2,511

In operation
January 1,

1999

Organized
and opened
for business Merged

Voluntary
liquidations Payouts

12 USC 214
Converted to
non-national
institutions

Merged with
non-national
institutions

In operation
June 30,

1999

Changes in the corporate structure of the national banking system, by state, January 1 to June 30, 1999

Notes: The column “organized and opened for business” includes all state banks converted to national banks as well as newly formed national
banks. The column titled “merged” is a generic term and includes all mergers, consolidations, and purchases and assumptions of branches
in which the resulting institution is a nationally chartered bank.  Also included in the column are immediate FDIC-assisted “merger” transactions
in which the resulting institution is a nationally chartered bank. The column titled “voluntary liquidations” includes only straight liquidations of
national banks.  No liquidation pursuant to a purchase and assumption transaction is included in this total.  Liquidations resulting from purchase
and assumptions are included in the “merged” column. The column titled “payouts” includes failed national banks in which the FDIC is named
receiver and no other depository institution is named as successor. The column titled “merged with non-national institutions” includes all
mergers, consolidations, and purchase and assumptions of branches in which the resulting institution is a non-national institution. Also included
in this column are immediate FDIC-assisted “merger” transactions in which the resulting institution is a non-national institution.



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999116

Arizona
First Bank of Arizona, N.A., Scottsdale ................................................................................ March 23

California
South County Bank, National Association, Rancho Santa Margarita ............................... February 11

Colorado
First National Bank of Steamboat Springs, Steamboat Springs ....................................... April 29

Florida
Century National Bank, Orlando ............................................................................................ June 23
Citizens National Bank of Southwest Forida, Naples ......................................................... February 12
First National Bank of Nassau County, Fernandina Beach ................................................ January 27
Flagship National Bank, Bradenton ....................................................................................... January 6
Heartland National Bank, Sebring ......................................................................................... January 27
Lehigh Acres First National Bank, Lehigh Acres ................................................................. March 30
National City Interim Trust Company, West Palm Beach ................................................... May 4
Suncoast National Bank, Sarasota ........................................................................................ January 21
West Coast Guaranty Bank, National Association, Sarasota ............................................ January 11

Georgia
Albany Bank & Trust, National Association, Albany ........................................................... February 9
Alliance National Bank, Dalton ................................................................................................ May 27
Cherokee Bank, National Association, Canton .................................................................... April 8
First National Bank of Johns Creek, Forsyth County ......................................................... February 9
United Americas Bank, National Association, Atlanta ........................................................ February 22

Maryland
Harbor Capital National Bank, Rockville .............................................................................. April 21

Minnesota
Washington County Bank, National Association, Oakdale ................................................ January 22

Missouri
Old Missouri National Bank, Springfield .............................................................................. May 14

New Mexico
Interim Bank of America (NM), National Association, Santa Fe ........................................ February 19

Oklahoma
American Bank of Locust Grove, National Association, Locust Grove ........................... April 26
Local Oklahoma Bank, National Association, Oklahoma City ........................................... April 29

South Carolina
Bank of Commerce, National Association, Prosperity ........................................................ January 6
Cornerstone National Bank, Easley ...................................................................................... May 19
Hartsville Community Bank, National Association, Hartsville ............................................ February 12
New Commerce Bank, National Association, Simpsonville ............................................... February 11

Texas
Addison National Bank, Addison ........................................................................................... January 15
Mission National Bank, San Antonio ...................................................................................... January 8

Virginia
Access National Bank, Chantilly ............................................................................................ June 8
Cardinal Bank–Dulles, National Association, Reston .......................................................... May 14
Cardinal Bank–Manassas/Prince William, National Association, Manassas ................... April 2
Millennium Bank, National Association, Reston ................................................................... February 18
Shenandoah Valley National Bank, Winchester ................................................................... January 25
The Bank of Richmond, National Association, Richmond................................................... May 19

Washington
Hometown National Bank, Longview ..................................................................................... June 4

Wyoming
Wyoming National Bank, Riverton ......................................................................................... February 18

Title and location Approved Denied

Applications for new, full-service national bank charters, approved and denied, by state,
January 1 to June 30, 1999
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California
Bessemer Trust Company of California, National Association,

San Francisco ............................................................................. Trust (non-deposit) March 11
Generations Trust Bank, National Association, Long Beach .... Trust (non-deposit) June 8
NextBank, National Association, San Francisco ............................ Credit card May 8

Delaware
The Glenmede Trust Company, National Association,

Wilmington .................................................................................. Trust (non-deposit) April 15

Georgia
Trustmark Bankcard, National Association, Columbus ............. Credit card January 29
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, Atlanta ............................ Trust (non-deposit) March 11

Texas
Beaumont Trust Company, National Association, Beaumont ... Trust (non-deposit) January 5

Applications for new, limited-purpose national bank charters, approved and denied, by state,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Type of bank Approved Denied
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Colorado
First Commerce Bank of Colorado, National Association, Colorado Springs ................ 023825 May 3

Connecticut
Westport National Bank, Westport ........................................................................................ 023664 December 28, 1998

Florida
National City Interim Trust Company, West Palm Beach ................................................... 023894 June 30
West Coast Guaranty Bank, National Association, Sarasota ............................................ 023829 January 12
Flagship National Bank, Bradenton ....................................................................................... 023764 May 18

Georgia
Albany Bank & Trust, National Association, Albany ........................................................... 023752 April 28
North Georgia National Bank, Calhoun................................................................................. 023547 February 10

Kansas
Horizon National Bank, Leawood .......................................................................................... 023748 March 30
University National Bank, Pittsburg ...................................................................................... 023731 January 4

Minnesota
Washington County Bank, National Association, Oakdale ................................................ 023800 April 6

Mississippi
The First National Bank of the Pine Belt, Laurel ................................................................... 023724 January 19
Commerce National Bank, Corinth ........................................................................................ 023710 January 19

Nebraska
First Central Bank McCook, National Association, McCook .............................................. 023734 January 4

New Jersey
Grand Bank, National Association, Monmouth Junction .................................................... 023743 February 23

New Mexico
Interim Bank of America (NM), National Association, Santa Fe ........................................ 023832 April 8

New York
Intervest National Bank, New York ....................................................................................... 023712 April 1
Metropolitan National Bank, New York ................................................................................. 023576 June 21

Oklahoma
Local Oklahoma Bank, National Association, Oklahoma City ........................................... 023900 May 11

South Carolina
New Commerce Bank, National Association, Simpsonville ............................................... 023818 May 17
Hartsville Community Bank, National Association, Hartsville ............................................ 023798 June 15
Seneca National Bank, Seneca .............................................................................................. 023799 February 5

Texas
Mission National Bank, San Antonio ...................................................................................... 023730 March 9
Clear Lake National Bank, San Antonio ................................................................................ 023711 April 2
Fort Worth National Bank, Fort Worth ................................................................................... 023708 April 12
Redstone Bank, National Association, Houston .................................................................. 023686 February 17
South Padre Bank, National Association, South Padre Island .......................................... 023670 March 1
Addison National Bank, Addison ........................................................................................... 020065 April 8

Virginia
Millennium Bank, National Association, Reston ................................................................... 023828 April 1
Shenandoah Valley National Bank, Winchester ................................................................... 023826 May 17

New, full-service national bank charters issued,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Charter number Date opened
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New, full-service national bank charters issued (continued)

Title and location Charter number Date opened

Wisconsin
Associated Interim Bank Lakeshore, National Association, Manitowoc .......................... 023701 November 12, 1998
Associated Interim Bank, National Association, Neenah ................................................... 023700 November 12, 1998
Associated Interim Bank Green Bay, National Association, Green Bay .......................... 023695 November 12, 1998

Wyoming
Wyoming National Bank, Riverton ......................................................................................... 023802 June 14
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Delaware
The Glenmede Trust Company, National Association, Wilmington................................... 023864 June 14
PNC Trust Company Delaware, National Association, Wilmington ................................... 023763 December 1, 1998

Georgia
U.S. Bank Trust, National Association, Atlanta .................................................................... 023863 March 16
Belk National Bank, Norcross ................................................................................................ 023726 May 3

Illinois
D.L. Moody Trust Company, National Association, Chicago ............................................ 023707 February 5

Massachusetts
Cambridge Appleton Trust, National Association, Cambridge ......................................... 023689 January 19

Michigan
King Trust Company, National Association, Spring Arbor ................................................ 023706 January 4

Pennsylvania
First National Trust Company, Hermitage ............................................................................ 023778 January 28
PNC Trust Company Pennsylvania, National Association, Pittsburgh ............................ 023762 December 1, 1998

Texas
Beaumont Trust Company, National Association, Beaumont ............................................ 023794 March 22

Virginia
Old Point Trust & Financial Services, National Association, Newport News .................. 023702 April 1

New, limited-purpose national bank charters issued,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Charter number Date opened
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Georgia
Georgia First Bank, National Association (023837)

conversion of Georgia First Bank, Gainesville .............................................................. February 12 84,630,000

Illinois
Castle Bank, National Association (023817)

conversion of The Sandwich State Bank, Sandwich ..................................................... January 1 102,425,000

Montana
Farmers Bank of Montana, National Association (023803)

conversion of The Farmers State Bank of Montana, Conrad ....................................... January 1 93,829,000

New Jersey
Commerce Bank/Central, National Association (023840)

conversion of Prestige State Bank, Raritan Township .................................................. January 15 319,537,000

South Dakota
Cortrust Bank, National Association (023771)

conversion of Cortrust Bank, Mitchell ............................................................................. January 1 199,572,000

Texas
Citizens Bank, National Association (023834)

conversion of Citizens Bank, Abilene .............................................................................. January 25 36,564,000
Security State Bank, National Association (023867)

conversion of Security State Bank, Ore City .................................................................. February 18 35,942,000

Virginia
First Community Bank, National Association (023892)

conversion of First Community Bank, Inc., Tazewell ..................................................... April 30 397,960,000

Wisconsin
The Bank of Edgar, National Association (023787)

conversion of The Bank of Edgar, Milwaukee ............................................................... January 19 68,097,000

State-chartered banks converted to full-service national banks,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Effective date Total assets
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Nonbanking institutions converted to full-service national banks,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Effective date Total assets

Indiana
ONB Bloomington, National Association (023836)

conversion of ONB Bloomington, FSB, Bloomington ..................................................... December 31, 1998 351,611,000

New Jersey
Banco Popular, National Association (New Jersey) (023776)

conversion of Banco Popular, FSB, Newark .................................................................. December 31, 1998 1,557,098,000

Pennsylvania
NC Interim National Bank (023780)

conversion of First Federal Savings Bank of New Castle, New Castle ...................... February 12 401,089,000
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Voluntary liquidations of national banks,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Charter number Effective date

Delaware
JCPenney National Bank, Harrington ................................................................................... 003883 December 17, 1998

Illinois
Household Bank (Illinois), National Association, Prospect Heights ................................. 018767 December 31, 1998



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999124

Alabama
The First National Bank of Opelika, Opelika ........................................................................ 003452 December 31, 1998

Arkansas
The First National Bank of Nashville, Nashville .................................................................... 011113 November 19, 1998
First National Bank, Searcy .................................................................................................... 015631 November 20, 1998

California
First Central Bank, National Association, Cerritos .............................................................. 018695 May 28
Banco Popular, National Association (California), City of Commerce .............................. 017817 January 1
Pacific National Bank, Newport Beach ................................................................................. 017166 February 26

Colorado
Aurora National Bank, Aurora ................................................................................................. 015126 April 1
Aurora National Bank–South, Aurora .................................................................................... 017143 April 1

Delaware
CoreStates Bank of Delaware, National Association, Wilmington ..................................... 018011 October 19, 1998
PNC Trust Company Delaware, National Association, Wilmington ................................... 023763 December 1, 1998

District of Columbia
Franklin National Bank of Washington, D.C., Washington ................................................. 017899 February 19

Florida
Banco Popular, National Association–Florida, Sanford ...................................................... 021061 December 31, 1998

Illinois
First National Bank of Evergreen Park, Evergreen Park ................................................... 014618 December 12, 1998
Heartland National Bank, Herrin ............................................................................................ 023075 June 18
Central National Bank of Mattoon, Mattoon .......................................................................... 014416 September 18, 1998
Citizens Bank of Illinois, National Association, Mt. Vernon ................................................ 023252 December 31, 1998
The First National Bank of Central Illinois, Springfield ........................................................ 000205 September 18, 1998

Indiana
Citizens Trust Company of Indiana, National Association, Evansville ............................. 022962 December 31, 1998
The Citizens National Bank of Evansville, Evansville ......................................................... 002188 December 31, 1998

Kansas
Peoples National Bank, Overland Park ................................................................................ 023069 January 1

Mississippi
First National Bank of Bolivar County, Cleveland ............................................................... 015124 December 31, 1998

Nebraska
Ogallala National Bank, Ogallala ........................................................................................... 023319 January 4
Wauneta Falls Bank, National Association, Wauneta .......................................................... 023318 January 4

New Jersey
Banco Popular, National Association (New Jersey), Newark ........................................... 023776 January 1

New York
First National Bank of Rochester, Rochester ....................................................................... 015556 June 1

Ohio
American Community Bank, National Association, Lima .................................................... 018342 December 4, 1998
AmeriFirst Bank, National Association, Xenia ...................................................................... 022623 December 4, 1998

National banks merged out of the national banking system,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Charter number Effective date
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Pennsylvania
The First National Bank of Jermyn, Jermyn ......................................................................... 006158 February 27
NBO National Bank, Olyphant ................................................................................................ 014079 February 27
The Century National Bank and Trust Company, Rochester ............................................ 004549 December 29, 1998
The First National Bank of Spring Mills, Spring Mills .......................................................... 011213 January 11

Texas
Addison National Bank, Addison ........................................................................................... 020065 January 8
Caldwell National Bank, Caldwell ........................................................................................... 006607 April 7
Clear Lake National Bank, Houston ...................................................................................... 017113 April 9
Brazos Bank, National Association, Joshua ........................................................................ 016358 December 31, 1998

Vermont
The Woodstock National Bank, Woodstock ......................................................................... 001133 May 21

Washington
Pioneer National Bank, Yakima .............................................................................................. 016663 January 23

West Virginia
One Valley Bank of Clarksburg, National Association, Clarksburg ................................. 007029 November 16, 1998

Wisconsin
Evergreen Bank, National Association, Poy Sippi .............................................................. 023221 March 15

National banks merged out of the national banking system (continued)

Title and location Charter number Date opened
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National banks converted out of the national banking system,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

Title and location Effective date Total assets

Arkansas
First Community Bank, National Association, Conway (023270) ...................................... April 15 160,691,000

California
United Security Bank, National Association, Fresno (020993) ......................................... February 3 278,497,000

Georgia
First National Bank of Union County, Blairsville (017171) .................................................. March 29 46,838,000
Security National Bank, Macon (021715) ............................................................................. March 1 160,241,000

Iowa
The Lakes National Bank, Arnolds Park (015933) .............................................................. January 1 41,000,000

Kansas
First National Bank and Trust Osawatomie, Kansas, Osawatomie (012439) ................. January 1 73,231,000

Maryland
The First National Bank of Maryland, Baltimore  (001413) ................................................ December 31, 1998 17,000,000,000

North Carolina
First National Bank Southeast, Reidsville (011229) ............................................................ March 15 420,390,000

Ohio
Mid American National Bank and Trust, Toledo (015416) ................................................. January 23 801,222,000

Oklahoma
Bank of Commerce, National Association, Catoosa (023265) .......................................... December 16, 1998 24,064,000
Security National Bank of Sapulpa, Sapulpa (014751) ...................................................... March 19 87,407,000

Pennsylvania
Southwest National Bank of Pennsylvania, Greensburg (005351) .................................. December 30, 1998 955,000,000

South Carolina
Greenville National Bank, Greenville (018097) .................................................................... March 26 140,631,000

Texas
First National Bank in Lockney, Lockney (014604) ............................................................ March 11 64,307,000
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Federal branches
California ........................................................................... 2 0 0 2
Connecticut ...................................................................... 1 0 0 1
District of Columbia ......................................................... 1 0 0 1
New York .......................................................................... 42 0 0 42
Washington ...................................................................... 1 0 0 1

Limited federal branches
California ........................................................................... 8 0 0 8
District of Columbia ......................................................... 2 0 0 2
New York .......................................................................... 3 0 0 3

Federal agency
Illinois ................................................................................ 1 0 0 1

Total United States .......................................................... 61 0 0 61

Federal branches and agencies of foreign banks in operation,
January 1 to June 30, 1999

In operation Opened Closed In operation
January 1, 1999 January 1—June 30 January 1—June 30 June 30, 1999
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Number of institutions 2,546 2,409 (137) (5.38)

Total assets ................................................................. $2,978,610 $3,193,021 $214,411 7.20

Cash and balances due from depositories ............ 205,009 197,351 (7,658) (3.74)
Noninterest-bearing balances,

currency and coin ........................................... 146,914 139,446 (7,468) (5.08)
Interest bearing balances .................................... 58,095 57,905 (190) (0.33)

Securities .................................................................. 473,600 546,637 73,037 15.42
Held-to-maturity securities, amortized cost ....... 65,243 55,578 (9,664) (14.81)
Available-for-sale securities, fair value ............... 408,357 491,059 82,701 20.25

Federal funds sold and securities purchased ......... 95,754 106,183 10,429 10.89
Net loans and leases ............................................... 1,887,138 2,007,053 119,915 6.35

Total loans and leases .......................................... 1,923,481 2,044,316 120,835 6.28
Loans and leases, gross ................................ 1,925,622 2,046,147 120,525 6.26
Less: Unearned income .................................. 2,141 1,831 (310) (14.48)

Less: Reserve for losses ..................................... 36,343 37,263 920 2.53
Assets held in trading account ................................. 92,287 85,137 (7,149) (7.75)
Other real estate owned .......................................... 1,982 1,674 (308) (15.54)
Intangible assets ..................................................... 61,993 70,403 8,410 13.57
All other assets ........................................................ 160,847 178,582 17,734 11.03

Total liabilities and equity capital ................................ 2,978,610 3,193,021 214,411 7.20

Deposits in domestic offices ................................ 1,708,310 1,755,783 47,473 2.78
Deposits in foreign offices ................................... 327,123 366,194 39,072 11.94

Total deposits .......................................................... 2,035,432 2,121,977 86,545 4.25
Noninterest-bearing deposits ............................. 422,028 429,414 7,385 1.75
Interest-bearing deposits .................................... 1,613,404 1,692,564 79,160 4.91

Federal funds purchased and securities sold ......... 219,351 273,061 53,710 24.49
Demand notes issued to U.S. Treasury ................. 28,006 26,771 (1,235) (4.41)
Other borrowed money ........................................... 232,199 279,644 47,444 20.43

With remaining maturity of one year or less ....... 152,415 171,365 18,950 12.43
With remaining maturity of more than one year .. 79,784 108,279 28,494 35.71

Trading liabilities less revaluation losses ............... 17,649 17,756 107 0.61
Subordinated notes and debentures ...................... 47,805 54,898 7,093 14.84
All other liabilities ...................................................... 134,615 141,988 7,373 5.48

Trading liabilities revaluation losses .................... 47,665 48,622 957 2.01
Other ...................................................................... 86,949 93,366 6,416 7.38

Total equity capital ..................................................... 263,552 276,926 13,374 5.07
Perpetual preferred stock ...................................... 505 784 279 55.34
Common stock ......................................................... 17,403 16,613 (790) (4.54)
Surplus ..................................................................... 133,626 143,743 10,117 7.57
Net undivided profits and capital reserves .......... 113,029 116,803 3,774 3.34
Cumulative foreign currency

translation adjustment .......................................... (1,011) (1,017) (6) NM

Assets, liabilities, and capital accounts of national banks
June 30, 1998 and June 30, 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Amount Percent
Consolidated
foreign and
domestic

Consolidated
foreign and
domestic

NM indicates calculated percent change is not meaningful.

Change
June 30, 1998–June 30, 1999

fully consolidated
June 30, 1999June 30, 1998
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Number of institutions 2,546 2,409 (137) (5.38)

Net income ................................................................... $9,575 $11,025 $1,450 15.14

Net interest income ................................................... 27,620 28,741 1,121 4.06
Total interest income ............................................. 52,743 53,312 569 1.08

On loans ........................................................... 40,987 39,633 (1,354) (3.30)
From lease financing receivables .................. 1,475 1,895 420 28.51
On balances due from depositories ............. 623 890 267 42.83
On securities .................................................... 7,623 8,883 1,259 16.52
From assets held in trading account ............. 831 674 (157) (18.88)
On federal funds sold and

securities repurchased ............................. 1,204 1,338 133 11.07
Less: Interest expense ........................................ 25,123 24,571 (552) (2.20)

On deposits ..................................................... 17,482 16,505 (977) (5.59)
Of federal funds purchased and

securities sold ............................................ 2,864 3,040 176 6.13
On demand notes and

other borrowed money* ............................ 3,987 4,197 210 5.27
On subordinated notes and debentures ...... 789 829 40 5.07

Less: Provision for losses ....................................... 3,555 3,657 102 2.86
Noninterest income ................................................... 19,083 22,634 3,550 18.60

From fiduciary activities ....................................... 2,280 2,429 150 6.57
Service charges on deposits .............................. 3,411 3,716 305 8.94
Trading revenue .................................................... 1,204 1,187 (17) (1.44)

From interest rate exposures ......................... 488 535 48 9.75
From foreign exchange exposures ............... 629 634 5 0.79
From equity security and index exposures .. 48 37 (11) NM
From commodity and other exposures ......... 40 (19) (59) NM

Total other noninterest income ............................. 12,188 15,295 3,107 25.50
Gains/losses on securities ...................................... 464 219 (245) NM
Less: Noninterest expense ..................................... 28,457 30,671 2,215 7.78

Salaries and employee benefits .......................... 11,279 12,094 815 7.23
Of premises and fixed assets ............................. 3,529 3,774 245 6.95
Other noninterest expense .................................. 13,649 14,804 1,154 8.46

Less: Taxes on income before extraordinary items .... 5,568 6,240 671 12.06
Income/loss from extraordinary items,

net of income taxes ............................................... (11) (0) 11 (96.68)

Memoranda:
Net operating income ................................................. 9,288 10,891 1,603 17.26
Income before taxes and extraordinary items ........ 15,155 17,265 2,110 13.93
Income net of taxes before extraordinary items ..... 9,587 11,025 1,439 15.01
Cash dividends declared .......................................... 3,855 8,889 5,034 130.58
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .............. 3,359 3,240 (119) (3.53)

Charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .................. 4,342 4,165 (177) (4.07)
Less: Recoveries credited to

loan and lease reserve ......................................... 984 925 (58) (5.92)

Quarterly income and expenses of national banks
Second quarter 1998 and second quarter 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Amount Percent
Consolidated
foreign and
domestic

Consolidated
foreign and
domestic

Change
Second quarter 1998–second quarter 1999

fully consolidated
Second quarter

1999
Second quarter

1998

* Includes mortgage indebtedness
NM indicates calculated percent change is not meaningful.
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Number of institutions 2,546 2,409 (137) (5.38)

Net income ................................................................... $19,552 $21,589 $2,036 10.41

Net interest income ................................................... 54,534 57,468 2,934 5.38
Total interest income ............................................. 104,997 107,232 2,234 2.13

On loans ........................................................... 80,676 80,481 (195) (0.24)
From lease financing receivables .................. 2,930 3,758 828 28.27
On balances due from depositories ............. 1,783 1,737 (46) (2.57)
On securities .................................................... 15,120 17,196 2,076 13.73
From assets held in trading account ............. 1,663 1,342 (321) (19.28)
On federal funds sold and

securities repurchased ............................. 2,826 2,718 (108) (3.84)
Less: Interest expense ........................................ 50,463 49,763 (700) (1.39)

On deposits ..................................................... 35,168 33,498 (1,670) (4.75)
Of federal funds purchased and

securities sold ............................................ 6,072 6,083 11 0.18
On demand notes and

other borrowed money* ............................ 7,649 8,505 857 11.20
On subordinated notes and debentures ...... 1,574 1,677 103 6.52

Less: Provision for losses ....................................... 6,744 7,734 991 14.69
Noninterest income ................................................... 37,366 45,166 7,800 20.87

From fiduciary activities ....................................... 4,415 4,726 312 7.06
Service charges on deposits .............................. 6,674 7,219 545 8.16
Trading revenue .................................................... 2,356 2,728 372 15.79

From interest rate exposures ......................... 794 1,202 409 51.48
From foreign exchange exposures ............... 1,364 1,352 (12) (0.87)
From equity security and index exposures .. 140 166 26 18.95
From commodity and other exposures ......... 58 7 (51) (87.66)

Total other noninterest income ............................. 23,922 30,493 6,571 27.47
Gains/losses on securities ...................................... 1,083 587 (496) (45.78)
Less: Noninterest expense ..................................... 56,406 61,845 5,439 9.64

Salaries and employee benefits .......................... 22,241 24,351 2,110 9.49
Of premises and fixed assets ............................. 6,953 7,705 752 10.81
Other noninterest expense .................................. 27,212 29,789 2,577 9.47

Less: Taxes on income before extraordinary items .... 10,808 12,022 1,214 11.23
Income/loss from extraordinary items,

net of income taxes ............................................... 526 (32) (558) NM

Memoranda:
Net operating income ................................................. 18,327 21,234 2,907 15.86
Income before taxes and extraordinary items ........ 29,835 33,643 3,808 12.76
Income net of taxes before extraordinary items ..... 19,027 21,621 2,594 13.63
Cash dividends declared .......................................... 11,523 14,082 2,559 22.20
Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .............. 6,547 6,926 379 5.79

Charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .................. 8,511 8,811 300 3.52
Less: Recoveries credited to

loan and lease reserve ......................................... 1,964 1,885 (79) (4.03)

Year-to-date income and expenses of national banks
Through June 30, 1998 and through June 30, 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Amount Percent
Consolidated
foreign and
domestic

Consolidated
foreign and
domestic

Change
June 30, 1998–June 30, 1999

fully consolidated
June 30, 1999June 30, 1998

* Includes mortgage indebtedness
NM indicates calculated percent change is not meaningful.
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Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Total assets ............................................................... $3,193,021 $61,469 $259,935 $405,504 $2,466,113 $5,467,745

Cash and balances due from ................................ 197,351 3,254 12,117 21,791 160,189 330,182
Securities ................................................................ 546,637 17,214 70,782 90,379 368,262 1,007,111
Federal funds sold and securities purchased ....... 106,183 3,279 7,678 11,803 83,423 259,238
Net loans and leases ............................................. 2,007,053 34,908 156,992 249,882 1,565,270 3,250,839

Total loans and leases ........................................ 2,044,316 35,386 159,305 255,958 1,593,666 3,308,430
Loans and leases, gross ................................. 2,046,147 35,497 159,621 256,032 1,594,997 3,311,982
Less: Unearned income .................................. 1,831 111 316 73 1,330 3,552

Less: Reserve for losses ................................... 37,263 478 2,312 6,076 28,396 57,591
Assets held in trading account ............................... 85,137 7 184 903 84,043 231,822
Other real estate owned ........................................ 1,674 64 222 170 1,218 2,915
Intangible assets ................................................... 70,403 215 1,553 9,520 59,115 85,539
All other assets ...................................................... 178,582 2,528 10,406 21,055 144,593 300,100

Gross loans and leases by type:
Loans secured by real estate ............................... 770,457 19,957 95,632 118,352 536,516 1,373,189

1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 378,174 9,510 43,955 59,126 265,581 663,159
Home equity loans .............................................. 60,298 427 3,922 8,056 47,893 91,756
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 25,554 425 3,180 4,825 17,124 47,307
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 205,312 5,748 32,752 33,989 132,822 391,134
Construction RE loans ........................................ 62,609 1,510 7,854 10,858 42,388 118,124
Farmland loans .................................................... 11,324 2,337 3,946 1,311 3,731 30,603
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 27,186 0 24 186 26,977 31,105

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 609,979 6,138 28,606 49,379 525,855 936,064
Loans to individuals ............................................... 351,252 5,041 25,174 72,417 248,621 534,399

Credit cards ........................................................ 143,216 239 4,939 40,399 97,638 192,872
Installment loans ................................................. 208,037 4,802 20,234 32,018 150,982 341,527

All other loans and leases ..................................... 178,582 2,528 10,406 21,055 144,593 300,100

Securities by type:
U.S. Treasury securities ....................................... 61,187 2,342 7,774 7,851 43,220 118,365
Mortgage-backed securities .................................. 256,603 3,827 22,835 46,858 183,083 445,795

Pass-through securities ..................................... 172,185 2,629 14,497 29,462 125,596 281,596
Collateralized mortgage obligations ................. 84,418 1,197 8,338 17,397 57,487 164,199

Other securities ...................................................... 228,847 11,045 40,174 35,670 141,959 442,950
Other U.S. government securities ..................... 79,512 7,518 24,084 18,112 29,798 199,160
State and local government securities ............. 39,392 2,823 11,776 7,806 16,986 87,971
Other debt securities ......................................... 90,749 367 2,644 6,530 81,207 122,928
Equity securities ................................................. 19,195 337 1,669 3,222 13,967 32,891

Memoranda:
Agricultural production loans .................................. 20,475 3,775 5,251 2,495 8,954 46,017
Pledged securities ................................................... 269,679 5,523 30,313 38,250 195,593 482,036
Book value of securities .......................................... 554,174 17,373 71,494 91,355 373,952 1,018,180

Available-for-sale securities .................................. 498,596 13,655 57,099 75,264 352,577 872,951
Held-to-maturity securities ................................... 55,578 3,718 14,395 16,091 21,375 145,229

Market value of securities ....................................... 546,310 17,201 70,688 90,237 368,184 1,005,920
Available-for-sale securities .................................. 491,059 13,496 56,387 74,289 346,887 861,882
Held-to-maturity securities ................................... 55,251 3,705 14,300 15,948 21,297 144,038

Assets of national banks by asset size
June 30, 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than
$100
million

National banks

$100
million to
$1 billion

$1 billion
to $10
billion

Greater
than $10

billion

All
national
banks

Memoranda:
All

commercial
banks



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999 135

Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Loans and leases past due 30–89 days ................. $22,877 $468 $1,877 $3,411 $17,121 $36,972

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 8,088 221 868 1,082 5,916 13,950
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 4,279 134 480 583 3,082 7,563
Home equity loans .............................................. 459 3 26 68 362 692
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 130 2 15 23 89 276
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 1,979 43 249 288 1,399 3,361
Construction RE loans ........................................ 730 18 65 106 541 1,335
Farmland loans .................................................... 127 21 33 14 59 313
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 384 0 0 0 384 410

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 5,315 146 453 601 4,116 8,577
Loans to individuals ............................................... 7,831 99 503 1,546 5,683 11,654

Credit cards ........................................................ 3,459 5 179 994 2,280 4,705
Installment loans ................................................. 4,373 94 324 552 3,403 6,949

All other loans and leases ..................................... 1,642 1 53 181 1,407 2,791

Loans and leases past due 90+ days .................... 6,179 133 445 1,202 4,399 9,436

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 1,747 60 174 290 1,223 2,956
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 1,125 28 95 172 830 1,781
Home equity loans .............................................. 82 1 7 19 55 130
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 46 1 4 7 35 73
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 284 15 44 64 161 560
Construction RE loans ........................................ 155 2 10 21 122 254
Farmland loans .................................................... 42 13 15 5 9 142
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 13 0 0 1 12 16

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 727 54 98 73 502 1,378
Loans to individuals ............................................... 3,315 20 158 819 2,318 4,592

Credit cards ........................................................ 2,226 3 110 681 1,432 2,776
Installment loans ................................................. 1,088 17 48 138 886 1,816

All other loans and leases ..................................... 390 0 15 20 355 510

Nonaccrual loans and leases ................................... 13,528 248 888 1,066 11,326 21,721

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 5,391 110 451 550 4,279 8,697
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 1,966 42 185 243 1,497 3,432
Home equity loans .............................................. 124 1 9 16 97 197
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 166 1 11 14 140 257
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 1,871 33 180 228 1,431 2,998
Construction RE loans ........................................ 366 5 27 35 298 727
Farmland loans .................................................... 165 28 39 14 85 309
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 732 0 0 0 732 775

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 5,454 119 331 296 4,708 8,999
Loans to individuals ............................................... 1,598 17 70 139 1,373 2,531

Credit cards ........................................................ 283 0 20 100 162 839
Installment loans ................................................. 1,316 16 51 38 1,210 1,692

All other loans and leases ..................................... 1,085 2 35 81 966 1,494

Past-due and nonaccrual loans and leases of national banks by asset size
June 30, 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than
$100
million

National banks

$100
million to
$1 billion

$1 billion
to $10
billion

Greater
than $10

billion

All
national
banks

Memoranda:
All

commercial
banks
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Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Total liabilities and equity capital .............................. $3,193,021 $61,469 $259,935 $405,504 $2,466,113 $5,467,745

Deposits in domestic offices .............................. $1,755,783 $52,377 $210,729 $255,898 $1,236,779 $3,086,707
Deposits in foreign offices ................................. 366,194 0 482 3,166 362,546 594,111

Total deposits ........................................................ 2,121,977 52,377 211,211 259,064 1,599,325 3,680,818
Noninterest to earnings ...................................... 429,414 8,244 34,042 46,460 340,667 708,384
Interest bearing .................................................. 1,692,564 44,133 177,169 212,604 1,258,658 2,972,434

Other borrowed funds ........................................... 597,232 1,882 21,396 91,765 482,189 963,120
Subordinated notes and debentures .................... 54,898 3 176 3,594 51,125 74,570
All other liabilities .................................................... 141,988 566 2,927 9,014 129,481 283,050
Equity capital .......................................................... 276,926 6,640 24,224 42,069 203,992 466,187

Total deposits by depositor:
Individuals and corporations ................................ 1,906,429 47,605 192,731 240,217 1,425,876 3,308,137
U.S., state, and local governments ..................... 72,417 3,957 14,481 11,216 42,763 141,532
Depositories in the U.S. ........................................ 63,128 435 2,457 5,102 55,134 85,678
Foreign banks and governments ........................ 65,947 1 184 1,046 64,716 118,806
Certified and official checks ................................. 10,340 379 1,358 1,477 7,125 18,641
All other foreign office deposits ........................... 3,716 0 0 6 3,710 8,024

Domestic deposits by depositor:
Individuals and corporations ................................ 1,636,042 47,605 192,437 237,608 1,158,391 2,870,656
U.S., state, and local governments ..................... 72,417 3,957 14,481 11,216 42,763 141,532
Depositories in the U.S. ........................................ 33,044 435 2,397 5,086 25,126 48,118
Foreign banks and governments ........................ 4,806 1 56 510 4,240 8,731
Certified and official checks ................................. 9,474 379 1,358 1,477 6,259 17,670

Foreign deposits by depositor:
Individuals and corporations .................................. 270,387 0 293 2,609 267,485 437,481
Depositories in the U.S. ........................................... 30,084 0 60 16 30,008 37,560
Foreign banks and governments ........................... 61,141 0 129 536 60,476 110,075
Certified and official checks .................................... 866 0 0 0 866 971
All other deposits ..................................................... 3,716 0 0 6 3,710 8,024

Deposits in domestic offices by type:
Transaction deposits ............................................. 397,895 15,798 54,714 52,358 275,026 695,169

Demand deposits ............................................... 327,578 8,241 32,446 41,725 245,166 541,477
NOW accounts .................................................... 68,518 7,369 21,874 10,418 28,857 150,437

Savings deposits .................................................. 761,272 11,018 61,346 108,730 580,178 1,228,026
Money market deposit accounts ....................... 526,829 5,757 36,949 69,441 414,682 819,592
Other savings deposits ..................................... 234,444 5,261 24,398 39,289 165,496 408,434

Time deposits ......................................................... 596,616 25,561 94,670 94,811 381,575 1,163,512
Small time deposits ............................................. 389,516 18,440 65,369 63,303 242,405 735,641
Large time deposits ........................................... 207,100 7,121 29,301 31,508 139,170 427,871

Liabilities of national banks by asset size
June 30, 1999
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Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Unused commitments .............................................. $2,710,232 $80,516 $165,961 $539,415 $1,924,340 $3,724,744
Home equity lines .................................................. 90,716 366 4,184 10,222 75,944 127,247
Credit card lines .................................................... 1,566,443 75,811 135,436 469,619 885,576 1,993,280
Commercial RE, construction and land ............... 82,742 1,112 7,094 11,294 63,242 143,196
All other unused commitments ............................. 970,332 3,227 19,246 48,280 899,578 1,461,022

Letters of credit:
Standby letters of credit ........................................ 138,615 147 1,640 7,243 129,585 218,866

Financial letters of credit .................................... 111,164 95 1,023 5,654 104,392 180,158
Performance letters of credit ............................. 27,451 52 617 1,589 25,193 38,708

Commercial letters of credit .................................... 19,760 32 563 729 18,435 29,841

Securities borrowed and lent:
Securities borrowed .............................................. 17,035 22 475 4,232 12,305 23,069
Securities lent ........................................................ 59,130 0 1,307 6,378 51,445 396,847

Financial assets transferred with recourse:
Mortgages—outstanding principal balance ....... 23,071 107 173 5,489 17,303 41,960
Mortgages—amount of recourse exposure ....... 4,227 52 161 547 3,467 8,465
All other—outstanding principal balance ............ 244,227 1 1,622 74,762 167,842 272,867
All other—amount of recourse exposure ............ 17,661 0 389 4,955 12,317 21,138

Spot foreign exchange contracts ............................. 255,281 0 2 24 255,255 496,528

Credit derivatives (notional value)
Reporting bank is the guarantor .......................... 19,500 0 30 30 19,440 87,148
Reporting bank is the beneficiary ........................ 37,916 0 0 0 37,916 123,332

Derivative contracts  (notional value) ..................... 10,982,091 73 2,986 41,891 10,937,140 33,003,585
Futures and forward contracts ............................... 3,857,041 48 170 3,275 3,853,547 9,917,536

Interest rate contracts ........................................ 1,732,202 48 98 2,902 1,729,154 5,474,413
Foreign exchange contracts .............................. 2,074,334 0 72 374 2,073,888 4,339,685
All other futures and forwards ........................... 50,505 0 0 0 50,505 103,438

Option contracts .................................................... 2,726,780 25 810 9,021 2,716,925 7,456,369
Interest rate contracts ........................................ 2,115,394 25 806 9,018 2,105,546 5,653,749
Foreign exchange contracts .............................. 452,411 0 0 1 452,410 1,248,875
All other options .................................................. 158,975 0 4 2 158,969 553,746

Swaps .................................................................... 4,340,855 0 1,977 29,565 4,309,312 15,419,199
Interest rate contracts ........................................ 4,140,008 0 1,977 28,883 4,109,149 14,604,319
Foreign exchange contracts .............................. 170,359 0 0 667 169,692 717,663
All other swaps ................................................... 30,488 0 0 16 30,472 97,217

Memoranda: Derivatives by purpose
Contracts held for trading .................................... 10,002,971 48 111 5,704 9,997,109 31,325,743
Contracts not held for trading .............................. 921,704 26 2,846 36,157 882,675 1,467,362

Memoranda:  Derivatives by position
Held for trading—positive fair value .................... 120,861 0 0 61 120,800 400,891
Held for trading—negative fair value ................... 120,293 0 1 35 120,257 397,756
Not for trading—positive fair value ...................... 5,797 0 11 112 5,674 9,647
Not for trading—negative fair value ..................... 5,112 0 14 191 4,907 8,478

Off-balance-sheet items of national banks by asset size
June 30, 1999
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Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Net income ................................................................. $11,025 $173 $902 $1,926 $8,025 $16,962

Net interest income ................................................. 28,741 625 2,666 4,334 21,116 47,780
Total interest income ........................................... 53,312 1,097 4,669 7,425 40,120 89,894

On loans ............................................................ 39,633 792 3,465 5,653 29,724 64,959
From lease financing receivables ................... 1,895 4 25 83 1,783 2,624
On balances due from depositories .............. 890 11 31 50 798 1,601
On securities .................................................... 8,883 244 1,036 1,458 6,145 15,644
From assets held in trading account ............. 674 0 2 15 657 1,839
On federal funds sold and

securities repurchased ................................. 1,338 47 111 165 1,015 3,227
Less: Interest expense ...................................... 24,571 472 2,003 3,091 19,004 42,114

On deposits ...................................................... 16,505 450 1,755 1,953 12,346 29,183
Of federal funds purchased and

securities sold ............................................... 3,040 7 106 518 2,410 5,193
On demand notes and

other borrowed money* ................................ 4,197 15 139 566 3,477 6,571
On subordinated notes and debentures ....... 829 0 3 55 771 1,168

Less: Provision for losses ..................................... 3,657 34 194 756 2,673 4,926
Noninterest income ................................................. 22,634 395 1,357 4,218 16,663 34,513

From fiduciary activities ..................................... 2,429 3 257 283 1,887 5,093
Service charges on deposits ............................ 3,716 71 273 426 2,946 5,371
Trading revenue .................................................. 1,187 3 4 16 1,164 2,178

From interest rate exposures ......................... 535 3 4 8 520 794
From foreign exchange exposures ................ 634 0 0 (1) 634 1,079
From equity security and index exposures ... 37 0 0 6 31 264
From commodity and other exposures ......... (19) 0 0 3 (22) 41

Total other noninterest income ........................... 15,295 318 824 3,487 10,666 21,865
Gains/losses on securities .................................... 219 1 4 23 191 141
Less: Noninterest expense ................................... 30,671 748 2,521 4,823 22,580 50,811

Salaries and employee benefits ........................ 12,094 307 1,090 1,451 9,246 21,694
Of premises and fixed assets ........................... 3,774 79 304 458 2,933 6,226
Other noninterest expense ................................ 14,804 362 1,127 2,914 10,400 22,892

Less: Taxes on income before
extraordinary items .............................................. 6,240 66 410 1,069 4,694 9,736

Income/loss from extraord. items,
net of taxes .......................................................... (32) (1) (0) (6) (26) (34)

Memoranda:
Net operating income ............................................... 10,891 172 899 1,911 7,908 16,910
Income before taxes and extraordinary items ...... 17,265 239 1,312 2,996 12,719 26,698
Income net of taxes before extraordinary items ... 11,025 173 902 1,926 8,025 16,962
Cash dividends declared ........................................ 8,889 101 735 1,053 7,001 13,653
Net loan and lease losses ....................................... 3,240 22 140 670 2,408 4,577

Charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ................ 4,165 32 198 817 3,118 5,956
Less: Recoveries credited to

loan and lease reserve ....................................... 925 10 59 147 710 1,379

Quarterly income and expenses of national banks by asset size
Second quarter 1999
(Dollar figures in millions)

* Includes mortgage indebtedness

Less than
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Year-to-date income and expenses of national banks by asset size
Through June 30, 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Net income ................................................................. $21,589 $368 $2,011 $3,445 $15,764 $34,936

Net interest income ................................................. 57,468 1,224 5,235 8,668 42,342 95,154
Total interest income ........................................... 107,232 2,163 9,220 14,835 81,014 180,134

On loans ............................................................ 80,481 1,555 6,837 11,476 60,614 130,804
From lease financing receivables ................... 3,758 8 49 161 3,540 5,207
On balances due from depositories .............. 1,737 22 55 101 1,558 3,182
On securities .................................................... 17,196 479 2,042 2,712 11,962 30,598
From assets held in trading account ............. 1,342 0 4 35 1,303 3,769
On federal funds sold and

securities repurchased ................................. 2,718 99 233 350 2,036 6,574
Less: Interest expense ...................................... 49,763 939 3,986 6,166 38,672 84,980

On deposits ...................................................... 33,498 897 3,502 3,932 25,167 58,921
Of federal funds purchased and

securities sold ............................................... 6,083 13 205 997 4,868 10,417
On demand notes and

other borrowed money* ................................ 8,505 30 272 1,126 7,078 13,287
On subordinated notes and debentures ....... 1,677 0 7 111 1,559 2,355

Less: Provision for losses ..................................... 7,734 61 392 1,694 5,587 10,336
Noninterest income ................................................. 45,166 741 3,047 8,005 33,373 69,198

From fiduciary activities ..................................... 4,726 6 488 550 3,681 9,874
Service charges on deposits ............................ 7,219 139 525 836 5,718 10,435
Trading revenue .................................................. 2,728 5 6 55 2,662 5,771

From interest rate exposures ......................... 1,202 5 5 36 1,156 2,228
From foreign exchange exposures ................ 1,352 0 1 0 1,351 2,703
From equity security and index exposures ... 166 0 0 13 153 555
From commodity and other exposures ......... 7 0 0 5 2 286

Total other noninterest income ........................... 30,493 590 2,028 6,564 21,311 43,118
Gains/losses on securities .................................... 587 2 23 53 509 708
Less: Noninterest expense ................................... 61,845 1,407 4,955 9,657 45,825 100,396

Salaries and employee benefits ........................ 24,351 601 2,166 2,903 18,681 42,907
Of premises and fixed assets ........................... 7,705 153 601 904 6,046 12,591
Other noninterest expense ................................ 29,789 654 2,188 5,850 21,097 44,897

Less: Taxes on income before
extraordinary items .............................................. 12,022 129 947 1,925 9,021 19,359

Income/loss from extraordinary items,
net of taxes .......................................................... (32) (1) (0) (6) (26) (34)

Memoranda:
Net operating income ............................................... 21,234 367 1,995 3,416 15,456 34,533
Income before taxes and extraordinary items ...... 33,643 498 2,958 5,376 24,811 54,329
Income net of taxes before extraordinary items ... 21,621 369 2,011 3,451 15,790 34,970
Cash dividends declared ........................................ 14,082 237 1,275 1,989 10,581 22,705
Net loan and lease losses ....................................... 6,926 37 282 1,377 5,229 9,574

Charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ................ 8,811 59 397 1,678 6,676 12,360
Less: Recoveries credited to

loan and lease reserve ....................................... 1,885 22 115 300 1,447 2,786

Less than
$100
million

National banks

$100
million to
$1 billion

$1 billion
to $10
billion

Greater
than $10

billion

All
national
banks

Memoranda:
All

commercial
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* Includes mortgage indebtedness



Quarterly Journal, Vol. 18, No. 3, September 1999140

Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .............. $3,240 $22 $140 $670 $2,408 $4,577

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 145 2 11 28 104 220
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 101 1 6 20 74 150
Home equity loans .............................................. 29 0 1 4 24 37
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 1 0 1 1 (0) 1
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 4 1 3 (1) 2 16
Construction RE loans ........................................ 7 0 0 4 3 14
Farmland loans .................................................... 2 0 1 1 0 3
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 1 0 0 (0) 1 (1)

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 836 12 32 50 741 1,282
Loans to individuals ............................................... 2,108 8 90 582 1,428 2,868

Credit cards ........................................................ 1,584 1 64 519 1,000 2,131
Installment loans ................................................. 524 7 26 63 428 736

All other loans and leases ..................................... 151 0 7 10 134 207

Charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ................... 4,165 32 198 817 3,118 5,956

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 261 3 16 42 201 392
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 126 1 9 24 92 191
Home equity loans .............................................. 42 0 1 6 35 53
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 4 0 1 1 2 9
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 63 1 5 6 51 96
Construction RE loans ........................................ 12 0 0 4 7 24
Farmland loans .................................................... 3 0 1 1 1 6
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 13 0 0 (0) 13 14

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 1,023 16 49 71 887 1,609
Loans to individuals ............................................... 2,631 13 125 689 1,805 3,613

Credit cards ........................................................ 1,831 2 81 593 1,155 2,502
Installment loans ................................................. 800 10 43 97 650 1,111

All other loans and leases ..................................... 250 0 10 15 226 342

Recoveries credited to loan and lease reserve ...... 925 10 59 147 710 1,379

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 116 1 5 14 96 172
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 25 1 3 4 17 41
Home equity loans .............................................. 13 0 0 1 11 16
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 3 0 0 0 2 8
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 58 0 2 7 49 80
Construction RE loans ........................................ 5 0 0 1 4 10
Farmland loans .................................................... 1 0 0 0 1 3
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 11 0 0 (0) 11 14

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 187 4 16 21 145 327
Loans to individuals ............................................... 523 5 34 108 377 746

Credit cards ........................................................ 247 1 17 74 155 371
Installment loans ................................................. 276 3 17 34 222 375

All other loans and leases ..................................... 99 0 2 4 92 135

Quarterly net loan and lease losses of national banks by asset size
Second quarter 1999
(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than
$100
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Number of institutions reporting 2,409 1,237 987 138 47 8,675

Net charge-offs to loan and lease reserve .............. 6,926 37 282 1,377 5,229 9,574

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 285 3 16 52 213 393
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 180 1 9 37 132 265
Home equity loans .............................................. 62 0 1 12 49 76
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 1 (0) 2 1 (2) (1)
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 12 2 4 (3) 10 19
Construction RE loans ........................................ 11 0 1 4 6 21
Farmland loans .................................................... 1 (0) (0) 1 1 3
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 17 0 0 (0) 17 11

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 1,496 18 57 75 1,346 2,291
Loans to individuals ............................................... 4,809 16 198 1,234 3,361 6,413

Credit cards ........................................................ 3,610 3 144 1,103 2,360 4,807
Installment loans ................................................. 1,199 13 54 131 1,001 1,606

All other loans and leases ..................................... 336 0 11 17 309 478

Charge-offs to loan and lease reserve ................... 8,811 59 397 1,678 6,676 12,360

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 518 6 27 81 404 745
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 231 3 14 45 170 350
Home equity loans .............................................. 86 0 2 16 69 106
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 6 0 2 1 3 12
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 137 2 9 12 114 194
Construction RE loans ........................................ 23 0 1 5 17 40
Farmland loans .................................................... 5 0 1 1 2 11
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 31 0 0 0 31 32

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 1,842 28 87 115 1,612 2,907
Loans to individuals ............................................... 5,949 26 268 1,454 4,201 8,004

Credit cards ........................................................ 4,173 5 180 1,255 2,733 5,625
Installment loans ................................................. 1,776 20 88 200 1,468 2,378

All other loans and leases ..................................... 502 0 15 27 460 705

Recoveries credited to loan and lease reserve ...... 1,885 22 115 300 1,447 2,786

Loans secured by real estate ............................... 233 3 11 29 191 352
1–4 family residential mortgages ...................... 51 1 4 8 37 85
Home equity loans .............................................. 24 0 0 4 20 30
Multifamily residential mortgages ...................... 5 0 0 0 4 13
Commercial RE loans ......................................... 125 1 5 15 104 176
Construction RE loans ........................................ 12 0 0 1 10 20
Farmland loans .................................................... 4 0 1 1 2 7
RE loans from foreign offices ............................. 13 0 0 0 13 21

Commercial and industrial loans ............................ 346 10 30 40 266 615
Loans to individuals ............................................... 1,140 9 70 221 839 1,591

Credit cards ........................................................ 563 2 36 152 373 818
Installment loans ................................................. 577 7 34 69 467 773

All other loans and leases ..................................... 166 0 4 10 151 228

Year-to-date net loan and lease losses of national banks by asset size
Through June 30, 1999

(Dollar figures in millions)

Less than
$100
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Alabama ............................................................... 27 14 12 0 1 158
Alaska .................................................................. 3 1 0 2 0 6
Arizona ................................................................. 16 6 5 3 2 46
Arkansas ............................................................. 51 18 32 1 0 199
California .............................................................. 91 38 45 5 3 334
Colorado .............................................................. 60 42 15 2 1 191
Connecticut ......................................................... 8 3 5 0 0 25
Delaware .............................................................. 15 3 7 2 3 33
District of Columbia ............................................. 5 2 3 0 0 6
Florida .................................................................. 85 34 38 13 0 259
Georgia ................................................................ 66 30 34 2 0 336
Hawaii .................................................................. 1 0 1 0 0 11
Idaho .................................................................... 1 0 1 0 0 17
Illinois ................................................................... 213 97 103 9 4 732
Indiana ................................................................. 36 9 22 3 2 165
Iowa ...................................................................... 46 27 18 1 0 441
Kansas ................................................................. 110 82 26 2 0 391
Kentucky .............................................................. 61 30 27 3 1 255
Louisiana .............................................................. 20 12 5 1 2 155
Maine .................................................................... 5 1 4 0 0 16
Maryland .............................................................. 17 4 11 2 0 78
Massachusetts .................................................... 12 4 6 1 1 44
Michigan .............................................................. 36 17 17 1 1 169
Minnesota ............................................................ 137 81 49 5 2 507
Mississippi .......................................................... 20 7 12 1 0 99
Missouri ............................................................... 50 26 19 4 1 378
Montana ............................................................... 18 14 2 2 0 88
Nebraska ............................................................. 93 69 21 3 0 309
Nevada ................................................................ 8 2 2 4 0 25
New Hampshire .................................................. 6 1 4 1 0 20
New Jersey ......................................................... 26 2 17 6 1 74
New Mexico ......................................................... 20 6 11 3 0 55
New York ............................................................. 64 18 37 7 2 154
North Carolina ..................................................... 10 2 3 2 3 70
North Dakota ....................................................... 18 9 7 2 0 114
Ohio ...................................................................... 93 45 36 7 5 216
Oklahoma ............................................................ 116 78 34 4 0 305
Oregon ................................................................ 4 1 3 0 0 44
Pennsylvania ....................................................... 97 27 62 5 3 194
Rhode Island ....................................................... 2 0 0 1 1 7
South Carolina ..................................................... 22 15 6 1 0 79
South Dakota ....................................................... 23 12 9 1 1 103
Tennessee ........................................................... 34 9 18 4 3 204
Texas .................................................................... 392 259 124 6 3 771
Utah ...................................................................... 8 2 3 2 1 49
Vermont ................................................................ 10 3 6 1 0 20
Virginia ................................................................. 33 10 20 3 0 151
Washington ......................................................... 16 13 3 0 0 79
West Virginia ....................................................... 27 10 12 5 0 83
Wisconsin ............................................................ 57 30 24 3 0 343
Wyoming .............................................................. 20 12 6 2 0 49
U.S. territories ..................................................... 0 0 0 0 0 18

Number of national banks by state and asset size
June 30, 1999
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All institutions $3,193,021 $61,469 $259,935 $405,504 $2,466,113 $5,467,745

Alabama ............................................................... 43,894 886 3,044 0 39,964 146,062
Alaska .................................................................. 4,445 51 0 4,395 0 5,341
Arizona ................................................................. 46,418 104 2,192 10,081 34,040 51,105
Arkansas ............................................................. 10,917 1,054 7,968 1,894 0 26,178
California .............................................................. 395,086 1,753 13,725 15,776 363,832 513,183
Colorado .............................................................. 21,706 1,935 3,409 5,008 11,353 39,166
Connecticut ......................................................... 1,053 175 878 0 0 3,598
Delaware .............................................................. 86,289 166 2,268 10,009 73,847 122,266
District of Columbia ............................................. 497 57 440 0 0 601
Florida .................................................................. 44,443 2,088 9,867 32,488 0 83,407
Georgia ................................................................ 22,380 1,479 10,068 10,833 0 78,391
Hawaii .................................................................. 308 0 308 0 0 23,584
Idaho .................................................................... 203 0 203 0 0 1,936
Illinois ................................................................... 189,325 5,110 26,010 23,886 134,319 300,141
Indiana ................................................................. 44,836 402 9,005 6,428 29,002 69,483
Iowa ...................................................................... 11,300 1,391 4,071 5,838 0 43,566
Kansas ................................................................. 13,381 3,654 6,688 3,038 0 33,780
Kentucky .............................................................. 26,293 1,930 5,020 9,198 10,145 52,287
Louisiana .............................................................. 34,671 648 1,061 5,192 27,770 49,361
Maine .................................................................... 1,286 36 1,250 0 0 4,985
Maryland .............................................................. 5,786 281 2,930 2,576 0 44,558
Massachusetts .................................................... 72,627 227 1,150 1,075 70,175 144,804
Michigan .............................................................. 17,921 901 3,841 2,442 10,737 119,692
Minnesota ............................................................ 128,722 3,564 11,094 10,961 103,102 149,304
Mississippi .......................................................... 9,525 287 2,687 6,551 0 28,201
Missouri ............................................................... 45,880 1,228 5,374 16,316 22,961 79,718
Montana ............................................................... 3,353 558 304 2,491 0 9,861
Nebraska ............................................................. 15,658 3,158 4,872 7,627 0 27,329
Nevada ................................................................ 15,870 132 327 15,411 0 25,926
New Hampshire .................................................. 9,772 43 977 8,753 0 18,624
New Jersey ......................................................... 53,146 54 6,499 18,109 28,484 104,386
New Mexico ......................................................... 11,921 287 3,706 7,929 0 15,926
New York ............................................................. 381,499 1,086 10,844 12,551 357,018 1,127,482
North Carolina ..................................................... 603,818 55 981 2,980 599,803 669,415
North Dakota ....................................................... 6,116 395 2,396 3,326 0 11,111
Ohio ...................................................................... 225,380 2,279 12,469 25,107 185,525 275,071
Oklahoma ............................................................ 23,504 3,982 6,610 12,912 0 38,842
Oregon ................................................................ 523 4 519 0 0 6,655
Pennsylvania ....................................................... 156,112 1,500 18,432 13,065 123,115 196,836
Rhode Island ....................................................... 83,262 0 0 5,176 78,086 91,634
South Carolina ..................................................... 3,828 635 1,638 1,554 0 19,679
South Dakota ....................................................... 22,675 451 2,766 5,387 14,071 29,834
Tennessee ........................................................... 88,051 606 4,699 13,678 69,068 107,737
Texas .................................................................... 124,839 12,629 28,517 20,726 62,966 173,956
Utah ...................................................................... 24,821 117 443 7,532 16,728 45,715
Vermont ................................................................ 3,577 178 1,596 1,804 0 7,547
Virginia ................................................................. 12,344 490 4,611 7,243 0 76,779
Washington ......................................................... 1,360 562 798 0 0 12,560
West Virginia ....................................................... 14,798 520 3,117 11,161 0 23,459
Wisconsin ............................................................ 21,999 1,758 7,252 12,989 0 85,033
Wyoming .............................................................. 5,605 584 1,011 4,009 0 8,427
U.S. territories ..................................................... 0 0 0 0 0 43,225

Total assets of national banks by state and asset size
June 30, 1999
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1998 Chief Financial Officer’s Annual Report

Comptroller’s Message

After 35 years of involvement with issues of financial regu-
lation, both as a banking lawyer and a government offi-
cial, I was honored and proud to be named the 28th Comp-
troller of the Currency in December 1998, under a recess
appointment.  I have long been a student of the national
banking system, and have had the good fortune to know
seven Comptrollers over the course of my public and pri-
vate career.  We all shared one fundamental goal, and
that is the preservation of a strong and competitive na-
tional banking system.

Looking back on 1998, I would like to give special men-
tion to several developments that signal the direction in
which the OCC is headed this year in a number of key
areas.  First, we gave strong emphasis to safety and
soundness issues, from credit underwriting to year-2000
and customer privacy protection.  Second, we looked
ahead at the effects of new technology and industry con-
solidation on the future of banking, particularly as they
may affect the provision of fair access to financial ser-
vices.  And, third, the OCC recognized that it must hold
itself to the same high standard of compliance integrity to
which we hold national banks, and acted immediately to
correct material weaknesses in financial internal controls
found by a public accounting firm we hired to conduct an
independent review.

Today, the United States is in the midst of the longest
peacetime economic expansion in our history, and this is
reflected in a banking sector that has never been healthier.
Bank capital and profits are near record levels, and 93
percent of national banks received the highest supervi-
sory CAMELS ratings of 1 or 2 at year-end 1998.  Cur-
rently, only 22 national banks have the lowest supervisory
ratings of 4 or 5, and they hold fewer than 1 percent of
total assets.  No national bank failed in 1998.

At the same time, the OCC has been sending out early
warnings about the effects of a persistent safety and
soundness concern.  Our surveys show that national bank
credit underwriting standards declined in 1998 for the
fourth year in a row.  While recent industry performance
reflects low levels of credit losses, the relaxed underwrit-
ing our surveys found may lead to significant credit prob-
lems as U.S. economic growth eventually slows down.

To address these concerns, the OCC in 1998 enhanced its
supervisory process by issuing comprehensive guidance

on loan portfolio management.  This guidance focuses on
the effectiveness of credit risk management at the portfo-
lio level as well as for individual transactions.   Evaluating
risk portfolio-wide, and enterprise-wide, becomes increas-
ingly important as bank products and operations grow
more complex.

We see this complexity on the trading side of banking as
well, where some of the largest banks in the country were
affected last year by problems in Asia and Russia, and by
the collapse of a large hedge fund.  The OCC has formed
an International Working Group to analyze and monitor
events in Asia.

The great focus of our supervisory attention in 1998 and
1999, however, is year-2000 readiness.  The OCC con-
ducted at least two on-site exams of every national bank
in 1998, and 97 percent were in compliance with their
supervisory requirements.  At present, banks are com-
pleting a critical testing phase, and the OCC and other
member agencies of the FFIEC are working together to
promote a strong and confident message for the general
public about the year-2000 preparations of depository
institutions.

Over the last year, our unprecedented year-2000 exami-
nation commitments required that we significantly revise
our overall supervisory strategy to direct additional re-
sources to year-2000 requirements.  In addition to the on-
site exams, more than 500 examiners received special-
ized training and new examiners were hired nationwide.
We recognized that these unprecedented demands on
our resources would cause delays in our regularly sched-
uled safety and soundness examinations and we devel-
oped guidelines to assure that there would be no delays
in examinations of institutions displaying high-risk char-
acteristics.  Following this process, only 70 percent of
safety and soundness examinations began on schedule
in 1998, although the late exams were usually completed
within 90 days or, at the latest, the following quarter.  In
1998, 360 of the OCC’s 546 formal and informal enforce-
ment actions were initiated for year-2000 deficiencies.

Last year, the OCC also began to act on bank customer
privacy concerns, under the leadership of Acting Comp-
troller Julie L. Williams.  Since then, we have issued guid-
ance to assist national banks in identifying and solving
several modern-day privacy problems—such as pretext
calling, “opting out” of the sharing of marketing lists, and
preparing Web-based privacy policies.
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The OCC has been vocal in alerting banks to the growing
public and congressional interest in how banks safeguard
customer financial information.  I see this as one more
area in which the banking industry needs to improve its
image as a provider of good customer service.  As tech-
nology-driven products and services allow customers to
take care of their banking needs without entering the bank,
the industry will have to work harder to ensure that it is
meeting its customers needs.  In 1998, the OCC issued
guidance on bank technology risks, PC banking, and act-
ing as a digital signature service provider.

Lastly, the OCC recognized and began correcting mate-
rial weaknesses found in our internal controls over finan-
cial reporting and related compliance with laws and regu-
lations.  This came to our attention as the result of a re-
port filed by a public accounting firm the OCC hired to
conduct a comprehensive internal control review and
evaluate the OCC’s administrative accounting and finan-
cial management information systems.  To demonstrate
that we have no higher priority at the  OCC than curing
these problems, I requested that I be given weekly in-

person briefings by our chief financial officer on the
progress being made.

To correct the weaknesses documented in the report, the
OCC has established new accounting policies and pro-
cedures to ensure that expenditure account balances are
reconciled on time, that accounting tasks and analyses
are properly supervised and approved, and that the staff
has the training needed to ensure that the agency meets
deadlines established in the Prompt Payment Act, OMB
Circular A–125, and the Federal Managers’ Financial In-
tegrity Act.  The final changes in procedures will be com-
pleted by September 30, 1999.

John D. Hawke Jr.
Comptroller of the Currency
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Management Overview

Bureau Profile

The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) was
established in 1863 as a bureau of the Department of the
Treasury.  The OCC is headed by the Comptroller, who is
appointed for a five-year term by the President, with the
advice and consent of the Senate.  John D. Hawke Jr.
was named the 28th Comptroller of the Currency by Presi-
dent Clinton on December 8, 1998, under a recess ap-
pointment, and his formal nomination was resubmitted to
the Senate in January 1999.  The OCC is headquartered
in Washington, D.C.  At the end of 1998, the OCC had
2,999 employees nationwide.

The OCC is responsible for chartering, regulating, and
supervising the national banking system.  The OCC also
supervises the federally licensed branches and agencies
of foreign banks. In addition to supervising national banks,
the OCC has continued its efforts to strengthen the bank-
ing industry by encouraging national banks to improve
the quality of their loan portfolios, increase capital, diver-
sify their sources of income, ensure Year 2000 compli-
ance, and generally strengthen their operations.

At year-end 1998, there were 2,458 federally chartered
national banks representing about 28 percent of the 8,774
commercial banks in the United States.  The national bank-
ing system had approximately $3.2 trillion in assets, ac-
counting for about 58 percent of the commercial banking
system’s assets.  During the past several years, national
bank assets have increased significantly. Between 1994
and 1998, national bank asset growth averaged 8.7 per-
cent annually.

The decline in the number of national banks is primarily
the result of the Riegle–Neal Interstate Banking and
Branching Efficiency Act of 1994, which allowed banks to

consolidate entities across state lines, as well as the intr-
astate consolidation of bank charters.  A small part of this
decrease has been offset by an increase in the number of
conversions to national banks.

Organizational Structure

Office of the Comptroller

The Comptroller’s office manages a nationwide staff of
bank examiners and other professional and support per-
sonnel who examine and supervise federally chartered
national banks and federally licensed branches and agen-
cies of foreign banks.  The Comptroller receives advice
on policy and operational issues from an Executive Com-
mittee that consists of the chief of staff (COS), chief coun-
sel (CCO), the ombudsman (OMBD), and six senior deputy
comptrollers (SDCs) representing Bank Supervision Op-
erations (BSOP), Bank Supervision Policy (BKSP), Eco-
nomic and Policy Analysis (E&PA), International Affairs (IA),
Public Affairs (PA), and Administration and Chief Finan-
cial Officer (ADM).  The Comptroller serves as a member
of the board of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora-
tion (FDIC), Federal Financial Institutions Examination
Council (FFIEC), and the board of the Neighborhood Re-
investment Corporation (NRC).

Chief of Staff

The chief of staff’s office represents the Comptroller on
a broad range of external and internal administrative,
operational and policy matters. The chief of staff serves
as a liaison between the Comptroller and OCC manag-
ers, program officials and other employees, as well as
representing the Comptroller in dealings with government
officials, banking industry representatives and other
groups. The chief of staff also assists the Comptroller in
overseeing the Information Technology Services (ITS)
Department.

Chief Counsel

The chief counsel’s office oversees legal matters arising
from the administration of laws, rulings, and regulations
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affecting national banks.  Specific responsibilities include
drafting and interpreting proposed legislation; respond-
ing to requests for interpretations of statutes, regulations,
and rulings; defending the Comptroller’s actions chal-
lenged in administrative and judicial proceedings; sup-
porting the bank supervisory efforts of the office; and rep-
resenting the OCC in all legal matters.  The chief counsel
also oversees the licensing corporate activities of national
banks and has the Comptroller’s delegated authority for
deciding bank corporate applications.  The chief counsel
also supervises the Community Affairs area.

Ombudsman

The ombudsman’s office oversees the national bank ap-
peals process.  The primary ongoing activities of the na-
tional bank appeals process include resolving individual
appeals from national banks and administering the ex-
amination questionnaire process.  The ombudsman also
acts as liaison between the OCC and anyone with unre-
solved problems in dealing with the OCC regarding its
regulatory activities. The ombudsman functions indepen-
dently, outside of the bank supervision and examination
area, and reports directly to the Comptroller. The ombuds-
man also oversees the Customer Assistance Group, a
centralized function that handles all customer complaints.

Bank Supervision Operations

The Bank Supervision Operations office oversees exami-
nations and other supervision activities in the OCC’s six
districts (see figure 3 for geographic districts); the Large
Bank Supervision Department, which supervises the larg-

est national banks and oversees operations of the OCC’s
London office; Compliance Operations; and OCC’s Con-
tinuing Education and Supervision Support departments.
Specific responsibilities include directing programs for the
examination and regulation of national banks to promote
the continuing existence of a financially strong and com-
petitive national banking system and overseeing supervi-
sion of national trust companies, Federal branches and
agencies of foreign banks, and the international activities
of national banks with global operations.

Bank Supervision Policy

The Bank Supervision Policy office formulates and dis-
seminates the OCC’s supervision policies to promote na-
tional banks’ safety and soundness and compliance with
laws and regulations. Specific responsibilities include is-
suing policy, guidance, and examination procedures re-
lated to national banks’ commercial, consumer, asset
management, capital markets, global banking activities,
and bank information systems and consumer compliance;
directing agency initiatives to address technology risks,
including the risk from the year-2000 date change; assist-
ing with specialized training and examination support to
OCC examiners; and coordinating OCC participation in
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council activi-
ties and its task forces.

Economic and Policy Analysis

The Economic and Policy Analysis office manages the
agency’s economic research and analysis on the condi-
tion of the banking industry and trends in financial ser-

Figure 3—OCC district offices
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vices.  Other responsibilities include coordinating con-
gressional testimony process for the Comptroller, sup-
plying on-site technical support in sophisticated model-
ing techniques to OCC examiners, and assisting the
Comptrol ler in the coordination of the Treasury
Department’s efforts to monitor electronic money and
banking activities in the marketplace.

International Affairs

The International Affairs office oversees OCC’s international
activities.  Specific responsibilities include providing policy
advice and technical expertise and analyses to OCC and
the Treasury Department on international banking and fi-
nancial matters, including G–7 summit issues; formulating
policies and procedures for the supervision and examina-
tion of federal branches and agencies of foreign banks;
serving as liaison with foreign bank supervisors and vari-
ous multilateral groups; and analyzing country risk and other
internationally related issues.  In addition, the senior deputy
comptroller for International Affairs represents the OCC on
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and the Joint
Forum on Financial Conglomerates.

Public Affairs

The Public Affairs office advises the Comptroller on exter-
nal relations with the news media, the banking industry,
Congress, consumer and community organizations, other
government agencies, and the public.  Specific responsi-
bilities include managing media relations for the agency;
conducting outreach programs to foster and develop re-
lationships with the external constituencies; tracking leg-
islative developments and responding to congressional
inquiries and requests for support; ensuring timely access
to the agency’s public information; and coordinating in-
ternal communications.

Administration and Chief Financial Officer

The office of Administration is responsible for the efficient
and effective administrative functioning of the OCC.  The
office supervises the Human Resources, Administrative
Services, Financial Services, Management Improvement,
and Organizational Effectiveness divisions.  The senior
deputy comptroller for Administration also serves as the
chief financial officer and oversees the OCC’s Equal Em-
ployment programs.  District Human Resources manag-
ers and Organizational Effectiveness staff located in OCC
field locations provide assistance and guidance on all
administrative functions to OCC field units and operations.

OCC’s Mission

The OCC charters, regulates, and supervises national
banks to ensure a safe, sound and competitive national

banking system that supports the citizens, communi-
ties, and economy of the United States. The OCC’s ac-
tivities are predicated on four goals, referred to as pil-
lars, that support the OCC’s mission to ensure a stable
and competitive national banking system.  The OCC’s
four pillars are:

Ensure bank safety and soundness to advance a strong
national economy.  The OCC must maintain a proactive
focus to identify potential problems in banking.  The OCC
should ensure its supervisory practices are both up-to-
date and adaptable to the rapid evolution of highly com-
plex new products and services being offered by the bank-
ing industry.

Foster competition by allowing banks to offer new prod-
ucts and services to their customers as long as banks
have the expertise to manage the risks effectively and to
provide the necessary consumer protections. At the same
time, the OCC should act responsibly to understand, to
monitor, and where appropriate, to limit the risks of new
banking activities.

Improve the efficiency of bank supervision and reduce
burden by streamlining supervisory procedures and regu-
lations.  The OCC must continue to introduce new ex-
amination procedures that reduce burden by focusing
on banking activities that pose the highest risk.  The OCC
should ensure its regulations are clearly written to mini-
mize regulatory burden and costs, and continuously elimi-
nate regulations that are no longer necessary.

Ensure fair access to financial services for all Ameri-
cans by enforcing the Community Reinvestment Act
(CRA) and fair lending laws, encouraging national bank
involvement in community development activities, and
assuring fair treatment of bank customers and compli-
ance with the consumer protection laws.  The OCC
should pursue initiatives that help to eliminate impedi-
ments to access to banking services for certain seg-
ments of the population, especially small businesses,
low-income individuals, rural individuals and busi-
nesses, and victims of illegal discrimination, and that
enhance the fair treatment of bank customers and com-
pliance with consumer protection laws.

To help meet these the goals, the OCC identified four stra-
tegic objectives for 1998:

Strengthen Bank Supervision

• Use OCC supervisory processes to promote, and to
require that banks follow, sound risk management
fundamentals.

• Refine techniques for quantifying and responding
to system-wide risk.
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• Take timely and effective action with institutions char-
acterized as high-risk outliers.

Make the OCC a Better Place to Work

• Continue to identify and respond to employees’ work
life needs.

• Address major issues raised by the cultural audit.
Improve the credibility, clarity, timeliness, and ac-
cessibility of OCC communications.

• Ensure that OCC employees have timely and reli-
able access to OCC’s information technology sys-
tems and automated data sources.

Monitor and Evaluate the Use of Technology in
Bank Operations

• Assess the current extent of banks’ reliance on tech-
nology and assess technology’s impact on banks.

• Implement aggressive supervisory action to support
national banking system readiness for year-2000
operation of automated systems.

• Identify key issues arising from the use of technol-
ogy and develop appropriate supervisory responses.

Enhance and Institutionalize OCC Efforts to
Ensure Fair Access to Financial Services for
All Americans

• Enforce community reinvestment, fair lending, and
consumer protection laws vigorously.

• Create opportunities for national banks and poten-
tial consumers of financial services to identify and
realize mutually profitable relationships.

• Educate OCC personnel and external parties about
the importance of fair access to financial services
and the significance of OCC’s access efforts to the
agency’s overall mission.

Management Discussion and
Analysis—Program Highlights
and Performance

Bank Supervision

The OCC found many ways to strengthen its supervision
of national banks in 1998. The OCC’s National Risk Com-
mittee helped the agency to identify primary and emerg-
ing risks to the national banking system and to stay
abreast of evolving business practices and financial
market issues. The Risk Committee informs the Execu-
tive Committee of any material risks facing the national

banking system; recommends supervisory responses;
and monitors and reports on OCC’s responses to those
risks.

The OCC also committed substantial resources for year-
2000 preparedness.  All initial risk identification examina-
tions have been completed. More than 500 examiners re-
ceived specialized training to ensure adequate knowledge
and skills to assess the banks’ testing activities under the
next phase of the program.

To strengthen bank supervision and build specialized ex-
pertise, the OCC hired more than 200 examiners nation-
wide. The agency made sure that its examiners continu-
ally improved their skills by offering new and improved
training programs. In 1998, such programs addressed
external training, external certifications, and problem bank
supervision.

Another way the OCC strengthened large bank supervi-
sion was having economists assist in examinations of large
banks, focusing on the quantitative methods used to mea-
sure and analyze risks in bank portfolios and supervisory
policies addressing those risks.

The OCC conducted economic research to assist in the
bank supervision process, completed four quarterly re-
ports on the condition and performance of the banking
industry, and provided numerous economic and bank con-
dition presentations to community bank groups through
outreach programs. It also undertook several research
projects in 1998 including ongoing research on deriva-
tives markets, bank structure issues, bank risk-taking and
returns, early warning models, international bank expo-
sures, emerging market economic and financial issues
and risks, de novo chartering activity, contingent model-
ing of bank earnings volatility, and technology issues.  The
OCC completed studies of the consumer market, energy
markets, international trade issues and relationships, re-
gional economic developments, credit-risk issues of the
year-2000 transition, and health care industry develop-
ments and risks.

The OCC’s Quality Assurance program helped all bank
supervision units ensure that the objectives of bank su-
pervision are achieved.  During 1998, the community bank
quality assurance reviews found that OCC’s supervision
of community banks remains effective.  Ninety-nine per-
cent of the bank examinations reviewed received an overall
“satisfactory” rating. The large and mid-sized bank qual-
ity assurance program was piloted; overall risk assess-
ments and ratings appeared reasonable for the sample
banks.

As we head toward the millennium, bank supervision
has become a greater challenge as banks continue to
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consolidate, employ new technologies, and expand into
nontraditional activities.  In order to provide effective su-
pervision, the OCC will continue to adapt its operations to
allow flexibility and develop specialized expertise.

Examinations

To ensure the safety and soundness of banks and com-
pliance with laws and regulations, the OCC conducts both
on-site examinations and off-site reviews.  The OCC sets
its examination strategies to encompass safety and sound-
ness matters, including specialty areas, and to fulfill the
intent of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Im-
provement Act (FDICIA). Over the past year, the OCC
materially revised its supervisory strategy for the near term
and redirected a large portion of supervisory resources to
the unprecedented year-2000 examination needs of the
national banking system.

Despite increasing staffing levels in the examination ar-
eas, resource constraints persisted as the OCC redirected
resources to complete its initial round of on-site year-2000
examinations in all of the banks, federal branches, and
data processing centers it supervises.  Also, after the ini-
tial examinations were completed by June 30, 1998, the
OCC again reallocated time from safety and soundness
activities in order to provide examiners with training for
the second phase of the supervisory process testing.  This
was followed in the last two quarters of 1998 by continua-
tion of on-site examinations that focused on the year-2000
“testing” phase, with the OCC completing a second exam
in virtually all institutions it supervises. In addition to these
on-site examinations, year-2000 quarterly reviews were
also conducted in every institution.

As a result, some safety and soundness examinations
were not started on schedule in 1998. In order to mini-
mize the supervisory risk of the late examinations, OCC
issued examiner guidelines that allowed delays in safety
and soundness examinations of community banks if the
bank was rated 1 or 2, well managed, and had a low or
stable risk profile.

Year-2000 Examinations

The OCC has an aggressive strategy to ensure that na-
tional banks are prepared for the year 2000.  In pursuing
this goal, the agency continues to work with the other fed-
eral banking agencies to ensure that the national banking
system is making substantial progress on its year-2000
preparations. Most of the institutions supervised by the
OCC are making good progress in addressing their year-
2000 issues.  As of December 31, 1998, approximately
97 percent of institutions were rated satisfactory, less than
3 percent were rated needs improvement, and less than
1 percent were rated unsatisfactory.

The OCC has assembled a comprehensive database and
constructed analytic tools that enable the agency to moni-
tor closely where national banks stand. These tools have
enabled the agency to quickly and effectively focus our
attention on banks that require closer scrutiny. The data-
base has the results of quarterly surveys made by examin-
ers regarding the year 2000. The OCC can systematically
monitor not just national banks’ overall year-2000 ratings,
but also the status of specific activities and elements of
their year-2000 preparations. One important way the OCC
uses this information is to ensure the accuracy and consis-
tency of the ratings examiners assign individual banks.

Although some national banks have experienced prob-
lems in meeting some of the interim target dates set by
the FFIEC, the vast majority of national banks are making
good progress towards being year-2000 compliant by the
June 30 FFIEC target date.

CRA Examinations

Under the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA), 12 USC
2901, et seq., the OCC assesses a national bank’s record
of helping to meet the credit needs of its entire commu-
nity, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods,
consistent with its safe and sound operation.  The OCC
also must consider the bank’s record in its evaluation of
an application for a deposit facility. A written performance
evaluation describing the bank’s activities, which includes
the rating, is prepared at the end of each CRA examina-
tion and made available to the general public.

A bank’s CRA performance in helping to meet its
community’s needs may be rated “outstanding,” “satis-
factory,” “needs to improve,” or in “substantial noncom-
pliance.”  In 1998, the OCC conducted examinations in
818 national banks. The OCC considers CRA performance
when deciding corporate applications.

The OCC and the other federal financial institution regula-
tors continued to implement the revised CRA regulation
that focuses on a bank’s actual performance in helping to
meet community credit needs.  The four agencies com-
pleted a project aimed at enhancing consistency among
their examiners. The project included a joint performance
evaluation review, interagency examinations, and addi-
tional examiner training.

The OCC also conducted horizontal CRA examinations in
seven of the largest banks it supervises in an effort to
establish examination consistency, gain efficiencies in the
exam process, and identify policies and procedures in
need of revision.  Staff continued a selective review of
large bank performance evaluations to ensure consistency
among the OCC district offices and to identify any areas
requiring additional guidance.
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less than $1.5 billion or less than 1 percent of total national
bank system assets. After reaching a high in the early 1990s,
the number of problem banks has remained less than 1
percent of all national banks since the beginning of 1996,
reflecting favorable economic conditions.

The average total asset size of problem national banks is
$70 million; none have assets of more than $500 million.
No national banks failed during 1998.

Enforcement

The OCC uses a number of tools in addition to its examina-
tions to carry out its supervisory responsibilities. These tools
range from advice and moral suasion to specific types of
enforcement actions.  Enforcement actions correct weak-
nesses in safety and soundness or compliance and com-
mit management and the board to enact specific measures
addressing OCC concerns.  Enforcement actions may be
formal or informal, and may be taken against banks or indi-
viduals that are associated with banks.

In 1998, the OCC for the first time took enforcement ac-
tions to ensure national banks’ compliance with inter-
agency guidance on preparing their computer systems
for the year-2000 conversion. The OCC developed a new
type of enforcement action, a supervisory directive, that
alerts national banks that have material deficiencies in
their preparation for the year-2000 conversion of their de-
ficiencies and summarizes the OCC’s expectations of how
the banks need to address them.  In 1998, the OCC is-
sued 330 year-2000 supervisory directives to national
banks.

Using another new and effective supervisory tool (first used
in 1997), the OCC issued seven notifications, under 12 CFR
Part 30, to national banks that were not in compliance with
the “Guidelines for Safety and Soundness” published as
Appendices A and B to Part 30.  The notifications required
these banks to submit plans to bring themselves into

Figure 5—Problem national banks
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Condition of the Industry—Changes in
Bank Ratings

In recent years, the improving condition of the national
banking system was reflected in the overall positive trend
in upgrades to banks’ CAMELS ratings (capital, asset qual-
ity, management, earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity to
market risk).  Banks are rated on a scale of 1 to 5, with a
bank rated 1 presenting the least supervisory concern.
As of year-end 1998, 93 percent of the national bank popu-
lation was 1- or 2-rated. Ratings are evaluated at least
once during the supervisory cycle.  For 1995–1997, rat-
ing upgrades exceeded downgrades.

In 1998, the number of downgrades (171) exceeded up-
grades (104).  The majority of downgrades during the year
involved banks that remained in satisfactory condition, and
only moved from a composite rating of 1 to a composite
rating of 2.

While the overall health of the banking industry is good,
the OCC remains vigilant in looking for any negative trend
that may affect bank condition and result in an increase in
the number of significant rating downgrades.  During 1998,
the OCC issued loan portfolio management guidance and
the Comptroller once again cautioned banks about lax
underwriting of new loans.

By taking these types of measures, the OCC hopes to
avoid more serious problems that may result in significant
rating downgrades in the future.

Problem National Banks

Under the Uniform Financial Institutions Rating System,
national banks rated either 4 or 5 under the rating system
are considered to be “problem banks.”  Currently, there are
22 problem banks that represent less than 1 percent of the
national banking population. The assets of these banks total
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compliance with the guidelines.  Of these seven notifica-
tions, six were based on year-2000 issues and one led to
the issuance of a final order under Part 30.

In all, the OCC completed a total of 521 enforcement ac-
tions against banks and individuals in 1998 (this includes
actions that were initiated in prior years), an increase from
203 in 1997.  Of these, 355 actions were for year-2000
issues.  At year-end 1998, the OCC had either formal or
informal enforcement actions outstanding against approxi-
mately 6.1 percent of the institutions it supervises (na-
tional banks, federal branches and agencies); 1.1 per-
cent of OCC-supervised institutions were under actions
for year-2000 issues, and 5.0 percent for other matters.
(A few institutions were under enforcement actions for both
year-2000 issues and other matters.)

Informal enforcement actions against banks include
safety and soundness plans (under Part 30), commitment
letters, and memorandums of understanding. Generally,
these actions give bank management direction and guid-
ance in addressing weaknesses in management or pro-
cedures before such weaknesses become serious prob-
lems.  Failure to correct practices identified by the OCC’s
informal actions are strong evidence that formal action
is necessary.  The OCC uses formal enforcement ac-
tions against banks to secure legally binding commit-
ments when serious compliance or safety and sound-
ness problems pose a threat to a bank’s condition.  For-
mal enforcement actions against banks include safety
and soundness orders (under Part 30), formal written
agreements, and cease-and-desist orders, which may
be issued by consent or after litigation.  Formal agree-
ments are signed by a national bank’s board of directors
and the OCC, and require specific corrective and reme-
dial measures to return the bank to a safe and sound

condition.  Cease-and-desist orders differ from formal
agreements by being enforceable in federal district court.

The OCC may also impose civil money penalties (CMPs)
upon banks for failing to comply with laws, regulations,
formal agreements, cease-and-desist orders, or condi-
tions imposed in writing in connection with an application
or request, or for engaging in unsafe or unsound prac-
tices.  The OCC issued three CMPs against national banks
in 1998, two in 1997, and one in 1996.

When appropriate, the OCC takes formal and informal
actions against individuals at national banks—officers,
directors, or other institution-affiliated parties.  The primary
informal enforcement tools used by the OCC for individu-
als are supervisory letters and letters of reprimand.

Formal actions against individuals include CMPs, remov-
als, prohibitions, and personal cease-and-desist orders.
CMPs are imposed for violations of laws, regulations, and
rules, as well as for noncompliance with formal written
agreements, final orders, and conditions declared in writ-
ing.  In certain circumstances, CMPs are imposed for un-
safe or unsound banking practices or breaches of fidu-
ciary duty.  During 1998, the OCC imposed CMPs against
31 individuals totaling $1,120,034.

The OCC is sometimes compelled to take action to re-
move an individual from his or her position, to prohibit
that person from further involvement in the banking in-
dustry, or both.

Finally, cease-and-desist orders against individuals address
such issues as requiring restitution to the bank and/or prohib-
iting or restricting activities in the banking industry.  Figure 6
provides totals from 1996 through 1998 for some of the
primary enforcement actions that the OCC completed
against banks and individuals.  During 1998, the OCC
ordered restitution of $10.3 million, which is considerably
higher than in prior years because of a single action or-
dering over $9.4 million in restitution.

Other Activities

Applications/Notifications

Licensing

National banks must, by law and regulation, seek OCC
approval for certain types of structural changes and to
commence certain new activities. These changes include
new bank charters, conversions to national banks, cor-
porate reorganizations, mergers, opening branches,
bank relocations, operating subsidiaries, capital and

1 This chart excludes the 330 Y2K supervisory directives.
2 Statistics for prior years may be adjusted to reflect revised

aggregate.
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subordinated debt issues, and bank acquisitions.  Most
licensing requests are reviewed and decided in the licens-
ing units located in the six district offices and in Washing-
ton, D.C. (federal branches and agencies file with OCC’s
International Banking and Finance Division).  Complex or
significantly precedential issues are forwarded to Bank
Organization and Structure (BOS) in Washington, D.C.,
for analysis and decision by senior management.

The total number of applications filed with the OCC de-
creased from 2,886 in 1997 to 2,628 in 1998.  This de-
cline occurred in the number of branch, change-in-con-
trol, charter, conversion, operating subsidiary, merger, and
reorganization filings received; however, capital and fidu-
ciary powers filings increased (see table 1).  The 1998
count does not include 99 operating subsidiary filings that
were effected through after-the-fact notices, compared
with 92 after-the-fact notices in 1997.

From 1997 to 1998, new charter applications decreased
from 80 to 75.  The OCC received 49 charter applications
from independent groups during 1998.  Of these, 41 were
for full-service banks; six for trust banks, and two for credit
card banks. The other 26 charter applications received in
1998 were sponsored by existing holding companies.  Of
this group, 18 were for full-service banks, seven for trust
banks, and one for a credit card bank.

The OCC denied one application in 1998, compared with
two in 1997 and none in 1996.  Of the 2,482 decisions, 48
were conditional approvals.  Conditional approvals in-
creased from 1997, when 42 of 2,910 decisions were con-
ditionally approved.

Change in Bank Control Act

Under the Change in Bank Control Act of 1978 (CBCA),
any party wishing to acquire control of a national bank
through purchase, assignment, transfer, pledge, or other
disposition of voting stock must notify the OCC in writing
60 days prior to the proposed acquisition (unless a filing
is required under the Bank Merger Act or the Bank Hold-
ing Company Act).  Any party acquiring 25 percent or
more of a class of voting securities of a national bank
must file a change in bank control notice.  Any party ac-
quiring 10 percent or more (but less than 25 percent)
must file a change in bank control notice under certain
conditions.  The acquiring party must also publish an
announcement of the proposed change in control to al-
low for public comment.

The CBCA gives the OCC the authority to disapprove
changes in control of national banks. The OCC’s ob-
jective in its administration of the CBCA is to en-
hance and maintain public confidence in the national
banking system by preventing identifiable, serious,
adverse effects resulting from anti-competitive com-
binations or inadequate financial support and un-
suitable management in national banks.  The OCC
reviews each notice to acquire control of a national
bank and disapproves transactions that could have
serious harmful effects.  If the notice is disapproved,
the disapproval letter contains a statement of the
basis for disapproval.  In 1998, the OCC received
17 change in bank control notices, down from 24 in
1997 (table 2).  Of the 17 notices received in 1998,
12 were acted upon, with one disapproval.

Table 1—Corporate licensing activity in 1998

 Applications District decisions Washington decisions Total
received 1998 1998

  1997   1998   Approved  Conditionally Denied  Approved Conditionally Denied 1998
approved approved Decisions

Branches ....................... 1,771  1,566  1,499  1  0  28  1  0  1,529
Capital/sub debt ........... 93  108  71  0  0  5  0  0  76
Change in control ......... 23  17  9  0  0  2  0  1  12
Charters ......................... 80  75  53  1  0  3  9  0  66
Conversions1 ................. 58  32  23  0  0  4  0  0  27
Federal branches .......... 1  1  1  0  0  0  0  0  1
Fiduciary powers ........... 24  40  31  0  0  0  0  0  31
Mergers ......................... 115  107  93  1  0  8  0  0  102
Relocations .................... 243  236  217  0  0  2  0  0  219
Reorganizations ............ 322  307  226  1  0  57  0  0  284
Stock appraisals ........... 5  8  0  0  0  4  0  0 4
Subsidiaries 2 ................. 151  131  74  26  0  23  8  0 131

   Total ............................ 2,886  2,628  2,297  30  0  136  18  1  2,482

Note:  Approved decisions include conditional approvals.  Mergers include failure transactions where the national bank is the resulting
institution.
1 Conversions are conversions to national bank charters.
2 Subsidiaries do not include 92 after-the-fact notices received in 1997 and 99 after-the-fact notices received in 1998.
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Application/Processing Efficiency

One measure of the OCC’s effectiveness in processing
corporate applications is the percentage of applications
processed within target time frames. To ensure appli-
cations are processed in a timely manner, Bank Orga-
nization and Structure measures processing time using
benchmark time frames for routine applications and for
more complex applications.  Processing timeliness var-
ies with the volume and complexity of applications,
which vary with economic conditions and changes in
banking law. The OCC meets target time frames for all
application types more than 95 percent of the time. To
provide consistent comparisons with results in prior

years, the statistics in table 3 have been adjusted for
regulatory and processing changes. Deviations from
these time frames are primarily the result of applica-
tions’ complexity, the need to acquire additional infor-
mation, or the conflicts associated with peak workload
demands.

The OCC’s regulation governing all corporate applications,
12 CFR 5, establishes an “expedited review” process for
certain applications from banks that are well capitalized,
have a CAMELS rating of 1 or 2, have a CRA rating of
“satisfactory” or better, and are not subject to an OCC
formal enforcement action. For some routine transactions,
OCC approval is no longer required.

Table 2—Change in Bank Control Act notices processed at OCC districts and headquarters, 1988–1998

 Year  Received  Acted on  Not disapproved  Disapproved  Withdrawn

1998 ........................................................ 17 12 11 1 0
1997 ........................................................ 24 24 24 0 0
1996 ........................................................ 17 15 13 0 2
1995 ........................................................ 15 16 16 0 0
1994 ........................................................ 15 16 15 1 0
1993 ........................................................ 28 30 21 5 4
1992 ........................................................ 30 29 21 4 4
1991 ........................................................ 20 15 6 6 3
1990 ........................................................ 31 42 32 5 5
1989 ........................................................ 55 55 48 3 4
1988 ........................................................ 45 42 34 4 4

Table 3—OCC licensing actions and timeliness, 1997–1998

1997  1998  Annual change

Target time Number Number Number
frame in of Within of Within of Within

Application type days1 decisions target Percent decisions Target Percent decisions target Percent

Branches .................... 45/60 1,772 1,762 99.4 1,529 1,519 99.3 –243 –243 –0.1
Capital/sub debt ........ 30/45 82 71 86.6 76 71 93.4 –6 0 6.8
Change in control ...... NA/60 24 21 87.5 12 12 100.0 –12 –9 12.5
Charters 2 ................... 79 63 79.7 66 54 81.8 –13 –9 2.1
Conversions ................ 30/90 92 90 97.8 27 26 96.3 –65 –64 –1.5
Federal branches
   & agencies .............. NA/120 0 0 0.0 1 1 100.0 1 1 0.0
Fiduciary powers ........ 30/45 39 38 97.4 31 31 100.0 –8 –7 2.6
Mergers ...................... 45/60 127 110 86.6 102 96 94.1 –25 –14 7.5
Relocations ................. 45/60 241 236 97.9 219 218 99.5 –22 –18 1.6
Reorganizations ......... 45/60 320 292 91.3 284 261 91.9 –36 –31 0.7
Stock appraisals ........ NA/90 3 1 33.3 4 0 0.0 1 –1 –33.3
Subsidiaries ................ 30/60 131 112 85.5 131 85 64.9 0 ´–27 –20.6

   Total ......................... NA 2,910 2,796 96.1 2,482 2,374 95.6 –428 –422 –0.4

Note:  Most decisions (93 percent in 1997 and 94 percent in 1998) were decided in the district offices, International Banking and Finance, and
Large Bank Licensing under delegated authority.  Decisions include approvals, conditional approvals, and denials.
1 Those filings that qualify for the “expedited review” process are subject to the shorter of the time frames listed.  The longer time frame is the
standard benchmark for more complex applications.  New time frames commenced in 1997 with the adoption of the revised Part 5.  The target
time frame may be extended if the OCC needs additional information to reach a decision, permit additional time for public comment, or
process a group of related filings as one transaction.
2 For independent charter applications, the target time frame is 120 days.  For holding-company-sponsored applications, the target time
frame is 45 days for applications eligible for expedited review and 90 days for all others.

Source: Bank Organization and Structure, Comptroller of the Currency.
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Electronic Money and Banking Issues

The OCC continued its Treasury-wide role on matters relat-
ing to electronic money and banking issues, and chaired
periodic meetings with senior Treasury officials to focus on
developments in e-commerce and banking. The inter-
agency Consumer Electronic Payments Task Force, chaired
by the Comptroller, continued its work to identify, in part-
nership with industry and the public, the consumer issues
raised by emerging electronic money technologies and
possible solutions to such concerns.  The task force, which
solicited public comment during the summer of 1997, is-
sued its report in April 1998.  The report identified four key
areas of consumer concern: access, privacy, financial con-
dition of issuers, and consumer protection and disclosures.

The OCC also worked as part of the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision on a paper, “Risk Management for
Electronic Banking and Electronic Money Activities,” is-
sued in March 1998, that forged a common understand-
ing among the member Central Bank Governors and bank
regulators on the key questions posed by emerging elec-
tronic banking and money activities.

Special Studies staff gave numerous speeches at forums
on technology, banking, and payments. The unit also pre-
pared a study, “Technological Innovation in Banking and
Payments: Industry Trends and Implications for Banks.”
The results of this study were presented to the OCC’s Ex-
ecutive and Risk Management committees for their con-
sideration and also appeared in the agency’s Quarterly
Journal (Vol. 17, No. 3).

Congressional Appearances

In 1998, the Comptroller and other senior officials partici-
pated in nine congressional hearings.  Congress often
asks the OCC to submit written statements or appear be-
fore the various House and Senate committees and sub-
committees to address significant public policy issues and
to answer questions affecting the national banking indus-
try. The 1998 hearings were on the following topics: finan-
cial modernization legislation; mergers; hedge funds; year-
2000 progress for the banking industry; regulatory re-
view—twice; money laundering; financial privacy; and de-
rivatives.  The Comptroller also testified at a Community
Reinvestment Act forum sponsored by Congresswoman
Maxine Waters.

Year-2000 Date Transition

The OCC has been working to ensure internal systems
are year-2000 compliant.  The OCC identified 13 systems
as mission-critical.  The OCC retired one system and has
remediated all of the remaining 12 mission-critical sys-
tems, well in advance of Treasury Department deadlines.

The OCC continues to monitor progress toward comple-
tion of the renovation, validation, and implementation
phases of non-information technology (non-IT) systems
at all nine primary sites as outlined in its “Non-IT Project
Management Plan.”

Consumer Complaints

The Federal Trade Commission Improvement Act of
1975 (15 USC 41, et seq.) requires the OCC to receive
and take appropriate action on complaints directed
against national banks and to report on them annually
to Congress.

In April 1998, processing of consumer complaints was
consolidated in Houston, Texas, under the Office of the
Ombudsman.  The resulting Customer Assistance Group
(CAG) began operations using two consumer complaint-
tracking systems—Remedy Action Request and the Cus-
tomer Assistance Tracking System, commonly known as
CATS.  In September 1998, the group began relying solely
on Remedy Action Request.

During 1998, the CAG processed 68,553 consumer com-
plaints (compared with 15,999 in 1997) and 85,322 tele-
phone inquiries (compared with 19,338 in 1997). The sig-
nificant increase in consumer complaints is expected to
continue in 1999.  The installation of a state-of-the-art call
center greatly enhances the public’s access to the OCC
and CAG’s ability to handle more calls.

As of December 31, 1998, the CAG closed 55,121 con-
sumer complaint cases (80 percent) received during
1998, compared with 12,248 cases closed (77 percent)
in 1997.  Figure 8 shows the major categories of con-
sumer complaints processed in 1998.  Forty-three per-

Figure 7—Customer assistance group
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cent of total complaints processed by December 31,
1998 were about loans (see figure 8). Breaking the loans
down further, credit cards were the subject of 68 per-
cent of the complaints, with consumer and mortgage
loans at 13 percent and 10 percent, respectively (see
figure 9).

Complaints about deposits also comprised a significant
amount of the total complaints (21 percent of total com-
plaints).  Breaking deposits down further, service issues
and general deposit inquiries comprised two-thirds of the
complaints (see figures 8 and 10).

Financial Highlights and Performance

Overview of Funding Sources and Uses

The financial statements that follow summarize the OCC’s
December 31, 1998 financial position, including the costs
of its operations and all significant sources and uses of
resources during 1998 compared to 1997.  The OCC’s rev-
enue was $386.7 million in 1998 up from $374.6 million in
1997.  Expenses totaled $379.3 million in 1998, up from
$330 million in 1997.  This resulted in a $7.4 million surplus
in 1998, that is down from the $44.6 million 1997 surplus.

The 1998 surplus primarily results from staffing below the
budgeted levels and increased revenue from a greater-
than-expected increase in the assets of the national bank-
ing system.  Table 4 provides a summary of the OCC’s
revenues and expenses for 1996–1998.

Figure 8—Consumer complaints by major
categories, 1998
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Funding Sources

The OCC does not receive any appropriations from Con-
gress.  The OCC’s operations are funded primarily by semi-
annual assessments from each national bank and each
District of Columbia bank.

To carry out its responsibilities, the OCC may impose and
collect assessments, fees, or other charges as necessary
or appropriate (12 USC 482).  Such assessments, fees,
and other charges are set to meet the OCC’s expenses.

Table 4—OCC total revenue and expenses,
1996–1998 ($ in millions)

1996 1997 1998

Revenue ........................... $373.7 $374.6  $386.7
Expenses .......................... $374.5 $330.0  $379.3

Surplus/(deficit) .............  ($ 0.7) $44.6  $7.4

Note: Totals may not add up because of rounding.

Figure 10—Consumer complaints by deposit
type for 1998
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Semiannual assessments account for 95.3 percent of the
OCC’s revenue for 1998.  Other sources of revenue are
investment and other revenue (3.9 percent), fees for cor-
porate applications (0.8 percent), and sales of the agency’s
publications.  The OCC’s investment income comes from
investing its operating funds in U.S. Treasury securities.

In accordance with the Chief Financial Officers Act, the OCC
reviews its fee schedule annually to verify that these fees,
along with investment income and other miscellaneous in-
come, cover the full cost of the OCC’s operations.  The re-
sults of these reviews are incorporated in the annual notice
of assessment fees. The OCC must provide notice of its as-
sessment fees no later than the first business day in Decem-
ber of each year for fees to be charged during the upcom-
ing year. These fees will be effective January 1 of that up-
coming year.  The agency has significantly reduced its fees
over the past five years to reflect efficiencies being achieved.

Funding Uses

The OCC’s operations are personnel-intensive.  In 1998,
the OCC’s expenses were $379.3 million, with $286.7 mil-
lion, or 75.7 percent of total expenses paying for person-
nel compensation and benefits, travel, education, and em-
ployee relocation.

Contractual services accounted for 6.5 percent of total
expenses.  A significant component of these expenses
relate to year-2000 issues addressed during 1998.

Rent and communications expenses supporting the na-
tionwide system of examiner offices and the headquar-
ters location, represent 5.2 percent of total expenses.

Office equipment and software account for 4.9 per-
cent of total expenses and include major technology
enhancements and upgraded office software.

The remaining OCC expenses represent 7.7 percent of total
expenses and include costs for interest on the capital lease
for the headquarters building, postage and freight, repairs,
maintenance and utilities, supplies and materials, deprecia-
tion and amortization, and printing and reproduction.

Revenue

Revenue—Prior Year Comparison:  The OCC’s 1998 rev-
enue increased by $12.1 million, approximately 3.2 per-
cent over 1997.  This increase in revenue was primarily
due to the growth in assets of national banks.  Approxi-
mately 40 percent of the asset growth in 1998 over 1997
is due to net conversions/mergers of institutions into the
national banking system.

Assessment revenue increased by $17.7 million, or 5.0
percent.  This increase resulted from the growth in bank
assets for existing national banks and from new bank as-
sets for institutions converting or merging into the national
banking system.

Corporate fees decreased by $339,000, or 10.3 percent
during 1998.  The decrease was due to an overall decline
in the number of applications received in 1998 from 2,886
to 2,628 (a 9 percent reduction).  During 1998, the OCC
experienced a decrease in the number of branch, change-
in-control, charter, conversion, operating subsidiary,
merger, and reorganization filings received.

Investment income increased by $1.6 million, or 12.6 per-
cent in 1998.  This increase resulted primarily from an in-
crease in the amount of investable funds.

Other revenue showed a decrease of $4.1 million, or 79.6
percent.  The 1997 total included $3.3 million recovery
of an unused liability established in 1994 to cover future
expenses from the close of a former OCC-sponsored
health benefits program.  In addition, the 1997 total in-
cluded $230,000 for securities-related fees that have
been discontinued.

Figure 11—Major components of OCC’s 1998
expenses
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In October 1997, the OCC also discontinued the exami-
nation fee for fiduciary activities. The 1997 revenue in-
cluded $2.7 million for these fees.

Revenue—Budget Performance:  Total revenue was over
budget by $15.7 million, or 4.2 percent in 1998.  Table 5
provides a summary of the OCC’s budget performance
for revenue.

Expenses

Expenses—Prior Year Comparison:  The OCC’s 1998 to-
tal expenses increased by $49.3 million, or 15 percent
over prior year expenses. The major factors were the in-
creased staff required to carry out the agency’s year-2000
compliance efforts and technological enhancements.

Personnel compensation and benefits costs increased by
$21 million, or 9.2 percent.  The increase results primarily
from the additional 200 field examiners who were hired
during 1998.

Rent, communications, and utilities costs increased by
$1.3 million, or 6.8 percent.  The increase resulted from
inflationary costs associated with utilities and the OCC’s
current lease agreements.

Travel expenses increased by $4.9 million, or 21.4 per-
cent, primarily as a result of the costs incurred for the year-
2000 compliance examination efforts, and the travel costs
incurred for the additional field examiners who were hired
during 1998.

Employee relocation expenses decreased by $1.9 mil-
lion, or 28.7 percent.  This decrease relates to the costs
incurred during 1997 for the movement of employees and
household goods resulting from the 1997 restructuring,
which exceeded similar costs during 1998.  In addition,
accrued relocation expenses were reduced in 1998 to
eliminate amounts previously accrued for relocations that
were completed and for which no further expenses will
be incurred.

Office supplies costs increased by $1.3 million, or 39.3
percent above the 1997 levels.  This increase is due to
the additional costs incurred to purchase supplies for

more than 200 permanent employees hired during 1998.
Also, this expense category increased because OCC’s
library was upgraded with new books, software, and a
new research system.

Education and conferences expenses increased by $1.0
million, or 23.0 percent.  The increase resulted from
costs associated with maintaining a highly qualified
workforce and the expanded External Training Program.
During 1997, this program was initially available only to
senior examiners. However, during 1998, the External
Training Program was expanded to all OCC employees
and expenses included the costs for tuition, registra-
tion, and course-related materials (e.g., books, disks,
and cassettes).

Office equipment and software expenses increased by
$8.1 million, or 74.6 percent.  Major technology enhance-
ments were made which included purchases such as
personal computers (PCs), servers, credit-risk software,
and office software.

Contractual services expenditures increased by $12.7
million, or 108.1 percent.  The increase is primarily due to
the additional costs incurred during 1998 for contractual
services that provided technological knowledge and ex-
pertise required for OCC’s year-2000 remediation efforts.
Contractual services were also used to perform year-2000
compliance examinations at the banks.

Repairs and maintenance expense increased by $1.2
million, or 32.1 percent.  Office maintenance costs that
include guard service, cleaning, repairs, and remodel-
ing accounted for approximately one-half of the total in-
crease.  The remainder of the increase represents equip-
ment repairs, replacement parts and maintenance of
copiers, computers, and other equipment.

The following expense accounts had immaterial increases
or decreases over prior period costs:

• Depreciation and amortization increased by $30,142,
or 0.5 percent.

• Printing, reproduction, and other expenses increased
by $42,851, or 3.1 percent.

Revenue category 1998 actual 1998 budget Dollar variance Percent variance

Assessment revenue ................................... $ 368.4 $ 353.0 $ 15.4 4.4%
Corporate fees ............................................ 2.9 3.0 –0.1 –3.3%
Investment income ...................................... 14.3 13.0 1.3 10.0%
Other revenue ............................................. 1.1 2.0 –0.9 –45.0%

Total revenue ............................................ $ 386.7 $ 371 $ 15.7 4.2%

Note:  Totals may not add up because of rounding.

Table 5—1998 summary of revenue budget performance ($ in millions)
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• Interest on capital lease decreased by $157,215, or
1.5 percent.

• Postage and freight decreased by $152,040, or 8.5
percent.

Expenses—Budget Performance:  Table 6 provides a sum-
mary of the OCC’s budget performance for expenses.  In
1998, the OCC’s expenses were over budget by $15.5
million or 4.3 percent.

Payments

Prompt Payment:  The Prompt Payment Act and OMB
Circular A–125 require agencies to make payments on
time, to pay interest penalties when payments are late,
and to take discounts only when payments are made on
or before the discount date.  Table 7 presents the OCC’s

compliance with the Prompt Payment Act between 1996
and 1998.  The increase in reported late payments was
due in part to management’s increased emphasis on ac-
curate reporting of Prompt Payment Act statistics and in
part to employee turnover within the OCC’s administra-
tive accounting department. The increase in late pay-
ments is being addressed through a new payment pro-
cess implemented in 1999.

Electronic Funds Transfer: Electronic funds transfer (EFT)
provides safe and efficient transmission of payments as
well as greater control over their timing. The cost of pay-
ments by EFT is lower than that incurred in the issuance
of paper checks.  The Debt Collection Improvement Act
of 1996 requires government agencies to issue all pay-
ments electronically by January 2, 1999, except in cases
where compliance would impose a hardship.  Table 8 pre-
sents the OCC’s percentage of use of EFT for payroll pay-
ments processed during 1996–1998.

The OCC initiated a program whereby many vendor, em-
ployee, and contractual payments were issued by EFT
during 1998.  The percentage of the OCC’s payroll pay-
ments made by EFT has increased over the past three
years. In 1998, the OCC surpassed OMB’s goal for agen-
cies to process 90 percent of their payroll payments
through EFT that year.

Accounts Receivable: Table 9 identifies annual write-offs
and delinquent accounts receivable (receivables 30 days
or more past due).  The percentage of delinquent ac-
counts increased from 9.2 percent in 1997 to 92.5 per-
cent in 1998.

Figure 13—Percentage change in expenses,
1997–1998
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Table 6—1998 summary of expense budget performance ($ in millions)

Expense category  1998 actual 1998 budget  Dollar variance  Percent variance

Personnel compensation/benefits .............................. $ 248.7 $ 243.7 $ 5.0 2.1%
Rent/communications/utilities .................................... 30.0 36.3 –6.3 –17.4%
Travel ........................................................................... 32.7 29.1 3.6 12.4%
Education/conferences ............................................... 5.3 5.1 0.2 4.1%
Other expenses ........................................................... 62.6 49.7 12.9 26.0%

Total expenses ............................................................ 379.3 363.8 15.5 4.3%

Note: Totals may not add up because of rounding.

Table 7—Prompt payment comparisons, 1996–1998

Invoice payments—subject to the Prompt Payment Act 1996 1997  1998

Invoices paid on time as a percentage of total invoices ........................... 88 88            82
Invoices paid late as a percentage of total invoices paid ......................... 9.1 11.1 13.6
Interest penalties paid as a percentage of total dollars paid ................... 0.026 0.034 0.048

Table 8—Percentage of use for electronic funds transfer, 1996–1998

1996 1997  1998

Percentage of payroll payments issued by EFT.........................................    95.2        96.1            98.1
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This increase is due primarily to the significant change
in the composition of accounts receivable from 1997 to
1998.  Specifically, the OCC no longer charges a sepa-
rate fee for trust examinations.  In 1997, 85 percent of
the accounts receivables were trust fees and less than 2
percent were delinquent.  While accounts receivables
(net of trust billings) increased in 1998 by 75 percent to
$519,692, this balance included $324,974 in receivables
from other government agencies for which payment was
received in early 1999.  Exclusion of the government re-
ceivables, all of which were paid during January or Feb-
ruary 1999, would reduce the delinquent percentage for
1998 to 29.9 percent. The significant increase in delin-
quent accounts receivable was a direct result of restruc-
turing and employee turnover within the OCC’s adminis-
trative accounting department. In recognition of the large
percentage of delinquent receivables, OCC established
an allowance for doubtful accounts in the amount of
$110,239.

A majority of the OCC’s delinquent accounts receivable were
for $100 or less.  Because of the nominal value of most of
these accounts, they have not been referred to a collection
agency.  They were instead maintained at the OCC, with
collection efforts continued by accounts receivable staff.

In accordance with the Debt Collection Improvement Act
of 1996, the OCC continues to review delinquent accounts
in order to determine if any are eligible for referral to the
Treasury Department’s Financial Management Services for
debt collection.

Allocation of Indirect Cost

The OCC’s indirect rate measures the relationship between
the OCC’s direct and indirect costs.  Direct costs are sal-
ary and travel costs incurred to examine banks and costs
to review and decide upon corporate applications. Indi-
rect costs are costs incurred within the OCC to perform
other related activities, including other bank supervisory
functions and analyses, development of bank supervision
policy, review of bank supervision and examination prod-
ucts, legal analyses, outreach to bankers, support opera-
tions, and training.  Indirect costs also include overhead,
such as facilities, supplies, telephone service, and infor-
mation technology.

From 1992 to 1996, OCC’s indirect cost rate has in-
creased due to reduced numbers of field examiners as

a result of industry consolidation.  In 1998, the indirect/
direct cost ratio moved upward because of the increase
of indirect costs primarily due to investments to improve
information technology.

Financial Management Systems Initiatives

The OCC is committed to continuing its progress in:

• Maintaining an integrated OCC financial manage-
ment system that complies with applicable account-
ing principles and standards, provides timely infor-
mation, responds to the OCC’s management needs,
conforms to government-wide systems require-
ments, and provides timely monitoring of the bud-
get through performance reports.

• Enhancing the ability of OCC systems to provide in-
tegrated reporting on the performance of programs,
finances, and financial management.

• Streamlining processes to reduce data entry burdens
through automatic uploads from other systems and
more user-friendly screens.

• Eliminating outdated system components and re-
placing them with “off-the-shelf” system components
that provide more efficient operations and a better
integrated system.

Current Status:  The OCC’s financial system is accrual-
based and provides monthly budget reports and financial
statements to management. The system operates on a

1996 1997  1998

Accounts receivable write-offs as a percentage
     of dollar volume in accounts receivable ............................................... 0.14 1.11 4.16
Percentage dollar volume of accounts receivable
     30 days or more past due ...................................................................... 6.90 9.15 92.45

Table 9—Percentage of annual write-offs and delinquent accounts receivable, 1996–1998

Figure 14—Ratio of indirect costs to direct
costs, 1988–1998
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calendar-year basis.  Financial personnel have on-line
access to OCC’s mainframe computer through remote
terminals.

The primary financial information system is integrated with
the following modules:

Accounts Payable/Cash Disbursements

Accounts Receivable/Cash Receipts

Budget/Planning

Capital Expenditures

Investments

Payroll

During 1998 the OCC engaged a public accounting firm
to conduct a comprehensive internal control review and
evaluation of OCC’s financial systems as a prelude to de-
veloping functional requirements for replacing financial
systems that cannot meet current accounting standards.
The results of this review are discussed in the next sec-
tion of this report.

Future Plans: The OCC will seek to acquire new financial
systems with a goal of late 2000 implementation.  The sys-
tems will provide for enhanced delivery of financial and
resource information by taking full advantage of modern
technology.  These efforts are synchronized with OCC’s
technical architecture and data architecture efforts.

Compliance with Financial Management
Laws—FMFIA/FFMIA Program Summary

The OCC evaluated its systems of internal control for the
fiscal year ending September 30, 1998, according to the
procedures and standards prescribed by the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) and the U.S. General
Accounting Office (GAO).  At that time, management con-
cluded that no material weaknesses existed to undermine
the assurances referenced below.

Pursuant to Sections 2 and 4 of the Federal Managers’
Financial Integrity Act of 1982 (FMFIA) and Section 803(a)
of the Federal Financial Management Improvement Act of
1996 (FFMIA), the OCC reviewed its internal control and
administrative financial management information systems.
In accordance with the guidance, management’s review
of internal control systems is meant to provide reason-
able assurance that:

• Expenditures and costs comply with applicable law.

• All assets are safeguarded against waste, loss, un-
authorized use, and misappropriation.

• Revenues and expenditures applicable to agency
operations are recorded and accounted for properly.

• The financial management/information accounting
system conforms to generally accepted accounting
principles, relevant standards, and requirements of
the Comptroller General and the OMB.

Although the OCC found no material weaknesses during
its FMFIA and FFMIA assessment during 1998, OCC man-
agement did note conditions that warranted a more in-
depth review.  With this in mind, the OCC began a series
of actions in the fourth quarter of 1998 to achieve assur-
ance that OCC’s internal financial management conforms
to the same high standards expected of national banks.
Specifically, we:

• Selected a new external auditor to examine our
1998 financial results and assess our compliance
with accounting standards and federal financial
management regulations. The OCC also adopted
an explicit policy limiting the duration of the OCC’s
contract with an external auditor to five years.

• Retained a public accounting firm to conduct a com-
prehensive review of the OCC’s internal control pro-
cedures and practices.

• Elevated the OCC’s chief financial officer function
to the senior deputy comptroller level to strengthen
accountability for financial management and inter-
nal controls.

The results of the comprehensive internal control review
were presented to OCC management in January 1999.
The OCC immediately undertook a series of short-term
actions to remedy all internal control weaknesses identi-
fied by this review.  Specifically, the OCC:

• Closed all OCC imprest and petty cash funds and
issued revised procedures for handling small pur-
chases and other transactions.

• Restructured the accounts payable function and re-
assigned staff resources to eliminate the payables
backlog.

• Completed an audit of travel vouchers and insti-
tuted best-practice voucher audit procedures
throughout OCC.

• Reviewed all General Ledger entries and docu-
mentation to ensure full compliance with appli-
cable accounting standards, and issued new
policies and procedures governing General Led-
ger entries.

• Revamped airline billing and accounting procedures
to ensure prompt reconciliation and bring contrac-
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tor air travel into compliance with recent changes in
federal policy.

• Made process and staffing changes, including
implementation of a PC-based system, to ensure
timely processing of receivables and more effective
tracking and management reporting.

• Completed an interim restructuring of the OCC's fi-
nancial management function to enhance manage-
ment accountability and internal controls.

Finally, with assistance from its internal control consult-
ant, the OCC has nearly completed the detailed analysis
necessary to select and install a new, integrated financial
management system.

In addition to these reforms to its overall internal con-
trols processes and management structure, the OCC is
acting to correct the specific material weaknesses re-
ported in the Independent Auditors Reports on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance with
Laws and Regulations.  More specifically, by the end of
1999, the OCC will have taken the corrective actions
necessary to ensure:

• Timely reconciliation of fund balance with Treasury
account with U.S. Treasury records.

• Effective performance of account analyses and other
significant accounting tasks, with appropriate super-
visory reviews.

• Effective review and evaluation of the accounting
treatment for unusual or nonroutine financial events.

In addition to these three areas, the OCC is giving prompt
attention to all other findings and recommendations by
our internal control consultants and independent auditors.
All recommendations will be implemented during the cur-
rent fiscal year, except that pertaining to the replacement
of the OCC's automated financial management system.
A detailed plan and schedule for modernization of the
OCC's financial systems will be published in the first quar-
ter of 2000.

Last year, the OCC reported the potential for a materially
negative finding in regard to the OCC's procurement prac-
tices.  Since then a professional services firm and the Trea-
sury Department's procurement office conducted reviews.
The most significant compliance issue found was related
to the OCC's process for obtaining printing, and that pro-
cess is now compliant.

During 1998, the GAO issued numerous reports on the
OCC, including reports on the OCC's closure of a par-
ticular national bank, the OCC's efforts to comply with the
requirements of the Government Performance and Results
Act, and the OCC's activities to ensure that the financial
services industry is prepared for the year-2000 date
change.  Action is being taken on the GAO's suggestions
and recommendations. Similarly, the Department of the
Treasury Office of Inspector General's (OIG) suggestions
to the OCC on year-2000 efforts are being addressed. In
addition, the OIG made recommendations designed to
improve the OCC's supervision of small banks for compli-
ance with the provisions of the Community Reinvestment
Act.  None of the OIG's findings, suggestions, or recom-
mendations represent material weaknesses in OCC's in-
ternal controls.
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Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
Statements of financial position

Years ended December 31,
1998 1997

(Restated)

Assets

Fund balance with Treasury and cash:
Fund balance with Treasury ............................................ $7,443,320 $7,997,719
Cash ................................................................................                  121,793                            74,442

Subtotal, fund balance with Treasury and cash .........               7,565,113           8,072,161

Receivables:
Accrued interest .............................................................. 330,362 435,177
Accounts receivable (net) ............................................... 409,451 1,995,342
Travel advances ..............................................................                   34,548                            12,836

Subtotal, receivables ..................................................                774,361                       2,443,355

Prepayments ........................................................................               2,956,946                       2,374,449

Investments (Note 3) ...........................................................           211,915,574                   192,665,669

Property, plant, and equipment (Note 4) .............................             94,646,204                     96,058,914

Total assets ................................................................. $     17,858,198 $    301,614,548

Liabilities and net position

Accrued expenses .......................................................... $15,905,172 $16,383,663
Accounts payable ........................................................... 7,548,146 3,499,426
Accrued payroll and benefits .......................................... 16,995,284 12,251,064
Accrued annual leave ..................................................... 18,144,190 16,631,920
Post-retirement benefit liability (Note 6) .......................... 5,796,858 5,135,948
Capital lease liabilities (Note 5) ......................................             99,662,885                   101,298,238

Total liabilities ............................................................. 164,052,535 155,200,259

Net position ..........................................................................                       153,805,663       146,414,289

Total liabilities and net position .................................. $    317,858,198     $301,614,548

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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              Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
   Statements of operations and changes in net position

Years ended December 31,
1998 1997

(Restated)

Revenue from goods sold/services provided
Semiannual assessments ............................................... $ 368,387,870 $ 350,687,810
Corporate fees ................................................................ 2,941,258 3,280,167
Investment income .......................................................... 14,316,836 12,711,392
Examination fees ............................................................. 0 2,720,886
Other ................................................................................           1,051,461           5,151,881

Total revenues and financing sources .......................       386,697,425       374,552,136

Operating expenses
Personnel compensation and benefits (Note 6) ............. 248,652,326 227,664,526
Travel ............................................................................... 27,925,624 23,005,636
Employee relocation expenses ....................................... 4,820,220 6,759,366
Education and conferences ............................................ 5,297,867 4,306,188
Rent and communications (Note 5) ................................ 19,672,637 18,413,267
Office equipment and software (Note 4) ........................ 18,948,655 10,850,200
Contractual services ....................................................... 24,535,317 11,790,572
Interest on capital lease (Note 5) .................................... 10,328,109 10,485,324
Depreciation and amortization (Note 4) .......................... 6,428,516 6,398,374
Repairs, maintenance, and utilities ................................ 5,003,732 3,786,838
Office supplies ................................................................ 4,613,622 3,312,350
Postage and freight ......................................................... 1,632,951 1,784,991
Printing, reproduction, and other ....................................           1,446,475           1,403,624

Total expenses ............................................................       379,306,051       329,961,256

Excess of revenue over operating expenses ...................... 7,391,374 44,590,880

Net Position, Beginning Balance .........................................
....................................................................................

As previously reported .................................................... 139,842,996 100,123,409
Prior period adjustments (Note 7) ...................................           6,571,293           1,700,000
As adjusted .....................................................................       146,414,289       101,823,409

Net Position, Ending Balance ..............................................    $ 153,805,663    $ 146,414,289

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
Statements of cash flow

Years ended December 31,
1998 1997

(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Excess of revenue over operating expenses ...................... $7,391,374 $44,590,880

Adjustments affecting cash flow

Decrease (increase) in receivables ................................ 1,668,994 1,504,903
Decrease (increase) in prepayments .............................. (582,497) (301,065)
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses ..................... (478,491) (3,754,905)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable ...................... 4,048,720 1,051,664
(Decrease) increase in accrued payroll and benefits ..... 4,744,220 (25,590,727)
(Decrease) increase in accrued annual leave ................ 1,512,270 (1,451,568)
(Decrease) increase in post-retirement

     benefit liability ............................................................. 660,910 802,213
Depreciation and amortization ........................................           6,428,516           6,398,374

Net cash provided by operating activities ......................         25,394,016         23,249,769

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of investment securities ..................... 517,336,603 563,054,749
Purchases of investment securities ..................................... (536,586,508) (592,190,150)
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment .....................         (5,015,806)         (3,789,604)

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities ............       (24,265,711)       (32,925,005)

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments on capital lease obligation ..............         (1,635,353)         (1,443,075)

Net cash used by financing activities ........................         (1,635,353)         (1,443,075)

Increase (decrease) in Fund Balances with

Treasury and cash ...................................................... (507,048) (11,118,311)

Fund Balances with Treasury and cash, beginning .......           8,072,161         19,190,472
Fund Balances with Treasury and cash, ending ............ $        7,565,113 $        8,072,161

.........................................................................................

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1—Organization

The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) was
created by an act of Congress for the purpose of estab-
lishing and regulating a national banking system.  The
National Currency Act of 1863, rewritten and reenacted
as the National Bank Act of 1864, created the OCC and
provided for its supervisory functions and the chartering
of banks.

No funds derived from taxes or federal appropriations are
allocated to or used by the OCC in any of its operations.
The revenue of the OCC is derived principally from as-
sessments and fees paid by the national banks and in-
come on investments in U.S. government obligations.  The
OCC is exempt from federal and state income taxes.

The OCC is a bureau within the Department of the Trea-
sury.  The Department of the Treasury provides certain
administrative services to the OCC, which pays the De-
partment of the Treasury for services rendered pursuant
to its interagency agreements. Periodically, payments are
made in advance for anticipated services in accordance
with instructions from the Department of the Treasury.
Administrative services provided by the Department of the
Treasury totaled $3,094,633 and $2,869,204 for the years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The accounting policies of the OCC conform to generally
accepted accounting principles.  Accordingly, the finan-
cial statements are presented on the accrual basis of ac-
counting.  Under the accrual method, revenues are rec-
ognized when earned and expenses are recognized when
a liability is incurred, without regard to cash receipt or
payment.

Fund Balance with Treasury and Cash

Cash receipts and disbursements are processed prima-
rily by the U.S. Treasury.  The funds with the U.S. Treasury
are primarily trust funds that are available to pay current
liabilities and finance authorized purchase commitments.
The OCC considers demand deposits and overnight cer-
tificate investments to be cash equivalents.

Receivables

Receivables represent monies owed to the OCC for ser-
vices or goods provided and interest on U.S. Treasury

investments. Accounts receivables are shown net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $110,239 as of De-
cember 31, 1998.  The OCC wrote off receivables totaling
$21,633 as uncollectible during 1998.

Liabilities

Liabilities represent the amount of monies or other re-
sources that are likely to be paid by the OCC as the re-
sult of a transaction or event that has already occurred.
Liabilities represent the amounts owing or accruing un-
der contractual or other arrangements governing the
transactions, including operating expenses incurred but
not yet paid.  Payments are made promptly to take dis-
counts offered by vendors when the discount terms are
cost effective.

Annual, Sick, and Other Leave

Annual leave is accrued as it is earned and the accrual is
reduced as leave is taken.  Each year, the balance in the
accrued annual leave account is adjusted to reflect cur-
rent pay rates.  Sick leave and other types of leave are
expended as taken.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain 1997 amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the 1998 presentation.

Note 3—Investments

Investment securities reflect maturities through May 15,
2006 and are U.S. Treasury obligations stated at amor-
tized cost, which is an approximation of fair value.  The
OCC plans to hold these investments to maturity.  Premi-
ums and discounts on investment securities are amor-
tized over the term of the investment using the straight-
line method, which approximates the effective yield
method.  The fair value of investment securities is esti-
mated based on quoted market prices for those or simi-
lar investments.  The cost and estimated fair value of
investment securities as of December 31, 1998 and 1997
are as follows:
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      1998 1997
Investments,
  amortized cost ..... $211,915,574 $192,665,669
Gross unrealized
  holding gains .......       3,161,778        1,868,501
Market value .......... $215,077,352 $194,534,170

Investments mature as follows:
  During 1999 $192,000,000
  During 2006    25,000,000

Note 4—Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including assets under capital
leases, are stated at cost.  Depreciation and amortiza-
tion are calculated on a straight-line basis over the esti-
mated useful lives of the assets.  Leasehold improve-
ments are stated at cost less accumulated amortization
computed over the terms of the related leases (includ-
ing renewal options) or their estimated useful lives, which-
ever is shorter. Expenditures for furniture and fixtures,
machines and equipment, portable computers, and mo-
tor vehicles costing less than $25,000, for computer soft-
ware and leasehold improvements costing less than
$50,000, and for all maintenance and repairs, are ex-
pensed as incurred.

Note 5—Leases

Office Space Leases

The OCC occupies office space in Washington, D.C., un-
der a lease agreement with an initial lease period of 15
years.  The lease provides for two consecutive five-year
renewal options which will provide for occupancy through
the year 2016.  The lease qualifies as a capital lease.

The district and field offices lease space under agree-
ments which expire at various dates through 2008.  These
leases are treated as operating leases.

Future lease payments under operating leases, as well as
the capital lease for the Washington, D.C., office are shown
in the following table:

              Washington, D.C.,        District
Year                capital lease     operating leases

1999 $ 12,006,958 $  9,385,333
2000 12,049,208     8,150,332
2001 12,093,570     7,450,899
2002 12,140,150     5,441,468
2003 12,189,059     3,386,681
2004 & after          156,444,467     3,331,550
Total minimum
  lease payments  $216,923,411         $ 37,146,263
Less:

 Amount representing
   interest            (117,260,526)

Present value of
net minimum lease
payments            $ 99,662,885

Certain of these leases provide that annual rentals may
be adjusted to provide for increases in taxes and other
related expenses.  Total rental expense under operating
leases and taxes and other related expenses for all leases
was $12,721,836 and $11,538,398 for the years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Note 6—Retirement and Benefit Plans and
Accrued Annual Leave

Retirement Plans

The OCC employees are eligible to participate in one of
two retirement plans.  Employees hired before January 1,
1984 are covered by the Civil Service Retirement System
(CSRS) unless they elected to join the Federal Employees
Retirement System (FERS) and Social Security during the

The following table summarizes property and equipment balances as of December 31, 1998 and December 31,
1997 (See Note 7 regarding prior period adjustments to Leasehold Improvements):

Service Accumulated        1998        1997
  life    Acquisition depreciation/      net book      net book

   Classes of Assets (years)         value amortization        value        value

Leasehold improvements ............. 5–20 $  28,050,609 $ 14,451,205 $  13,599,404 $  12,012,940
ADP software ................................ 5–10 2,021,763 1,995,326 26,437 44,086
Equipment ..................................... 3–10 9,001,918 5,463,500 3,538,418 1,993,903
Building under capital lease ........... 25 107,558,539 30,625,492 76,933,047 81,350,256
Furniture and fixtures .................... 5–10       1,464,213          915,315          548,898          657,729

Totals ................................................. $148,097,042 $  53,450,838 $  94,646,204 $  96,058,914
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election period.  Employees hired after December 31,
1983, are covered by FERS and Social Security.  For em-
ployees covered by CSRS, the OCC contributes 8.51 per-
cent of their gross pay to the plan.  For employees cov-
ered by FERS, the OCC contributes 10.7 percent of their
gross pay. The OCC contributions totaled $17,785,508
and $16,505,465 in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Other Benefit Plans

Employees are allowed to participate in the Federal Thrift
Savings Plan (TSP).  For employees under FERS, the OCC
contributes an automatic 1 percent of basic pay to TSP
and matches employee contributions up to an additional
4 percent of pay, for a maximum OCC contribution
amounting to 5 percent of pay.  Employees under CSRS
may participate in the TSP, but do not receive the OCC
automatic (1 percent) and matching contributions.  The
OCC contributions for the savings plan totaled
$4,147,661 and $3,957,365 in 1998 and 1997, respec-
tively. The OCC also contributes for Social Security and
Medicare benefits for all eligible employees.

Employees and retirees of the OCC are eligible to par-
ticipate in the Federal Employees Health Benefits (FEHB)
plans and Federal Employees Group Life Insurance
(FEGLI) plan, which are cost sharing employee benefit
plans administered by the Office of Personnel Manage-
ment (OPM).  The OCC contributions for active employ-
ees who participate in the FEHB plans were $7,547,410
and $7,233,138 for 1998 and 1997, respectively.  The
OCC contributions for active employees who participate
in the FEGLI plan were $148,930 and $137,608 for 1998
and 1997, respectively.

The OCC sponsors a life insurance benefit plan for cur-
rent and former employees who are not enrolled in FEGLI
plans.  This plan is a defined benefit plan, and the OCC
is fully responsible for the associated liability.  Premium
payments made during 1998 totaled $115,962.  The fol-
lowing table shows the unfunded accrued post-retirement
benefit cost for this plan at December 31, 1998 and the
post-retirement benefit expenses for 1998:

The weighted-average discount rate used in determin-
ing the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation
was 7.5 percent.  Gains or losses due to changes in ac-
tuarial assumptions are fully recognized in the year in
which they occur.

Contribution to Office of Personnel Management
Retirement Fund

During 1998, the OCC recorded a liability of $2,445,815
to the Civil Service Retirement and Disability Fund which
represents estimated retirement contributions for employ-
ees who accepted early retirement, resigned, or volun-
tarily retired during 1996 and 1997 after accepting buyout
incentives offered by the OCC under 12 USC 481.  This
liability is included in accrued payroll and benefits in the
accompanying statement of financial position.  The li-
ability and related expense was considered a contin-
gency until 1998 when a final legal determination for the
probability of its payment was made.

Accumulated post-retirement
   benefits obligation $(7,289,441)
Fair value of assets                 –       -
Funded status $(7,289,441)
Unrecognized transition
    obligations    2,419,728
Unrecognized net gain (loss) (    927,145)
Accrued post-retirement
   benefit cost $(5,796,858)

Net periodic post-retirement benefit cost
for 1998
Service cost $    265,134
Interest cost 467,585
Amortization of gain (       22,054)
Amortization of transition
   obligation over 20 years        172,837
Net periodic post-retirement
   benefit cost $     883,502
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Workers’ Compensation Liability

The Federal Employees’ Compensation Act (FECA) pro-
vides income and medical cost protection to covered fed-
eral civilian employees injured on the job, employees who
have incurred a work-related occupational disease, and
beneficiaries of employees whose death is attributable to
a job-related injury or occupational disease.  Claims in-
curred for benefits for OCC employees under FECA are
administered by the Department of Labor (DOL) and later
billed to the OCC.

The OCC accrued $3,733,654 of workers’ compensation
costs as of December 31, 1998.  This amount includes
unpaid costs and an estimated unfunded liability for unbilled
costs incurred as of year-end, as calculated by DOL.

Note 7—Prior Period Adjustments

The OCC’s prior period adjustments consist of the follow-
ing for the year ended December 31, 1998:

1.  Correction of accrual for
       payroll benefits $  1,211,528
2.  Correction of accrual for projected
       reorganization costs 1,462,500
3.  Reclass 1997 remodeling expenses
       as leasehold improvements 1,507,265
4.  Reclass 1996 remodeling expenses
       as leasehold improvements 1,700,000
5.  Correction of accrued remodeling
       expenses in 1997        690,000
Total prior period adjustments $  6,571,293

1. The correction of accrual for payroll benefits was
made to correct an error in the accounting for a trans-
fer of funds that occurred when OCC switched life
insurance administrators for the OCC life insurance
benefit plan.

2. The correction of accrual for projected reorganiza-
tion costs was made to correct an error in applying
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
The correction reverses an accrual made in 1997
for expenses that had not actually been incurred as
of December 31,1997.

3. The correction to reclass 1997 remodeling expenses
as leasehold improvements was made to conform
with GAAP by capitalizing leasehold improvements
that had been expensed during 1997.

4. The correction to reclass 1996 remodeling expenses
as leasehold improvements was made to conform
with GAAP by capitalizing leasehold improvements
that had been expensed during 1996.

5. The correction of accrued remodeling expenses in
1997 was made to reverse expenses that had not
actually been incurred as of December 31, 1997.

In addition to the above prior period adjustments, OCC
made a reclassification adjustment to reverse an error in
recording $800,000 in leasehold improvements and an
accrued liability in the same amount as of December 31,
1997.  The $2,407,265 net effect of this adjustment and
prior period adjustments numbers three and four above
represents the amount of the increase in the restated net
book value of leasehold improvements from the previously
issued 1997 financial statements.

The personnel compensation and benefits expense and
other revenue line items on the Statement of Operations
and Changes in Net Position for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 1997 were restated to reflect a decrease of
$15,469,019 for each line item.  This restatement was
made to eliminate the effect of imputed financing revenue
and expense which under GAAP should not be recorded
on OCC’s financial statements because they will be borne
by the United States Office of Personnel Management.
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